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There were 482.4 million shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock outstanding (net of treasury shares) as of January 31, 2017 . The aggregate market value of the shares of Common Stock
(based upon the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30, 2016 ) beneficially owned by non-affiliates of the Registrant was approximately $23.1 billion . For purposes of the
foregoing calculation only, which is required by Form 10-K, the Registrant has included in the shares owned by affiliates those shares owned by directors and officers of the Registrant, and
such inclusion shall not be construed as an admission that any such person is an affiliate for any purpose.

* * *
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 



Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS  

PART I   
 ITEM 1. BUSINESS 3
 ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 10
 ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 19
 ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 19
 ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 19
 ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 19
 SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM — EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 19
PART II   

 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 21

 ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 23

 
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 27

 ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 54
 ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 56

 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 107

 ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 107
 ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 108
PART III   
 ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 109
 ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 109

 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 109

 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE 109

 ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 109
PART IV   
 ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 110
 ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY 116
SIGNATURES 117
  

Statement of Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges  
Significant Subsidiaries  
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  
302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer  
302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer  
906 Certification of Chief Executive Officer  
906 Certification of Chief Financial Officer  

2



Table of Contents

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

“Newell Brands” or the “Company” refers to Newell Brands Inc. (formerly, Newell Rubbermaid Inc.) alone or with its wholly owned subsidiaries, as the context requires. When this report
uses  the  words  “we,”  “us”  or  “our,”  it  refers  to  the  Company  and  its  subsidiaries  unless  the  context  otherwise  requires.  The  Company  was  founded  in  Ogdensburg,  NY  in  1903  and  is
incorporated in Delaware. The Company’s principal executive office is located at 221 River Street, Hoboken, New Jersey 07030, and the Company’s telephone number is 201-610-6600.

Website Access to Securities and Exchange Commission Reports

The Company makes available free of charge on or through its website its annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as practicable after the Company files them with, or furnishes them to, the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company’s Internet website can be found at www.newellbrands.com . The information on the Company’s website is not incorporated by reference
into this annual report on Form 10-K.

GENERAL

Newell Brands is a global marketer of consumer and commercial products that help people make life better every day, where they live, learn, work and play. Our products are marketed under
a strong portfolio of leading brands, including Paper Mate ® , Sharpie ® , Dymo ® , Expo ® , Parker ® , Elmer’s ® , Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Marmot ® , Rawlings ® , Irwin ® , Lenox ® , Oster ® ,
Sunbeam ® , FoodSaver ® , Mr. Coffee ® , Rubbermaid Commercial Products ® , Graco ® , Baby Jogger ® , NUK ® , Calphalon ® , Rubbermaid ® , Contigo ® , First Alert ® , Waddington and
Yankee Candle ® . The Company sells its products in nearly 200 countries around the world and has operations on the ground in nearly 100 of these countries.

This past year was one of the most transformational in its history as the Company more than doubled its size and extended its successful operating model across a broader set of categories
acquired through the combination with Jarden Corporation.  On April  15, 2016, Jarden Corporation (“Jarden”) became a direct  wholly-owned subsidiary of Newell  Brands Inc.  Jarden is a
global consumer products company with brands such as Yankee Candle ® , Crock-Pot ® , FoodSaver ® , Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Coleman ® , First Alert ® , Rawlings ® , Jostens ® , K2 ® ,
Marker ® , Marmot ® , Völkl ® and many others. Following the Jarden Acquisition, the Company was renamed Newell Brands Inc.

This  transformative  transaction  created  a  global  consumer  goods  company  with  estimated  annualized  sales  for  2016  of  $16  billion  and  a  portfolio  of  leading  brands  in  large,  growing,
unconsolidated, global markets. The scaled enterprise is expected to accelerate profitable growth over time with leading brands in a global market that exceeds $100 billion, with business and
capability development supported by the efficiencies of the combined company.  Management believes the scale of Newell Brands in key categories, channels and geographies creates a much
broader opportunity to deploy the Company’s advantaged set of brand development and commercial capabilities for accelerated growth and margin expansion. The Company’s intent is to
design a benchmarked, efficient set of structures that support long-term business development.

The  Company  anticipates  significant  annualized  cost  synergies  will  be  realized  by  Newell  Brands,  driven  by  efficiencies  of  scale  and  efficiencies  in  procurement,  cost  to  serve  and
infrastructure. The Company anticipates incremental annualized cost synergies of at least $500 million over four years, driven by efficiencies of scale and new efficiencies in procurement,
cost to serve and infrastructure that the combination unlocks. The Company currently expects to incur approximately $500 million of restructuring and integration-related costs over the same
period to generate and unlock the more than $500 million of annualized cost synergies. 

After the completion of the Jarden Acquisition, the Company initiated a comprehensive strategic assessment of the business and in the third quarter of 2016 launched a new corporate strategy
that  focuses  the  portfolio,  prioritizes  investment  in  the  categories  with  the  greatest  potential  for  growth,  and  extends  the  Company’s  advantaged  capabilities  in  insights,  product  design,
innovation, and e-commerce to the broadened portfolio. The investments in new capabilities are designed to unlock the growth potential of the portfolio and will be funded by a commitment
to release cost savings of $800 million through the combination of the completion of Project Renewal and delivery of $500 million in cost synergies associated with the Jarden integration.
This new corporate strategy is called the New Growth Game Plan and builds on the successful track record of growth acceleration, margin development, and value creation associated with the
transformation of Newell Rubbermaid Inc. from 2011 through 2016.
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The  Company  has  maintained  continuity  of  operations  through  2016  by  preserving  both  legacy  organizations’  operating  segments.  The  2016  segment  information  includes  results  of
operations of Jarden since the acquisition date and are included in the following segments: Branded Consumables, Consumer Solutions, Outdoor Solutions and Process Solutions. The key
brands included in each segment are as follows:

• Writing : Sharpie ® , Paper Mate ® , Expo ® , Prismacolor ® , Mr. Sketch ® , Elmer’s ® , X-Acto ® , Parker ® , Waterman ® and Dymo ® Office
• Home Solutions : Rubbermaid ® , Contigo ® , bubba ® , Calphalon ® and Goody ®  
• Tools : Irwin ® , Lenox ® , hilmor TM and Dymo ® Industrial
• Commercial Products : Rubbermaid Commercial Products ®
• Baby & Parenting : Graco ® , Baby Jogger ® , Aprica ® and Teutonia ®  
• Branded Consumables : Yankee Candle ® , Waddington, Ball ® , Diamond ® , First Alert ® , NUK ® , Quickie ® and Pine Mountain ®
• Consumer Solutions : Crock-Pot ® , FoodSaver ® , Holmes ® , Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Rainbow ® and Sunbeam ®  
• Outdoor Solutions : Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Berkley ® , Shakespeare ® , Rawlings ® , Völkl ® , K2 ® and Marmot ®  
• Process Solutions : Jarden Plastic Solutions, Jarden Applied Materials and Jarden Zinc Products

During  2016,  the  Company began  the  process  of  driving  the  New Growth  Game Plan  into  action,  announcing  a  series  of  portfolio  changes.  Based on  the  Company’s  strategy  to  allocate
resources to its businesses with the greater right to win in the marketplace, during 2016 the Company divested its Décor business, including Levolor ® and Kirsch ® window coverings and
drapery hardware business, which was included in the Home Solutions segment. Both the divested Décor business and the 2015 divestiture of the Rubbermaid medical cart business, which
was included in the Commercial Products segment, did not qualify as discontinued operations pursuant to U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”). As a result, the
medical cart business was included in the Company’s consolidated results from continuing operations in the Commercial Products segment until it was sold in August 2015, and the Décor
business was included in the Company’s consolidated results from continuing operations in the Home Solutions segment until it was sold in June 2016.

During  2016,  the  Company  committed  to  plans  to  divest  several  other  businesses  and  brands  to  strengthen  the  portfolio  to  better  align  and  focus  the  portfolio  for  growth  and  margin
development. The affected businesses and brands are as follows: the Tools business, including the Irwin ® , Lenox ® , and hilmor TM brands in the Tools segment; the Winter Sports business,
including the Völkl ® and K2 ® brands and the Zoot ® and Squadra ® brands in the Outdoor Solutions segment; the heaters, fans, and humidifiers business with related brands in the Consumer
Solutions segment; the Rubbermaid ® consumer storage totes business in the Home Solutions segment; the Lehigh business, primarily ropes, cordage and chains under the Lehigh ® brand and
the firebuilding business, including the Pine Mountain ® brand in the Branded Consumables segment; and the stroller business under the Teutonia ® brand in the Baby and Parenting segment.
These  divestitures  do  not  qualify  as  discontinued  operations  pursuant  to  U.S.  GAAP,  and  as  a  result,  are  and  will  continue  to  be  included  in  the  Company’s  consolidated  results  from
continuing operating in each of the respective segments until the businesses are sold.

In  the  Company’s  2015  results,  the  Endicia  on-line  postage  business  and  the  Culinary  electrics  and  retail  businesses  were  classified  as  discontinued  operations  based  on  the  Company’s
commitment  in  2014  to  sell  these  businesses.  Endicia  was  included  in  the  Writing  segment  and  the  Culinary  businesses  were  included  in  the  Home  Solutions  segment.  The  Company
completed the sale of Endicia in November 2015 and ceased operations in its Culinary electrics and retail businesses in the first quarter of 2015.

JARDEN ACQUISITION

On April 15, 2016, Jarden Corporation (“Jarden”) became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Newell Brands, as a result of a series of merger transactions (the “Jarden Acquisition”). The
Jarden Acquisition was effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 13, 2015 (the “Merger Agreement”) between the Company, Jarden and two wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company. Following the Jarden Acquisition, the Company was renamed Newell Brands Inc. See Footnote 10 of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information.  The Company is committed to maintaining its investment grade credit  rating by using strong cash flow from the combined enterprise to prioritize debt
reduction in the short term, while simultaneously investing in the Company’s growth platforms and maintaining its dividend per share.

STRATEGIC INITIATIVES

Newell Brands is committed to building leading brands through understanding the needs of consumers and using those insights to create innovative, highly differentiated product solutions that
offer  superior  performance  and  value.  As  a  result  of  the  Jarden  Acquisition,  the  Company’s  advertising  and  promotion  investments  in  support  of  its  brands  increased  by $217.1 million
compared to 2015, and the Company intends to continue to leverage its portfolio of leading brands to create a margin structure that allows for further increases in brand investment.
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During 2016, the Company launched the New Growth Game Plan,  which is  its  strategy to simplify the organization and free up resources to invest  in growth initiatives  and strengthened
capabilities in support of the Company’s brands. The changes being implemented in the execution of the New Growth Game Plan are considered key enablers to building a bigger, faster-
growing, more global and more profitable company.

The New Growth Game Plan encompasses the following strategic elements:

The Newell Brands Vision

The Newell Brands vision for the company is grounded in three core characteristics of the business: its geographic reach with sales in nearly 200 countries and territories, its presence in a
broad set of large growing household product categories, and its portfolio of leading brands that make a difference in the lives of consumers every day. The Company asserts that through the
broad geographic reach of its business system, through its category presence and leading brands that touch consumers at home, in school, at work, and where they play, that Newell Brands
can have a big impact on consumers’ lives. The Company’s vision is that Newell Brands makes life better for hundreds of millions of consumers every day, where they live, learn, work, and
play .

The Newell Brands DNA and Ambition

The Newell Brands DNA represents an aspirational set of behaviors that define the culture the company aspires to create. The Newell Brands DNA and Ambition serve as a call to action for
the Company’s employees, challenging them to grow, transform, lead, and win. The Company captures our ambition with our employees as follows:

We believe growth and scale benefits drive value creation and we achieve our potential by putting the consumer first in everything that we do .  Our portfolio is a powerful
collection of leading brands in large, growing, unconsolidated global categories. Over time we are choice-fully building a more international business that reaches the consumer
wherever they want to buy our brands .  Our strategy is designed to achieve meaningful relative market share advantage in our core categories.  We will  win by combining
Brand Development (insights,  product design, innovation, brand communication) with Every Day Great  Execution ,  partnering with our customers  to build our categories  and
maximize reach, availability, and visibility. We are a transformative company in the stretching ambitions we pursue. The clarity of our strategy and the decisive way that we put
our choices into action is a distinctive characteristic of our leaders. Money flows to growth and we are true to our entrepreneurial roots by focusing on impact in the market place
. This process creates growth missions for our empowered teams . We build our people as we build new business. We expect our people and our ideas to be judged as leaders in our
business community . Our brands are better together. We win by acting as one operating company that has the scale and capabilities to outgrow, out execute, and out spend our
competition . Our strong financial foundation of cash generation creates a platform for scaling this model through strategic M&A in our core categories.

The Newell Brands Portfolio Roles

Newell  Brands allocates  resources  to  the  business  with  the  greater  growth and market  share  consolidation  potential.  There  are  three  portfolio  roles  that  shape performance  objectives  and
resource allocation: Win Bigger , Develop for Growth , and Grow Entrepreneurially .

Win Bigger businesses have innovations and brands that are ready now for investment. Develop for Growth businesses are businesses where investments in insights, design, and innovation
can set the stage for future growth acceleration. Both Win Bigger and Develop for Growth businesses are resourced with Brand Development leaders and Commercial Delivery leaders. Grow
Entrepreneurially businesses are leaner organizations that leverage the scale of the larger corporation for back office support, but operate as more independent focused organizations.

The Newell Brands Operating Model

As part of the New Growth Game Plan, in late 2016 the Company began to transform from a holding company to an operating company, consolidating its business units into global divisions
while investing to extend its design, innovation and brand development capabilities across a broader set of categories. These organization changes were initiated in the third quarter and this
major  phase  of  the  transformation  was  completed  by  year  end.  These  new global  divisions  will  become the  key  commercial  nodes  in  the  Company,  including  a  new Global  eCommerce
Division, which will have responsibility for all ecommerce activity across the enterprise.The divisions will generally align to the four areas of strategic focus for the Company of Live, Learn,
Work, and Play. The new structure will be effective January 1, 2017.
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In 2016, the original business units were run in nine operating segments. The Company’s nine business segments and the key brands included in each of the segments are as follows:

Segment   Key Brands  Description of Primary Products

Writing

 

Sharpie ® , Paper Mate ® , Expo ® ,
Prismacolor ® , Mr. Sketch ® , Elmer's ® , X-
Acto ® , Parker ® , Waterman ® , Dymo ®
 Office  

Writing instruments, including markers and highlighters, pens and pencils; art products; activity-based
adhesive and cutting products; fine writing instruments; labeling solutions

Home Solutions
 

Rubbermaid ® , Contigo ® , bubba ® ,
Calphalon ® , Goody ®  

Indoor/outdoor  organization,  food  storage  and  home  storage  products;  durable  beverage  containers;
gourmet cookware, bakeware and cutlery; hair care accessories

Tools
 

Irwin ® , Lenox ® , hilmor ™ , Dymo ®
Industrial  

Hand  tools  and  power  tool  accessories;  industrial  bandsaw  blades;  tools  for  HVAC  systems;  label
makers and printers for industrial use

Commercial Products

 

Rubbermaid 
Commercial 
Products ®  

Cleaning and refuse products; hygiene systems; material handling solutions

Baby & Parenting
 

Graco ® , Baby Jogger ® , Aprica ® ,
Teutonia ®  

Infant and juvenile products such as car seats, strollers, highchairs and playards

Branded Consumables

 

Yankee Candle ® , Waddington, Ball ® ,
Diamond ® , First Alert ® , NUK ® , Quickie
® ,   Pine Mountain ®   

Branded consumer products; consumable and fundamental household staples

Consumer Solutions
 

Crock-Pot ® , FoodSaver ® , Holmes ® , Mr.
Coffee ® , Oster ® , Rainbow ® , Sunbeam ®  

Household products, including kitchen appliances and home environment products

Outdoor Solutions

 

Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Berkley ® ,
Shakespeare ® , Rawlings ® , Völkl ® , K2 ® ,
Marmot ®  

Products for outdoor and outdoor-related activities

Process Solutions
 

Jarden Plastic Solutions, Jarden Applied
Materials, Jarden Zinc Products  

Plastic  products  including  container  closures,  contact  lens  packaging,  medical  disposables,  plastic
cutlery and rigid packaging

Writing

The Company’s Writing segment is comprised of the Writing & Creative Expression business which has market share growth potential by further building strong brands like Sharpie ® , Paper
Mate ® , and Expo ® and deploying the portfolio into new geographies, the Elmer’s ® , Labeling and Fine Writing businesses that focus investment on innovation and brand support in existing
markets. The Writing segment designs, manufactures or sources and distributes writing instruments, adhesives, cutting products and labeling solutions, primarily for use in business and the
home. The Segment’s largest writing instrument factory is based in the U.S.A (Tennessee - 2). The segment’s product offerings include markers, highlighters, activity-based adhesives, cutting
products and everyday and fine writing instruments and accessories. Permanent/waterbase markers, dry erase markers, highlighters and art supplies are primarily sold under the Sharpie ® ,
Expo ® , Sharpie ® Accent ® , Prismacolor ® and Mr. Sketch ® trademarks. Ballpoint pens and inks, roller ball pens, mechanical pencils and correction supplies are primarily sold under the
Paper Mate ® ,  InkJoy ® ,  Uni-Ball ® (used under exclusive license from Mitsubishi Pencil  Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries in North America and certain areas in Latin America),  Sharpie ® ,
Mongol ® and Liquid Paper ® trademarks. Activity-based adhesives and cutting products are primarily sold under the Elmer’s ® , Krazy Glue ® (a trademark of Toagosei Co. Ltd. used with
permission) and X-Acto ® trademarks.  Fine writing instruments are primarily sold under the Parker ® ,  Waterman ® and Rotring ® trademarks. The Writing segment’s on-demand labeling
solutions are primarily sold under the Dymo ® Office trademark.

The Writing segment generally markets its products directly to mass merchants, warehouse clubs, grocery/drug stores, office superstores, office supply stores, contract stationers, travel retail,
on-line and other retailers.

Home Solutions

The Company’s Food & Beverage business within the Home Solutions segment is a business with significant growth and geographic expansion opportunities, while the consumer storage and
organization,  cookware,  and  hair  care  accessories  businesses  within  the  Home  Solutions  segment  concentrates  innovation  and  investment  in  the  brands  in  existing  markets.  The  Home
Solutions segment
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designs, manufactures or sources and distributes a wide range of consumer products under multiple brand names. The Segment’s largest food storage and cookware factories are based in the
U.S.A.  (Ohio  -  2,  Kansas).  Indoor/outdoor  organization  and  home storage  products  are  primarily  sold  under  the  Rubbermaid ® and Roughneck ® trademarks.  Food storage and on-the-go
hydration and thermal bottles are primarily sold under the Rubbermaid ® , TakeAlongs ® , Contigo ® , Avex ® and bubba ® trademarks. Aluminum and stainless steel cookware and bakeware
are sold under the Calphalon ® trademark. Hair care accessories and grooming products are marketed primarily under the Goody ® trademark.

The Home Solutions segment primarily markets its products directly to mass merchants and specialty, grocery/drug and department stores.

Tools

The Tools segment designs, manufactures or sources and distributes hand tools and power tool accessories, industrial bandsaw blades, tools and industrial labeling solutions. The Segment has
two key factories that are based in the U.S.A. (Maine, Massachusetts). Hand tools and power tool accessories are primarily sold under the Irwin ® trademark, while industrial bandsaw blades
and cutting and drilling accessories are sold under the Lenox ® trademark. Heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) tools are sold under the hilmor TM trademark, and industrial label
makers are sold under the Dymo ® trademark.

The Tools segment primarily markets its products through distributors and directly to mass merchants, home centers, industrial/construction outlets and other professional customers. During
the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the Tools business for an estimated price of $1.95 billion, subject to working capital adjustments. The transaction is
expected to close in early 2017, subject to certain customary conditions, including regulatory approvals.

Commercial Products

The  Company’s  Commercial  Products  segment  is  a  business  with  higher  growth  opportunities  within  the  framework  of  the  New Growth  Game Plan.  The  Commercial  Products  segment
designs, manufactures or sources and distributes cleaning and refuse products, hygiene systems and material handling solutions. The Segment’s largest commercial products factory is based
in the U.S.A. (Virginia). Rubbermaid Commercial Products ® primarily sells its products under the Rubbermaid ® and Brute ® trademarks.

The  Commercial  Products  segment  primarily  markets  its  products  through  distributors  and  directly  to  mass  merchants,  home  centers,  commercial  products  distributors,  select  contract
customers and other professional customers.

Baby & Parenting

The Company’s Baby & Parenting segment focuses on optimizing the business and market share in existing markets and geographies within the framework of the New Growth Game Plan.
The Baby & Parenting segment  designs and distributes  infant  and juvenile  products  such as  car  seats,  strollers,  swings,  highchairs  and playards,  and primarily  sells  its  products  under the
Graco ® , Baby Jogger ® , City Mini ® , City Select ® , Aprica ® and Teutonia ® trademarks. The Baby & Parenting segment sources substantially all of its products.

The Baby & Parenting segment primarily markets its products directly to mass merchants, department stores, distributors and on-line retailers.

Branded Consumables

The Company’s Branded Consumables segment is a legacy Jarden segment that manufactures or sources, markets and distributes a broad line of branded consumer products, many of which
are affordable, consumable and fundamental household staples, and primarily sells its products under the Yankee Candle ® , Waddington, Ball ® , Diamond ® , First Alert ® , NUK ® , Quickie
® ,  Pine  Mountain ® trademarks.  The  Segment’s  largest  candle,  playing  card,  baby  nurturing,  and  plastic  cutlery  and  serve-ware  factories  are  based  in  the  U.S.A.  (Massachusetts  -  2,
Wisconsin, Kentucky). The Company believes the home fragrance business with this segment offers higher growth and geographic expansion opportunities in the New Growth Game Plan, as
demonstrated in the January 2017 acquisition of Smith Mountain Industries, a leading provider of premium home fragrance products, primarily under the WoodWick ® Candle brand.

The  Branded  Consumables  segment  primarily  markets  its  products  directly  to  club,  department  store,  drug/grocery,  mass  merchant,  specialty  retailers,  casinos  and  distributors  as  well  as
company-operated retail stores and direct to consumer web-based sales for Yankee Candle.
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Consumer Solutions

Consumer  Solutions  is  a  legacy  Jarden  segment  that  manufactures  or  sources,  markets  and  distributes  a  diverse  line  of  household  products,  including  kitchen  appliances  and  home
environment products,  and primarily  sells  its  products  under the Crock-Pot ® ,  FoodSaver ® ,  Holmes ® ,  Mr. Coffee ® ,  Oster ® ,  Rainbow ® ,  and Sunbeam ® trademarks. The Consumer
Solutions segment also has rights to sell various small appliance products, in substantially all of Europe under the Breville ® brand name. The Consumer Solutions segment also utilizes an
extensive  licensing  strategy  to  extend  the  reach  of  the  brands  across  categories,  geographies  and  strategic  product  extensions.  The  Consumer  Solutions  segment  focuses  investment  on
innovation and brand support in existing markets within the New Growth Game Plan.

The Consumer Solutions segment primarily markets its products directly to club, department store, drug/grocery, mass merchant, specialty retailers and distributors.

Outdoor Solutions

Outdoor Solutions is a legacy Jarden segment that manufactures or sources, markets and distributes global consumer active lifestyle products for outdoor and outdoor-related activities, and
primarily sells its products under the Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Berkley ® , Shakespeare ® , Rawlings ® , Völkl ® , K2 ® , Marmot ® trademarks. The businesses within Outdoor Solutions segment,
such as camping, fishing and technical apparel, invest and innovate in brands in existing markets within the New Growth Game Plan.

The Outdoor Solutions segment primarily markets its products directly to club, department store, drug/grocery, mass merchant, sporting goods and specialty retailers and distributors.

Process Solutions

Process Solutions is a legacy Jarden segment that manufactures,  markets and distributes a wide variety of plastic products including closures, contact lens packaging, medical disposables,
plastic cutlery and rigid packaging. The materials business produces specialty nylon polymers, conductive fibers and monofilament used in various products. We also manufacture a line of
industrial  zinc products marketed globally for use in the architectural,  automotive, construction, electrical  component and plumbing markets.  The Segment’s largest factory is based in the
U.S.A. (South Carolina).

The Process Solutions segment primarily markets its products through distributors and directly to mass merchants, home centers, commercial products distributors, select contract customers
and other professional customers. The zinc products business within the Process Solution segment is the sole source supplier of copper-plated zinc penny blanks to the United States Mint and
a major supplier to the Royal Canadian Mint, as well as a supplier of brass, bronze and nickel-plated finishes on steel and zinc for coinage to other international markets.

OTHER INFORMATION

Multi-Product Offering

The  Company’s  broad  product  offering  in  multiple  categories  permits  it  to  more  effectively  meet  the  needs  of  its  customers.  With  families  of  leading  brand  names  and  profitable  and
innovative new products, the Company can assist volume purchasers in selling a more profitable product mix. As a potential single source for an entire product line, the Company can use
program merchandising to improve product presentation, optimize display space for both sales and income, and encourage impulse buying by retail consumers.

Foreign Operations

Information regarding the Company’s 2016 , 2015 and 2014 foreign operations and financial information by geographic area is included in Footnote 18 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements and is incorporated by reference herein. Information regarding risks relating to the Company’s foreign operations is set forth in Part I, Item 1A, of this report and is incorporated by
reference herein.

Please  refer  to  Management’s  Discussion  and  Analysis  of  Financial  Condition  and  Results  of  Operations  and  Footnote  1  of  the  Notes  to  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  for  further
information regarding the Company’s Venezuelan operations.

Raw Materials and Sourced Finished Goods

The Company has multiple foreign and domestic sources of supply for substantially all  of its  material  requirements.  The raw materials  and various purchased components required for its
products have generally been available in sufficient quantities. The Company’s product offerings require the purchase of resin, corrugate, glass, plastic, expanded polystyrene, extinguisher
powder,
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nylon, paper, plastic resin, sawdust, tin plate, wax and wood, natural rubber, electrical components, glass fiber, magnesium, adhesives, various paper-related packaging materials and metals,
including steel, stainless steel, aluminum copper and gold.

The Company’s resin purchases principally comprise polyethylene, polypropylene and copolyester. Over the long-term, the Company has experienced inflation in raw material prices, labor
and sourced products, and in 2016, inflation in labor and sourced products offset deflation in raw material prices. In 2017, the Company expects continued labor and sourced product inflation
and moderate inflation in raw material prices. On an annualized basis, resin and metals consumed as raw materials generally represent 8% to 15% of annual cost of products sold, with neither
resin nor metals purchased as raw materials individually representing more than 10% of cost of products sold.

The  Company  also  relies  on  third-party  manufacturers  as  a  source  for  finished  goods.   Historically,  the  Company  has  experienced  inflation  in  sourced  product  costs  due  to  currency
fluctuations and increased input and labor costs. For a limited number of product lines, a single manufacturer or a limited number of manufacturers may supply substantially all of the finished
goods for a product line. In particular, certain businesses within the Baby & Parenting and Home Solutions segments rely on third-party manufacturers for substantially all of their products.
Specifically,  the  Company’s  Baby & Parenting  segment  has  a  single  source  of  supply  for  products  that  comprise  a  majority  of  Baby & Parenting’s  sales  and which owns the  intellectual
property for many of those products.

See Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for further discussion.

Backlog

The dollar value of unshipped factory orders is not material.

Seasonal Variations

Sales of the Company’s products tend to be seasonal, with sales, operating income and operating cash flow in the first quarter generally lower than any other quarter during the year, driven
principally  by  reduced  volume  and  the  mix  of  products  sold  in  the  first  quarter.  The  seasonality  of  the  Company’s  sales  volume  combined  with  the  accounting  for  fixed  costs,  such  as
depreciation,  amortization,  rent,  personnel  costs  and  interest  expense,  impacts  the  Company’s  results  on  a  quarterly  basis.  In  addition,  the  Company  tends  to  generate  the  majority  of  its
operating  cash  flow  in  the  second,  third  and  fourth  quarters  of  the  year  due  to  seasonal  variations  in  operating  results,  the  timing  of  annual  performance-based  compensation  payments,
customer program payments, working capital requirements and credit terms provided to customers.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company has many patents,  trademarks,  brand names and trade names that are, in the aggregate,  important to its business. The Company’s most significant registered trademarks are
Sharpie ® , Paper Mate ® , Elmer’s ® , Parker ® , Waterman ® , Dymo ® , Rubbermaid ® , Contigo ® , Goody ® , Calphalon ® , Irwin ® , Lenox ® , Graco ® , Baby Jogger ® , Aprica ® , Bionaire ® ,
Coleman ® , Crock-Pot ® , First Alert ® , FoodSaver ® , Health o Meter ® , Holmes ® , K2 ® , Marmot ® , Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Pine Mountain ® , Quickie ® , Rawlings ® , Ride ® , Rival ® ,
Shakespeare ® , Starterlogg ® , Stearns ® , Sunbeam ® and Völkl ® .

Customers/Competition

The  Company’s  principal  customers  are  large  mass  merchandisers,  such  as  discount  stores,  home  centers,  warehouse  clubs,  office  superstores,  craft  stores,  direct-to-consumer  channels,
specialty retailers and wholesalers, commercial distributors, e-commerce companies and Yankee Candle retail stores. Additionally we distribute our Jostens and Waddington products through
the academic and achievement channel and foodservice channel, respectively. The dominant share of the market represented by large mass merchandisers, together with consumer shopping
patterns,  contributes to a market environment in which dominant multi-category retailers and e-commerce companies have strong negotiating power with suppliers.  This environment may
limit the Company’s ability to recover cost increases through selling prices.

Current trends among retailers and e-commerce companies include fostering high levels of competition among suppliers, demanding innovative new products and products tailored to each of
their  unique  requirements  and requiring  suppliers  to  maintain  or  reduce  product  prices  and deliver  products  with  shorter  lead  times.  Other  trends,  in  the  absence  of  a  strong new product
development effort or strong end-user brands, are for retailers and e-commerce companies to import generic products directly from foreign sources and to source and sell products, under their
own  private  label  brands,  which  compete  with  the  Company’s  products.  The  combination  of  these  market  influences  has  created  an  intensely  competitive  environment  in  which  the
Company’s principal customers continuously evaluate which product suppliers to use, resulting in downward pricing pressures and the need for big, consumer-meaningful brands, the ongoing
introduction and commercialization of innovative new products, continuing improvements in category management and customer service, and the maintenance of strong relationships with
large,  high-volume  purchasers.  The  Company  competes  with  numerous  manufacturers  and  distributors  of  consumer  products,  many  of  which  are  large  and  well-established.  Our  Yankee
Candle retail stores compete primarily with specialty candle and personal care retailers and a

9



Table of Contents

variety of other retailers, including department stores, gift stores and national specialty retailers that carry candles along with personal care items, giftware and housewares.

The Company’s principal methods of meeting its competitive challenges are creating and maintaining leading brands and differentiated products that deliver superior value and performance;
delivering superior customer service and consistent on-time delivery; producing and procuring products at a competitive cost; and experienced management. In addition, the Company focuses
on building consumer loyalty and increased consumer demand through increased investment in consumer insights and using those insights to develop innovative products and product features
that meet consumers’ needs.

The  Company  has  also  positioned  itself  to  respond  to  the  competitive  challenges  in  the  retail  environment  by  developing  strong  relationships  with  large,  high-volume  purchasers.  The
Company  markets  its  strong  multi-product  offering  through  virtually  every  category  of  high-volume  retailers,  including  discount,  drug/grocery  and  variety  chains;  warehouse  clubs;
department,  hardware and specialty  stores;  home centers;  office  superstores;  contract  stationers;  and e-commerce  companies.  The Company’s  largest  customer,  Wal-Mart  (which includes
Sam’s Club), accounted for approximately 13.5% , 10.9% and 10.6% of net sales in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively, across substantially all segments. The Company’s top-ten customers
in 2016 included ( in alphabetical order ): amazon, Bed, Bath & Beyond, Costco, Lowe’s, Office Depot, Staples, Target, The Home Depot, Toys ‘R’ Us and Wal-Mart.

Environmental Matters

Information regarding the Company’s environmental matters is included in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations section of this report
and in Footnote 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and is incorporated by reference herein.

Research and Development

The Company’s research and development efforts focus on developing new, differentiated and innovative products to meet consumers’ needs. The Company’s product development efforts
begin with consumer insights and the Company has consolidated its consumer marketing and insight capabilities into a global center of excellence and is investing further to strengthen these
capabilities.  The Company continues to invest to strengthen its product design and research and development capabilities and has consolidated its design and innovation capabilities into a
center of excellence.  The Company’s enhanced marketing and insight and research and development capabilities  have been leveraged to implement a new ideation process throughout the
business, resulting in idea fragments that feed the development of product concepts.

Information  regarding  the  Company’s  research  and development  costs  for  each of  the  past  three  years  is  included in  Footnote  1  of  the  Notes  to  Consolidated Financial  Statements  and is
incorporated by reference herein.

Employees

As  of  December  31, 2016 ,  the  Company  had  approximately 53,400 employees  worldwide.  Approximately 4,500 of  the  Company’s  employees  are  covered  by  collective  bargaining
agreements or are located in countries that have collective arrangements decreed by statute. Management believes that our relationships with our employees and collective bargaining unions
are satisfactory.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The ownership of the Company’s common stock involves a number of risks and uncertainties. Potential investors should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below and the
other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before deciding whether to invest in the Company’s securities. The Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations
could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. The risks described below are not the only ones facing the Company. Additional risks that are currently unknown to the Company
or that the Company currently considers to be immaterial may also impair its business or adversely affect its financial condition or results of operations.

The Company is subject to risks related to its dependence on the strength of retail, commercial and industrial sectors of the economy in various parts of the world.

The Company’s business depends on the strength of the retail,  commercial and industrial sectors of the economy in various parts of the world, primarily in North America, and to a lesser
extent Europe, Latin America and Asia. These sectors of the economy are affected primarily by factors such as consumer demand and the condition of the retail industry, which, in turn, are
affected by general economic conditions. With continuing challenging global economic conditions, particularly outside of the U.S., there has been considerable pressure on consumer demand,
and the resulting impact on consumer spending has had and may continue to have an adverse effect on demand for the Company’s products, as well as its financial condition and results of
operations. The Company could also be negatively impacted by economic crises in specific countries or regions. Such events could negatively
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impact the Company’s overall liquidity and/or create significant credit risks relative to its local customers and depository institutions. Consumer demand and the condition of these sectors of
the economy may also be impacted by other  external  factors  such as  war,  terrorism,  geopolitical  uncertainties,  public  health  issues,  natural  disasters  and other  business  interruptions.  The
impact of these external factors is difficult to predict, and one or more of these factors could adversely impact the Company’s business.

The Company is subject to intense competition in a marketplace dominated by large retailers and e-commerce companies.

The Company competes with numerous other manufacturers and distributors of consumer and commercial products, many of which are large and well-established. The Company’s principal
customers are large mass merchandisers, such as discount stores, home centers, warehouse clubs, office superstores, commercial distributors and e-commerce companies. The dominant share
of the market represented by these large mass merchandisers, together with changes in consumer shopping patterns, has contributed to the formation of dominant multi-category retailers and
e-commerce  companies  that  have  strong negotiating  power  with  suppliers.  Current  trends  among retailers  and e-commerce  companies  include  fostering  high levels  of  competition  among
suppliers, demanding innovative new products and products tailored to each of their unique requirements, requiring suppliers to maintain or reduce product prices in response to competitive,
economic or other factors, and requiring product delivery with shorter lead times. Other trends are for retailers and e-commerce companies to import products directly from foreign sources
and to source and sell products under their own private label brands, typically at lower prices, that compete with the Company’s products.

The combination of these market influences and retailer consolidation has created an intensely competitive environment in which the Company’s principal customers continuously evaluate
which product suppliers to use, resulting in downward pricing pressures and the need for big, consumer-meaningful brands, the ongoing introduction and commercialization of innovative new
products, continuing improvements in category management and customer service, and the maintenance of strong relationships with large, high-volume purchasers. The Company also faces
the risk of changes in the strategy or structure of its major customers, such as overall store and inventory reductions. The intense competition in the retail and e-commerce sectors, combined
with  the  overall  economic  environment,  may  result  in  a  number  of  customers  experiencing  financial  difficulty,  or  failing  in  the  future.  In  particular,  a  loss  of,  or  a  failure  by,  one  of  the
Company’s large customers could adversely impact the Company’s sales and operating cash flows. To address these challenges, the Company must be able to respond to competitive factors,
and the failure to respond effectively could result in a loss of sales, reduced profitability and a limited ability to recover cost increases through price increases.

The Company’s sales are dependent on purchases from several large customers and any significant decline in these purchases or pressure from these customers to reduce prices
could have a negative effect on the Company’s future financial performance.

The Company’s customer base is relatively fragmented. Although we have long-established relationships with many customers, the Company generally does not have any long-term supply or
binding  contracts  or  guarantees  of  minimum  purchases  with  its  largest  customers.  Purchases  by  these  customers  are  generally  made  using  individual  purchase  orders.  As  a  result,  these
customers may cancel their orders, change purchase quantities from forecast volumes, delay purchases for a number of reasons beyond the Company’s control or change other terms of the
business  relationship.  Significant  or  numerous  cancellations,  reductions,  delays  in  purchases  or  changes  in  business  practices  or  by customers  could  have a  material  adverse  effect  on  the
Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, because many of the Company’s costs are fixed, a reduction in customer demand could have an adverse effect
on the Company’s gross profit margins and operating income.

The Company depends on a continuous flow of new orders from large, high-volume retail customers; however, the Company may be unable to continually meet the needs of these customers.
Retailers are increasing their demands on suppliers to:

• reduce lead times for product delivery, which may require the Company to increase inventories and could impact the timing of reported sales;
• improve customer service, such as with direct import programs, whereby product is supplied directly to retailers from third-party suppliers; and
• adopt new technologies related to inventory management such as Radio Frequency Identification, otherwise known as RFID technology, which may have substantial implementation

costs.

The Company cannot provide any assurance that it can continue to successfully meet the needs of its customers. A substantial decrease in sales to any of its major customers could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Company’s customers may further consolidate, which could materially adversely affect its sales and margins.

The  Company’s  customers  have  steadily  consolidated  over  the  last  two  decades.  The  Company  expects  any  customers  that  consolidate  will  take  actions  to  harmonize  pricing  from their
suppliers,  close retail  outlets  and rationalize  their  supply chain,  which could adversely affect  the Company’s business and results  of operations.  There can be no assurance that,  following
consolidation,
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the Company’s large customers will continue to buy from the Company across different product categories or geographic regions, or at the same levels as prior to consolidation, which could
negatively  impact  the  Company’s  financial  results.  Further,  if  the  consolidation  trend  continues,  it  could  result  in  future  pricing  and  other  competitive  pressures  that  could  reduce  the
Company’s sales and margins and have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Company’s plans to continue to improve productivity and reduce complexity and costs may not be successful, which would materially adversely affect its ability to compete.

The Company’s success depends on its ability to continuously improve its manufacturing operations to gain efficiencies, reduce supply chain costs and streamline or redeploy nonstrategic
selling, general and administrative expenses in order to produce products at a best-cost position and allow the Company to invest in innovation and brand building, including advertising and
promotion. The Company is currently in the process of implementing Project Renewal and delivering the cost synergies related to the acquisition of Jarden. Both efforts are global initiatives
designed to reduce the complexity of the organization and increase investment in the Company’s most significant growth platforms. Project Renewal and the Company’s cost saving plans
associated with the Jarden integration may not be completed substantially as planned, may be more costly to implement than expected, or may not result  in, in full  or in part,  the positive
effects  anticipated.  In  addition,  such  initiatives  require  the  Company  to  implement  a  significant  amount  of  organizational  change,  which  could  have  a  negative  impact  on  employee
engagement, divert management’s attention from other concerns, and if not properly managed, impact the Company’s ability to retain key employees, cause disruptions in the Company’s day-
to-day operations and have a negative impact on the Company’s financial results. It is also possible that other major productivity and streamlining programs may be required in the future.

If  the  Company  is  unable  to  commercialize  a  continuing  stream  of  new products  that  create  demand,  the  Company’s  ability  to  compete  in  the  marketplace  may  be  adversely
impacted.

The  Company’s  strategy  includes  investment  in  new  product  development  and  a  focus  on  innovation.  Its  long-term  success  in  the  competitive  retail  environment  and  the  industrial  and
commercial markets depends on its ability to develop and commercialize a continuing stream of innovative new products and line extensions that create demand. New product development
and commercialization efforts, including efforts to enter markets or product categories in which the Company has limited or no prior experience, have inherent risks. These risks include the
costs involved, such as development and commercialization, product development or launch delays, and the failure of new products and line extensions to achieve anticipated levels of market
acceptance or growth in sales or operating income. The Company also faces the risk that its competitors will introduce innovative new products that compete with the Company’s products. In
addition, sales generated by new products or line extensions could cause a decline in sales of the Company’s existing products. If new product development and commercialization efforts are
not successful, the Company’s financial results could be adversely affected.

If the Company does not continue to develop and maintain leading brands or realize the anticipated benefits of increased advertising and promotion spend, its operating results
may suffer.

The Company’s ability to compete successfully also depends increasingly on its ability to develop and maintain leading brands so that the Company’s retailer and other customers will need
the Company’s products to meet consumer demand. Leading brands allow the Company to realize economies of scale in its  operations.  The development and maintenance of such brands
require significant investment in brand-building and marketing initiatives. While the Company plans to continue to increase its expenditures for advertising and promotion and other brand-
building  and  marketing  initiatives  over  the  long  term,  the  initiatives  may  not  deliver  the  anticipated  results  and  the  results  of  such  initiatives  may  not  cover  the  costs  of  the  increased
investment.

The  Company  incurred  substantial  additional  indebtedness  in  connection  with  the  Jarden  Acquisition  which  could  materially  adversely  affect  the  Company  and  its  financial
position, including decreasing its business flexibility and increasing its borrowing costs.

The Company incurred an additional $6.5 billion of debt (excluding approximately $4.1 billion of Jarden debt refinanced in connection with the acquisition) in connection with the completion
of the Jarden Acquisition. Following completion of the Jarden Acquisition, the Company substantially increased its debt compared to its recent historical levels. This increased level of debt
will increase the Company’s interest expense and could have the effect, among other things, of reducing the Company’s flexibility to respond to changing business and economic conditions.
In addition, if the Company is unable to timely reduce its level of indebtedness, the Company will be subject to increased demands on its cash resources, which could increase its total debt-to-
capitalization ratios, decrease its interest coverage ratios, result in a breach of covenants or otherwise adversely affect the business and financial results of the Company.
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An increase in interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our business.

While the vast majority of the company’s debt is fixed, fluctuations in interest rates can increase borrowing costs on the portion that is variable and interest rate increases on this portion of the
company’s debt could have a material adverse effect on our business. In response to the last global economic recession, extraordinary monetary policy actions of the U.S. Federal Reserve and
other central banking institutions, including the utilization of quantitative easing, were taken to create and maintain a low interest rate environment. However, in December 2015, the U.S.
Federal Reserve raised its benchmark interest rate by a quarter of a percentage point for the first time since 2006, and in December 2016, the U.S. Federal Reserve again raised its benchmark
interest rate by a quarter of a percentage point. While it is unclear whether such action suggests a change in previous monetary policy positions, any such change or market expectation of such
change may result in significantly higher long-term interest rates. Such a transition may be abrupt and may, among other things, reduce the availability and/or increase the costs of obtaining
new debt and refinancing existing indebtedness.

If the Company is unable to make strategic acquisitions and to integrate its acquired businesses, the Company’s future growth and profitability could be adversely impacted.

The Company’s ability to continue to make strategic acquisitions and to integrate the acquired businesses successfully remain important factors in the Company’s future growth. In December
2016,  the  Company  announced  the  acquisition  of  Sistema  Plastics,  a  New  Zealand-based  provider  of  food  storage  containers  primarily  under  the  Sistema ® brand.  In  January  2017,  the
Company completed the acquisition of Smith Mountain Industries, a provider of home fragrance products, primarily under the WoodWick ® Candle brand, and in April 2016, the Company
completed the acquisition of Jarden Corporation, which had recently acquired Jostens, Inc. and Waddington Group Inc. The Company’s ability to successfully integrate these or any other
acquired business  is  dependent  upon its  ability  to  identify  suitable  acquisition candidates,  integrate  and manage product  lines  that  have been acquired,  obtain  anticipated  cost  savings and
operating income improvements within a reasonable period of time, assume unknown liabilities, known contingent liabilities that become realized or known liabilities that prove greater than
anticipated,  and  manage  unanticipated  demands  on  the  Company’s  management,  operational  resources  and  financial  and  internal  control  systems.  Furthermore,  the  Company’s  ability  to
finance  major  acquisitions  may be  adversely  affected  by  the  Company’s  financial  position  and  access  to  credit  markets.  In  addition,  significant  additional  borrowings  would  increase  the
Company’s borrowing costs and could adversely affect its credit rating and could constrain the Company’s future access to capital. The Company may not successfully manage these or other
risks it may encounter in acquiring and integrating a business or product line, which could have a material adverse effect on its business.

Circumstances associated with divestitures and product line exits could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

The Company continually evaluates the performance and strategic fit of its businesses and products. In June 2016, the Company completed the sale of its Décor business, which comprises its
Levolor ®  and Kirsch ®  window coverings brands. During 2016, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its Tools business, which comprises the Irwin ® , Lenox ® , and hilmor TM

brands, and announced its intention to divest several other businesses and brands, including its Winter Sports business, including the Völkl ® and K2 ® brands and the Rubbermaid ® consumer
storage totes business. The Company may decide to sell or discontinue other businesses or products in the future based on an evaluation of performance and strategic fit. A decision to divest
or discontinue a business or product may result in asset impairments, including those related to goodwill and other intangible assets, and losses upon disposition, both of which could have an
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the Company may encounter difficulty in finding buyers or executing alternative exit strategies at
acceptable prices and terms and in a timely manner and prospective buyers may have difficulty obtaining financing. Divestitures and business discontinuations could involve additional risks,
including the following:

• difficulties in the separation of operations, services, products and personnel;
• the diversion of management's attention from other business concerns;
• the retention of certain current or future liabilities in order to induce a buyer to complete a divestiture;
• the disruption of the Company’s business; and
• the potential loss of key employees.

The Company may not be successful in managing these or any other significant risks that it may encounter in divesting or discontinuing a business or exiting product lines, which could have a
material adverse effect on its business.

The Company’s operating results can be adversely affected by changes in the cost or availability of raw materials, energy, transportation and other necessary supplies and services.

Pricing and availability of raw materials, energy, transportation and other necessary supplies and services for use in the Company’s businesses can be volatile due to numerous factors beyond
its control, including general, domestic and international economic
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conditions, labor costs, production levels, competition, consumer demand, import duties and tariffs and currency exchange rates. This volatility can significantly affect the availability and cost
of raw materials, energy, transportation and other supplies and services for the Company, and may, therefore, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations
and financial condition.

The Company’s success is dependent, in part,  on its continued ability to reduce its exposure to increases in those costs through a variety of programs, including periodic purchases, future
delivery purchases, long-term contracts, sales price adjustments and certain derivative instruments, while maintaining and improving margins and market share. Also, the Company relies on
third-party manufacturers as a source for its products. These manufacturers are also subject to price volatility and labor cost and other inflationary pressures, which may, in turn, result in an
increase in the amount the Company pays for sourced products. During periods of rising prices of raw materials, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to pass any portion
of such increases on to customers.  Conversely,  when raw material  prices decline,  customer demands for lower prices could result  in lower sale prices and, to the extent the Company has
existing  inventory,  lower  margins.  As  a  result,  fluctuations  in  raw  material  prices  could  have  a  material  adverse  effect  on  the  Company’s  business,  results  of  operations  and  financial
condition.

Some of the products we manufacture require particular types of glass, metal, paper, plastic, resin, wax, wood or other materials. Supply shortages for a particular type of material can delay
production or cause increases in the cost of manufacturing the Company’s products. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The Company’s operations are dependent upon third-party vendors and suppliers whose failure to perform adequately could disrupt the Company’s business operations.

The Company currently sources a significant portion of parts and products from third parties. The Company’s ability to select and retain reliable vendors and suppliers who provide timely
deliveries of quality parts and products will impact the Company’s success in meeting customer demand for timely delivery of quality products. In many cases, the Company does not enter
into long-term contracts with its primary vendors and suppliers, instead buying parts and products on a “purchase order” basis. As a result, the Company may be subject to unexpected changes
in pricing or supply of products.

The ability of third-party suppliers to timely deliver finished goods and/or raw materials, and the ability of the Company’s own facilities to timely deliver finished goods, may be affected by
events beyond their control,  such as inability of shippers to timely deliver merchandise due to work stoppages or slowdowns, or significant weather and health conditions (such as SARS)
affecting manufacturers and/or shippers. Any adverse change in the Company’s relationships with its third-party suppliers, the financial condition of third-party suppliers, the ability of third-
party suppliers to manufacture and deliver outsourced parts or products on a timely basis, or the Company’s ability to import products from third-party suppliers or its own facilities could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

In  addition,  the  financial  condition  of  the  Company’s  vendors  and  suppliers  may  be  adversely  affected  by  general  economic  conditions,  such  as  credit  difficulties  and  the  uncertain
macroeconomic environment in recent years. In addition, in some instances the Company maintains single-source or limited-source sourcing relationships, either because multiple sources are
not available or the relationship is advantageous due to performance, quality, support, delivery, capacity or price considerations. For example, the Company’s Baby & Parenting business has a
single source of supply for products that comprise a majority of Baby & Parenting’s sales and which owns intellectual property rights in respect of many of those products. Should any of
these single source suppliers fail to manufacture sufficient supply, go out of business or discontinue a particular component, the Company may not be able to find alternative vendors and
suppliers in a timely manner, if at all.  Any inability of the Company’s vendors and suppliers to timely deliver quality parts and products or any unanticipated change in supply, quality or
pricing of products could be disruptive and costly to the Company.

The Company cannot assure you that it could quickly or effectively replace any of its suppliers if the need arose, and the Company cannot assure you that it could retrieve tooling and molds
possessed by any of its third-party suppliers. The Company’s dependence on these few suppliers could also adversely affect its ability to react quickly and effectively to changes in the market
for its products.

Changes in foreign, cultural, political and financial market conditions could impair the Company’s international operations and financial performance.

Some of the Company’s operations are conducted or products are sold in countries where economic growth has slowed, such as Brazil; or where economies have suffered economic, social
and/or  political  instability  or  hyperinflation;  or  where  the  ability  to  repatriate  funds  has  been significantly  delayed or  impaired.  Current  government  economic  and fiscal  policies  in  these
economies,  including  stimulus  measures  and currency  exchange  rates  and controls,  may not  be  sustainable  and,  as  a  result,  the  Company’s  sales  or  profits  related  to  those  countries  may
decline.  The  economies  of  other  foreign  countries  important  to  the  Company’s  operations  could  also  suffer  slower  economic  growth  or  economic,  social  and/or  political  instability  or
hyperinflation in the future. The Company’s international operations (and particularly its business in emerging markets), including manufacturing and sourcing
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operations (and the international operations of the Company’s customers), are subject to inherent risks which could adversely affect the Company, including, among other things:

• protectionist policies restricting or impairing the manufacturing, sales or import and export of the Company’s products;
• new restrictions on access to markets;
• lack of developed infrastructure;
• inflation (including hyperinflation) or recession;
• devaluations or fluctuations in the value of currencies;
• changes  in  and  the  burdens  and  costs  of  compliance  with  a  variety  of  laws  and  regulations,  including  the  Foreign  Corrupt  Practices  Act,  tax  laws,  accounting  standards,  trade

protection measures and import and export licensing requirements, environmental laws and occupational health and safety laws;
• social, political or economic instability;
• acts of war and terrorism;
• natural disasters or other crises;
• reduced protection of intellectual property rights in some countries;
• increases in duties and taxation;
• restrictions on transfer of funds and/or exchange of currencies;
• expropriation of assets or forced relocations of operations; and
• other adverse changes in policies, including monetary, tax and/or lending policies, encouraging foreign investment or foreign trade by host countries.

Should any of these risks occur, the Company’s ability to manufacture, source, sell or export its products or repatriate profits could be impaired; the Company could experience a loss of sales
and profitability from its international operations; and/or the Company could experience a substantial impairment or loss of assets, any of which could have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s business.

The Company has foreign currency translation and transaction risks that may materially adversely affect the Company’s operating results, financial condition and liquidity.

The financial position and results of operations of many of the Company’s international subsidiaries are initially recorded in various foreign currencies and then translated into U.S. Dollars at
the applicable exchange rate for inclusion in the Company’s financial statements. The strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against these foreign currencies ordinarily has a negative impact on the
Company’s reported sales, operating margin and operating income (and conversely, the weakening of the U.S. Dollar has a positive impact). For the year ended December 31, 2016 , foreign
currency unfavorably affected reported sales by $113.1 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2015 . The volatility of foreign exchange rates may materially adversely affect the
Company’s operating results.

The  margin  impacts  from changes  in  foreign  currency  are  because  the  Company’s  costs  for  produced  and  sourced  products  are  largely  denominated  in  U.S.  Dollars,  and  the  Company’s
international operations generally sell the Company’s products at prices denominated in local currencies. When local currencies decline in value relative to the U.S. Dollar in the regions in
which the Company sells products whose costs are denominated in U.S. Dollars, the Company’s international businesses would need to increase the local currency sales prices of the products
and/or reduce costs through productivity or other initiatives in order to maintain the same level of profitability. The Company may not be able to increase the selling prices of its products in
its  international  businesses  due to  market  dynamics,  competition  or  otherwise and may not  realize  cost  reductions  through productivity  or  other  initiatives.  As a  result,  gross margins  and
overall operating results of the Company’s international businesses would be adversely affected when the U.S. Dollar strengthens.

The Company has been adversely impacted by developments in Venezuela, including the significant devaluations of the Venezuelan Bolivar that have occurred in recent years, the declining
availability of U.S. Dollars and the implementation of pricing and exchange controls in Venezuela. As of December 31, 2015, the Company determined that it no longer could exercise control
over the operations of its Venezuela subsidiary. Accordingly, the Company deconsolidated its Venezuela subsidiary on December 31, 2015 and recorded a pretax charge of $172.7 million .

Future government actions,  such as currency devaluations,  import  authorization controls,  foreign exchange controls,  price or profit  controls or expropriation or other forms of government
take-over, could adversely impact the Company’s business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

See Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Footnote 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.
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A failure of one or more key information technology systems, networks, processes, associated sites or service providers could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
business or reputation.

The Company relies extensively on information technology (IT) systems, networks and services, including Internet sites, data hosting and processing facilities and tools and other hardware,
software and technical applications and platforms, some of which are managed, hosted, provided and/or used by third parties or their vendors, to assist in conducting business. The various
uses of these IT systems, networks and services include, but are not limited to:

• ordering and managing materials from suppliers;
• converting materials to finished products;
• shipping products to customers;
• marketing and selling products to consumers;
• collecting and storing customer, consumer, employee, investor and other stakeholder information and personal data;
• processing transactions;
• summarizing and reporting results of operations;
• hosting, processing and sharing confidential and proprietary research, business plans and financial information;
• complying with regulatory, legal or tax requirements;
• providing data security; and
• handling other processes necessary to manage the Company’s business.

Increased IT security threats and more sophisticated computer crime, including advanced persistent threats, pose a potential risk to the security of the Company’s IT systems, networks and
services, as well as the confidentiality, availability and integrity of the Company’s data. The Company’s operations, especially its retail operations, involve the storage and transmission of
employees’, customers’ and consumers’ proprietary information, such as credit card and bank account numbers. The Company’s payment services may be susceptible to credit card and other
payment fraud schemes, including unauthorized use of credit cards, debit cards or bank account information, identity theft or merchant fraud. If the IT systems, networks or service providers
relied upon fail  to function properly, or if  the Company suffers a loss or disclosure of customers’ and consumers’ data, business or stakeholder information, due to any number of causes,
ranging from catastrophic events to power outages to security breaches,  and business continuity plans do not effectively address these failures on a timely basis,  the Company may suffer
interruptions  in its  ability  to manage operations,  a  risk of  government  enforcement  action,  litigation and possible  liability,  and reputational,  competitive  and/or  business  harm, which may
adversely impact the Company’s results of operations and/or financial condition.

As techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, the Company may be unable to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or perceived breach of the Company’s security occurs, the public perception of the effectiveness of the
Company’s security measures could be harmed and the Company could lose customers and consumers, which could adversely affect its business.

Impairment charges could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial results.

Future events may occur that would adversely affect the reported value of the Company’s assets and require impairment charges. Such events may include, but are not limited to, strategic
decisions  made  in  response  to  changes  in  economic  and  competitive  conditions,  the  impact  of  the  economic  environment  on  the  Company’s  sales  and  customer  base,  the  unfavorable
resolution of litigation,  a material  adverse change in the Company’s relationship with significant  customers or business partners,  or a sustained decline in the Company’s stock price.  The
Company continues to evaluate the impact of economic and other developments on the Company and its business units to assess whether impairment indicators are present. Accordingly, the
Company may be required to perform impairment tests based on changes in the economic environment and other factors, and these tests could result in impairment charges in the future.

The Company’s businesses and operations are subject to regulation in the U.S. and abroad.

Changes in laws, regulations and related interpretations may alter the environment in which the Company does business. This includes changes in environmental, competitive and product-
related  laws,  as  well  as  changes  in  accounting  standards,  taxation  and  other  regulations.  Accordingly,  the  Company’s  ability  to  manage  regulatory,  tax  and  legal  matters  (including
environmental, human resource, product liability, patent and intellectual property matters), and to resolve pending legal and environmental matters without significant liability could require
the Company to record significant reserves in excess of amounts accrued to date or pay significant fines during a reporting period, which could materially impact the Company’s results. In
addition,  new  regulations  may  be  enacted  in  the  U.S.  or  abroad  that  may  require  the  Company  to  incur  additional  personnel-related,  environmental  or  other  costs  on  an  ongoing  basis,
significantly restrict the Company’s ability to sell certain products, or incur fines or penalties for noncompliance, any of which could adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.
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As a U.S.-based multinational company, the Company is also subject to tax regulations in the U.S. and multiple foreign jurisdictions, some of which are interdependent. For example, certain
income that is earned and taxed in countries outside the U.S. is not taxed in the U.S. until those earnings are actually repatriated or deemed repatriated. If these or other tax regulations should
change, the Company’s financial results could be impacted.

The Company may incur significant costs in order to comply with environmental remediation obligations.

In addition to operational standards, environmental laws also impose obligations on various entities to clean up contaminated properties or to pay for the cost of such remediation, often upon
parties that did not actually cause the contamination.  Accordingly,  the Company may be liable,  either contractually or by operation of law, for remediation costs even if the contaminated
property is not presently owned or operated by the Company, is a landfill or other location where it has disposed wastes, or if the contamination was caused by third parties during or prior to
the Company’s ownership or operation of the property. Given the nature of the past industrial operations conducted by the Company and others at these properties, there can be no assurance
that all potential instances of soil or groundwater contamination have been identified, even for those properties where an environmental site assessment has been conducted. We do not believe
that any of the Company’s existing remediation obligations, including at third-party sites where it has been named a potentially responsible party, will have a material adverse effect upon its
business,  results  of  operations  or  financial  condition.  However,  future  events,  such  as  changes  in  existing  laws  or  policies  or  their  enforcement,  or  the  discovery  of  currently  unknown
contamination, may give rise to additional remediation liabilities that may be material. See “Environmental Matters” under Footnote 19 of the notes to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 for a further discussion of these and other environmental-related matters.

The Company may not be able to attract, retain and develop key personnel.

The Company’s success at implementing Project Renewal, the Growth Game Plan, the integration of Jarden and its future performance depends in significant part upon the continued service
of its executive officers and other key personnel. The loss of the services of one or more executive officers or other key employees could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
business,  prospects,  financial  condition  and  results  of  operations.   The  Company’s  success  also  depends,  in  part,  on  its  continuing  ability  to  attract,  retain  and  develop  highly  qualified
personnel.  Competition for  such personnel  is  intense,  and there  can be no assurance that  the Company can retain  its  key employees  or  attract,  assimilate  and retain  other  highly qualified
personnel in the future.

The resolution of the Company’s tax contingencies may result in additional tax liabilities, which could adversely impact the Company’s cash flows and results of operations.

The Company is subject to income tax in the U.S. and numerous jurisdictions outside the U.S. Significant estimation and judgment are required in determining the Company’s worldwide
provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of the Company’s business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company is
regularly under audit  by various worldwide tax authorities.  Although the Company believes its tax estimates are reasonable,  the final outcome of tax audits and related litigation could be
materially different than that reflected in its historical income tax provisions and accruals. There can be no assurance that the resolution of any audits or litigation will not have an adverse
effect on future operating results.

The Company’s business involves the potential for product recalls, product liability and other claims against it, which could affect its earnings and financial condition.

As a manufacturer and distributor of consumer products, the Company is subject to the Consumer Products Safety Act of 1972, which empowers the Consumer Products Safety Commission
to  exclude  from  the  market  products  that  are  found  to  be  unsafe  or  hazardous.  Under  certain  circumstances,  the  Consumer  Products  Safety  Commission  could  require  the  Company  to
repurchase  or  recall  one  or  more  of  its  products.  Additionally,  other  laws  and  agencies,  such  as  the  National  Highway  Transportation  Safety  Administration,  regulate  certain  consumer
products sold by the Company in the United States and abroad, and more restrictive laws and regulations may be adopted in the future. Any repurchase or recall of the Company’s products
could be costly and damaging to the Company’s reputation. If the Company were required to remove, or it voluntarily removed, its products from the market, the Company’s reputation could
be tarnished and the Company might have large quantities of finished products that it could not sell. The Company also faces exposure to product liability claims in the event that one of its
products is alleged to have resulted in property damage, bodily injury or other adverse effects. In addition to the risk of substantial monetary judgments or fines or penalties that may result
from any governmental investigations, product liability claims or regulatory actions could result in negative publicity that could harm the Company’s reputation in the marketplace, adversely
impact the value of its end-user brands, or result in an increase in the cost of producing the Company’s products.

Although the Company maintains product liability insurance in amounts that it believes are reasonable, that insurance is, in most cases, subject to large self-insured retentions for which the
Company is responsible, and the Company cannot assure you that it
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will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms, if at all, in the future or that product liability claims will not exceed the amount of insurance coverage. Additionally, the Company
does not maintain product recall insurance. As a result, product recalls or product liability claims could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and
financial condition. In addition, the Company faces potential other types of litigation arising out of alleged defects in its products or otherwise, such as class action lawsuits. The Company
does not maintain insurance against many types of claims involving alleged defects in its products that do not involve personal injury or property damage. The Company spends substantial
resources ensuring compliance with governmental and other applicable standards. However, compliance with these standards does not necessarily prevent individual or class action lawsuits,
which can entail significant cost and risk. As a result, these types of claims could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition.

The  Company’s  product  liability  insurance  program is  an  occurrence-based  program based  on  its  current  and  historical  claims  experience  and  the  availability  and  cost  of  insurance.  The
Company  currently  either  self-insures  or  administers  a  high  retention  insurance  program  for  most  product  liability  risks.  Historically,  product  liability  awards  have  rarely  exceeded  the
Company’s individual per occurrence self-insured retention. The Company cannot assure you, however, that its future product liability experience will be consistent with its past experience or
that claims and awards subject to self-insured retention will not be material.

See Footnote 19 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 for a further discussion of these and
other regulatory and litigation-related matters.

If the Company fails to adequately protect its intellectual property rights, competitors may manufacture and market similar products, which could adversely affect the Company’s
market share and results of operations.

The Company’s success with its proprietary products depends, in part, on its ability to protect its current and future technologies and products and to defend its intellectual property rights,
including its patent and trademark rights. If the Company fails to adequately protect its intellectual property rights, competitors may manufacture and market similar products.

The Company holds numerous design and utility patents covering a wide variety of products. The Company cannot be sure that it will receive patents for any of its patent applications or that
any existing or future patents that it receives or licenses will provide competitive advantages for its products. The Company also cannot be sure that competitors will not challenge, invalidate
or  avoid  the  application  of  any  existing  or  future  patents  that  the  Company  receives  or  licenses.  In  addition,  patent  rights  may  not  prevent  competitors  from developing,  using  or  selling
products that are similar or functionally equivalent to the Company’s products.

A reduction in the Company’s credit ratings could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The  Company’s  credit  ratings  impact  the  cost  and  availability  of  future  borrowings  and,  accordingly,  the  Company’s  cost  of  capital.  The  Company’s  credit  ratings  reflect  each  rating
organization’s opinion of its financial strength, operating performance and ability to meet its debt obligations. The Company cannot be sure that any of its current ratings will remain in effect
for any given period of time or that a rating will not be lowered by a rating agency if, in its judgment, circumstances in the future so warrant. A downgrade by Moody’s Investor Services, Inc.
(“Moody’s”)  or  Standard  &  Poor’s  Ratings  Services  (“Standard  &  Poor’s”),  which  would  reduce  the  Company’s  senior  debt  below  investment-grade,  would  increase  the  Company’s
borrowing costs, which would adversely affect the Company’s financial results. Specifically, the interest rate payable on Notes issued in March 2016 are subject to adjustment from time to
time if either Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s downgrades (or subsequently upgrades) its rating assigned to the Notes, though the interest on these notes will permanently cease to be subject to
any adjustment (notwithstanding any subsequent decrease in ratings by either credit Rating Agency), if such Notes become rated “Baa1” or higher by Moody’s and BBB+ or higher by S&P,
in each case with stable or positive outlook. In addition, in the event of a reduction in credit rating, the Company would likely be required to pay a higher interest rate in future financings, and
its potential pool of investors and funding sources could decrease. If the Company’s short-term ratings were to be lowered, it would limit, or eliminate entirely, the Company’s access to the
commercial paper market. The ratings from credit agencies are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the Company’s securities, and each rating should be evaluated independently of any
other rating.

The level of returns on pension and postretirement plan assets and the actuarial assumptions used for valuation purposes could affect the Company’s earnings and cash flows in
future periods. Changes in government regulations could also affect the Company’s pension and postretirement plan expenses and funding requirements.

The funding obligations for the Company’s pension plans are impacted by the performance of the financial markets, particularly the equity markets, and interest rates. Funding obligations are
determined under government  regulations  and are measured each year  based on the value of  assets  and liabilities  on a specific  date.  If  the financial  markets  do not  provide the long-term
returns that are expected under the governmental funding calculations, the Company could be required to make larger contributions. The equity markets can be, and recently have been, very
volatile,  and  therefore  the  Company’s  estimate  of  future  contribution  requirements  can  change  dramatically  in  relatively  short  periods  of  time.  Similarly,  changes  in  interest  rates  and
legislation enacted
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by governmental authorities can impact the timing and amounts of contribution requirements. An adverse change in the funded status of the plans could significantly increase the Company’s
required contributions in the future and adversely impact its liquidity.

Assumptions used in determining projected benefit obligations and the fair value of plan assets for the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans are determined by the Company in
consultation with outside actuaries. In the event that the Company determines that changes are warranted in the assumptions used, such as the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return
on assets, expected health care costs, or mortality rates, the Company’s future pension and postretirement benefit expenses could increase or decrease. Due to changing market conditions or
changes  in  the  participant  population,  the  assumptions  that  the  Company  uses  may  differ  from  actual  results,  which  could  have  a  significant  impact  on  the  Company’s  pension  and
postretirement liabilities and related costs and funding requirements.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate offices are located in leased office space in Hoboken, New Jersey, Atlanta, Georgia, Boca Raton, Florida and in Norwalk, Connecticut. At December 31, 2016 , the Company
and its subsidiaries lease or own facilities throughout the U.S., some of which have multiple buildings and warehouses, and these U.S. facilities encompass approximately 35.6 million square
feet.  We  lease  or  own  international  facilities  encompassing  approximately 19.4  million square  feet  primarily  in  Asia,  Canada,  Europe  and  Latin  America.  Of  the  U.S.  and  international
manufacturing and warehouse facilities, approximately 26.4 million square feet of space is owned, while the remaining 28.6 million square feet of space is leased. The approximate percentage
of the facility square footage used by each segment is as follows: Writing — 7.9% , Home Solutions — 12.1% , Tools — 3.5% , Commercial Products — 3.5% , Baby & Parenting — 0.9% ,
Branded Consumables — 29.5% , Consumer Solutions — 9.1% , Outdoor Solutions — 24.1% , Process Solutions — 2.3% , and Corporate 7.1% .

In  general,  our  properties  are  well-maintained,  considered  adequate  and  are  utilized  for  their  intended  purposes.  See  Note  7  to  our  consolidated  financial  statements,  Property,  Plant  and
Equipment, which discloses amounts invested in land, buildings and machinery and equipment. Also see Note 12 (Commitments) to our consolidated financial statements, which discloses the
Company’s operating lease commitments.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Information regarding legal proceedings is included in Footnote 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and is incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM — EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
Name  Age  Present Position with the Company
Michael B. Polk  56  Chief Executive Officer
Mark S. Tarchetti  41  President
William A. Burke  56  Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer
Ralph J. Nicoletti  59  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Fiona C. Laird  55  Executive Vice President, Chief Human Resources and Communications Officer
Bradford R. Turner  44  Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary
Richard B. Davies  54  Executive Vice President, Chief Development Officer

Michael B. Polk has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since April 2016 and served as President and Chief Executive Officer from July 2011 to April 2016. He joined the
Company’s Board of Directors in November 2009. Prior to assuming his current role, Mr. Polk was President, Global Foods, Home & Personal Care, Unilever (a consumer packaged goods
manufacturer and marketer) since 2010. He joined Unilever in 2003 as Chief Operating Officer, Unilever Foods USA and subsequently became President, Unilever USA in 2005. From 2007
to 2010, he served as President, Unilever Americas. Prior to joining Unilever, he spent 16 years at Kraft Foods Inc. and three years at The Procter & Gamble Company. At Kraft Foods, he
was President, Kraft Foods Asia Pacific; President, Biscuits and Snacks Sector; and was a member of the Kraft Foods Management Committee. Mr. Polk also serves as a director of Colgate-
Palmolive Company.

19



Table of Contents

Mark S. Tarchetti has been President since April 2016. Prior to this role, he served as Executive Vice President from January 2016 to March 2016; and Executive Vice President and Chief
Development Officer from January 2013 to December 2015.  From September 2011 to December 2012, Mr. Tarchetti was the Director of Tarchetti & Co. Ltd., a consulting firm he founded
where he advised clients, including the Company, on business strategy and change management.  From 1997 to 2011, he served in a variety of senior strategic, business and finance roles at
Unilever, including as Head of Corporate Strategy from 2009 to 2011, Vice President of Corporate Strategy in 2008, Finance Director of the UK Home & Personal Care business from 2007 to
2008, and Global Head of Financial Planning & Analysis from 2004 to 2007.

William A. Burke has been Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer since January 2017 and served as President, Jarden Group from April 2016 to January 2017. Prior to this role,
he served as Executive Vice President from January 2016 to March 2016; Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer from October 2012 to December 2015; President, Newell
Professional from January 2012 to September 2012; President,  Tools,  Hardware & Commercial  Products from January 2009 through December 2011; and, President,  Tools and Hardware
from December 2007 to January 2009. Prior to these roles, he was President, North American Tools from 2004 through 2006. He served as President of the Company’s Lenox division from
2003  through  2004.  From  1982  through  2002,  he  served  in  a  variety  of  positions  with  The  Black  &  Decker  Corporation  (a  manufacturer  and  marketer  of  power  tools  and  accessories),
culminating as Vice President and General Manager of Product Service.

Ralph J.  Nicoletti  has been Executive Vice President and Chief Financial  Officer since June 2016. Prior to this role,  he served as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial  Officer of
Tiffany & Company from April 2014 to May 2016. From June 2011 to March 2014, he served as Chief Financial Officer of Cigna Corporation. From February 2007 to May 2011, he served
as Executive  Vice President  and Chief  Financial  Officer  of  Alberto  Culver.  Prior  to  that  time,  he held various  senior  finance positions  at  Kraft  Foods,  including Senior  Vice President  of
Finance of Kraft Foods North America.

Fiona  C.  Laird  has  been  Executive  Vice  President  and  Chief  Human Resources  and  Communications  Officer  since  May 2016.  Prior  to  this  role,  she  served  as  Executive  Vice  President,
Human Resources for Global Categories, Marketing, Communications, and R&D at Unilever from July 2011 to May 2016. From June 2005 to July 2011, she served as Senior Vice President,
Human Resources and Communications for Unilever’s North and Latin American geographies. Prior to that, she served in numerous HR, communications, and legal roles at Unilever.

Bradford R. Turner has been Chief Legal Officer and Corporate Secretary since April 2016. Prior to this role, he served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
from March 2015 to March 2016. Mr. Turner joined the Company in 2004 and has served in various legal roles including Vice President and Deputy General Counsel from October 2011 to
March 2015, and Group Vice President & General Counsel - Office Products from June 2007 to October 2011.

Richard B. Davies has been Executive Vice President and Chief Development Officer since January 2016 and served as Chief Marketing Officer from December 2012 through December
2015. Prior to these roles, from 1982 to 2012, he held positions of increasing responsibility at Unilever, most recently serving as its Global Senior Vice President - Consumer and Market
Insights from 2008 to 2012.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol: NWL). As of January 31, 2017, there were 11,012 stockholders of record. The following table sets forth
the high and low sales prices of the common stock on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape for the calendar periods indicated:  

  2016  2015

Quarters  High  Low  High  Low
First  $ 45.57  $ 33.26  $ 40.37  $ 36.33
Second  49.49  43.11  42.00  37.95
Third  55.45  47.07  44.51  38.17
Fourth  53.22  44.24  50.90  39.39

The Company has paid regular  cash dividends on its  common stock since 1947. For 2016 and 2015 ,  the Company paid a quarterly cash dividend of $0.19 per share in each quarter.  The
payment of dividends to holders of the Company’s common stock remains at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend upon many factors, including the Company’s financial
condition, earnings, legal requirements and other factors the Board of Directors deems relevant.

Performance Graph

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information
be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically
incorporates it by reference into such filing.

The graph below compares total stockholder return on the Company’s common stock from December 31, 2011 through December 31, 2016 with the cumulative total return of (a) the Standard
and Poor’s  (“S&P”)  500 Index,  and (b)  the  DJ Consumer  Goods Index,  assuming a  $100 investment  made on December  31,  2011.  Each of  the  three  measures  of  cumulative  total  return
assumes reinvestment of dividends, if applicable. The stock performance shown on the graph below is based on historical data and is not indicative of, or intended to forecast, possible future
performance of the Company’s common stock.
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ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The following table provides information about the Company’s purchases of equity securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2016 :

Calendar Month
Total Number of Shares Purchased

(2)  
Average Price
Paid per Share  

Total Number of Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly Announced Plans

or Programs (1)  

Maximum Approximate Dollar Value
of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased

Under the Plans or Programs (1)

October 2016 —  $ —  —  $ 255,912,171
November 2016 5,397  47.97  —  255,912,171
December 2016 11,136  45.64  —  255,912,171

Total 16,533  $ 46.40  —  

(1) All shares purchased by the Company during the quarter ended December 31, 2016 were acquired to satisfy employees' tax withholding and payment obligations in connection with the vesting of awards of restricted stock
units, which are repurchased by the Company based on their fair market value on the vesting date.

(2) Under the Company’s share repurchase program (“SRP”), the Company may repurchase its own shares of common stock through a combination of 10b5-1 automatic trading plans, discretionary market purchases or in
privately negotiated transactions. The Company suspended its repurchase of shares in the fourth quarter of 2015 due to the cash requirements associated with the Jarden Acquisition, so the Company did not repurchase
shares pursuant to the SRP during the three months ended December 31, 2016 .
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following is a summary of certain consolidated financial data relating to the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, (in millions, except per share data) . The summary has
been derived in part from, and should be read in conjunction with, the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company included elsewhere in this report and the schedules thereto.

  2016 (1)  2015 (1)  2014 (1)  2013 (2)  2012 (2)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA           
Net sales  $ 13,264.0  $ 5,915.7  $ 5,727.0  $ 5,607.0  $ 5,508.5
Cost of products sold  8,865.2  3,611.1  3,523.6  3,482.1  3,414.4

Gross profit  4,398.8  2,304.6  2,203.4  2,124.9  2,094.1
Selling, general and administrative expenses  3,221.1  1,573.9  1,480.5  1,399.5  1,403.5
Pension settlement charge  2.7  52.1  65.4  —  —
Restructuring costs, net (3)  74.9  77.2  52.8  110.3  52.9

Operating income  1,100.1  601.4  604.7  615.1  637.7
Nonoperating (income) expenses:           

Interest expense, net  404.5  79.9  60.4  60.3  76.1
Loss related to extinguishment of debt/credit facility  47.6  —  33.2  —  10.9

Venezuela deconsolidation charge  —  172.7  —  —  —
Other (income) expense, net  (166.5)  11.3  49.0  18.5  (1.3)
Net nonoperating (income) expenses  285.6  263.9  142.6  78.8  85.7

Income before income taxes  814.5  337.5  462.1  536.3  552.0
Income tax expense  286.0  78.2  89.1  120.0  161.5

Income from continuing operations  528.5  259.3  373.0  416.3  390.5
(Loss) income from discontinued operations  (0.7)  90.7  4.8  58.3  10.8

Net income  $ 527.8  $ 350.0  $ 377.8  $ 474.6  $ 401.3
Weighted-average shares outstanding:           

Basic  421.3  269.3  276.1  288.6  291.2
Diluted  423.1  271.5  278.9  291.8  293.6

Earnings (loss) per share:           
Basic:           

Income from continuing operations  $ 1.25  $ 0.96  $ 1.35  $ 1.44  $ 1.34
Income from discontinued operations  —  0.34  0.02  0.20  0.04
Net income  $ 1.25  $ 1.30  $ 1.37  $ 1.64  $ 1.38

Diluted:           
Income from continuing operations  $ 1.25  $ 0.96  $ 1.34  $ 1.43  $ 1.33
Income from discontinued operations  —  0.33  0.02  0.20  0.04
Net income  $ 1.25  $ 1.29  $ 1.35  $ 1.63  $ 1.37

Dividends  $ 0.76  $ 0.76  $ 0.66  $ 0.60  $ 0.43
BALANCE SHEET DATA           
Inventories, net  $ 2,116.0  $ 721.8  $ 708.5  $ 684.4  $ 696.4
Working capital (4), (5)  3,192.5  504.9  403.6  551.9  568.3
Total assets (4)  33,837.5  7,259.5  6,564.3  5,967.8  6,215.6
Short-term debt, including current portion of long-term debt  601.9  388.8  397.4  174.8  211.9
Long-term debt, net of current portion  11,290.9  2,669.1  2,084.5  1,661.6  1,706.5
Total stockholders’ equity  $ 11,384.4  $ 1,826.4  $ 1,854.9  $ 2,075.0  $ 2,000.2

(1) Supplemental data regarding 2016 , 2015 and 2014 is provided in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
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(2) Statements of Operations data for 2013 and 2012 have been adjusted to reclassify the results of operations of the Endicia and Culinary electrics and retail businesses to discontinued operations. Statement of Operations
data for 2012 have been adjusted to reclassify the results of operations of the Hardware and Teach businesses to discontinued operations.

(3) Restructuring costs include asset impairment charges, employee severance and termination benefits, employee relocation costs, and costs associated with exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs.
(4) In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740) , requiring deferred tax assets and liabilities to be classified as noncurrent

assets and liabilities in the balance sheet.  ASU 2015-17 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods.  Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning
of an interim or annual reporting period.  The Company adopted ASU 2015-17 retrospectively as of December 31, 2015.  Accordingly, working capital and total assets in the Selected Financial Data have been adjusted to
give effect to the retrospective adoption of ASU 2015-17. See Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

(5) Working capital is defined as current assets less current liabilities.

Acquisitions of Businesses

On April 15, 2016, the Company acquired Jarden for total consideration of $18.7 billion including cash paid, shares issued and debt assumed, net of cash acquired. Jarden is a leading global
consumer products company whose brands include Yankee Candle ® , Crock-Pot ® , FoodSaver ® , Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Coleman ® , First Alert ® , Rawlings ® , Jostens ® , K2 ® , Marker ® ,
Marmot ® , Völkl ® and many others. The Jarden Acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, Jarden’s results of operations are included in the
Company’s results of operations since the acquisition date. Jarden is included in its legacy segments: Branded Consumables, Consumer Solutions, Outdoor Solutions and Process Solutions.

On October 22, 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of Elmer’s Products, Inc. (“Elmer’s”) for a purchase price of $571.4 million , which is net of $16.8 million of cash acquired and
is subject to customary working capital adjustments. Elmer’s, whose brands include Elmer’s ® , Krazy Glue ® (a trademark of Toagosei Co. Ltd. used with permission) and X-Acto ® , is a
provider of activity-based adhesive and cutting products that inspire creativity in the classroom, at home, in the office, in the workshop and at the craft table. The Acquisition was accounted
for using the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the results of operations of Elmer’s are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements beginning October 22,
2015. Elmer’s is included in the Company’s Writing segment.

On December 15, 2014, the Company acquired Baby Jogger Holdings, Inc. (“Baby Jogger”), a designer and marketer of premium infant and juvenile products focused on activity strollers
and related accessories.  Baby Jogger  is  headquartered  in  the U.S.  and markets  and sells  its  products  in  North America,  Europe and Asia.  The Baby Jogger  acquisition gives the Baby &
Parenting segment a premium brand and the opportunity to expand its geographic footprint. The Company acquired Baby Jogger for net cash consideration of $210.1 million , a portion of
which  was  used  to  repay  Baby  Jogger’s  outstanding  debt  obligations  at  closing.  The  acquisition  was  accounted  for  using  the  purchase  method  of  accounting.  As  a  result,  the  results  of
operations of Baby Jogger are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements beginning December 15, 2014.

On October 22, 2014, the Company acquired the assets of bubba brands, inc. (“bubba”) for $82.4 million . bubba is a designer and marketer of durable beverage containers in North America.
The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. As a result, the results of operations of bubba are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
beginning October 22, 2014.

On September 4, 2014, the Company acquired Ignite Holdings, LLC (“Ignite”) for $313.1 million , which is net of $7.2 million of cash acquired. A portion of the purchase price was used to
repay Ignite’s outstanding debt obligations at closing. Ignite is a designer and marketer of durable beverage containers sold in North America under the Contigo ® and Avex ® brands. The
acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, the results of operations of Ignite are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
beginning September 4, 2014.

The Ignite and bubba acquisitions give the Company’s Home Solutions segment access to additional channels in the on-the-go hydration and thermal bottle market in North America and fit
with the Company’s strategy of accelerating growth by leveraging its capabilities across additional product categories, geographies and channels.

Divestitures and Planned Divestitures

During 2016, the Company committed to plans to divest several businesses and brands to strengthen the portfolio to better align with the long-term growth plan. The affected businesses and
brands, which will all be reported in future periods continuing operations until sold, are as follows: the Tools business, including the Irwin ® ,  Lenox ® ,  and hilmor TM brands in the Tools
segment; the Winter Sports business, including the Völkl ® and K2 ® brands and the Zoot ® and Squadra ® brands in the Outdoor Solutions segment; the heaters, fans, and humidifiers business
with related brands in the Consumer Solutions segment; the Rubbermaid ® consumer storage totes business in the Home Solutions segment; the Lehigh business, primarily ropes, cordage and
chains under the Lehigh ® brand and the firebuilding business including the Pine Mountain ® brand in the Branded Consumables segment; and the stroller business under the Teutonia ® brand
in the Baby and Parenting segment. The assets and liabilities of these businesses
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and brands subject  to  the divestiture,  including $1,231.9 million of  property,  plant  and equipment,  intangible  assets  and goodwill,  have been classified  as  current  assets  held  for  sale  and
current liabilities held for sale as of December 31, 2016.

In  October  2016,  the  Company  entered  into  a  definitive  agreement  for  the  sale  of  the  Tools  business  for  a  purchase  price  of  approximately $1.95  billion ,  subject  to  working  capital
adjustments. The transaction is expected to close in early 2017, subject to certain customary conditions, including regulatory approvals.

In June 2016, the Company sold its Levolor ® and Kirsch ® window coverings brands (“Décor”), which was included in the Company’s Home Solutions segment. The results of operations of
the Décor business are included in the Company’s operating results from continuing operations through the date of sale.

In August 2015, the Company sold its Rubbermaid medical cart business, which was included in the Company’s Commercial Products segment. The results of operations of the Rubbermaid
medical cart business are included in the Company’s operating results from continuing operations through the date of sale.

Quarterly Summaries

Summarized quarterly data for the last two years is as follows (in millions, except per share data) (unaudited):

Calendar Year  1 st  2 nd  3 rd  4 th (2)  Year
2016           
Net sales  $ 1,314.9  $ 3,858.6  $ 3,954.6  $ 4,135.9  $ 13,264.0
Gross profit  $ 505.6  $ 1,095.7  $ 1,274.8  $ 1,522.7  $ 4,398.8
Income from continuing operations  $ 40.3  $ 135.8  $ 186.5  $ 165.9  $ 528.5
Income (loss) from discontinued operations  $ 0.2  $ (0.6)  $ —  $ (0.3)  $ (0.7)
Net income  $ 40.5  $ 135.2  $ 186.5  $ 165.6  $ 527.8
Earnings per share (1) :           

Basic           
Income from continuing operations  $ 0.15  $ 0.30  $ 0.39  $ 0.34  $ 1.25
Income from discontinued operations  —  —  —  —  —
Net income  $ 0.15  $ 0.30  $ 0.39  $ 0.34  $ 1.25

Diluted           
Income from continuing operations  $ 0.15  $ 0.30  $ 0.38  $ 0.34  $ 1.25
Income from discontinued operations  —  —  —  —  —
Net income  $ 0.15  $ 0.30  $ 0.38  $ 0.34  $ 1.25

           
Calendar Year  1 st  2 nd  3 rd  4 th (3)  Year
2015           
Net sales  $ 1,264.0  $ 1,560.9  $ 1,530.0  $ 1,560.8  $ 5,915.7
Gross profit  $ 487.5  $ 621.0  $ 598.9  $ 597.2  $ 2,304.6
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ 56.9  $ 148.1  $ 134.0  $ (79.7)  $ 259.3
(Loss) income from discontinued operations  $ (2.8)  $ 0.4  $ 0.2  $ 92.9  $ 90.7
Net income  $ 54.1  $ 148.5  $ 134.2  $ 13.2  $ 350.0
Earnings (loss) per share (1) :           

Basic           
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ 0.21  $ 0.55  $ 0.50  $ (0.30)  $ 0.96
Income (loss) from discontinued operations  (0.01)  —  —  0.35  0.34
Net income  $ 0.20  $ 0.55  $ 0.50  $ 0.05  $ 1.30

Diluted           
Income (loss) from continuing operations  $ 0.21  $ 0.55  $ 0.49  $ (0.30)  $ 0.96
Income (loss) from discontinued operations  (0.01)  —  —  0.35  0.33
Net income  $ 0.20  $ 0.55  $ 0.50  $ 0.05  $ 1.29

(1) Earnings  per  share  calculations  each quarter  are  based  on weighted  average  number  of  shares  outstanding  each period,  and the  sum of  the  quarterly  amounts  may not  necessarily  equal  the  annual  earnings  per  share
amounts.
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( 2) During the fourth quarter of 2016, the Company recorded deferred tax expense of $164.2 million associated with the book and tax basis difference related to the pending Tools divestiture, partially offset by a deferred tax
benefit of $40.0 million due to statutory tax rate changes in France related to Jarden acquired intangible assets.

(3) During the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company deconsolidated its Venezuelan operations and recorded a pretax charge of $172.7 million . The charge consisted of the write-off of the Venezuelan operations’ net assets of
$74.7 million , as well as $58.3 million of Venezuela-related assets held by other subsidiaries, resulting in $133.0 million of total charges associated with the deconsolidation of Venezuela’s net assets. In addition, in
accordance with applicable accounting standards for foreign currency and the transition to the cost method for the Company’s Venezuelan operations, the Company wrote-off the currency translation adjustment that arose
prior to the application of hyperinflationary accounting in 2010 that was included in other comprehensive income in equity. The write-off of the currency translation adjustment resulted in a pretax charge of $39.7 million
.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis provides information which management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of the Company’s consolidated results of operations
and financial condition. The discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto.

Business Overview

Newell Brands is a global marketer of consumer and commercial products that help people get more out of life every day, where they live, learn, work and play. Our products are marketed
under a strong portfolio of leading brands, including Paper Mate ® , Sharpie ® , Dymo ® , Expo ® , Parker ® , Elmer’s ® , Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Marmot ® , Rawlings ® , Irwin ® , Lenox ® ,
Oster ® ,  Sunbeam ® ,  FoodSaver ® ,  Mr.  Coffee ® ,  Rubbermaid  Commercial  Products ® ,  Graco ® ,  Baby Jogger ® ,  NUK ® ,  Calphalon ® ,  Rubbermaid ® ,  Contigo ® ,  First  Alert ® ,
Waddington and Yankee Candle ® .

Acquisition of Jarden Corporation

On April 15, 2016, Jarden Corporation (“Jarden”) became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Newell Brands, as a result of a series of merger transactions (the “Jarden Acquisition”). The
Jarden Acquisition was effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 13, 2015 (the “Merger Agreement”) between the Company, Jarden and two wholly-
owned subsidiaries of the Company. Following the Jarden Acquisition, the Company was renamed Newell Brands Inc. Jarden is a leading, global consumer products company with leading
brands such as Yankee Candle ® , Crock-Pot ® , FoodSaver ® , Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Coleman ® , First Alert ® , Rawlings ® , Jostens ® , K2 ® , Marker ® , Marmot ® , Völkl ® and many others.

This transformative transaction created a global  consumer goods company named Newell  Brands with estimated annual  pro forma sales for 2016 of $16 billion and a portfolio of leading
brands in large, growing, unconsolidated, global markets. The scaled enterprise is expected to accelerate profitable growth with leading brands in a global market that exceeds $100 billion,
with  business  and  capability  development  supported  by  the  efficiencies  of  the  combined  company.   Management  believes  the  scale  of  Newell  Brands  in  key  categories,  channels  and
geographies  creates  a  much  broader  opportunity  to  deploy  the  Company’s  advantaged  set  of  brand  development  and  commercial  capabilities  for  accelerated  growth  and  margin
expansion. The Company’s intent is to design a benchmarked, efficient set of structures that support long-term business development.

The Company anticipates incremental annualized cost synergies of at least $500 million over four years, driven by efficiencies of scale and new efficiencies in procurement, cost to serve and
infrastructure that the combination unlocks. The Company currently expects to incur approximately $500 million of restructuring and integration-related costs over the same period to generate
and unlock the more than $500 million of annualized cost synergies. 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, each share of Jarden common stock was converted into the right to receive and became exchangeable for merger consideration consisting of (1)  0.862 of a
share of the Company’s common stock plus (2)  $21.00 in cash. On April 15, 2016, the Company provided for the issuance of up to 189.4 million shares of common stock and the payment of
up to $4.6 billion for  100% of the outstanding equity interests  of  Jarden,  which consisted of 219.7 million shares  of  Jarden common stock outstanding and eligible  to  receive the merger
consideration. Based on the closing price of a share of the Company’s common stock on April 15, 2016 of $44.33 per share and after conversion of substantially all of Jarden’s convertible
notes,  the  total  consideration  paid  or  payable  for  shares  of  Jarden  common  stock  was  approximately $15.3  billion ,  including $5.4  billion of  cash  and $9.9  billion of  common  stock.
Stockholders of Newell Rubbermaid and former Jarden stockholders (including holders of Jarden convertible notes) owned 55% and 45% , respectively, of Newell Brands upon completion of
the merger.

The Company paid $5.2 billion in addition to $4.1 billion  for the repayment of certain Jarden debt,  net  of  $661.9 million  of cash acquired.  A total  of $222.2 million in cash otherwise
payable in connection with the acquisition has not  been paid as of  December 31, 2016 ,  as this  amount was payable in respect  of shareholders  who have exercised their  judicial  rights  of
appraisal under Delaware law. The total merger consideration otherwise payable to the dissenting stockholders was approximately $626.5 million based on the Company’s stock price as of
the closing date.

The Company financed the $5.4 billion cash portion of the merger consideration and the repayment of $4.1 billion of outstanding Jarden debt with proceeds from the issuance of $8.0 billion
of medium-term and long-term notes in March 2016 and $1.5 billion of borrowings under a term loan facility. See Footnote 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further
information. The Company is committed to maintaining its investment grade credit rating by using strong cash flow from the combined enterprise to prioritize debt reduction in the short term,
while simultaneously investing in the Company’s growth platforms and maintaining its dividend per share.
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The  Jarden  Acquisition  was  accounted  for  using  the  purchase  method  of  accounting,  and  Jarden’s  assets,  liabilities  and  results  of  operations  are  included  in  the  Company’s  financial
statements from the acquisition date of April 15, 2016.

Business Strategy

During 2016, the Company launched the New Growth Game Plan,  which is  its  strategy to simplify the organization and free up resources to invest  in growth initiatives  and strengthened
capabilities in support of the Company’s brands. The changes being implemented in the execution of the New Growth Game Plan are considered key enablers to building a bigger, faster-
growing, more global and more profitable company.

As part of the New Growth Game Plan, in late 2016 the Company began to transform from a holding company to an operating company, consolidating its business units into global divisions
while investing to extend its design, innovation and brand development capabilities across a broader set of categories. These organization changes were initiated in the third quarter and this
major  phase  of  the  transformation  was  completed  by  year  end.  These  new global  divisions  will  become the  key  commercial  nodes  in  the  Company,  including  a  new Global  eCommerce
Division, which will have responsibility for all ecommerce activity across the enterprise.The divisions will generally align to the four areas of strategic focus for the Company of Live, Learn,
Work, and Play. The new structure will be effective January 1, 2017.

Organizational Structure

The Company’s nine business segments and the key brands included in each segment during 2016 are as follows:

Segment   Key Brands  Description of Primary Products

Writing

 

Sharpie ® , Paper Mate ® , Expo ® ,
Prismacolor ® , Mr. Sketch ® , Elmer's ® ,
X-Acto ® , Parker ® , Waterman ® , Dymo
®  Office  

Writing instruments, including markers and highlighters, pens and pencils; art products; activity-based
adhesive and cutting products; fine writing instruments; labeling solutions

Home Solutions
 

Rubbermaid ® , Contigo ® , bubba ® ,
Calphalon ® , Goody ®  

Indoor/outdoor  organization,  food  storage  and  home  storage  products;  durable  beverage  containers;
gourmet cookware, bakeware and cutlery; hair care accessories

Tools
 

Irwin ® , Lenox ® , hilmor ™ , Dymo ®
 Industrial  

Hand  tools  and  power  tool  accessories;  industrial  bandsaw  blades;  tools  for  HVAC  systems;  label
makers and printers for industrial use

Commercial Products

 

Rubbermaid
Commercial
Products ®  

Cleaning and refuse products; hygiene systems; material handling solutions

Baby & Parenting
 

Graco ® , Baby Jogger ® , Aprica ® ,
Teutonia ®  

Infant and juvenile products such as car seats, strollers, highchairs and playards

Branded Consumables

 

Yankee Candle ® , Waddington, Ball ® ,
Diamond ® , First Alert ® , NUK ® ,
Quickie ® , Pine Mountain ®   

Branded consumer products; consumable and fundamental household staples

Consumer Solutions

 

Crock-Pot ® , FoodSaver ® , Holmes ® ,
Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Rainbow ® ,
Sunbeam ®  

Household products, including kitchen appliances and home environment products

Outdoor Solutions

 

Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Berkley ® ,
Shakespeare ® , Rawlings ® , Völkl ® , K2
® , Marmot ®  

Products for outdoor and outdoor-related activities

Process Solutions
 

Jarden Plastic Solutions, Jarden Applied
Materials, Jarden Zinc Products  

Plastic  products  including  container  closures,  contact  lens  packaging,  medical  disposables,  plastic
cutlery and rigid packaging

On April  15,  2016,  the  Company acquired  Jarden for  total  consideration  of $18.7 billion including cash  paid,  shares  issued and debt  assumed,  net  of  cash  acquired.  The Acquisition  was
accounted  for  using  the  purchase  method  of  accounting,  and  accordingly,  Jarden’s  results  of  operations  are  included  in  the  Company’s  results  of  operations  since  the  acquisition  date,
including net  sales  of $7.3 billion for  the  year  ended December  31, 2016 .  Jarden  is  included  in  its  legacy segments:  Branded Consumables,  Consumer  Solutions,  Outdoor  Solutions  and
Process Solutions.
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In October 2015, the Company acquired Elmer’s Products, Inc. (“Elmer’s”) for a purchase price of $571.4 million . Elmer’s, whose brands include Elmer’s ® , Krazy Glue ® (a trademark of
Toagosei Co. Ltd. used with permission) and X-Acto ® ,  is a provider of activity-based adhesive and cutting products that inspire creativity in the classroom, at home, in the office, in the
workshop and at the craft table. The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and accordingly, Elmer’s results of operations were included in the Company’s
statement of operations since the acquisition date, including net sales of $36.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Elmer’s is reported as part of our Writing segment.

Based on the Company’s  strategy to allocate  resources  to its  businesses  relative  to each business’  growth potential  and,  in  particular,  those businesses  with the greater  right  to  win in the
marketplace, the Company has divested and decided to divest certain businesses as explained in further detail below.

In June 2016, the Company sold its Décor business, including Levolor ® and Kirsch ® window coverings and drapery hardware, for consideration, net of fees, of $223.5 million . The net assets
of the Décor business were $63.3 million , including $19.2 million of goodwill, resulting in a pretax gain of $160.2 million , which is included in other (income) expense, net for the year
ended December 31, 2016 .

During 2016, the Company committed to plans to divest several businesses and brands to strengthen the portfolio to better align with the long-term growth plan. The affected businesses and
brands, which will all be reported in future periods continuing operations, are as follows: the Tools business, including the Irwin ® , Lenox ® , and hilmor TM brands in the Tools segment; the
Winter Sports business, including the Völkl ® and K2 ® brands and the Zoot ® and Squadra ® brands in the Outdoor Solutions segment; the heaters, fans, and humidifiers business with related
brands in the Consumer Solutions segment; the Rubbermaid ® consumer storage totes business in the Home Solutions segment; the Lehigh business, primarily ropes, cordage and chains under
the Lehigh ® brand and firebuilding business, primarily under the Pine Mountain ® brand, in the Branded Consumables segment; and the stroller business under the Teutonia ® brand in the
Baby and Parenting segment.

During October 2016, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the Tools business for an estimated price of $1.95 billion , subject to working capital adjustments. The transaction is
expected to close in early 2017, subject to certain customary conditions, including regulatory approvals, and the Company anticipates this will result in a pretax gain of approximately $0.9
billion . The Tools business generated 5.5% and 12.9% of the Company’s consolidated net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively.

During 2015, the Company divested its Rubbermaid medical cart business. The Rubbermaid medical cart business focused on optimizing nurse work flow and medical records processing in
hospitals and was included in the Commercial Products segment. The Company sold substantially all of the assets of the Rubbermaid medical cart business in August 2015. The Rubbermaid
medical cart business was included in the Company’s consolidated results from continuing operations, including net sales of $26.5 million , until it was sold in August 2015.

The Endicia  on-line  postage and the Culinary electrics  and retail  businesses  were classified as  discontinued operations  since 2014 when the Company committed  to  sell  these businesses.
Endicia was included in our Writing segment, and the Culinary businesses were included in our Home Solutions segment. During 2015, the Company sold Endicia for a sales price of $208.7
million , subject to customary working capital adjustments. During 2015, the Company ceased operations in its Culinary electrics and retail businesses.

Market and Performance Overview

The Company operates in the consumer and commercial products markets, which are generally impacted by overall economic conditions in the regions in which the Company operates. The
following is a summary of the Company’s results for the year ended 2016 :

• Reported net sales increased 124.2% . Net sales were favorably impacted by volume growth, pricing, the acquisition of Elmer’s, and the Jarden Acquisition, which, contributed a
123.3% increase in net sales. Net sales were adversely impacted by foreign currency, divestitures and the deconsolidation of the Company’s Venezuelan operations on December 31,
2015 .  Reported  net  sales  increased 125.4% , 180.7% , 57.6% and 93.0% in  North  America,  Europe,  Latin  America  and  Asia  Pacific,  respectively,  primarily  due  to  the  Jarden
Acquisition.

• Gross margin was 33.2% , a decline of 580 basis points compared to the prior year period. The decline was primarily due to the negative impact of the $479.5 million inventory step-
up for the Jarden Acquisition that is included in cost of products sold for the year ended December 31, 2016 , foreign currency, mix from the deconsolidation of Venezuela and mix
from acquisitions, including the Jarden Acquisition, which were partially offset by the benefits of synergies, productivity and pricing.
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• Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) increased $1,647.2 million to $3,221.1 million , due primarily to the SG&A of the Jarden business from the acquisition date
and costs  associated  with  the  Jarden Acquisition.  SG&A also  increased  due  to  increases  in  advertising  and promotion  in  support  of  the  Company’s  brands  and innovation,  costs
associated with increased incentive and other compensation and costs associated with the acquisition and integration of Jarden. These costs were partially offset by a reduction in
overhead costs due to Project Renewal initiatives, costs associated with the Graco product recall in the prior year period and the impacts of foreign currency.

The Company’s advertising and promotion strategy is to invest  behind innovation, including new product launches,  and in building brands. During 2016, the Company increased
advertising and promotion investments by $24.5 million (excluding the impacts of the Jarden Acquisition). The Company plans to continue increasing advertising and promotion in
support  of  its  brands  to  drive  growth.  The  Company’s  investments  in  brand-building  and  consumer  demand  creation  and  commercialization  activities  during  the  year  ended
December 31, 2016 included the following:

• advertising campaigns supporting Paper Mate ® InkJoy ® gel pens as well as Prismacolor ® and Mr. Sketch ® color pencils and markers in art and coloring;

• continued advertising support for Sharpie ® markers and highlighters, including Sharpie Clear View ® highlighters which have a unique, see through tip for more precise
highlighting;

• advertising campaigns supporting the launch of Rubbermaid ® FreshWorks TM , our latest food storage innovation;

• advertising support for Calphalon ® self-sharpening cutlery with SharpIn TM technology, which makes knives stay sharp for a life-time;

• advertising for the Graco 4Ever ® All-in-One convertible car seat, Extend2Fit TM car seat, and Aprica ® Fladea car seat; and

• advertising for Yankee Candle in the fourth quarter of 2016.

• The Company continued the execution of Project Renewal and initiated projects to integrate Elmer’s and merge the legacy Newell Rubbermaid and Jarden operations, resulting in
$74.9 million of restructuring costs for the year ended December 31, 2016 .

• The Company completed the offering and sale of $8.0 billion principal amount of unsecured senior notes in March 2016 and entered into and expanded other financing arrangements
during the first half of 2016. The proceeds were used in April 2016 to finance the Jarden Acquisition, which included $5.2 billion for the cash portion of the merger consideration and
$4.1 billion to repay certain Jarden debt obligations.  As a result  of  these financing activities,  a  commitment by Goldman Sachs & Co. to fund the $10.5 billion senior unsecured
bridge facility (the “Jarden Bridge Facility”) was terminated during the first half of 2016, and the Company repaid $1.1 billion of the $1.5 billion of borrowings under a term loan
facility, resulting in a $47.6 million loss on extinguishment of debt.

• The Company completed the divestiture of the Décor business, which resulted in $223.5 million of consideration, net of fees, and a pretax gain on the sale of the business of $160.2
million . The proceeds from the sale of the Décor business were used to repay debt.

• The Company reported an effective tax rate of 35.1% for the year ended December 31, 2016 , compared to 23.2% in 2015 . The tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2016 was
impacted by the Jarden Acquisition and the resulting change in the geographical mix in earnings as well as a deferred tax charge of $164.2 million associated with the book and tax
basis difference related to the pending Tools divestiture. The tax rate was offset in the current year by a deferred tax benefit of $40.0 million related to statutory tax rate changes in
France that primarily affected deferred taxes on Jarden acquired intangible assets and a reduction in the valuation allowance of $17.9 million related to certain deferred tax assets of
the Company’s UK operations. The tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2015 was impacted by the geographical mix of earnings, the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against
foreign currencies and the implied tax rate associated with the $7.6 million income tax benefit on the $172.7 million Venezuela deconsolidation charge, which were partially offset
by benefits from the impact of increased foreign tax credits.  

• The Company added members to the Newell Brands executive management team to lead the combined business, relocated its headquarters to Hoboken, New Jersey and opened its
new office building for the Atlanta business hub in Atlanta, Georgia.

• On October 3, 2016, the Company and Jarden Receivables, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Jarden Receivables”), entered into a loan and servicing agreement
and related receivables sale and contribution agreement and
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performance  undertaking  (collectively,  the  “New  Receivables  Facility”)  in  order  to,  among  other  things,  replace  the  Company's  existing $400.0  million receivables  facility  (the
"Receivables  Facility")  and  Jarden's $500.0  million receivables  purchase  agreement  (the  "Jarden  Securitization  Facility")  with  a  new $950.0  million ,  three-year  securitization
program.

• On October 12, 2016, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the Tools business for an estimated sale price of $1.95 billion , subject to working capital adjustments. The
transaction is expected to close in early 2017, subject to certain customary conditions, including regulatory approvals.

Acquisitions

On April 15, 2016, the Company acquired Jarden for total consideration of $18.7 billion including cash paid, shares issued and debt assumed, net of cash acquired. The Jarden Acquisition was
accounted  for  using  the  purchase  method  of  accounting,  and  accordingly,  Jarden’s  results  of  operations  are  included  in  the  Company’s  results  of  operations  since  the  acquisition  date,
including net sales of $7.3 billion . Jarden is included in the Company’s Branded Consumables, Consumer Solutions, Outdoor Solutions and Process Solutions segments.

In  October  2015,  the  Company  acquired  Elmer’s  for $571.4  million .  The  acquisition  was  accounted  for  using  the  purchase  method  of  accounting,  and  accordingly,  Elmer’s  results  of
operations were included in the Company’s statement of operations since the acquisition date, including net sales of $36.3 million for 2015. Elmer’s is included in the Writing segment.

During 2014,  the  Company completed  the  acquisitions  of  Ignite  Holdings,  LLC (“Ignite”)  and Baby Jogger  Holdings,  Inc.  (“Baby Jogger”)  and acquired  the  assets  of  bubba  brands,  inc.
(“bubba”).  The  Ignite  and  bubba  acquisitions  give  the  Company’s  Home  Solutions  segment  access  to  additional  channels  in  the  on-the-go  hydration  and  thermal  bottle  market  in  North
America and fit with the Company’s strategy of accelerating growth by leveraging its capabilities across additional product categories, geographies and channels. The Baby Jogger acquisition
gives the Baby & Parenting segment a premium brand and the opportunity to expand its geographic footprint. The results of operations of Ignite, bubba and Baby Jogger are included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements beginning on the respective acquisition dates of each business in 2014, which included net sales of $51.1 million , $13.4 million and $4.4 million
for Ignite, bubba and Baby Jogger, respectively, in 2014.

• On September 4, 2014, the Company acquired Ignite for $313.1 million , which is net of $7.2 million of cash acquired. A portion of the purchase price was used to repay Ignite’s
outstanding debt obligations at closing. Ignite is a designer and marketer of durable beverage containers in North America sold under the Contigo ® and Avex ® brands.

• On October 22, 2014, the Company acquired the assets of bubba for $82.4 million . bubba is a designer and marketer of durable beverage containers in North America.

• On December 15, 2014, the Company acquired Baby Jogger, a designer and marketer of premium infant and juvenile products focused on activity strollers and related accessories,
for $210.1 million . Baby Jogger is headquartered in the U.S. and markets and sells its products in North America, Europe and Asia under the Baby Jogger brand and its City Mini ®

and City Select ® sub-brands.

Key Initiatives

Project Renewal

During April 2015, the Company committed to a further expansion of Project Renewal (the “April 2015 Expansion”), a program initially launched in October 2011 to reduce the complexity
of the organization and increase investment in growth platforms within the business, funded by a reduction in structural SG&A costs. Project Renewal is designed to simplify and align the
business around two key activities — Brand & Category Development and Market Execution & Delivery. Project Renewal encompasses projects centered around five work streams:

• Organizational Simplification: The Company de-layered its top structure and further consolidated its businesses from nine Global Business Units (“GBUs”) to three operating groups
that manage five operating segments.

• EMEA Simplification: The Company is focusing its resources on fewer products and countries, while simplifying go-to-market, delivery and back office support structures.

• Best Cost Finance: The Company is delivering a simplified approach to decision support, transaction processing and information management by leveraging SAP and the streamlined
business segments to align resources with the Growth Game Plan.

31



Table of Contents

• Best Cost Back Office: The Company is driving “One Newell” efficiencies in customer and consumer services and sourcing functions.

• Supply Chain Footprint: The Company is further optimizing manufacturing and distribution facilities across its global supply chain.

Through Project Renewal, the Company was realigned from a holding company comprised of global business units, each with its own support structure, to an operating company with three
operating  groups  that  manage  five  operating  segments.  The  operating  company  structure  is  centered  around  four  primary  capabilities:  Design;  Marketing  &  Insight;  Supply  Chain;  and
Customer  Development.  The  Company  has  developed  centers  of  excellence  in  each  of  these  capabilities  and  has  realigned  its  back  office  support  structure  functions  (Human Resources,
Finance/IT and Legal) to support the four primary capabilities. This realignment has led to efficiencies and cost reductions, allowing the Company to increase investments in its brands and
capabilities.  In addition, through Project Renewal, the Company has simplified its go-to-market and back office structures in EMEA which has resulted in significant Project Renewal costs
and savings in the EMEA region. 

Pursuant to an expansion of Project Renewal in October 2014, the Company is: (i) further streamlining its supply chain function, including reducing overhead and realigning the supply chain
management  structure;  (ii)  investing in  value analysis  and value engineering efforts  to  reduce product  and packaging costs;  (iii)  reducing operational  and manufacturing complexity  in  its
Writing segment; and (iv) further streamlining its distribution and transportation functions. 

Under  the  April  2015  Expansion,  the  Company  is  implementing  additional  activities  designed  to  further  streamline  business  partnering  functions  (e.g.,  Finance/IT,  Legal  and  Human
Resources),  optimize  global  selling  and  trade  marketing  functions  and  rationalize  the  Company’s  real  estate  portfolio.  The  April  2015  Expansion  is  expected  to  generate  annualized
incremental  overhead cost  savings of approximately $150 million when fully  implemented by the end of  2017,  which includes  savings expected to  be realized during 2018 from projects
completed in 2017. In connection with the April 2015 Expansion, the Company expects to incur approximately $150 million of additional costs, including cash costs of approximately $135
million . The additional costs include pretax restructuring charges in the range of $125 to $135 million , a majority of which are expected to be facility exit costs and employee-related cash
costs, including severance, retirement and other termination benefits.

Cumulative  costs  of  the  expanded  Project  Renewal  are  now expected  to  be  approximately $690 to $725  million pretax,  with  cash  costs  of  approximately $645 to $675  million . Project
Renewal in total is expected to generate annualized cost savings of approximately $620 to $675 million by the end of 2017, which includes savings expected to be realized during 2018 from
projects completed in 2017. Through December 31, 2016 , the Company has realized annualized savings of approximately $510 million . The majority of these savings have been, and the
majority of future savings from Project Renewal initiatives are expected to be, reinvested in the business to strengthen brand building and selling capabilities in priority markets around the
world.

Since inception of Project Renewal through December 31, 2016 , the Company had incurred $319.7 million and $208.8 million of restructuring and other project-related costs, respectively.
The majority of the restructuring costs represent employee-related cash costs, including severance, retirement and other termination benefits and costs. Other project-related costs represent
organizational  change  implementation  costs,  including  advisory  and  consultancy  costs,  compensation  and  related  costs  of  personnel  dedicated  to  transformation  projects,  and  other  costs
associated with the implementation of Project Renewal. Through December 31, 2016 , the Company estimates it has reduced its headcount by approximately 2,900 employees as a result of
Project Renewal initiatives.

The following table summarizes the estimated costs and savings relating to Project Renewal, as well as the actual results through December 31, 2016 (amounts in millions):

 Total Project  Through December 31, 2016  
Remaining through December

31, 2017*
Cost $690 - $725  $529  $161- $196
Savings $620 - $675  $510  $110 - $165

*    Includes savings expected to be realized during 2018 from projects completed in 2017.

In 2016 , the Company has continued to execute existing projects as well as initiate new activities relating to Project Renewal as follows:

• Ongoing reconfiguration and consolidation of the Company’s manufacturing footprint and distribution centers to reduce overhead, improve operational efficiencies and better utilize
existing assets, including the ongoing implementation of projects to better align the Writing segment’s worldwide supply chain footprint.
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• Ongoing evaluations of the Company’s overhead structure, supply chain organization and processes, customer development organization alignment, and pricing structure to optimize
and  transform  processes,  simplify  the  organization  and  reduce  costs,  including  the  implementation  of  technology-based  solutions  to  better  manage  pricing  initiatives  and
merchandising support.

• Initiated a project to enhance the Baby & Parenting segment’s route-to-market in certain parts of North America.

• Continued implementation of plans to relocate the Company’s Atlanta business hub within Atlanta, Georgia in early 2016. The Company moved into the new building in April 2016.

Foreign Currency - Venezuela

Until  December 31, 2015, the Company accounted for its  Venezuelan operations using highly inflationary accounting,  and therefore,  the Company remeasured assets,  liabilities,  sales and
expenses  denominated  in  Bolivar  Fuertes  (“Bolivars”)  into  U.S.  Dollars  using  the  applicable  exchange  rate,  and  the  resulting  translation  adjustments  were  included  in  earnings.  As  of
December 31, 2015, the Company determined it could no longer exercise control over its Venezuela operations because the availability of U.S. Dollars had declined significantly over the past
several years in each of Venezuela’s three exchange mechanisms. As a result, the Company deconsolidated its Venezuelan operations.

Prior  to  the deconsolidation of  the Venezuela  operations  on December  31,  2015,  the results  of  the Company’s  Venezuelan operations  have been included in the Company’s  Consolidated
Statements of Operations for 2015 and all prior periods. As of December 31, 2015, the Company began accounting for its investment in its Venezuelan operations using the cost method of
accounting, and the cost basis was adjusted to nil as of December 31, 2015.

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the Venezuelan operations generated 2.2% and 1.4% of consolidated net sales, respectively and $51.1 million and $30.0 million of the
Company’s reported annual operating income, respectively.

As a  result  of  deconsolidating its  Venezuelan operations,  the Company recorded a  charge of $172.7 million in  2015.  The charge consisted of  the write-off  of  the Company’s  Venezuelan
operations’ net assets of $74.7 million , as well as $58.3 million of Venezuela receivable-related assets held by other subsidiaries, resulting in $133.0 million of total charges associated with
the  deconsolidation  of  Venezuela’s  net  assets.  In  addition,  in  accordance  with  applicable  accounting  standards  for  foreign  currency  and  the  transition  to  the  cost  method  for  Venezuela’s
operations, the Company was required to write-off the currency translation adjustment that arose prior to the application of hyperinflationary accounting in 2010 that was included in other
comprehensive loss in equity. The write-off of the currency translation adjustment resulted in a pre-tax charge of $39.7 million .

The  Company  plans  to  continue  operating  its  business  in  Venezuela.  Since  the  Company  holds  all  of  the  equity  interests  but  does  not  have  the  power  to  direct  the  activities  that  most
significantly affect the Venezuela entity’s economic performance, the Company considers the Venezuela entity a variable interest entity for which the Company is not the primary beneficiary.
The  Company  has  determined  that  the  Venezuela  entity’s  assets  can  only  be  used  to  settle  its  obligations.  As  of  December  31, 2016 ,  the  Company  has no outstanding  exposures  or
commitments with respect to its Venezuelan operations. Further, dividends and payments for intercompany receivables due from the Company’s Venezuelan operations will be recorded as
other income upon receipt.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Company believes the selected data and the percentage relationship between net sales and major categories in the Consolidated Statements of Operations are important in evaluating the
Company’s operations. The following table sets forth items from the Consolidated Statements of Operations as reported and as a percentage of net sales for the years ended December 31, ( in
millions, except percentages ):

 2016  2015  2014

Net sales $ 13,264.0  100.0 %  $ 5,915.7  100.0%  $ 5,727.0  100.0%
Cost of products sold 8,865.2  66.8  3,611.1  61.0  3,523.6  61.5
Gross profit 4,398.8  33.2  2,304.6  39.0  2,203.4  38.5
Selling, general and administrative expenses 3,221.1  24.3  1,573.9  26.6  1,480.5  25.9
Pension settlement charge 2.7  —  52.1  0.9  65.4  1.1
Restructuring costs, net 74.9  0.6  77.2  1.3  52.8  0.9
Operating income 1,100.1  8.3  601.4  10.2  604.7  10.6
Nonoperating (income) expenses:            

Interest expense, net 404.5  3.0  79.9  1.4  60.4  1.1
Loss related to extinguishment of debt/credit facility 47.6  0.4  —  —  33.2  0.6
Venezuela deconsolidation charge —  —  172.7  2.9  —  —
Other (income) expense, net (166.5)  (1.3)  11.3  0.2  49.0  0.9
Net nonoperating expenses 285.6  2.2  263.9  4.5  142.6  2.5

Income before income taxes 814.5  6.1  337.5  5.7  462.1  8.1
Income tax expense 286.0  2.2  78.2  1.3  89.1  1.6

Income from continuing operations 528.5  4.0  259.3  4.4  373.0  6.5
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (0.7)  —  90.7  1.5  4.8  0.1

Net income $ 527.8  4.0 %  $ 350.0  5.9%  $ 377.8  6.6%

Results of Operations — 2016 vs. 2015

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $13,264.0 million , representing an increase of $7,348.3 million , or 124.2% , from $5,915.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2015 . The Jarden Acquisition contributed $7,296.9 million of the increase in net sales, or 123.3% of the increase. Net sales were also favorably impacted by volume growth, pricing and the
acquisition of Elmer’s. Net sales were adversely impacted by foreign currency, divestitures and the deconsolidation of the Company’s Venezuelan operations on December 31, 2015.

Gross margin, as a percentage of net sales, for the year ended December 31, 2016 was 33.2% , or $4,398.8 million , compared to 39.0% , or $2,304.6 million , for the year ended December 31,
2015 . The 580 basis point decline was driven primarily by the negative impact of the $479.5 million charge for the inventory step-up related to the Jarden Acquisition, foreign currency, and
mix effect of the Jarden Acquisition and deconsolidation of Venezuela, partially offset by the benefits of productivity, input cost deflation and pricing.

SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 were 24.3% of net sales, or $3,221.1 million , versus 26.6% of net sales, or $1,573.9 million , for the year ended December 31, 2015 .
The $1,647.2  million increase  was  primarily  driven  by  the  SG&A  associated  with  the  Jarden  business.  The  increase  was  also  driven  by $261.3  million of  costs  during  the  year  ended
December  31, 2016 associated  with  the  acquisition  and  integration  of  Jarden  and  an  increase  in  incentive-related  and  other  compensation  costs.  These  increases  were  partially  offset  by
overhead cost savings from Project Renewal, $10.0 million of SG&A costs associated with the Graco product recall during the year ended December 31, 2015 , a $41.5 million decrease in
Project Renewal-related SG&A costs, which decreased from $78.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 to $36.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 , and the impacts of
foreign currency.

The Company recorded restructuring costs  of $74.9 million and $77.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 ,  respectively.  The restructuring costs  for  the year  ended
December 31, 2016 primarily related to the integration of Jarden and Project Renewal and consisted mostly of employee severance, termination benefits and employee relocation costs. The
restructuring costs for the year ended December 31, 2015 primarily related to Project Renewal and consisted of $6.7 million of facility and other exit  costs,  including impairments, $54.9
million of employee severance, termination benefits and employee relocation costs

34



Table of Contents

and $15.6 million of exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. See Footnote 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $1,100.1 million , or 8.3% of net sales, versus $601.4 million , or 10.2% of net sales, for the year ended December 31, 2015 .
The 190 basis point decrease in operating margin was primarily attributable to the $479.5 million charge for the inventory step-up related to the Jarden Acquisition and the $261.3 million of
SG&A costs associated with the acquisition and integration of Jarden.

Net nonoperating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $285.6 million versus $263.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 . Interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2016 was $404.5 million , compared to $79.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 , reflecting the impact of higher overall borrowings used to finance the Jarden
Acquisition in April 2016 and the Elmer’s acquisition in the fourth quarter of 2015. Nonoperating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 include $47.6 million of costs associated
with the termination of the Jarden Bridge Facility and the partial repayment of the term loan facility. This was offset by the gain on the sale of the Décor business of $160.2 million .

The Company reported an effective tax rate of 35.1% for the year ended December 31, 2016 , compared to 23.2% in 2015 . The tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2016 was impacted
by the Jarden Acquisition and the resulting change in the geographical mix in earnings as well as a deferred tax charge of $164.2 million associated with the book and tax basis difference
related to the pending Tools divestiture.  The tax rate was offset  in the current  year by a deferred tax benefit  of $40.0 million related to statutory tax rate changes in France that primarily
affected deferred taxes on Jarden acquired intangible assets and a reduction in the valuation allowance of $17.9 million related to certain deferred tax assets of the Company’s UK operations.
The tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2015 was impacted by the geographical mix of earnings, the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against foreign currencies and the implied tax rate
associated with the $7.6 million income tax benefit on the $172.7 million Venezuela deconsolidation charge, which were partially offset by benefits from the impact of increased foreign tax
credits.  

Results of Operations — 2015 vs. 2014

Net sales for 2015 were $5,915.7 million , representing an increase of $188.7 million , or 3.3% , from $5,727.0 million for 2014 . Acquisitions drove a 4.7% increase in net sales along with
growth in North America across all five segments, with strong sales growth in the Writing, Commercial Products and Baby & Parenting segments as well as favorable impacts of additional
sell-in in advance of advertising and marketing support planned for 2016. Negative foreign exchange more than offset Latin America’s improved pricing and volumes, EMEA’s growth in
Writing, Commercial Products and Tools segments and Asia Pacific’s growth in Baby & Parenting and Commercial Products segments.

Gross margin, as a percentage of net sales, for 2015 was 39.0% , or $2,304.6 million , compared to 38.5% , or $2,203.4 million , for 2014 , as the benefits of productivity, pricing, the adverse
impact of the Graco product recall on the prior year’s results and lower input costs (including resin) more than offset the impacts of unfavorable foreign currency and sourced product, labor
and other input cost inflation.

SG&A expenses for 2015 were 26.6% of net sales, or $1,573.9 million , versus 25.9% of net sales, or $1,480.5 million , for 2014 . SG&A expenses increased $93.4 million as a result of a
$42.3 million increase in advertising and promotion investments, primarily relating to the Writing segment’s continued investment in advertising in North America, Latin America and Asia
Pacific  and increased advertising  in  the Tools,  Commercial  Products  and Baby & Parenting segments.  The increase  was also driven by a $36.1 million year-over-year increase in Project
Renewal related costs, including advisory costs for process transformation and optimization initiatives, which increased from $41.9 million for 2014 to $78.0 million for 2015 . The increase
was also attributable  to $55.5 million of incremental  SG&A expenses of  Ignite,  bubba,  Baby Jogger and Elmer’s  and a $30.7 million increase in annual  incentive compensation expense.
These  increases  were  partially  offset  by  the  impacts  of  foreign  currency  and  overhead  cost  savings  from  Project  Renewal,  which  includes  an  estimated $8.0  million of  annual  costs  for
personnel that transitioned to the Transformation Office at the beginning of 2015 and are included in Project Renewal related costs in 2015.

In 2015 and 2014 , the Company offered certain U.S. pension plan participants who have deferred vested benefits under the Company’s U.S. pension plan the opportunity to make a one-time
election to receive a lump sum distribution of the present value of their benefits. Based on participants that accepted the offers, the Company paid $70.6 million and $98.6 million of lump sum
distributions from plan assets in 2015 and 2014 , respectively, which resulted in $52.1 million and $65.4 million of non-cash settlement charges during the fourth quarters of 2015 and 2014 ,
respectively.

The Company recorded restructuring costs of $77.2 million and $52.8 million for 2015 and 2014 , respectively. The year-over-year increase in restructuring costs is primarily a result of larger
projects being initiated in North America in 2015 associated with reducing structural overhead costs. The restructuring costs for 2015 primarily related to Project Renewal and consisted of
$6.7 million of  facility  and other  exit  costs,  including  impairments, $54.9 million of  employee  severance,  termination  benefits  and  employee  relocation  costs  and $15.6 million of exited
contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. The restructuring
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costs in 2014 primarily  related to Project  Renewal  and consisted of $7.5 million of  facility  and other  exit  costs,  including impairments, $22.9 million of employee severance, termination
benefits and employee relocation costs and $22.4 million of exited contractual commitments and other restructuring costs. See Footnote 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for further information.

Operating income for 2015 was $601.4 million , or 10.2% of net sales, versus $604.7 million , or 10.6% of net sales, for 2014 . The 40 basis point decline in operating margin was primarily
attributable to a 70 basis point increase in SG&A as a percentage of net sales, which, as explained above, includes the impact of increased advertising and promotion spend, and increased
restructuring costs, partially offset by a 50 basis point increase in gross margin.

Net nonoperating expenses for 2015 were $263.9 million versus $142.6 million for 2014 . Interest expense for 2015 was $79.9 million , compared to $60.4 million for 2014 . The increase is
attributable to interest expense incurred during 2015 in connection with the bridge loan related to the acquisition of Elmer’s and the overall impact of higher overall borrowings to finance the
acquisition of Elmer’s during the fourth quarter of 2015 and the acquisitions of Ignite, bubba and Baby Jogger in the second half of 2014. Nonoperating expenses in 2015 included a charge of
$172.7  million associated  with  deconsolidating  the  Company’s  Venezuelan  operations.  These  increases  in  nonoperating  expenses  were  partially  offset  by  the  year-over-year  decrease  in
foreign exchange losses associated with the adoption of and declines in the SICAD exchange rate used to remeasure the net monetary assets of the Company’s Venezuelan operations, which
declined from $45.6 million during 2014 to $9.2 million during 2015 , and the $33.2 million loss on extinguishment of debt incurred in 2014 associated with the repayment of $439.4 million
principal amount of medium-term notes.

The Company recognized an effective income tax rate of 23.2% for 2015 , which compared to an effective income tax rate of 19.3% for 2014 . During 2015 , the Company’s effective tax rate
was adversely impacted by the geographical mix of earnings, the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against foreign currencies and the implied tax rate associated with the $7.6 million income
tax benefit  on the $172.7 million Venezuela  deconsolidation charge,  which were partially  offset  by benefits  from the impact  of  increased foreign tax credits.  During 2014 , the Company
recognized discrete income tax benefits of $15.5 million related to the resolution of certain tax contingencies and $18.4 million of net income tax benefits associated with the reduction of
valuation allowances on certain international deferred tax assets.

For the year ended December 31, 2015 ,  the Company recorded income of $90.7 million ,  net  of tax,  associated with discontinued operations,  primarily due to the $95.6 million net gain
recognized  from the  sale  of  the  Endicia  business.  The  Company  recorded  income of $4.8 million ,  net  of  tax,  during  the  year  ended December  31, 2015 ,  which  primarily  relates  to  the
Company’s Hardware, Endicia and Culinary electrics and retail businesses. See Footnote 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Business Segment Operating Results:

2016 vs. 2015 Business Segment Operating Results

Net sales by segment were as follows for the years ended December 31, ( in millions, except percentages ):

 2016  2015  % Change    
Writing $ 1,941.9  $ 1,763.5  10.1 %
Home Solutions 1,568.4  1,704.2  (8.0)
Tools 760.7  790.0  (3.7)
Commercial Products 776.6  809.7  (4.1)
Baby & Parenting 919.5  848.3  8.4
Branded Consumables 2,839.2  —  NMF
Consumer Solutions 1,766.3  —  NMF
Outdoor Solutions 2,415.9  —  NMF
Process Solutions 275.5  —  NMF

Total net sales $ 13,264.0  $ 5,915.7  124.2 %
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Operating income (loss) by segment was as follows for the years ended December 31, ( in millions, except percentages ):

 2016  2015  % Change
Writing (1) (2) $ 462.7  $ 430.8  7.4 %
Home Solutions (1) (3) 179.2  238.4  (24.8)
Tools (1) (7) 85.4  85.1  0.4
Commercial Products (1) 113.1  100.8  12.2
Baby & Parenting (1) (4) 114.4  55.2  107.2
Branded Consumables (5)  330.5  —  NMF
Consumer Solutions (5) 147.1  —  NMF
Outdoor Solutions (5)  90.1  —  NMF
Process Solutions (5)  14.8  —  NMF
Restructuring costs (74.9)  (77.2)  3.0
Corporate (1) (6) (362.3)  (231.7)  (56.4)

Total operating income $ 1,100.1  $ 601.4  82.9 %

(1) Includes Project  Renewal-related costs of $15.1 million , $2.8 million , $2.5 million , $1.2 million , $28.3 million and $0.2 million in  Writing,  Home Solutions,  Tools,  Commercial  Products,  Baby & Parenting,  and
Corporate, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2016 . Includes Project Renewal-related costs of $3.5 million , $2.3 million , $0.5 million , $4.7 million and $78.9 million in Writing, Home Solutions, Tools,
Commercial Products, and Corporate, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2015 .

(2) For 2016 , includes $1.4 million of acquisition and integration costs. For 2015 , includes $2.6 million of costs associated with Venezuelan inventory resulting from changes in the exchange rate for the Venezuelan Bolivar
and $1.2 million of acquisition and integration costs.

(3) For 2016 , includes $2.1 million of acquisition, integration and divestiture costs. For 2015 , $1.5 million of acquisition and integration costs associated with the Ignite and bubba acquisitions.
(4) Includes $1.7 million for 2015 of acquisition and integration costs associated with the Baby Jogger acquisition and $10.2 million of charges relating to the Graco harness buckle recall for 2015 .
(5) Operating  income  for  the  year  ended  December  31, 2016 includes  non-cash  charges  to  cost  of  sales  for  the  costs  associated  with  the  fair  value  step-up  of  Jarden  inventory  for  the  Branded  Consumables,  Consumer

Solutions, Outdoor Solutions and Process Solutions segments of $137.9 million , $103.4 million , $230.2 million and $8.0 million , respectively.
(6) For 2016 , includes $61.7 million of costs associated with the Jarden Acquisition. For 2015 , includes $10.8 million of costs associated with the Jarden Acquisition and a $52.1 million non-cash charge associated with the

settlement of U.S. pension liabilities for certain participants with plan assets.
(7) For 2016 , includes $3.5 million of costs associated with the pending Tools divestiture.

Writing

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $1,941.9 million , an increase of $178.4 million , or 10.1% , from $1,763.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 . The increase
in net sales reflects double-digit growth in North America attributable to the Elmer’s acquisition, increased advertising and promotion, robust merchandising efforts, overall innovation-led
growth,  and  volume  and  distribution  gains.  The  acquisition  of  Elmer’s  contributed 11.6% of  the  increase  in  net  sales,  and  the  deconsolidation  of  the  Venezuelan  operations  negatively
impacted the Writing segment’s net sales by 7.3% . The Writing segment’s net sales were adversely impacted by foreign currency.

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $462.7 million , or 23.8% of net sales, an increase of $31.9 million , or 7.4% , from $430.8 million , or 24.4% of net sales, for
the year ended December 31, 2015 . The 60 basis point decline in operating margin is primarily the result of the mix effect associated with the deconsolidation of Venezuela and the impact of
negative foreign currency. SG&A decreased 170 basis points as a percentage of net sales.

Home Solutions

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $1,568.4 million , a decrease of $135.8 million , or 8.0% , from $1,704.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 . The decrease in
net sales was due to the timing impact of a transition of a key distribution center in the beverageware business, continued planned contraction of the lower margin Rubbermaid Consumer
Storage business and partially offset by continued strong growth in the Rubbermaid food storage and beverageware businesses. The net sales of the Décor business, which was divested on
June 30, 2016, declined and negatively impacted the Home Solutions segment’s net sales. The Home Solutions segment’s net sales were adversely impacted by foreign currency.

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $179.2 million , or 11.4% of net sales, a decrease of $59.2 million , or 24.8% , from $238.4 million , or 14.0% of net sales, for
the  year  ended December  31, 2015 . The 260 basis  point  decline  in  operating  margin  is  primarily  due  to  an  increase  in  advertising  and  promotion  investment  to  support  the  launches  of
Rubbermaid ® FreshWorks TM and Rubbermaid ® Fasten+Go TM partially offset by the benefits of productivity and lower input costs. SG&A increased 150 basis points as a percentage of net
sales due to the increased advertising and promotion investment and costs associated with the divestiture of Décor.
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Tools

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $760.7 million , a decrease of $29.3 million , or 3.7% , from $790.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 . Net sales growth in
North America and EMEA were more than offset by a net sales decline in Latin America due to continuing macroeconomic challenges in Brazil. The Tools segment’s net sales were adversely
impacted by foreign currency.

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $85.4 million , or 11.2% of net sales, an increase of $0.3 million , or 0.4% , from $85.1 million , or 10.8% of net sales, for the
year ended December 31, 2015 . The 40 basis point increase in operating margin was primarily attributable to reduced advertising and promotion spending and overhead cost savings. SG&A
decreased 120 basis points as a percentage of net sales due to reduced advertising and promotion spending and overhead cost savings.

Commercial Products

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $776.6 million , a decrease of $33.1 million , or 4.1% , from $809.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 . The divested
Rubbermaid  medical  cart  business  negatively  impacted  the  Commercial  Products  segment’s  net  sales  by 3.3% ,  and  complexity  reduction  initiatives  in  the  North  American  distribution
channel further contributed to the Commercial Products segment’s net sales decline. The Commercial Products segment’s net sales were also adversely impacted by foreign currency.

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $113.1 million , or 14.6% of net sales, an increase of $12.3 million , or 12.2% , from $100.8 million , or 12.4% of net sales, for
the year  ended December 31, 2015 . The 220 basis  point  increase  in  operating  margin  was  primarily  driven  by pricing,  productivity,  input  cost  deflation  and overhead cost  savings  from
Project Renewal. SG&A decreased 170 basis points as a percentage of net sales due to overhead cost savings.

Baby & Parenting

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $919.5 million , an increase of $71.2 million , or 8.4% , from $848.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 . The increase in net
sales was driven by growth in North America and Asia Pacific due to new product launches and advertising and promotion investment. Foreign currency favorably impacted net sales for the
Baby & Parenting segment.

Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $114.4 million , or 12.4% of net sales, an increase of $59.2 million , or 107.2% , from $55.2 million , or 6.5% of net sales, for
the year ended December 31, 2015 . Baby & Parenting’s operating margin increased by 590 basis points due to the leverage of fixed costs with the increase in net sales, productivity, product
mix and Graco product recall and acquisition costs incurred in the prior year period. The leverage of fixed costs and the Graco product recall costs in the prior year period, partially offset by
an increase in advertising and promotion investment, contributed to SG&A decreasing 250 basis points as a percentage of net sales.

Branded Consumables

Net sales  for  the year  ended December  31, 2016 were $2,839.2 million .  Operating income for  the year  ended December 31, 2016 was $330.5 million , or 11.6% of net sales. Operating
income was unfavorably impacted by $137.9 million of costs of products sold during the year ended December 31, 2016 associated with the fair value step-up of Jarden inventory.

Consumer Solutions

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $1,766.3 million driven by strong sales in North America and Latin America. Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016
was $147.1 million , or 8.3% of net sales. Operating income in the Consumer Solutions segment was unfavorably impacted by $103.4 million of costs of products sold during the year ended
December 31, 2016 associated with the fair value step-up of Jarden inventory.

Outdoor Solutions

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $2,415.9 million . Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $90.1 million , or 3.7% of net sales. Operating income
in the Outdoor Solutions segment was unfavorably impacted by $230.2 million of costs of products sold during the year ended December 31, 2016 associated with the fair value step-up of
Jarden inventory.

Process Solutions

Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $275.5 million . Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $14.8 million , or 5.4% of net sales. Operating income in
the Process Solutions segment was unfavorably impacted by $8.0 million of costs of products sold during the year ended December 31, 2016 associated with the fair value step-up of Jarden
inventory.
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2015 vs. 2014 Business Segment Operating Results

Net sales by segment were as follows for the years ended December 31, (in millions, except percentages) :

  2015  2014  % Change    
Writing  $ 1,763.5  $ 1,708.9  3.2 %
Home Solutions  1,704.2  1,575.4  8.2
Tools  790.0  852.2  (7.3)
Commercial Products  809.7  837.1  (3.3)
Baby & Parenting  848.3  753.4  12.6

Total net sales  $ 5,915.7  $ 5,727.0  3.3 %

Operating income (loss) by segment was as follows for the years ended December 31, (in millions, except percentages) :

  2015  2014  % Change    
Writing (1)  $ 430.8  $ 416.6  3.4 %
Home Solutions (2)  238.4  196.0  21.6
Tools (3)  85.1  94.6  (10.0)
Commercial Products (4)  100.8  101.3  (0.5)
Baby & Parenting (5)  55.2  40.6  36.0
Restructuring costs  (77.2)  (52.8)  (46.2)
Corporate (6)  (231.7)  (191.6)  (20.9)

Total operating income  $ 601.4  $ 604.7  (0.5)%

(1) For 2015 ,  includes $3.5 million of  project-related costs  associated with  Project  Renewal, $2.6 million of  costs  associated  with  Venezuelan  inventory  resulting  from changes  in  the  exchange  rate  for  the  Venezuelan
Bolivar, and $1.2 million of acquisition and integration costs. For 2014 , includes $5.2 million of costs associated with Venezuelan inventory resulting from changes in the exchange rate for the Venezuelan Bolivar.

(2) For 2015 , includes $2.3 million of project-related costs associated with Project Renewal and $1.5 million of acquisition, integration and divestiture costs. For 2014 , includes $4.2 million of acquisition and integration
costs associated with the Ignite and bubba acquisitions.

(3) Includes $0.5 million and $1.7 million for 2015 and 2014 , respectively, of project-related costs associated with Project Renewal.
(4) Includes $4.7 million and $0.4 million for 2015 and 2014 , respectively, of project-related costs associated with Project Renewal.
(5) Includes $1.7 million and $1.3 million for 2015 and 2014 , respectively, of acquisition and integration costs associated with the Baby Jogger acquisition and $10.2 million and $15.0 million of charges relating to the Graco

harness buckle recall for 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
(6) For 2015 , includes $78.9 million of project-related costs associated with Project Renewal, $10.8 million of costs associated with the Jarden Acquisition and a $52.1 million non-cash charge associated with the settlement

of U.S. pension liabilities for certain participants with plan assets, For 2014 , includes $31.7 million of project-related costs associated with Project Renewal, $10.2 million of advisory costs for process transformation and
optimization initiatives and a $65.4 million non-cash charge associated with the settlement of U.S. pension liabilities for certain participants with plan assets.

Writing

Net sales for 2015 were $1,763.5 million , an increase of $54.6 million , or 3.2% , from $1,708.9 million for 2014 . The Elmer’s acquisition had a favorable impact of 2.2% on net sales along
with market share growth in North America attributable to innovation, increased advertising and promotion and merchandising efforts.  While Latin America market  share growth resulted
from strengthened innovation and marketing, broadened core distribution and pricing and EMEA experienced pricing and distribution gains, this was more than offset by unfavorable foreign
currency movements.

Operating income for 2015 was $430.8 million , or 24.4% of net  sales,  an increase of $14.2 million , or 3.4% , from $416.6 million , or 24.4% of net sales, for 2014 . Operating margin
remained flat year-over-year, as pricing, productivity and overhead cost management were offset by negative foreign currency impacts and increased advertising and promotion spending. The
increased advertising and promotion spending resulted in SG&A increasing 80 basis points as a percentage of net sales.

Home Solutions

Net sales for 2015 were $1,704.2 million , an increase of $128.8 million , or 8.2% , from $1,575.4 million for 2014 . The Ignite and bubba acquisitions had a favorable impact of 9.9% on net
sales for the Home Solutions segment. Growth in the Food & Beverage business was partially offset by planned declines in the lower margin Rubbermaid Consumer Storage business and the
absence  of  prior  year  new  customer  pipeline  fill  and  the  transition  to  new  product  lines  on  Calphalon.  The  Décor  business’  net  sales  decline  negatively  impacted  the  Home  Solutions
segment’s net sales by 1.1% along with unfavorable foreign currency movements with the businesses.
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Operating income for 2015 was $238.4 million , or 14.0% of net sales, an increase of $42.4 million , or 21.6% , from $196.0 million , or 12.4% of net sales, for 2014 . The 160 basis point
increase in operating margin is primarily a result of the positive mix effect of the Food & Beverage business, input cost deflation (including resin), productivity and Project Renewal savings,
partially  offset  by  increased  advertising  and  promotion.  Project  Renewal  savings  and  overhead  cost  management  offset  the  increase  in  advertising  and  promotion,  resulting  in  SG&A
remaining flat as a percentage of net sales.

Tools

Net  sales  for 2015 were $790.0  million ,  a  decrease  of $62.2  million ,  or 7.3% ,  from $852.2  million for 2014 .  This  decrease  was  entirely  related  to  the  unfavorable  foreign  currency.
Excluding the impacts of foreign currency, EMEA experienced growth due to innovation, distribution gains and pricing, Latin America continued growth on Irwin ® offerings, North America
and EMEA grew from the Lenox ® industrial tools business, and Asia Pacific increased slightly as Irwin sales growth in Australia was offset by declines in the industrial bandsaw business due
to slowing industrial output in China.

Operating income for 2015 was $85.1 million , or 10.8% of net sales, a decrease of $9.5 million , or 10.0% , from $94.6 million , or 11.1% of net sales, for 2014 . The 30 basis point decrease
in operating margin was primarily attributable to increased advertising and promotion and the impact of negative foreign currency partially offset by Project Renewal-related overhead cost
savings. SG&A decreased 70 basis points as a percentage of net sales due to overhead cost savings.

Commercial Products

Net sales for 2015 were $809.7 million , a decrease of $27.4 million , or 3.3% , from $837.1 million for 2014 . The divestiture of the Rubbermaid medical cart business in 2015 negatively
impacted net sales by 5.1% along with the unfavorable impact of foreign currency. Excluding the impacts of foreign currency, these declines were partially offset by increases in the North
America, EMEA and Asia Pacific regions, mainly driven by innovation, marketing support, advertising and promotion and pricing.

Operating income for 2015 was $100.8 million , or 12.4% of net sales, a decrease of $0.5 million , or 0.5% , from $101.3 million , or 12.1% of net sales, for 2014 . The 30 basis point increase
in  operating  margin  was  primarily  driven  by  pricing,  productivity  and  input  cost  deflation,  largely  offset  by  higher  advertising  and  promotion  spend  and  the  negative  impact  of  foreign
currency. Increased advertising and promotion resulted in SG&A increasing 110 basis points as a percentage of net sales.

Baby & Parenting

Net sales for 2015 were $848.3 million , an increase of $94.9 million , or 12.6% , from $753.4 million for 2014 . The acquisition of Baby Jogger had a favorable impact of 10.5% on net sales
for the Baby & Parenting segment. Excluding the acquisition, North America high-single digit net sales growth attributable to innovation, advertising and promotion, and the comparison to
the  prior  year  period  which  reflected  the  impacts  of  the  Graco  harness  buckle  recall,  and  Asia  Pacific  sales  growth  attributable  to  innovation  were  partially  offset  by  declines  in  EMEA
resulting from softness across Europe and economic challenges in Russia as well as unfavorable foreign currency impacts.

Operating income for 2015 was $55.2 million , or 6.5% of net sales, an increase of $14.6 million , or 36.0% , from $40.6 million , or 5.4% of net sales, for 2014 . The 110 basis point increase
in operating margin was largely due to contributions from Baby Jogger and new product development, partially offset by increased advertising and promotion in support of innovation and the
negative impact of foreign currency. Operating income for 2015 and 2014 includes $10.2 million and $15.0 million , respectively, of costs associated with the Graco harness buckle recall. The
segment’s ability to leverage the increase in net sales associated with base business growth, the addition of Baby Jogger sales and the decrease in Graco harness buckle recall costs more than
offset the increase in advertising and promotion, which resulted in SG&A decreasing 100 basis points as a percentage of net sales.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents increased (decreased) as follows for the years ended December 31, (in millions) :

 2016  2015  2014
Cash provided by operating activities $ 1,828.5  $ 565.8  $ 634.1
Cash used in investing activities (8,824.8)  (649.9)  (751.9)
Cash provided by financing activities 7,340.4  172.3  119.0
Currency effect on cash and cash equivalents (31.4)  (12.8)  (28.1)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 312.7  $ 75.4  $ (26.9)
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In the cash flow statement,  the changes in operating assets and liabilities are presented excluding the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and the effects of acquisitions,
divestitures and reclassifications of assets and liabilities to held for sale. Accordingly, the amounts in the cash flow statement differ from changes in the operating assets and liabilities that are
presented in the balance sheets.

Sources

Historically, the Company’s primary sources of liquidity and capital resources have included cash provided by operations, proceeds from divestitures, proceeds from the issuance of debt and
the use of available borrowing facilities.

Cash  provided  by  operating  activities  for 2016 was $1,828.5  million compared  to $565.8  million for 2015 .  The  increase  in  operating  cash  flow  was  primarily  due  to  the  impact  of  the
operating cash flow attributable to the Jarden Acquisition based on favorable timing of the acquisition during the second quarter, partially offset by higher interest payments associated with
higher debt levels resulting from financing the Jarden Acquisition.

Additionally, the Company made payments of $91.2 million during 2016 associated with the settlement of forward-starting interest rate swaps used to hedge benchmark treasury rates for the
$8.0 billion public debt issuance in March 2016 used to finance the Jarden Acquisition.

The  Company  also  paid  transaction  costs  associated  with  the  Jarden  Acquisition  totaling $50.7  million ,  and $31.8  million of  higher  annual  incentive  compensation  paid  in  March  2016
relating to the Company’s 2015 performance.

Cash provided by operating activities for 2015 was $565.8 million compared to $634.1 million for 2014 . The decrease in operating cash flow was primarily due to the impact of the following
items:

• a $70.0 million voluntary contribution to the Company’s primary U.S. pension plan during 2015, which is included in accrued liabilities and other in the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows;

• a $69.6 million year-over-year increase in cash used to build inventories in 2015 compared to 2014, partially attributable to inventory builds in 2015 to support new product launches;

• a $45.9 million year-over-year increase in project-related costs associated with Project Renewal and advisory costs for process transformation and optimization, including advisory
and consulting costs and personnel costs associated with employees dedicated to Project Renewal initiatives; and

• a $67.0 million year-over-year decrease in cash provided by accounts payable, primarily attributable to the timing and management of purchases and payments.

partially offset by:

• a $107.1 million year-over-year decrease in cash used for increases in accounts receivable due to the timing of sales in the fourth quarter of 2015 compared to the fourth quarter of
2014; and

• a $60.6  million increase  in  the  Company’s  income  tax  liability  during  2015,  which  is  included  in  accrued  liabilities  and  other  in  the  Consolidated  Statements  of  Cash  Flows,
primarily associated with an estimated $60.0 million income tax payment due in the first quarter of 2016 associated with the gain realized on the sale of the Endicia business.

During 2016 , the Company had net payments of $641.4 million related to its short-term borrowing arrangements compared to net payments of $57.0 million related to short-term borrowing
arrangements in 2015 . The net payments of $57.0 million related to short-term borrowing arrangements in 2015 primarily relates to $50.3 million of issuance costs incurred in connection
with a $400 million bridge facility the Company entered into in advance of the Elmer’s acquisition (the “Elmer’s Bridge Facility”), which has since been terminated, and a $10.5 billion bridge
facility contemplated by the commitment letter that the Company entered into with Goldman Sachs & Co. in connection with the Jarden Acquisition (the “Jarden Bridge Facility”), which has
been terminated. The Company’s short-term borrowings, which include commercial paper and the receivables facility, were $601.9 million at December 31, 2016 compared to $388.8 million
at December 31, 2015 . During 2014, the Company received net proceeds of $217.3 million on its short-term borrowing arrangements compared to net payments of $35.8 million related to
short-term borrowing arrangements in 2013. The Company’s short-term borrowings, which include commercial paper and the receivables facility, were $390.7 million at December 31, 2014
compared to $174.0 million at December 31, 2013. The increase in short-term borrowings in 2014 is primarily due to borrowings to fund the Company’s ongoing share repurchase program
and to finance acquisitions.

In March 2016, the Company completed the offering and sale of  $8.0 billion  principal amount of unsecured senior notes, consisting of  $1.0 billion  of aggregate principal amount of  2.60%
 notes due  March 2019  (the “2019 Notes”),  $1.0 billion  of aggregate
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principal amount of  3.15%  notes due  April 2021  (the “2021 Notes”),  $1.75 billion  of aggregate principal amount of  3.85%  notes due  April 2023  (the “2023 Notes”),  $2.0 billion  of
aggregate principal amount of  4.20%  notes due  April 2026  (the “2026 Notes”),  $500.0 million of aggregate principal amount of  5.375%  notes due  April 2036  (the “2036 Notes”) and 
$1.75 billion  of aggregate principal amount of  5.50%  notes due  April 2046  (the “2046 Notes” and together with the 2019 Notes, the 2021 Notes, the 2023 Notes, the 2026 Notes and the
2036 Notes, the “Notes”). In April 2016, the Company borrowed $ 1.5 billion pursuant to a senior unsecured term loan facility with a syndicate of banks (the “Term Loan Facility”).  The
aggregate net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes and Term Loan Facility of  $9.4 billion  were used in April  2016 to pay the cash portion of the merger consideration in the Jarden
Acquisition and to repay certain of Jarden’s outstanding debt at closing. The Company repaid $1.1 billion of the Term Loan Facility during 2016.

In October 2015, the Company completed the offering and sale of $600.0 million of medium-term notes, consisting of $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.15% notes due 2018
(the “2018 Notes”) and $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.90% notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes”). The aggregate net proceeds from the issuance of the medium-term notes were
$594.5 million , which were used for the acquisition of Elmer’s and for general corporate purposes. In November 2014, the Company completed the offering and sale of $850.0 million of
medium-term notes, consisting of $350.0 million principal amount of 2.875% notes due 2019 (the “2019 Notes”) and $500.0 million principal amount of 4.0% notes due 2024 (the “2024
Notes”).  The aggregate  net  proceeds  were $841.8 million and  were  used  to  repay $439.4 million principal  amount  of  medium-term notes  and to  repay short-term borrowings  incurred  in
connection with the acquisitions of Ignite, bubba and Baby Jogger.

During  2016,  the  Company  generated $247.8  million of  proceeds  from  the  sale  of  divested  businesses  and  fixed  assets,  which  primarily  represents  the $226.3  million of  net  proceeds,
excluding fees, from the divestiture of the Décor business. The proceeds from the sale of the Décor business were used to repay debt.

During 2015, the Company sold its Endicia business for aggregate net proceeds of $208.7 million . The Company recognized a pretax gain of $154.2 million , with related tax expense of
$58.6 million . The related tax expense primarily represents an income tax liability which was paid and included as a use of cash in the Company’s cash flow from operating activities in the
first quarter of 2016.

During 2016 , the Company received $9.6 million in connection with the exercise of employee stock options, which compares to $24.3 million received in 2015 and $76.6 million received in
2014 . During 2016 , the Company used $22.2 million to repurchase its common stock to satisfy employees’ tax withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of restricted stock
units, which compares to $30.0 million and $15.9 million used in 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

Uses

Historically, the Company’s primary uses of liquidity and capital resources have included capital expenditures, payments on debt, dividend payments, share repurchases and acquisitions.

Capital expenditures were $441.4 million , $211.4 million and $161.9 million for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. Capital expenditures incurred for capitalized software projects included
in capital expenditures were $34.3 million , $38.8 million and $20.8 million for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. The increase in capital expenditures in 2016 was largely attributable to
purchases  of  equipment  in  the  U.S.  to  support  the  consolidation  of  facilities  in  the  Commercial  Products  segment,  investments  in  assets  to  improve  the  Company’s  resin  manufacturing
network  in  the  Home  Solutions  and  Commercial  Products  segments,  the  purchase  of  the  Company’s  new  headquarters  building,  sales  and  marketing-related  software  initiatives  and  the
implementation of SAP in Asia Pacific.

During  2016,  the  Company  completed  the  Jarden  Acquisition.  The  total  consideration  consisted  of $5.4  billion in  cash  in  addition  to $9.9  billion of  the  Company’s  common stock.  The
Company paid $5.2 billion in addition to $4.1 billion  for the repayment of certain Jarden debt, net of  $661.9 million  of cash acquired. A total of $222.2 million in cash otherwise payable in
connection with the acquisition has not been paid as of December 31, 2016 .  This amount was payable (along with the equity portion of the merger consideration) to the former holders of
10.6 million Jarden shares who have exercised their judicial rights of appraisal under Delaware law.  Absent consent by the Company, these dissenting shareholders are no longer entitled to
the merger consideration, but are instead entitled only to the judicially determined fair value of their shares, plus interest accruing from the date of the Jarden Acquisition, payable in cash.
However, it is possible that the Company could issue a consent to or reach agreement with one or more of these shareholders resulting in the issuance of Company shares (in lieu of or along
with the payment of cash) in settlement of the dissenters’ claims. 

During 2016, the Company repaid  $1.1 billion  of borrowings under the Term Loan Facility.
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During 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of Elmer’s. The purchase price of $571.4 million is net of $16.8 million of cash acquired and is subject to customary working capital
adjustments and was paid from proceeds received from the issuance of the 2018 Notes and 2025 Notes.

During 2014, the Company completed the acquisitions of Ignite and Baby Jogger and acquired the assets of bubba. The total net purchase price for these three businesses in 2014 was $602.3
million , which was paid from proceeds received from the issuance of the 2019 Notes and 2024 Notes and short-term borrowings.

During 2015, the Company deconsolidated its Venezuelan operations, which resulted in a $97.5 million reduction in cash and cash equivalents.

During 2014, the Company used aggregate net proceeds of $841.8 million from the issuance of the 2019 Notes and 2024 Notes and short-term borrowings to redeem $168.7 million of the
$550.0 million outstanding 4.7% medium-term notes due 2020 , redeem the $250.0 million of outstanding 2.0% medium-term notes due 2015 , redeem the $20.7 million of outstanding 10.6%
medium-term notes due 2019 , finance acquisitions and for general corporate purposes.

Aggregate dividends paid were $328.6 million , $206.3 million and $182.5 million for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. In February 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a
12% increase  in  the  quarterly  dividend from $0.17 per share to $0.19 per  share,  effective  with the quarterly  dividend paid in March 2015.  The Company’s  Board of  Directors  previously
approved a 13.3% increase in the Company’s quarterly dividend from $0.15 per share to $0.17 per share, effective with the quarterly dividend paid in June 2014.

Under the Company’s stock repurchase program (“SRP”), which expires at the end of 2017, the Company may repurchase its own shares of common stock through a combination of 10b5-1
automatic trading plans, discretionary market purchases or in privately negotiated transactions. During 2016 , the Company did not repurchase shares. During 2015 and 2014 , the Company
repurchased approximately 4.5 million and 11.3 million shares, respectively, of its common stock under its existing stock repurchase program (“SRP”) valued at approximately $180.4 million
and $363.2 million , respectively. At December 31, 2016 , approximately $255.9 million remains available under the Stock Repurchase Program.

Cash used for restructuring activities was $59.9 million , $51.5 million and $71.8 million for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively, and is included in the cash provided by operating activities.
These payments relate primarily to employee severance, termination benefits and relocation costs and vacant facility lease payments.

The Company made contributions of $34.5 million , $103.2 million and $34.9 million to its defined benefit plans for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. The contributions are included in
cash provided by operating activities.

Cash Conversion Cycle

The Company defines its cash conversion cycle as the sum of inventory and accounts receivable days outstanding (based on cost of products sold and net sales, respectively,  for the most
recent  three-month  period,  including discontinued operations)  minus accounts  payable  days outstanding (based on cost  of  products  sold for  the  most  recent  three-month  period,  including
discontinued operations) at the end of the year. The following table depicts the Company’s cash conversion cycle at December 31, ( in number of days ):

 2016  2015  2014
Accounts receivable 64  73  74
Inventory 85  71  67
Accounts payable (56)  (64)  (64)

Cash conversion cycle 93  80  77

The decrease in accounts receivable and accounts payable days and increase in inventory days from 2015 to 2016 is attributable to the inclusion of the Jarden business and the timing of the
closing of the Jarden Acquisition with respect to sales, cash receipts, purchases and payments. The increase in the cash conversion cycle from 2015 to 2014 is primarily due to the increase in
inventory days, driven by higher inventory balances at December 31, 2015 as compared to December 31, 2014 , largely attributable to inventory builds for new product launches. The decrease
in accounts payable days in 2016 compared to 2015 and 2014 is attributable to the timing and management of purchases and payments.

The acquisition of Elmer’s and divestiture of Endicia had the effect of increasing the cash conversion cycle by approximately 1 day in 2015 due to the timing of the transactions in the fourth
quarter of 2015. The Company’s cash conversion cycle is impacted
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by the seasonality of its businesses and generally tends to be longer in the first and second quarters, based on historical trends, due to inventory build-ups early in the year for seasonal sales
activity and credit terms provided to customers.

Financial Position

The Company is committed to maintaining a strong financial position through maintaining sufficient levels of available liquidity, managing working capital and monitoring the Company’s
overall capitalization.  

• Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2016 were $587.5 million , and the Company had $1.21 billion of total available borrowing capacity under the $1.25 billion unsecured
syndicated revolving credit facility and $756.0 million of borrowing capacity under the $950.0 million receivables facility.

• Working capital at December 31, 2016 was $3.2 billion compared to $504.9 million at December 31, 2015 , and the current ratio at December 31, 2016 was 1.74 :1 compared to 1.25
:1 at December 31, 2015 .  The improvement  in working capital  and the current  ratio is  primarily attributable  to increased long-term borrowings to finance the cash requirements
associated with the Jarden Acquisition.

• The Company monitors its overall capitalization by evaluating net debt to total capitalization. Net debt to total capitalization is defined as the sum of short- and long-term debt, less
cash, divided by the sum of total debt and stockholders’ equity, less cash. Net debt to total capitalization decreased to 0.50 :1 at December 31, 2016 from 0.60 :1 at December 31,
2015 . The decrease in net debt to total capitalization is primarily attributable to $9.5 billion of borrowings to finance the Jarden Acquisition offset by the $661.9 million of cash
acquired in the Jarden Acquisition and the issuance of shares for the Jarden Acquisition valued at $9.5 billion .

The  Company  has  from time  to  time  refinanced,  redeemed  or  repurchased  its  debt  and  taken  other  steps  to  reduce  its  debt  or  lease  obligations  or  otherwise  improve  its  overall  financial
position and balance sheet. Going forward, depending on market conditions, its cash positions and other considerations, the Company may continue to take such actions.

Borrowing Arrangements

The Company maintains a $1.25 billion revolving credit facility that matures in January 2022 (the “Facility”). Under the Facility, the Company may borrow funds on a variety of interest rate
terms. The Facility also provides for the issuance of up to $100.0 million of letters of credit, so long as there is a sufficient amount available for borrowing under the Facility. At December 31,
2016 , net availability under the Facility was approximately $1.21 billion .

In October 2016, the Company entered into a new $950.0 million receivables purchase agreement (the “Securitization Facility”) that matures in October 2019 and bears interest at a margin
over  a  variable  interest  rate.  The  Securitization  Facility  replaced  the  Company’s  existing  Receivable  Facility  and  Jarden  Securitization  Facility.  Under  the  Securitization  Facility,  on  an
ongoing basis  certain  operating  subsidiaries  will  sell  their  receivables  to  a  special  purpose  entity  Jarden Receivables,  LLC (“Jarden Receivables”),  which is  a  wholly-owned consolidated
indirect subsidiary of the Company. Jarden Receivables funds these purchases with borrowings under a loan agreement, which are secured by the accounts receivable. There is no recourse to
the Company for the unpaid portion of any loans under this loan agreement. At December 31, 2016 , the borrowing rate margin and the unused line fee on the securitization were 0.80% and
0.40% per annum, respectively. At December 31, 2016 , net availability under the Facility was approximately $756.0 million .

The following table presents  the maximum and average daily borrowings outstanding under the Company’s short-term borrowing arrangements  during the years ended December 31,  ( in
millions ):

   2016  2015

Short-term Borrowing Arrangement Maximum  Average  Maximum  Average
Commercial paper $ 508.0  $ 236.6  $ 551.2  $ 336.7
Receivables Facility and Securitization Facility 859.4  529.7  400.0  332.5

On January 26, 2016, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreement”) for a $1.5 billion senior unsecured term loan facility with a syndicate of banks. In
April 2016, the Company borrowed $1.5 billion pursuant to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, and the borrowings were used to pay a portion of the cash portion of the merger consideration in
connection  with  the  Jarden  Acquisition.  The  Term  Loan  Credit  Agreement  provides  for  a  maturity  date  of  three  years  from  the  closing  date  of  the  Jarden  Acquisition  and  requires  the
Company to repay 5% of the initial borrowings by each of April 2017 and April 2018, 45% of the borrowings by October 2018 and the remaining 45% of the borrowings by April 2019. At
the Company’s election, borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Agreement bear interest either at (i) the eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin, or (ii) the base rate plus an applicable
margin. During the year ended December 31, 2016 , the Company repaid $1.1 billion of the
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borrowings outstanding under the Term Loan Credit Agreement. The interest rate on the Term Loan Credit Agreement was approximately at 2.31% at December 31, 2016 .

In March 2016, the Company completed the offering and sale of the Notes for aggregate net proceeds of $7.9 billion , which were used to pay the cash portion of the merger consideration in
the Jarden Acquisition and to repay certain outstanding debt of Jarden at closing. The weighted average term of the Notes was 12.8 years , and the weighted-average interest rate, including
amortization of issuance costs and the settled forward-starting interest rate swaps, was 4.38% .

In March 2016, the Company commenced exchange offers (the “Exchange Offers”) pursuant to which the Company offered to issue new senior notes (the “Newell Notes”) in exchange for
€300 million aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 issued by Jarden and of the $300 million aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
5.00% senior notes due November 2023 issued by Jarden (collectively, the “Existing Jarden Notes”). The Exchange Offers expired and were settled in April 2016. The aggregate principal
amount of each series of Newell Notes issued in the Exchange Offers totaled €271.9 million of 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 and $295.1 million of 5.00% senior notes due November
2023 .  Following the completion of the Exchange Offers and the Jarden Acquisition, a subsidiary of the Company assumed debt obligations associated with the Existing Jarden Notes (as
modified) that were not tendered in the Exchange Offers, which included €28.1 million in aggregate principal amount of 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 and $4.9 million in aggregate
principal  amount  of 5.00% senior  notes  due November  2023 .  In  October  2016,  the  Company  completed  a  registered  exchange  offer  to  satisfy  its  obligations  under  a  registration  rights
agreement, pursuant to which it offered to exchange the Newell Notes for registered notes having substantially identical terms. All of the $295.1 million of 5.00% senior notes due November
2023 and €259.9 million of the €271.9 million of 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 participated in the registered exchange offer.

The indentures  governing the  Company’s  medium-term and long-term notes  contain  usual  and customary  nonfinancial  covenants.  The Company’s  borrowing arrangements  other  than the
medium-term and long-term notes  contain  usual  and customary  nonfinancial  covenants  and certain  financial  covenants,  including minimum interest  coverage  and maximum debt-to-total-
capitalization ratios. As defined by the agreements governing these other borrowing arrangements, minimum interest coverage ratio is computed as adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes,
Depreciation and Amortization (“EBITDA”) divided by adjusted interest expense for the four most recent quarterly periods. Generally, maximum debt-to-total-capitalization is calculated as
the  sum of  short-term and long-term debt  divided by the  sum of  (i)  total  debt,  (ii)  total  stockholders’  equity,  (iii)  $750.0  million  related  to  impairment  charges  incurred  by the  Company
(amended  under  the  Revolving  Credit  Agreement  to  add  an  additional  $250.0  million  of  charges  incurred  after  January  1,  2015)  and  (iv)  up  to  $1.0  billion  related  to  the  component  of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  for all  foreign currency translation and the cumulative foreign exchange gains (losses) incurred since January 1,  2015 arising from (i)  the
appreciation or depreciation of the Venezuelan Bolivar relative to the U.S. Dollar due to the highly inflationary accounting for Venezuela and (ii) the cumulative gains or losses resulting from
the deconsolidation of a foreign entity.  For purposes of calculating debt-to-total  capitalization,  the Company’s borrowing arrangements,  as amended, provide for the exclusion of any debt
incurred to finance the Jarden Acquisition from the calculation until after the closing of the Jarden Acquisition. As of December 31, 2016 , the Company had complied with all covenants
under the indentures and its other borrowing arrangements, and the Company could access the full borrowing capacity available under the Facility and the Securitization Facility and utilize
the $2.0 billion for general corporate purposes without exceeding the debt-to-total-capitalization limit in its financial covenants. A failure to maintain the financial covenants would impair the
Company’s ability to borrow under the Facility and the Securitization Facility and may result in the acceleration of the repayment of certain indebtedness.

The following table presents the average outstanding debt and weighted-average interest rates for the years ended December 31, ( in millions, except percentages ):

 2016  2015  2014
Average outstanding debt $ 10,692.0  $ 2,887.6  $ 2,085.2
Average interest rate (1) 3.7%  2.8%  3.0%

(1) The average interest rate includes the impacts of fixed-for-floating interest rate swaps.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , approximately 10.0% and 31.7% , respectively of the Company’s debt is considered variable-rate debt, by nature or through use of interest rate swaps.

Outlook

Overall, in the next twelve months, the Company believes that available cash and cash equivalents, cash flows generated from future operations, access to capital markets, and availability
under the Facility and the New Receivables Facility will be adequate to support the cash needs of Newell Brands. The Company intends to use available cash, borrowing capacity, cash flows
from future operations and alternative financing arrangements to invest in capital expenditures in support of the Company’s growth
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platforms,  to  maintain  its  dividend per  share and to  repay debt  maturities  as  they come due,  including short-term debt  and current  portion of  long-term debt  totaling $601.9 million as of
December 31, 2016 , which included the Company’s outstanding commercial paper obligations and borrowings under the Receivables Facility and Jarden Securitization Facility replaced by
the New Receivables Facility.

Contractual Obligations, Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has outstanding debt obligations maturing at various dates through 2046 . Certain other items, such as purchase commitments and other executory contracts, are not recognized
as  liabilities  in  the  Company’s  consolidated  financial  statements  but  are  required  to  be disclosed.  Examples  of  items not  recognized  as  liabilities  in  the  Company’s  consolidated  financial
statements are commitments to purchase raw materials or inventory that has not yet been received as of December 31, 2016 , and future minimum lease payments for the use of property and
equipment under operating lease agreements.

The following table summarizes the effect that lease and other material contractual obligations is expected to have on the Company’s cash flow in the indicated period. In addition, the table
reflects  the  timing  of  principal  and  interest  payments  on  borrowings  outstanding  as  of December  31,  2016 .  Additional  details  regarding  these  obligations  are  provided  in  the  Notes  to
Consolidated Financial Statements (in millions):

 Payments Due by Period
 Total 2017 2018-2019 2020-2021 2022+

Debt (1) $ 11,955.3 $ 599.0 $ 2,308.8 $ 1,693.7 $ 7,353.8
Interest on debt (2) 5,368.8 479.9 860.3 733.7 3,294.9
Operating lease obligations (3) 1,025.3 219.1 340.2 205.2 260.8
Purchase obligations (4) 1,062.4 852.2 205.9 3.3 1.0

Total contractual obligations (5) $ 19,411.8 $ 2,150.2 $ 3,715.2 $ 2,635.9 $ 10,910.5

(1) Amounts  represent  contractual  obligations  based on the  earliest  date  that  the  obligation  may become due,  excluding  interest,  based on borrowings  outstanding  as  of December 31,  2016 .  Includes $ 189.4 million in
borrowings under the receivables  facility  that  the Company intends to repay or  refinance before maturity.  For further information relating to these obligations,  see Footnote 10 of  the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(2) Amounts represent estimated interest payable on borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2016 , excluding the impact of fixed to floating rate interest rate swaps. Interest on floating-rate debt was estimated using the
rate in effect as of December 31, 2016 . For further information, see Footnote 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) Amounts  represent  contractual  minimum lease obligations on operating leases  as  of December 31,  2016 .  For further information relating to these obligations,  see Footnote 12 of  the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(4) Primarily consists of purchase commitments entered into as of December 31, 2016 , for finished goods, raw materials, components and services pursuant to legally enforceable and binding obligations, which include all
significant terms.

(5) Total does not include contractual obligations reported on the December 31, 2016 balance sheet as current liabilities, except for current portion of long-term debt, short-term debt and accrued interest.

The Company also has liabilities for uncertain tax positions and unrecognized tax benefits. The Company is under audit from time-to-time by the IRS and other taxing authorities, and it is
possible that the amount of the liability for uncertain tax positions and unrecognized tax benefits could change in the coming year. While it is possible that one or more of these examinations
may be resolved in the next year, the Company is not able to reasonably estimate the timing or the amount by which the liability will be settled over time; therefore, the $367.9 million in
unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2016 is excluded from the preceding table. See Footnote 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Additionally, the Company has obligations with respect to its pension and postretirement benefit plans, which are excluded from the preceding table. The timing and amounts of the funding
requirements  are  uncertain  because  they  are  dependent  on  interest  rates  and  actual  returns  on  plan  assets,  among  other  factors.  See  Footnote  13  of  the  Notes  to  Consolidated  Financial
Statements for further information.

As of December 31, 2016 , the Company had $80.0 million in standby letters of credit primarily related to the Company’s self-insurance programs, including workers’ compensation, product
liability and medical. See Footnote 19 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

As of December 31, 2016 , the Company did not have any significant off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The  Company’s  accounting  policies  are  more  fully  described  in  Footnote  1  of  the  Notes  to  Consolidated  Financial  Statements.  As  disclosed  in  that  footnote,  the  preparation  of  financial
statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
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requires management to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying footnotes. Future events and their
effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty. Therefore, the determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual results inevitably will differ from those estimates, and
such differences may be material to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The following sections describe the Company’s critical accounting policies.

Sales Recognition

Sales of merchandise and freight billed to customers are recognized when title passes and all  substantial risks of ownership transfer,  which generally occurs either upon shipment or upon
delivery based upon contractual terms. Sales are net of provisions for cash discounts, returns, customer discounts (such as volume or trade discounts), cooperative advertising and other sales-
related discounts.

Customer Programs

The  Company  participates  in  various  programs  and  arrangements  with  customers  designed  to  increase  the  sale  of  products  by  these  customers.  Among  the  programs  negotiated  are
arrangements under which allowances are earned by customers for attaining agreed-upon sales levels or for participating in specific marketing programs. Coupon programs are also developed
on a customer- and territory-specific basis with the intent of increasing sales by all customers. The cost of all of these various programs, included as a reduction in net sales, totaled $1,144.3
million , $659.3 million and $594.2 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

Under customer programs and arrangements that require sales incentives to be paid in advance, the Company amortizes the amount paid over the period of benefit or contractual sales volume.
When incentives are paid in arrears, the Company accrues the estimated amount to be paid based on the program’s contractual terms, expected customer performance and/or estimated sales
volume. These estimates are determined using historical customer experience and other factors, which sometimes require significant judgment. Due to the length of time necessary to obtain
relevant data from customers, among other factors, actual amounts paid can differ from these estimates.

Recovery of Accounts Receivable

The Company evaluates the collectibility of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. When aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations, such as in
the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position, the Company records a specific reserve for bad debt to reduce the related receivable to
the amount the Company reasonably believes is collectible. The Company also records reserves for bad debt for all other customers based on a variety of factors, including the length of time
the receivables are past due and historical collection experience. Accounts are reviewed for potential write-off on a case-by-case basis. Accounts deemed uncollectible are written off, net of
expected recoveries. If circumstances related to specific customers change, the Company’s estimates of the recoverability of receivables could be further adjusted. The Company’s reserve for
uncollectible accounts was $23.3 million and $14.6 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively.

Inventory Reserves

The Company reduces its inventory value for estimated obsolete and slow-moving inventory in an amount equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the net realizable value
based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions. Net provisions for excess and obsolete inventories, including shrink reserves, totaled $33.0 million , $23.3 million and
$24.2 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively, and are included in cost of products sold. The Company’s reserve for excess and obsolete inventory and shrink reserves totaled $45.9
million and $32.9 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-
downs may be required.

Business Combinations

The Company allocates purchase consideration to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. The excess of the fair
value  of  purchase  consideration  over  the  fair  values  of  these  identifiable  assets  and  liabilities  is  recorded  as  goodwill.  When determining  the  fair  values  of  assets  acquired  and  liabilities
assumed, the Company makes significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets.

Critical estimates in valuing intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from customer relationships, trade names and trademarks and acquired patents and
developed technology; the period of time the Company expects to use the acquired intangible asset; and discount rates. In estimating the future cash flows, the Company considers demand,
competition  and  other  economic  factors.  The  Company’s  estimates  are  based  upon assumptions  believed  to  be  reasonable,  but  which are  inherently  uncertain  and  unpredictable  and,  as  a
result,  actual results may differ from estimates,  which could result in impairment charges in the future. Estimates associated with the accounting for business combinations may change as
additional information becomes available regarding the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, which could result in adjustments to the values of tangible
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assets acquired, liabilities assumed and intangible assets acquired or could result in future income or expenses if such changes in estimates are identified beyond one year from the date of
acquisition.

The Company considers various factors in determining whether an acquired trademark or trade name has an indefinite life. In assessing whether an acquired trademark or trade name has an
indefinite life, the Company considers legal and regulatory provisions that may limit the useful life, customer loyalty, brand strength and positioning, the effects of obsolescence and other
economic factors, the Company’s plans for incorporating the trademark or trade name into its brand portfolio and the Company’s historical experience in using and renewing similar assets.
The Company considers all other acquired intangible assets definite-lived assets and generally amortizes the assets on a straight-line basis. The Company determines the amortizable life of
acquired definite-lived intangible assets based on the number of years over which a significant amount of the discounted cash flows contributes to the estimated fair value of the asset.

The Company accounts  for  costs  to  exit  or  restructure  certain  activities  of  an  acquired  company separately  from the business  combination.  A liability  for  costs  associated  with  an exit  or
disposal activity is recognized and measured at its fair value in the consolidated statement of operations in the period in which the liability is incurred. When estimating the costs of exiting
facilities,  estimates  are  made  regarding  future  sublease  payments  to  be  received,  which  can  differ  materially  from actual  results.  As  a  result,  the  Company  may  be  required  to  revise  its
estimates which may affect the Company’s results of operations and financial position in the period the revision is made.

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The Company performs its annual impairment testing of goodwill at a reporting unit level, and all of the Company’s goodwill is assigned to the Company’s reporting units. Reporting units are
generally one level below the operating segment level. The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment testing as of July 1, 2016. As of the impairment testing date, as a result of the
Jarden  Acquisition  in  April  2016,  the  Company’s  reporting  units  significantly  increased  to  25  reporting  units,  comprising  the  Company’s  expanded  nine  operating  segments.  Acquired
businesses, if any, including goodwill arising from such transactions, are typically integrated into the Company's existing reporting units; however, the 12 additional reporting units resulting
from the Jarden Acquisition were not integrated into the Company’s existing reporting units. Additionally, the Company recently announced changes to its management and division structure
which will be executed in early 2017 and result in realigning the Company’s reporting units and operating segments next year.

The Company had 25 reporting units with total goodwill of $10.2 billion of which approximately $8.3 billion related to goodwill acquired in the Jarden Acquisition.

The Company conducts its annual test of impairment of goodwill as of the first day of the third quarter because it generally coincides with its annual strategic planning process. The Company
also tests for impairment if events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is below its carrying amount. For example, if macroeconomic
factors, such as consumer demand and consumer confidence, deteriorate materially such that the Company's reporting units’ projected sales and operating income decline significantly relative
to  previous  estimates,  the  Company  will  perform an  interim  test  to  assess  whether  goodwill  is  impaired.  The  Company  determined  that  no  interim  tests  of  impairment  of  goodwill  were
necessary during 2016.

In  the  Company’s  goodwill  impairment  testing,  if  the  carrying  amount  of  a  reporting  unit  is  greater  than  its  fair  value,  impairment  may  be  present.  Estimates  made  by  management  in
performing its impairment testing may impact whether or not an impairment charge is necessary and the magnitude of the corresponding impairment charge to the extent one is recorded. The
Company uses multiple valuation approaches in its impairment testing, each of which requires estimates to arrive at an estimate of fair value. For the Company's reporting units that are stable
businesses and have a history of generating positive operating income and cash flows, the Company relies on a multiple of earnings approach to assess fair value. The material assumptions
used to value a reporting unit using this approach are the reporting units’ estimated financial performance for the remainder of the year and the applicable multiple to apply to earnings before
interest,  taxes,  depreciation  and amortization  (“EBITDA”).  The estimated  financial  performance for  the remainder  of  the year  is  based on the  Company’s  internal  forecasting  process.  To
determine the EBITDA multiple,  the Company obtains information from third parties  on EBITDA multiples  observed for recent  acquisitions and other transactions in the marketplace for
comparable  businesses.  The  Company  also  evaluates  the  EBITDA  multiples  of  publicly  traded  companies  that  are  in  the  same  industry  and  are  comparable  to  each  reporting  unit  and
compares the EBITDA multiples of the publicly traded companies to the multiples used by the Company to estimate the fair value of each reporting unit. The Company evaluates the EBITDA
multiples used to value the reporting units relative to the Company's market capitalization plus an equity control premium. The equity control premium is defined as the sum of the individual
reporting units’ estimated market values compared to the Company's market value, with the sum of the individual values typically being larger than the market value of
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the Company. The Company considers premiums paid by acquirers of comparable businesses to determine the reasonableness of the implied control premium.

The  EBITDA  multiple  observed  in  the  marketplace  for  publicly  traded  companies  that  are  comparable  to  the  reporting  units  ranged  from  6  to  14.  In  using  the  EBITDA  multiples,  the
Company compared the aggregate  value of  all  reporting units  to  the Company’s  total  market  value to validate  the aggregate  values of  the reporting units  resulted in a  reasonable  implied
equity control premium. The Company considers several factors in estimating the EBITDA multiple applicable to each reporting unit, including the reporting unit’s market position, brand
awareness,  gross  and  operating  income  margins,  and  prospects  for  growth,  among  other  factors.  After  adjusting  the  EBITDA  multiples  for  the  reporting  units,  no  potential  goodwill
impairment  was  indicated  for  reporting  units  for  which  this  approach  was  used.  Furthermore,  the  Company's  equity  market  value  at  July  1,  2016  of  approximately $23.5  billion was
significantly in excess of its book value of stockholders' equity of approximately $11.3 billion . For the impairment test as of July 1, 2016, if each reporting unit’s EBITDA multiple were
reduced by 0.5 from the 6 to 14 multiple used for each reporting unit, all reporting units where the EBITDA multiple approach was used to estimate the value of the reporting unit would have
passed step one of the goodwill impairment test.

The  Company  relies  on  a  discounted  cash  flow approach  to  value  reporting  units  in  certain  circumstances,  such  as  when  the  reporting  unit  is  growing  at  a  significantly  slower  rate  than
planned, is declining at a significantly faster rate than the overall market, has experienced significant losses, is in a stage of hyper-growth, is executing significant restructuring efforts, or is in
a stage of development where it has not yet fully realized the benefits of scale and operating efficiencies. The Company also relies on a discounted cash flow approach when a reporting unit is
recently acquired. As of July 1, 2016 and consistent with the aforementioned factors, the Company used the discounted cash flow approach for the annual impairment tests of its Elmer’s and
Beverageware  reporting  units  as  well  as  the  reporting  units  acquired  in  the  Jarden  Acquisition.  The  material  assumptions  used  to  value  a  reporting  unit  using  the  discounted  cash  flow
approach are the future financial performance and cash flows of the reporting unit, the discount rate, long-term sales growth rate, working capital reductions and working capital investments
required. Estimates of future financial performance include estimates of future sales growth rates, raw material and sourced product costs, currency fluctuations, and operating efficiencies to
be realized. The Company determines a discount rate based on an estimate of a reasonable risk-adjusted return an investor would expect to realize on an investment in the reporting unit.

In using the discounted cash flow approach to value the Elmer’s reporting unit in 2016, the Company used average compound short-term and long-term sales growth rates of 3% and 2%,
respectively, average operating margins generally ranging from 17% to 23%, and a discount rate of 10%. The Company concluded the Elmer’s reporting unit passed step 1 of the goodwill
impairment  test  based  on  the  estimated  fair  value  determined  using  the  discounted  cash  flow  approach.  If  the  discount  rate  used  to  estimate  the  fair  value  of  the  Elmer’s  reporting  unit
increased 50 basis points, the Elmer’s reporting unit would still have passed step 1 of the goodwill impairment test.

In using the discounted cash flow approach to value the Beverageware reporting unit in 2016, the Company used average compound short-term and long-term sales growth rates of 6% and
3%, respectively, average operating margins generally ranging from 10% to 16%, and a discount rate of 14%. The Company concluded the Beverageware reporting unit passed step 1 of the
goodwill  impairment  test  based  on  the  estimated  fair  value  determined  using  the  discounted  cash  flow approach.  If  the  discount  rate  used  to  estimate  the  fair  value  of  the  Beverageware
reporting unit increased 50 basis points, the Beverageware reporting unit would still have passed step 1 of the goodwill impairment test.

In using the discounted cash flow approach to value the reporting units from the Jarden Acquisition in 2016, the Company used discounted cash flow projections and related assumptions for
sales growth, operating margins and discount rate that were consistent with the acquisition model. The Company concluded the reporting units from the Jarden Acquisition passed step 1 of the
goodwill impairment testing based on the estimated fair values determined using the discounted cash flow approach. If the discount rates used to estimate the fair values of these reporting
units were increased 50 basis points, these reporting units would not have passed step 1 of the goodwill impairment test since the Jarden Acquisition took place in April 2016, and therefore
fair values approximate carrying values.

For reporting units held for sale for which an offer has been received from a prospective buyer, the Company relies on the value offered by the third party for the sale of the reporting unit to
estimate the reporting unit’s fair value. In October 2016, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the Tools business (excluding Dymo industrial labeling) for $1.95 billion , and such
value was used as the estimated fair value of the Construction Tools & Accessories and Industrial Products & Services reporting units. The estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value of
the  Construction  Tools  &  Accessories  and  Industrial  Products  &  Services  reporting  units,  and  the  Company  concluded  the  Construction  Tools  &  Accessories  and  Industrial  Products  &
Services reporting units reporting unit passed step 1 of the goodwill impairment test.

Apart from the reporting units related to the Jarden Acquisition described above, the Company has no reporting units with net assets whose estimated fair values at July 1, 2016 exceeded net
assets by less than 10% of the reporting unit’s net assets.
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Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company first performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative impairment test. The Company may bypass the qualitative assessment for
any indefinite-lived  intangible  asset  in  any period and proceed directly  to  performing  the  quantitative  impairment  test.  Additionally,  the  Company may resume performing the  qualitative
assessment in any subsequent period.

In performing the qualitative assessment for each of the Company's indefinite-lived intangible assets, the Company considered events and circumstances that could affect the significant inputs
used to determine the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset, including factors such as declines in actual or planned sales or negative or declining cash flows; input cost inflation that
may  have  a  negative  effect  on  future  cash  flows;  legal,  regulatory,  contractual,  political,  business  or  other  factors;  and,  other  entity-specific  events  such  as  changes  in  management,  key
personnel,  strategy  or  customers.  Based  on  the  qualitative  assessment,  if  the  Company  was  unable  to  assert  that  it  is  not  more  likely  than  not  that  the  indefinite-lived  intangible  asset  is
impaired, then the Company would proceed with the quantitative impairment test for such asset.

For the quantitative impairment test, the Company estimates the fair value of its indefinite-lived intangible assets by employing a discounted cash flow model using the relief-from-royalty
method, which estimates royalties to be derived in the future use of the asset were the Company to license the use of the trade name. An impairment charge for indefinite-lived intangible
assets is recorded if the carrying amount of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the estimated fair value on the measurement date.

The Company completed its annual impairment test of indefinite-lived intangible assets as of July 1, 2016 and determined that none of its significant indefinite-lived intangible assets were
impaired.  Prior  to  the  Jarden  Acquisition,  there  were $475.8  million of  indefinite-lived  intangible  assets,  and,  as  part  of  the  Jarden  Acquisition,  the  Company  acquired  indefinite-lived
intangible assets with estimated fair values of $9.5 billion . Although the purchase price is still preliminary, the Company does not expect these values to change significantly as they were
derived from assumptions consistent with the acquisition model. The Company performed the quantitative impairment test for the $37.0 million carrying value of the Aprica trade name due to
competitive pressures and other factors that have recently adversely impacted Aprica sales in Japan. The Company concluded the Aprica trade name was not impaired. However, a 100 basis
point decrease in the royalty rate used in the quantitative impairment test would have resulted in an impairment of the Aprica trade name of $10.4 million , and a 100 basis point increase in
the discount rate used would have resulted in an impairment of $4.9 million . In addition, the Company performed a quantitative impairment test for the $200.0 million carrying value of the
Elmer’s  trade name due to the recent  acquisition of  the Elmer’s  business.  The Company concluded the Elmer’s  trade name was not  impaired.  However,  a  100 basis  point  decrease in the
royalty rate used in the quantitative impairment test would have resulted in an impairment of the Elmer’s trade name of $16.4 million , and a 100 basis point increase in the discount rate used
would have resulted in an impairment of $18.0 million . The Company also performed the quantitative impairment test for the $102.0 million carrying value of the Baby Jogger trade name
due to the recent acquisition of the Baby Jogger business. The Company concluded the Baby Jogger trade name was not impaired. A 100 basis point decrease in the royalty rate used in the
quantitative impairment test or a 100 basis point increase in the discount rate used would not result in an impairment of the Baby Jogger trade name.

The Company considers  qualitative  and quantitative  factors  in  determining whether  impairment  testing of  the  trademark and trade name assets  is  necessary  at  dates  other  than the  annual
impairment  testing  date,  such  as  whether  the  Company  has  plans  to  abandon  or  significantly  reduce  the  use  of  a  trademark  or  trade  name.  Based  on  consideration  of  these  factors,  the
Company determined that no impairment indicators have been present, and therefore, impairment testing as of a date other than July 1, 2016 was not required during 2016.

Potential for Future Impairments

The Company had 25 reporting units with total  goodwill  of $10.2 billion and $9.9 billion of indefinite-lived intangible assets as of December 31, 2016 . The Company cannot predict the
occurrence  of  events  that  might  adversely  affect  the  reported  value  of  goodwill  and  other  intangible  assets.  Such  events  may  include,  but  are  not  limited  to,  strategic  decisions  made  in
response to economic and competitive conditions, the impact of the economic environment on the Company’s customer base and net sales, a material negative change in its relationships with
significant customers, or sustained declines in the Company’s market capitalization relative to its reported stockholders' equity. The Company periodically evaluates the impact of economic
and other conditions on the Company and its reporting units to assess whether impairment indicators are present. The Company may be required to perform additional impairment tests based
on  changes  in  the  economic  environment  and  other  factors,  which  could  result  in  impairment  charges  in  the  future.  Although  management  cannot  predict  when  improvements  in
macroeconomic  conditions  will  occur,  if  consumer  confidence  and  consumer  spending  decline  significantly  in  the  future  or  if  commercial  and  industrial  economic  activity  deteriorates
significantly from current levels, it is reasonably likely the Company will be required to record impairment charges in the future. Additionally, there are significant synergy savings projected
for the Company as a result of the Jarden Acquisition.
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If these synergy savings are not realized, or are realized by reporting units which differ significantly from the estimated projections, it is reasonably likely that the Company would be required
to record impairment charges in the future.

Capitalized Software Costs

The Company capitalizes costs associated with internal-use software during the application development stage after both the preliminary project stage has been completed and the Company’s
management  has  authorized  and  committed  to  funding  for  further  project  development.  Capitalized  internal-use  software  costs  include:  (i)  external  direct  costs  of  materials  and  services
consumed  in  developing  or  obtaining  the  software;  (ii)  payroll  and  payroll-related  costs  for  employees  who  are  directly  associated  with  and  who devote  time  directly  to  the  project;  and
(iii) interest costs incurred while developing the software. Capitalization of these costs ceases no later than the point at which the project is substantially complete and ready for its intended
purpose.  The  Company  expenses  as  incurred  research  and  development,  general  and  administrative,  and  indirect  costs  associated  with  internal-use  software.  In  addition,  the  Company
expenses as incurred training, maintenance and other internal-use software costs incurred during the post-implementation stage. Costs associated with upgrades and enhancements of internal-
use software are capitalized only if such modifications result in additional functionality of the software. The Company capitalized $37.0 million of internal-use software costs during 2016 ,
which primarily relate to employee, consultant and related personnel costs incurred in the rollout of SAP in Asia Pacific. Capitalized software costs net of accumulated amortization were $
229.1 million at December 31, 2016 , which excludes $44.6 million of  capitalized internal-use  software classified  as  assets  held for  sale.  Capitalized interest  costs  included in capitalized
software were not material as of December 31, 2016 .

The  Company  amortizes  internal-use  software  costs  using  the  straight-line  method  over  the  estimated  useful  life  of  the  software,  which  typically  ranges  from  3  to  12  years.  Capitalized
software costs are evaluated annually for indicators of impairment, including but not limited to a significant change in available technology or the manner in which the software is being used.
Impaired items are written down to their estimated fair values.

Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company continuously evaluates whether impairment indicators related to its property,  plant and equipment and other long-lived assets are present.  These impairment indicators may
include a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset or asset group, a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset or asset group is being
used or in its physical condition, or a current-period operating or cash flow loss combined with a history of operating or cash flow losses or a forecast that demonstrates continuing losses
associated with the use of a long-lived asset or asset group. If impairment indicators are present, the Company estimates the future cash flows for the asset or group of assets. The sum of the
undiscounted future cash flows attributable to the asset or group of assets is compared to their carrying amount. The cash flows are estimated utilizing various assumptions regarding future
sales and expenses, working capital and proceeds from asset disposals on a basis consistent with the Company’s forecasts. If the carrying amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future
cash flows, the Company discounts the future cash flows using a discount rate required for a similar investment of like risk and records an impairment charge as the difference between the fair
value and the carrying value of the asset group. Generally, the Company performs its testing of the asset group at the product-line level, as this is the lowest level for which identifiable cash
flows are available.

Product Liability Reserves

The Company has a self-insurance program for product liability that  includes reserves for self-retained losses and certain excess and aggregate risk transfer  insurance.  The Company uses
historical  loss  experience  combined  with  actuarial  evaluation  methods,  review of  significant  individual  files  and the  application  of  risk  transfer  programs in  determining  required  product
liability reserves. The Company’s actuarial evaluation methods take into account claims incurred but not reported when determining the Company’s product liability reserve. The Company
has product liability reserves of $81.7 million as of December 31, 2016 . While the Company believes that it has adequately reserved for these claims, the ultimate outcome of these matters
may exceed the amounts recorded by the Company, and such additional losses may be material to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Legal and Environmental Reserves

The Company is subject to losses resulting from extensive and evolving federal, state, local, and foreign laws and regulations, as well as contract and other disputes. The Company evaluates
the potential  legal  and environmental  losses  relating to each specific  case and estimates  the probability  and amount  of  loss  based on historical  experience and estimates  of  cash flows for
certain environmental matters. The estimated losses take into account anticipated costs associated with investigative and remediation efforts where an assessment has indicated that a probable
liability  has  been  incurred  and  the  cost  can  be  reasonably  estimated.  No  insurance  recovery  is  taken  into  account  in  determining  the  Company’s  cost  estimates  or  reserve,  nor  do  the
Company’s  cost  estimates  or  reserve  reflect  any  discounting  for  present  value  purposes,  except  with  respect  to  long-term  operations  and  maintenance,  Comprehensive  Environmental
Response Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”) and other matters which are estimated
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at present value. As of December 31, 2016 , the Company had a reserve of $41.9 million for such environmental response costs in the aggregate, which is included in other accrued liabilities
and other noncurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Income Taxes

In accordance with relevant authoritative guidance, the Company accounts for deferred income taxes using the asset and liability approach. Under this approach, deferred income taxes are
recognized  based  on  the  tax  effects  of  temporary  differences  between  the  financial  statement  and  tax  bases  of  assets  and  liabilities,  as  measured  by  current  enacted  tax  rates.  Valuation
allowances are recorded to reduce the deferred tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized. No provision is made for the U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings
of non-U.S. subsidiaries, as substantially all such earnings are permanently reinvested.

The Company’s income tax provisions are based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by the IRS and other tax authorities. Although the Company believes that the
positions taken on previously filed tax returns are reasonable,  it  has established tax, interest  and penalty reserves in recognition that various taxing authorities may challenge the positions
taken, which could result in additional liabilities for taxes, interest and penalties. The Company regularly reviews its deferred tax assets for recoverability considering historical profitability,
projected future taxable income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences and tax planning strategies.

For uncertain tax positions,  the Company applies the provisions of relevant authoritative guidance, which requires application of a “more likely than not” threshold to the recognition and
derecognition of tax positions. The Company’s ongoing assessments of the more likely than not outcomes of tax authority examinations and related tax positions require significant judgment
and can increase or decrease the Company’s effective tax rate as well as impact operating results.

The Company’s provision for income taxes is subject to volatility and could be favorably or adversely affected by earnings being higher or lower in countries that have lower tax rates and
higher or lower in countries that have higher tax rates; by changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities; by expiration of or lapses in tax-related legislation; by expiration of or
lapses in tax incentives; by tax effects of nondeductible compensation; by changes in accounting principles; by liquidity needs driving repatriations of non-U.S. cash to the U.S.; or by changes
in tax laws and regulations, including possible U.S. changes to the taxation of earnings of foreign subsidiaries, the deductibility of expenses attributable to foreign income, or the foreign tax
credit rules.

The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the statutory rate, primarily due to the tax impact of state taxes, foreign tax rates, tax credits, the domestic manufacturing deduction, tax audit
settlements and valuation allowance adjustments. Significant judgment is required in evaluating uncertain tax positions, determining valuation allowances recorded against deferred tax assets,
and ultimately, the income tax provision.

It  is  difficult  to  predict  when resolution  of  income tax  matters  will  occur  and when recognition  of  certain  income tax  assets  and liabilities  is  appropriate,  and  the  Company’s  income tax
expense in the future may continue to differ from the statutory rate because of the effects of similar items. For example, if items are favorably resolved or management determines a deferred
tax asset is realizable that was previously reserved, the Company will recognize period tax benefits. Conversely, to the extent tax matters are unfavorably resolved or management determines
a valuation allowance is necessary for a tax asset that was not previously reserved, the Company will recognize incremental period tax expense. These matters are expected to contribute to the
tax rate differing from the statutory rate and continued volatility in the Company’s effective tax rate.

See Footnote 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Pensions and Postretirement Benefits

The Company records annual amounts relating to its pension and postretirement plans based on calculations, which include various actuarial assumptions, including discount rates, assumed
rates of return,  compensation increases,  turnover rates and health care cost  trend rates.  The Company reviews its  actuarial  assumptions on an annual basis and makes modifications to the
assumptions based on current  rates  and trends when it  is  deemed appropriate  to do so.  The effect  of modifications  is  generally  deferred and amortized over future periods.  The Company
believes that the assumptions utilized in recording its obligations under its plans are reasonable based on its experience,  market conditions and the input from its actuaries and investment
advisors. The pension and postretirement obligations are measured as of December 31 for 2016 and 2015 .

The Company employs a total return investment approach for its pension and postretirement benefit plans whereby a mix of equities and fixed income investments are used to maximize the
long-term return  of  pension  and  postretirement  plan  assets.  The  intent  of  this  strategy  is  to  minimize  plan  expenses  by  outperforming  plan  liabilities  over  the  long  run.  Risk  tolerance  is
established through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status, and corporate financial condition. The investment portfolios contain a diversified blend of equity and fixed-
income investments. Furthermore, equity investments are diversified across
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geography and  market  capitalization  through investments  in  U.S.  large-capitalization  stocks,  U.S.  small-capitalization  stocks  and  international  securities.  Investment  risk  is  measured  and
monitored on an ongoing basis through annual liability measurements, periodic asset/liability studies and quarterly investment portfolio reviews.

The expected long-term rate of return for plan assets is based upon many factors including expected asset allocations, historical asset returns, current and expected future market conditions,
risk and active management premiums. The target asset allocations for the Company’s domestic pension plans may vary by plan, based in part due to plan demographics, funded status and
liability duration. In general, the Company’s target asset allocations for the domestic pension plans are as follows: equities approximately 25% to 40% ; bonds approximately 20% to 40% ;
and cash, alternative investments and other, approximately 25% to 45% . Actual asset allocations may vary from the targeted allocations for various reasons, including market conditions and
the  timing  of  transactions.  The  Company  maintains  numerous  international  defined  benefit  pension  plans.  The  asset  allocations  for  the  international  investment  may  vary  by  plan  and
jurisdiction and are primarily based upon the plan structure and plan participant profile. At December 31, 2016 , the domestic plan assets were allocated as follows: Equities: approximately
37.0% and Other Investments (alternative investments, fixed-income securities, cash and other): approximately 63.0% .

For 2016 , 2015 and 2014 ,  the  actual  return  (loss)  on  plan  assets  for  the  Company’s  U.S.  pension  plan  assets  was  approximately $71.0  million , $(14.0)  million and $74.0  million ,
respectively, versus an expected return on plan assets of approximately $69.0 million , $58.0 million and $58.0 million , respectively. The actual amount of future contributions will depend, in
part, on long-term actual return on assets and future discount rates. Pension contributions for all of the Company’s pension plans for 2017 are estimated to be approximately $27.0 million ,
compared to approximately $28.0 million in 2016 .

The  weighted  average  expected  return  on  plan  assets  assumption  for 2016 was  approximately 5.5% for  the  Company’s  pension  plans.  The  weighted  average  discount  rate  at  the 2016
measurement date used to measure the pension and postretirement benefit obligations was approximately 3.5% . A 25 basis points decrease in the discount rate at the 2016 measurement date
would increase the pension plans’ projected benefit obligation by approximately $71.0 million .

The healthcare cost trend rates used in valuing the Company’s postretirement benefit obligation are established based upon actual healthcare cost trends and consultation with actuaries and
benefit providers. At the 2016 measurement date, the current weighted average healthcare cost trend rate assumption was approximately 8.7% . The current healthcare cost trend rate gradually
decreases  to an ultimate  healthcare  cost  trend rate  of 4.5% .  A one percentage point  change in assumed healthcare  cost  trend rates  would not  have a material  effect  on the postretirement
benefit obligation or the service and interest cost components of postretirement benefit costs.

See Footnote 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans.

Restructuring

The Company has and expects to continue to engage in restructuring activities, which requires management to utilize significant estimates related to the timing and amount of severance and
other employee separation costs for workforce reductions and other separation programs, realizable values of assets made redundant or obsolete, lease cancellation costs, sublease income and
other exit costs, including environmental and legal contingencies associated with restructuring activities. The Company accrues for severance and other employee separation costs under these
activities  when  it  is  probable  that  benefits  will  be  paid  and  the  amount  is  reasonably  estimable.  The  rates  used  in  determining  severance  accruals  are  based  on  existing  plans,  historical
experience and previously negotiated settlements. The Company accrues for future lease costs, net of management’s estimate for future sublease income, when the leased property has been
vacated and is no longer being used. When estimating the costs of exiting facilities, estimates are made regarding future sublease payments to be received, which can differ materially from
actual  results  and  result  in  additional  restructuring  costs  in  future  periods.  Environmental  and  legal  contingencies  associated  with  restructuring  activities  are  accrued  when  the  liability  is
probable of being incurred and is estimable. The total restructuring liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015
were $71.9 million and $67.4 million , respectively. Due to the estimates required for future payments for employee separation programs, vacated leased properties and contingencies, actual
amounts paid can differ from these estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data—Footnote 1—Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies—Recent Accounting Pronouncements.”
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International Operations

For 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , the Company’s non-U.S. businesses accounted for approximately 28% , 27% and 31% of net sales, respectively (see Footnote 18 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements).

Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this Report are made in reliance upon the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements may
relate  to,  but  are  not  limited  to,  information  or  assumptions  about  the  effects  of  sales  (including  pricing),  income/(loss),  earnings  per  share,  return  on  equity,  return  on  invested  capital,
operating income, operating margin or gross margin improvements or declines, Project Renewal, capital and other expenditures, working capital, cash flow, dividends, capital structure, debt
to capitalization ratios,  debt ratings,  availability of financing, interest  rates,  restructuring and other project  costs,  impairment and other charges,  potential  losses on divestitures,  impacts of
changes in accounting standards, pending legal proceedings and claims (including environmental matters),  future economic performance, costs and cost savings, inflation or deflation with
respect to raw materials and sourced products, productivity and streamlining, changes in foreign exchange rates, product recalls, expected benefits and synergies and financial results from
recently completed acquisitions and planned acquisitions and divestitures and management’s  plans,  goals and objectives for future operations,  performance and growth or the assumptions
relating  to  any  of  the  forward-looking  statements.  These  statements  generally  are  accompanied  by  words  such  as  “intend,”  “anticipate,”  “believe,”  “estimate,”  “project,”  “target,”  “plan,”
“expect,” “will,” “should,” “would” or similar statements. The Company cautions that forward-looking statements are not guarantees because there are inherent difficulties in predicting future
results.  Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.  Important factors that could cause actual  results to differ materially from
those suggested by the forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the Company’s dependence on the strength of retail, commercial and industrial sectors of the economy in
light  of the continuation of challenging economic conditions,  particularly outside of the United States;  competition with other manufacturers  and distributors of consumer products;  major
retailers’  strong  bargaining  power  and  consolidation  of  the  Company’s  customers;  the  Company’s  ability  to  improve  productivity,  reduce  complexity  and  streamline  operations;  the
Company’s ability to develop innovative new products and to develop, maintain and strengthen its end-user brands, including the ability to realize anticipated benefits of increased advertising
and promotion spend; risks related to the substantial indebtedness that the Company incurred in connection with the Jarden Acquisition; risks related to a potential increase in interest rates;
the Company’s ability to complete planned acquisitions and divestitures; difficulties integrating Jarden and other acquisitions and unexpected costs or expenses associated with acquisitions;
changes in the prices of raw materials and sourced products and the Company’s ability to obtain raw materials and sourced products in a timely manner from suppliers; the risks inherent in
the  Company’s  foreign  operations,  including  currency  fluctuations,  exchange  controls  and  pricing  restrictions;  a  failure  of  one  of  the  Company’s  key  information  technology  systems  or
related controls; future events that could adversely affect the value of the Company’s assets and require impairment charges; United States and foreign regulatory impact on the Company’s
operations  including  environmental  remediation  costs;  the  potential  inability  to  attract,  retain  and  motivate  key  employees;  the  imposition  of  tax  liabilities  greater  than  the  Company’s
provisions for such matters; product liability, product recalls or regulatory actions; the Company’s ability to protect its intellectual property rights; changes to the Company’s credit ratings;
significant increases in the funding obligations related to the Company’s pension plans due to declining asset values, declining interest rates or otherwise; and those matters set forth in this
Report generally, including Item 1A herein. In addition, there can be no assurance that the Company has correctly identified and assessed all of the factors affecting the Company or that the
publicly available and other information the Company receives with respect to these factors is complete or correct.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market Risk

In general, business enterprises can be exposed to market risks including fluctuations in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and certain commodity prices, and that can affect the
cost  of operating,  investing and financing under those conditions.  The Company believes it  has moderate exposure to these risks.  The Company assesses market  risk based on changes in
interest rates, foreign currency rates and commodity prices utilizing a sensitivity analysis that measures the potential loss in earnings, fair values and cash flows based on a hypothetical 10%
change in these rates and prices.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its variable rate debt and price risk on its fixed rate debt. As such, the Company monitors the interest rate environment and uses interest rate
swap agreements to manage its interest rate risk and price risk by balancing its exposure to fixed and variable interest rates while attempting to minimize interest costs. As of December 31,
2016 , approximately $1.2 billion of the Company’s debt carries a variable rate of interest either by nature or through the use of interest rate swaps. The remainder of the debt (approximately
$10.7 billion )  carries  a  fixed rate  of  interest.  Based upon the Company’s  debt  structure  at  December  31, 2016 ,  a  hypothetical  1% increase  in these interest  rates  would increase  interest
expense by approximately $11.8 million and decrease the fair values of debt by approximately $711.2 million .
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While  the  Company  transacts  business  predominantly  in  U.S.  dollars  and  most  of  its  revenues  are  collected  in  U.S.  dollars,  a  substantial  portion  of  the  Company’s  operating  costs  are
denominated in other currencies, such as the Brazilian Real, British Pound, Canadian dollar, Chinese Renminbi, European Euro, Japanese Yen and Mexican Peso. Changes in the relation of
these and other currencies to the U.S. dollar will affect Company’s sales and profitability and could result in exchange losses. For 2016 , approximately 28% of the Company’s sales were
denominated  in  foreign  currencies,  the  most  significant  of  which  were:  European  Euro-approximately 9.0% ;  and  Canadian  dollar-approximately 5.4% .  The  primary  purpose  of  the
Company’s foreign currency hedging activities is to mitigate the foreign currency exchange rate exposure on the cash flows related to forecasted inventory purchases and sales. A hypothetical
10% change in foreign currency exchange rates would not have a material effect on foreign currency gains and losses related to the foreign currency derivatives or the net fair value of the
Company’s foreign currency derivatives.

The Company is exposed to the price risk that the rising cost of commodities has on certain of its raw materials. As such, the Company monitors the commodities markets and from time to
time  the  Company  enters  into  commodity-based  derivatives  in  order  to  mitigate  the  impact  that  the  rising  price  of  these  commodities  has  on  the  cost  of  certain  of  the  Company’s  raw
materials. A hypothetical 10% change in the commodity prices underlying the derivatives would not have a material effect on the related gains and losses included in the Company’s results of
operations. In this sensitivity analysis, all other assumptions are constant and assumes that a change in one currency’s rate relative to the U.S. dollar would not impact another currency’s rates
relative to the U.S. dollar.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by the counterparties to its derivative financial instruments, all of which are highly rated institutions; however, the
Company does not anticipate non-performance by such counterparties.

The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Newell Brands Inc. internal control over financial reporting is
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness
to  future  periods  are  subject  to  the  risk  that  controls  may  become  inadequate  because  of  changes  in  conditions,  or  that  the  degree  of  compliance  with  the  policies  or  procedures  may
deteriorate.

The  Company’s  management  assessed  the  effectiveness  of  the  Company’s  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  as  of  December  31,  2016.  In  making  its  assessment,  the  Company’s
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on the
results of its evaluation, the Company’s management concluded that, as of December 31, 2016, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The Company completed its acquisition of Jarden Corporation (“Jarden”) in a purchase business combination on April 15, 2016. Management’s assessment did not include the internal control
over  financial  reporting  of  Jarden.  Jarden  is  a  wholly-owned  subsidiary  whose  total  assets  and  net  sales  excluded  from  management’s  assessment  constituted  approximately  15%  of  the
Company’s total assets as of December 31, 2016, and approximately 55% of the Company’s net sales for the year ended December 31, 2016.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has audited the consolidated financial statements of Newell Brands Inc. as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2016 and the effectiveness of Newell Brands Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016. Their integrated audit report is presented herein.

 

NEWELL BRANDS INC.
 

Hoboken, New Jersey
March 1, 2017
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Newell Brands Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and
cash flows for the year then ended present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Newell Brands Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial
statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein
when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).  The Company’s  management  is  responsible  for  these financial  statements  and financial  statement  schedule,  for  maintaining effective  internal  control  over  financial
reporting  and  for  its  assessment  of  the  effectiveness  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  included  in  the  accompanying  Management’s  Report  on  Internal  Control  Over  Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements, on the financial statement schedule, and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
our integrated audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all  material  respects.  Our audit  of  the financial  statements  included examining,  on a test  basis,  evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures  in the financial  statements,
assessing  the  accounting  principles  used  and  significant  estimates  made  by  management,  and  evaluating  the  overall  financial  statement  presentation.  Our  audit  of  internal  control  over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal  control  over financial  reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability  of financial  reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As  described  in  Management’s  Report  on  Internal  Control  Over  Financial  Reporting,  management  has  excluded Jarden  Corporation  from its  assessment  of  internal  control  over  financial
reporting as of December 31, 2016 because it was acquired by the Company in a purchase business combination during 2016. We have also excluded Jarden Corporation from our audit of
internal control over financial reporting. Jarden Corporation is a wholly-owned subsidiary whose total assets and total net sales represent approximately 15% and 55%, respectively, of the
related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016.

 

  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
New York, New York  
March 1, 2017  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Newell Brands Inc. (formerly Newell Rubbermaid Inc.)

We  have  audited  the  accompanying  consolidated  balance  sheet  of  Newell  Brands  Inc.  and  subsidiaries  as  of  December  31,  2015,  and  the  related  consolidated  statements  of  operations,
comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at
Item 15(a)(2) for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. These financial statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain  reasonable  assurance  about  whether  the  financial  statements  are  free  of  material  misstatement.  An audit  includes  examining,  on  a  test  basis,  evidence  supporting  the  amounts  and
disclosures  in  the  financial  statements.  An  audit  also  includes  assessing  the  accounting  principles  used  and  significant  estimates  made  by  management,  as  well  as  evaluating  the  overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Newell Brands Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31,
2015, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

  

 /s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia  
February 29, 2016  
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NEWELL BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in millions, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31, 2016  2015  2014

Net sales $ 13,264.0  $ 5,915.7  $ 5,727.0
Cost of products sold 8,865.2  3,611.1  3,523.6

GROSS PROFIT 4,398.8  2,304.6  2,203.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses 3,221.1  1,573.9  1,480.5
Pension settlement charge 2.7  52.1  65.4
Restructuring costs, net 74.9  77.2  52.8

OPERATING INCOME 1,100.1  601.4  604.7
Nonoperating expenses:      

Interest expense, net 404.5  79.9  60.4
Loss related to extinguishment of debt/credit facility 47.6  —  33.2
Venezuela deconsolidation charge —  172.7  —
Other (income) expense, net (166.5)  11.3  49.0
Net nonoperating expenses 285.6  263.9  142.6

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 814.5  337.5  462.1
Income tax expense 286.0  78.2  89.1

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 528.5  259.3  373.0
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (0.7)  90.7  4.8

NET INCOME $ 527.8  $ 350.0  $ 377.8
Weighted average shares outstanding:      

Basic 421.3  269.3  276.1
Diluted 423.1  271.5  278.9

Earnings per share:      
Basic:      

Income from continuing operations $ 1.25  $ 0.96  $ 1.35
Income from discontinued operations —  0.34  0.02
Net income $ 1.25  $ 1.30  $ 1.37

Diluted:      
Income from continuing operations $ 1.25  $ 0.96  $ 1.34
Income from discontinued operations —  0.33  0.02
Net income $ 1.25  $ 1.29  $ 1.35

Dividends per share $ 0.76  $ 0.76  $ 0.66

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NEWELL BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2016  2015  2014

NET INCOME $ 527.8  $ 350.0  $ 377.8
      
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:      

Foreign currency translation adjustments (196.2)  (123.9)  (126.3)
Change in unrecognized pension and postretirement costs 22.3  89.4  (28.4)
Derivative hedging gain (loss) (37.1)  (4.9)  5.5

Total other comprehensive (loss), net of tax (211.0)  (39.4)  (149.2)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (1) $ 316.8  $ 310.6  $ 228.6
 

(1) Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests was not material.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NEWELL BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in millions, except par values)

December 31, 2016  2015

ASSETS    
CURRENT ASSETS:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 587.5  $ 274.8
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $38.5 for 2016 and $22.0 for 2015 2,746.9  1,250.7
Inventories, net 2,116.0  721.8
Prepaid expenses and other 288.4  147.8
Assets held for sale 1,745.7  98.4
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 7,484.5  2,493.5

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET 1,543.4  599.2
GOODWILL 10,218.9  2,791.2
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 14,111.8  1,063.7
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 95.3  38.5
OTHER ASSETS 383.6  273.4

TOTAL ASSETS $ 33,837.5  $ 7,259.5
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
CURRENT LIABILITIES:    

Accounts payable $ 1,518.9  $ 642.4
Accrued compensation 365.8  185.2
Other accrued liabilities 1,464.9  728.9
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt 601.9  388.8
Liabilities held for sale 340.5  43.3
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 4,292.0  1,988.6

LONG-TERM DEBT 11,290.9  2,669.1
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 5,082.8  226.6
OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 1,787.4  548.8
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Footnote 12) —  —
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:    
Preferred stock, authorized shares, 10.0 at $1.00 par value —  —

None issued and outstanding    
Common stock, authorized shares, 800.0 at $1.00 par value 504.8  287.5
Outstanding shares, before treasury:    

2016 – 504.8    
2015 – 287.5    

Treasury stock, at cost: (545.3)  (523.1)
Shares held:    

2016 – 22.3    
2015 – 20.3    

Additional paid-in capital 10,144.2  801.4
Retained earnings 2,289.9  2,090.9
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,044.8)  (833.8)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO PARENT 11,348.8  1,822.9
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS 35.6  3.5
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 11,384.4  1,826.4
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 33,837.5  $ 7,259.5

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NEWELL BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in millions)

Year Ended December 31, 2016  2015  2014

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:      
Net income $ 527.8  $ 350.0  $ 377.8
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 437.2  171.6  156.1
Net gain from sale of businesses (161.1)  (154.2)  (2.2)
Loss related to extinguishment of debt/credit facility 47.6  —  33.2
Non-cash restructuring costs 23.7  6.7  7.2
Deferred income taxes 33.4  (7.2)  39.3
Stock-based compensation expense 63.9  29.2  29.9
Pension settlement charge 2.7  52.1  65.4
Venezuela deconsolidation charge —  172.7  —
Other, net 21.0  32.5  69.1

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisitions and divestitures:      
Accounts receivable (324.5)  (33.8)  (140.9)
Inventories 784.6  (97.8)  (28.2)
Accounts payable 282.0  20.3  87.3
Accrued liabilities and other 90.2  23.7  (59.9)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,828.5  565.8  634.1
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:      
Proceeds from sale of divested businesses and fixed assets 247.8  214.8  19.0
Acquisitions and acquisition-related activity, net of cash (8,635.2)  (573.7)  (602.3)
Capital expenditures (441.4)  (211.4)  (161.9)
Cash related to deconsolidated Venezuela operations —  (97.5)  —
Other investing activities 4.0  17.9  (6.7)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (8,824.8)  (649.9)  (751.9)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:      
Net short-term borrowings (641.4)  (57.0)  217.3
Proceeds from issuance of debt, net of debt issuance costs 9,414.6  594.6  841.8
Payments on and for the settlement of notes payable and debt (1,100.0)  —  (465.2)
Repurchase and retirement of shares of common stock —  (180.4)  (363.2)
Cash dividends (328.6)  (206.3)  (182.5)
Excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation 11.9  27.1  10.6
Repurchase of restricted shares net of option proceeds and other (16.1)  (5.7)  60.7
Other, net —  —  (0.5)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 7,340.4  172.3  119.0
Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents (31.4)  (12.8)  (28.1)

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 312.7  75.4  (26.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 274.8  199.4  226.3

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD $ 587.5  $ 274.8  $ 199.4

      
Supplemental cash flow disclosures — cash paid during the year for:      

Common stock issued for Jarden Acquisition $ 9,480.3  $ —  $ —
Debt assumed, at fair value, in the Jarden Acquisition 1,198.7  —  —
Income taxes, net of refunds 189.2  54.7  33.8
Interest 316.0  82.9  56.7

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NEWELL BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in millions)

  Common Stock  Treasury Stock  Additional Paid-In
Capital  Retained Earnings  Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Loss  
Stockholders’ Equity

Attributable to
Parent  Non-controlling

Interests  Total Stockholders’
Equity

Balance at December 31, 2013  $ 297.5  $ (477.2)  $ 654.3  $ 2,242.1  $ (645.2)  $ 2,071.5  $ 3.5  $ 2,075.0

Comprehensive income  —  —  —  377.8  (149.2)  228.6  —  228.6

Cash dividends on common stock  —  —  —  (182.5)  —  (182.5)  —  (182.5)

Stock-based compensation and other  4.5  (15.9)  109.7  (1.3)  —  97.0  —  97.0

Common stock purchased and retired  (13.3)  —  (25.0)  (324.9)  —  (363.2)  —  (363.2)

Balance at December 31, 2014  $ 288.7  $ (493.1)  $ 739.0  $ 2,111.2  $ (794.4)  $ 1,851.4  $ 3.5  $ 1,854.9

Comprehensive income  —  —  —  350.0  (39.4)  310.6  —  310.6

Cash dividends on common stock  —  —  —  (206.3)  —  (206.3)  —  (206.3)

Stock-based compensation and other  3.3  (30.0)  74.2  0.1  —  47.6  —  47.6

Common stock purchased and retired  (4.5)  —  (11.8)  (164.1)  —  (180.4)  —  (180.4)

Balance at December 31, 2015  $ 287.5  $ (523.1)  $ 801.4  $ 2,090.9  $ (833.8)  $ 1,822.9  $ 3.5  $ 1,826.4

Comprehensive income  —  —  —  527.8  (211.0)  316.8  —  316.8

Cash dividends on common stock  —  —  —  (328.6)  —  (328.6)  —  (328.6)

Stock-based compensation and other  3.4  (22.2)  76.4  (0.2)  —  57.4  32.1  89.5

Equity issued for acquisition  213.9  —  9,266.4  —  —  9,480.3  —  9,480.3

Balance at December 31, 2016  $ 504.8  $ (545.3)  $ 10,144.2  $ 2,289.9  $ (1,044.8)  $ 11,348.8  $ 35.6  $ 11,384.4

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NEWELL BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOOTNOTE 1

Description of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Newell Brands is a global marketer of consumer and commercial products that help people get more out of life every day, where they live, learn, work and play. Our products are marketed
under a strong portfolio of leading brands, including Paper Mate ® , Sharpie ® , Dymo ® , Expo ® , Parker ® , Elmer’s ® , Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Marmot ® , Rawlings ® , Irwin ® , Lenox ® ,
Oster ® ,  Sunbeam ® ,  FoodSaver ® ,  Mr.  Coffee ® ,  Rubbermaid  Commercial  Products ® ,  Graco ® ,  Baby Jogger ® ,  NUK ® ,  Calphalon ® ,  Rubbermaid ® ,  Contigo ® ,  First  Alert ® ,
Waddington and Yankee Candle ® . The Company’s multi-product offering consists of well-known, name brand consumer and commercial products in nine business segments: Writing, Home
Solutions, Tools, Commercial Products, Baby & Parenting, Branded Consumables, Consumer Solutions, Outdoor Solutions and Process Solutions.

During  2014,  the  Company’s  Endicia ® and  Culinary  electrics  and  retail  businesses  were  classified  as  discontinued  operations  based  on  the  Company’s  commitment  in  2014  to  sell  the
businesses. The Company completed the sale of Endicia in November 2015 and ceased operations in its Culinary electrics and retail businesses in the first quarter of 2015.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its majority-owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities where the Company is the primary beneficiary, after
elimination of intercompany transactions and balances.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of certain estimates by management in determining the Company’s assets, liabilities, sales and expenses, and related
disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Other Items

The Company holds a 29% investment in Sprue Aegis (“Sprue”). During the year ended December 31, 2016 , the Company’s related party sales to Sprue were $23.2 million .

During the year ended December 31, 2016 , the income attributable to noncontrolling interests was $2.0 million .

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company sells products to customers in diversified industries and geographic regions and, therefore, has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Company continuously evaluates
the creditworthiness of its customers and generally does not require collateral.

The Company evaluates the collectibility of accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. When aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations, such as in
the case of bankruptcy filings or deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position, the Company records a specific reserve for bad debt to reduce the related receivable to
the amount the Company reasonably believes is collectible. The Company also records reserves for bad debt for all other customers based on a variety of factors, including the length of time
the receivables are past due and historical collection experience. Accounts are also reviewed for potential write-off on a case-by-case basis. Accounts deemed uncollectible are written off, net
of expected recoveries. If circumstances related to specific customers change, the Company’s estimates of the recoverability of receivables could be further adjusted.

The Company’s forward exchange contracts do not subject the Company to risk due to foreign exchange rate movement, because gains and losses on these instruments generally offset gains
and  losses  on  the  assets,  liabilities  and  other  transactions  being  hedged.  The  Company  is  exposed  to  credit-related  losses  in  the  event  of  non-performance  by  counterparties  to  certain
derivative financial instruments. The Company does not obtain collateral or other security to support derivative financial instruments subject to credit risk, but monitors the credit standing of
the counterparties.

Sales Recognition and Customer Programs

Sales of merchandise and freight  billed to customers are recognized when title  passes and all  substantial  risks of ownership change,  which generally occurs either  upon shipment or upon
delivery based upon contractual terms. Sales are net of provisions for cash
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discounts, returns, customer discounts (such as volume or trade discounts), cooperative advertising and other sales-related discounts and programs.

Under customer programs and arrangements that require sales incentives to be paid in advance, the Company amortizes the amount paid over the period of benefit or contractual sales volume.
When incentives are paid in arrears, the Company accrues the estimated amount to be paid based on the program’s contractual terms, expected customer performance and/or estimated sales
volume. The aggregate cost of customer discounts (primarily volume discounts) and cooperative advertising,  which are included as a reduction in net sales,  was $1,144.3 million , $659.3
million and $594.2 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

The Company sells gift cards to customers in its retail stores, third-party retail stores and through consumer direct operations. Gift cards do not have an expiration date. At the point of sale of
a gift card, the Company records deferred revenue. Gift card revenue is recognized when the gift card is redeemed by the customer or the likelihood of the gift card being redeemed by the
customer is remote (“gift card breakage”). Gift card breakage income is recognized in proportion to the actual redemption of gift cards based on the Company's historical redemption pattern
and is included in net sales in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments that have a maturity of three months or less when purchased.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) or first-in, first-out (FIFO) methods (see Footnote 6 for additional information). The Company
reduces its  inventory value for  estimated obsolete  and slow-moving inventory in an amount  equal  to the difference between the cost  of  inventory and the net  realizable  value based upon
estimates about future demand and market conditions. As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the Company’s reserves for excess and obsolete inventory and shrink totaled $45.9 million and
$32.9 million , respectively. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by management, additional inventory write-downs may be required.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Depreciation expense is calculated principally on the straight-line basis.
Useful lives determined by the Company are as follows: buildings and improvements ( 20 - 40 years) and machinery and equipment ( 3 - 15 years).

Goodwill and Other Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

The Company conducts its annual test for impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets in the third quarter because it coincides with its annual strategic planning process.

The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually at the reporting unit level. The Company also tests for impairment if events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is below its carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit is greater than the fair value, impairment may be present. The Company
assesses the fair value of each reporting unit for its goodwill impairment test based on a discounted cash flow model, an earnings multiple or an actual sales offer received from a prospective
buyer,  if  available.  Estimates  critical  to  the  Company’s  fair  value  estimates  using  earnings  multiples  include  the  projected  financial  performance  of  the  reporting  unit  and  the  applicable
earnings multiple. Estimates critical to the Company’s fair value estimates under the discounted cash flow model include projected financial performance and cash flows of the reporting unit,
the discount rate, long-term sales growth rate, product costs and the working capital investment required.

The Company measures the amount of any goodwill impairment based upon the estimated fair value of the underlying assets and liabilities of the reporting unit, including any unrecognized
intangible assets, and estimates the implied fair value of goodwill. An impairment charge is recognized to the extent the recorded goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of goodwill.

The Company evaluates indefinite-lived intangible assets (primarily trademarks and trade names) for impairment annually. The Company also tests for impairment if events and circumstances
indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is below its carrying amount. Estimates critical to the Company’s evaluation of indefinite-lived
intangible assets for impairment include the discount rate, royalty rates used in its evaluation of trade names, projected average revenue growth and projected long-term growth rates in the
determination of terminal values. An impairment charge is recorded if the carrying amount of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds the estimated fair value on the measurement date.

See Footnote 8 for additional detail on goodwill and other intangible assets.
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Other Long-Lived Assets

The Company tests its other long-lived assets for impairment in accordance with relevant authoritative guidance. The Company evaluates if impairment indicators related to its property, plant
and equipment and other long-lived assets are present. These impairment indicators may include a significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset or asset group, a significant
adverse change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset or asset group is being used or in its physical condition, or a current period operating or cash flow loss combined with a
history of operating or cash flow losses or a forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of a long-lived asset or asset group. If impairment indicators are present, the
Company estimates  the  future  cash  flows for  the  asset  or  group of  assets.  The sum of  the  undiscounted  future  cash  flows attributable  to  the  asset  or  group of  assets  is  compared  to  their
carrying amount. The cash flows are estimated utilizing various projections of sales and expenses, working capital and proceeds from asset disposals on a basis consistent with the strategic
plan. If the carrying amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows, the Company determines the assets’ fair value by discounting the future cash flows using a discount rate
required for a similar investment of like risk and records an impairment charge as the difference between the fair value and the carrying value of the asset group. Generally, the Company
performs its testing of the asset group at the product-line level, as this is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are available.

Shipping and Handling Costs

The Company records shipping and handling costs as a component of cost of products sold.

Product Liability Reserves

The Company has a self-insurance program for product liability that  includes reserves for self-retained losses and certain excess and aggregate risk transfer  insurance.  The Company uses
historical  loss  experience  combined  with  actuarial  evaluation  methods,  review of  significant  individual  files  and the  application  of  risk  transfer  programs in  determining  required  product
liability  reserves.  The  Company’s  actuarial  evaluation  methods  take  into  account  claims  incurred  but  not  reported  when  determining  the  Company’s  product  liability  reserve.  While  the
Company believes that it has adequately reserved for these claims, the ultimate outcome of these matters may exceed the amounts recorded by the Company, and such additional losses may
be material to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Product Warranties

In the normal course of business, the Company offers warranties for a variety of its products. The specific terms and conditions of the warranties vary depending upon the specific product and
markets in which the products were sold. The Company accrues for the estimated cost of product warranty at the time of sale based on historical experience.

Advertising Costs

The Company expenses production costs of print, radio, television and other advertisements as of the first date the advertisements take place, and the Company expenses all other advertising
and marketing  costs  when incurred.  Advertising  and  promotion  costs  are  recorded  in  selling,  general  and  administrative  expenses  and  totaled $431.0 million , $213.9 million and $188.5
million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

Research and Development Costs

Research  and  development  costs  relating  to  both  future  and  current  products  are  charged  to  selling,  general  and  administrative  expenses  as  incurred.  These  costs  totaled $188.2 million ,
$112.6 million and $107.5 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are generally used to manage certain commodity, interest rate and foreign currency risks. These instruments primarily include interest rate swaps, forward
starting interest rate swaps, forward exchange contracts and options. The Company’s forward exchange contracts and options do not subject the Company to exchange rate risk because gains
and  losses  on  these  instruments  generally  offset  gains  and  losses  on  the  assets,  liabilities  and  other  transactions  being  hedged.  However,  these  instruments,  when  settled,  impact  the
Company’s cash flows from operations to the extent the underlying transaction being hedged is not simultaneously settled due to an extension, a renewal or otherwise.

On the date when the Company enters into a derivative, the derivative is designated as a hedge of the identified exposure. The Company measures effectiveness of its hedging relationships
both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis.
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Foreign Currency Operations

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. Dollars at the rates of exchange in effect at year-end. The related translation adjustments are made directly to accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss). Income and expenses are translated at the average monthly rates of exchange in effect during the year. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are
included in the results of operations and are generally classified in Other (income) expense, net, in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Foreign currency transaction net losses for 2016 ,
2015 and 2014 were $2.2  million , $17.9  million and $48.9  million ,  respectively.  International  subsidiaries  operating  in  highly  inflationary  economies  remeasure  nonmonetary  assets  at
historical rates, while net monetary assets are remeasured at current rates, with the resulting remeasurement adjustment included in net income (loss) as other expense, net.

The Company designates certain foreign currency denominated, long-term intercompany financing transactions as being of a long-term investment nature and records gains and losses on the
transactions arising from changes in exchange rates as translation adjustments.

Venezuelan Operations

Until  December 31, 2015, the Company accounted for its  Venezuelan operations using highly inflationary accounting,  and therefore,  the Company remeasured assets,  liabilities,  sales and
expenses  denominated  in  Bolivar  Fuertes  (“Bolivars”)  into  U.S.  Dollars  using  the  applicable  exchange  rate,  and  the  resulting  translation  adjustments  were  included  in  earnings.  As  of
December 31, 2015, the Company determined it could no longer exercise control over its Venezuela operations because the availability of U.S. Dollars had declined significantly over the past
several years in each of Venezuela’s three exchange mechanisms. As a result, the Company deconsolidated its Venezuelan operations.

Prior  to  the deconsolidation of  the Venezuela  operations  on December  31,  2015,  the results  of  the Company’s  Venezuelan operations  have been included in the Company’s  Consolidated
Statements of Operations for 2015 and all prior periods. As of December 31, 2015, the Company began accounting for its investment in its Venezuelan operations using the cost method of
accounting, and the cost basis was adjusted to nil as of December 31, 2015.

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 , the Venezuelan operations generated 2.2% and 1.4% of consolidated net sales, respectively and $51.1 million and $30.0 million of the
Company’s reported annual operating income, respectively.

As a  result  of  deconsolidating its  Venezuelan operations,  the Company recorded a  charge of $172.7 million in  2015.  The charge consisted of  the write-off  of  the Company’s  Venezuelan
operations’ net assets of $74.7 million , as well as $58.3 million of Venezuela receivable-related assets held by other subsidiaries, resulting in $133.0 million of total charges associated with
the  deconsolidation  of  Venezuela’s  net  assets.  In  addition,  in  accordance  with  applicable  accounting  standards  for  foreign  currency  and  the  transition  to  the  cost  method  for  Venezuela’s
operations, the Company was required to write-off the currency translation adjustment that arose prior to the application of hyperinflationary accounting in 2010 that was included in other
comprehensive loss in equity. The write-off of the currency translation adjustment resulted in a pre-tax charge of $39.7 million .

The  Company  plans  to  continue  operating  its  business  in  Venezuela.  Since  the  Company  holds  all  of  the  equity  interests  but  does  not  have  the  power  to  direct  the  activities  that  most
significantly affect the Venezuela entity’s economic performance, the Company considers the Venezuela entity a variable interest entity for which the Company is not the primary beneficiary.
The  Company  has  determined  that  the  Venezuela  entity’s  assets  can  only  be  used  to  settle  its  obligations.  As  of  December  31, 2016 ,  the  Company  has no outstanding  exposures  or
commitments with respect to its Venezuelan operations. Further, dividends and payments for intercompany receivables due from the Company’s Venezuelan operations will be recorded as
other income upon receipt.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for deferred income taxes using the asset  and liability  approach.  Under this  approach,  deferred income taxes are recognized based on the tax effects  of temporary
differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as measured by current enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce the deferred tax assets
to  an  amount  that  will  more  likely  than  not  be  realized.  No  provision  is  made  for  the  U.S.  income taxes  on  the  undistributed  earnings  of  non-U.S.  subsidiaries  that  are  considered  to  be
permanently invested.

The Company’s income tax provisions are based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by various worldwide tax authorities. Although the Company believes that
the positions taken on previously filed tax returns are reasonable, it has established tax, interest and penalty reserves in recognition that various taxing authorities may challenge the positions
taken, which could result in additional liabilities for taxes, interest and penalties. The Company regularly reviews its deferred tax assets for recoverability considering historical profitability,
projected future taxable income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences and tax planning strategies.
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The authoritative guidance requires application of a “more likely than not” threshold to the recognition and derecognition of tax positions. The Company’s ongoing assessments of the more
likely than not outcomes of tax authority examinations and related tax positions require significant judgment and can increase or decrease the Company’s effective tax rate, as well as impact
operating results.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense is adjusted for estimated forfeitures and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally three years
for stock options and one to three years for restricted stock units and performance-based restricted stock units. The Company estimates future forfeiture rates based on its historical experience.
See Footnote 15 for additional information.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Changes to U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) are established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) in the form of accounting standards updates
(“ASUs”) to the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification. The Company considers the applicability and impact of all ASUs.

In April  2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, “Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of  Components of an Entity.” Under ASU 2014-08, only disposals
representing  a  strategic  shift  in  operations  that  have  a  major  effect  on  the  Company’s  operations  and  financial  results  are  presented  as  discontinued  operations.  This  guidance  requires
expanded disclosure  that  provides  information about  the assets,  liabilities,  income and expenses  of  discontinued operations.  Additionally,  the guidance requires  additional  disclosure  for  a
disposal of a significant part of an entity that does not qualify for discontinued operations reporting. The Company adopted ASU 2014-08 on January 1, 2015, and the adoption did not impact
the Company’s financial statements and disclosures. As required by ASU 2014-08, the businesses classified as discontinued operations as of December 31, 2014 continued to be classified as
such after January 1, 2015.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Accounting Standard Codification 606 — Revenue Recognition,” which established Accounting
Standards  Codification  Topic  606,  “ Revenue  from Contracts  with  Customers” (“ASC 606”).  ASC 606  will  replace  existing  revenue  recognition  requirements  in  GAAP and  will  require
entities to recognize revenue at an amount that reflects the consideration to which we expect to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. To achieve this core
principle, the standard provides a five-step analysis of transactions to determine when and how revenue is recognized. Other major provisions include the capitalization and amortization of
certain  contract  costs,  ensuring the  time value of  money is  considered in  the  transaction  price,  and allowing estimates  of  variable  consideration  to  be recognized before  contingencies  are
resolved  in  certain  circumstances.  ASC 606  will  also  require  significantly  expanded  disclosures  regarding  the  qualitative  and  quantitative  information  of  the  Company’s  nature,  amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12, “ Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients, ” which updated ASU 2014-09.
ASU 2016-12 clarifies certain core recognition principles including collectability, sales tax presentation, noncash consideration, contract modifications and completed contracts at transition
and disclosures no longer required if the full retrospective transition method is adopted.

ASU 2014-09 and ASU 2016-12 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those annual periods.

The standard  permits  two methods  of  adoption,  either  retrospectively  to  each  prior  reporting  period  presented  (full  retrospective  method),  or  retrospectively  with  the  cumulative  effect  of
initially applying the guidance recognized at the date of initial application (the modified retrospective method). The Company tentatively plans to use the modified retrospective transition
method and to adopt ASC 606 on January 1, 2018.

The Company is currently evaluating the effect that the updated standard will have on the Company’s financial statements and related disclosures. To that end, the Company has identified a
project manager as well as an implementation project team. The team has commenced the assessment phase of the project. Due to the large number of business units, the Company has chosen
to start with an initial pilot assessment of four representative business units.

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-01, “Income Statement—Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic 225-20), Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating
the Concept  of  Extraordinary Items,” which simplifies  income statement  presentation by eliminating  the concept  of  extraordinary  items.  Previously,  events  or  transactions  that  were both
unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence for a business entity were considered to be extraordinary items and required separate presentation, net of tax, after income from continuing
operations. The presentation and disclosure guidance for items that are unusual in nature

68



Table of Contents

or  occur  infrequently  will  be  retained  and  will  be  expanded  to  include  items  that  are  both  unusual  and  infrequently  occurring.  The  guidance  is  effective  for  fiscal  years  beginning  after
December  15,  2015,  with  early  adoption  permitted.  The  Company  adopted  ASU  2015-01  on  January  1,  2016,  and  the  adoption  of  ASU  2015-01  did  not  have  a  material  impact  on  the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, “ Consolidation (Topic 810) ,” which amends previous guidance surrounding the consolidation model when assessing control over a
legal entity and the primary beneficiary determination. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted
ASU 2015-02 on January 1, 2016, and the adoption of ASU 2015-01 did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial position.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, “Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs,” which changes the presentation of debt issuance costs in financial statements. ASU
2015-03 requires an entity to present such costs in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. Amortization of the costs will continue to be
reported as interest expense. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The Company retrospectively adopted ASU 2015-03
on January 1, 2016, and the retrospective adoption of ASU 2015-03 had the effect of reducing the Company’s other assets and long-term debt by $18.5 million as of December 31, 2015. At
December 31, 2016 total debt included $80.1 million of deferred debt issue costs.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, “ Intangibles - Goodwill and Other -Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40), Customers Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement ,” to help entities evaluate the accounting for fees paid by a customer in a cloud computing arrangement. The amendments provide guidance to customers about whether a cloud
computing arrangement includes a software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license element, then the customer should account for the software license element
arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud computing arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should account for the arrangement
as a service contract. The Company prospectively adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2016, and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows or financial condition.

In  May  2015,  the  FASB  issued  ASU  No.  2015-07,  “ Disclosures  for  Investments  in  Certain  Entities  That  Calculate  Net  Asset  Value  per  Share  (or  Its  Equivalent) (“ASU  2015-07”).
ASU 2015-07 removes the requirement to categorize within the fair value hierarchy all investments for which fair value is measured using the net asset value per share practical expedient and
remove certain related disclosure requirements. ASU 2015-07 is effective for annual periods and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015. Effective
December  31,  2016,  the  Company  adopted  the  provisions  of  ASU  2015-07.  Since  this  ASU  2015-07  requires  only  additional  disclosures  concerning  plan  assets  (see  Footnote  17  for
disclosures related to the adoption of this Guidance), the adoption of this Guidance did not affect the consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, “ Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory, ” which modifies existing requirements regarding measuring first-in, first-out and average cost
inventory  at  the  lower  of  cost  or  market.  Under  existing  standards,  the  market  amount  requires  consideration  of  replacement  cost,  net  realizable  value  (“NRV”),  and  NRV  less  an
approximately  normal  profit  margin.  ASU 2015-11 replaces  market  with  NRV, defined  as  estimated  selling  prices  in  the  ordinary  course  of  business,  less  reasonably  predictable  costs  of
completion, disposal and transportation. This eliminates the need to determine and consider replacement cost or NRV less an approximately normal profit margin when measuring inventory.
This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact ASU 2015-11 will have on its
financial position and results of operations.

In  September  2015,  the  FASB  issued  ASU  No.  2015-16,  “ Simplifying  the  Accounting  for  Measurement-Period  Adjustments, ”  which  requires  an  acquirer  in  a  business  combination  to
recognize measurement-period adjustments during the period in which the acquirer determines the amounts, including the effect on earnings of any amounts the acquirer would have recorded
in previous periods if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date, as opposed to retrospectively. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015,
with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2015-16 in the third quarter of 2015, and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, cash
flows or financial position.

In  November  2015,  the  FASB  issued  ASU  No.  2015-17, “Income  Taxes  (Topic  740):  Balance  Sheet  Classification  of  Deferred  Taxes,” which  simplifies  the  reporting  of  deferred  tax
positions,  requiring  deferred  tax  assets  and  liabilities  to  be  classified  as  noncurrent  in  the  Consolidated  Balance  Sheets,  as  opposed  to  current  and  noncurrent  classification  under  current
GAAP. This guidance is  effective  for  fiscal  years  beginning after  December 15,  2016,  with early adoption permitted.  The Company adopted ASU 2015-17 on a retrospective  basis  in the
fourth quarter of 2015, and the adoption resulted in deferred tax assets and liabilities being presented as noncurrent on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 and
2014.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “ Leases (Topic 842) ,” which requires lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability for all leases with terms of more than
12 months. Recognition, measurement and presentation of expenses will depend on classification as a finance or operating lease. ASU 2016-02 is effective for the Company on January 1,
2019. The Company is beginning to evaluate the impact the adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, “ Compensation-Stock Compensation: Improvement to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. ” ASU 2016-09 provides guidance
intended to simplify accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities and classification on the
statement of cash flows. The guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. The adoption of ASU 2016-09 is expected to impact the recording of
income taxes in the Company's financial position and results of operations, as well as the operating and financing cash flows on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The new standard
requires: (1) excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies related to share-based awards to be recognized as income tax benefit or expense on a prospective basis in the reporting period in which
they vest; (2) excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements to be presented within operating activities and withholding tax payments upon vesting of restricted stock units to be
presented within financing activities within the cash flow statement; (3) permits the employer to repurchase more of an employee’s shares for tax withholding purposes and not classify the
award as a liability  that  requires valuation on a mark-to-market  basis;  and (4) allows for a policy election to account for forfeitures  as they occur.  The Company will  adopt  this  guidance
beginning in the first quarter of 2017 and continue its policy of estimating forfeiture rates and presenting withholding tax payments on vested restricted share units as financing activities in the
statement s of cash flows. The impact on the Company’s financial statements will be dependent on the timing of award vesting or exercises, tax rates and the intrinsic value when awards vest.

Other recently issued ASUs were assessed and determined to be either not applicable or are expected to have a minimal impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of
operations.

FOOTNOTE 2

Acquisitions and Mergers

Jarden Corporation

On April 15, 2016, Jarden became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Newell Brands Inc., as a result of a series of merger transactions (the “Jarden Acquisition”). The Jarden Acquisition
was effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 13, 2015 (the “Merger Agreement”), among the Company, Jarden and two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company. Following the Jarden Acquisition,  the Company was renamed Newell  Brands Inc.  Jarden is a leading,  global consumer products company with leading brands,  such as Yankee
Candle ® ,  Crock-Pot ® ,  FoodSaver ® ,  Mr.  Coffee ® ,  Oster ® ,  Coleman ® ,  First  Alert ® ,  Rawlings ® ,  Jostens ® ,  K2 ® ,  Marker ® ,  Marmot ® ,  Volkl ® and many others.  The Jarden
Acquisition enables the Company to scale the enterprise with leading brands in global markets.  The scale of the Company in key categories, channels and geographies enables it to deploy its
strategy,  which  includes  advantaged  development  and  commercial  capabilities,  across  a  larger  set  of  opportunities  to  generate  accelerated  growth  and  margin  expansion.  The  Jarden
Acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and Jarden’s assets, liabilities and results of operations are included in the Company’s financial statements from
the acquisition date.

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, each share of Jarden common stock was converted into the right to receive and became exchangeable for merger consideration consisting of (1)  0.862 of a
share of the Company’s common stock plus (2)  $21.00 in cash. On April 15, 2016, the Company provided for the issuance of up to 189.4 million shares of common stock and the payment of
up to $4.6 billion for  100% of  the  outstanding  equity  interests  of  Jarden,  which  represented 219.7 million shares  of  Jarden  common stock  outstanding  and  eligible  to  receive  the  merger
consideration. As of December 31, 2016 , the Company has been notified by Jarden shareholders owning 10.6 million shares of Jarden common stock that they are exercising their dissenters’
rights  and  are  seeking  an  appraisal  of  such  shares,  and  as  a  result,  the  merger  consideration  consisting  of 9.1  million shares  of  the  Company’s  common  stock  issuable  to  these  Jarden
shareholders had not been issued and $222.2 million in cash had not been paid to these Jarden shareholders as of December 31, 2016 .

The Jarden Acquisition constituted a make-whole fundamental change with respect to Jarden’s three series of outstanding convertible notes, making them eligible for conversion into shares of
Jarden  common stock  and  eligible  to  receive  the  merger  consideration  based  on  the  number  of  Jarden  shares  into  which  the  convertible  notes  may  be  converted.  Jarden’s  three  series  of
convertible  notes  had  an  aggregate  principal  amount  of $1.5  billion outstanding  due  in  2018,  2019  and  2034.  During  the  year  ended  December  31, 2016 ,  substantially  all  of  the  Jarden
convertible note holders elected to convert their notes for the merger consideration and in certain cases, the make-whole premium, consisting of 32.7 million shares of the Company’s common
stock and $795.9 million of cash.
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Based on the closing price of a share of the Company’s common stock on April 15, 2016 of $44.33 per share, the total consideration paid or payable for shares of Jarden common stock was
approximately $15.3 billion , including $5.4 billion of cash and $9.9 billion of the Company’s common stock. Upon completion of the Jarden Acquisition, stockholders of Newell Rubbermaid
and stockholders and convertible note holders of Jarden immediately before the merger owned 55% and 45% , respectively, of the Company. As of December 31, 2016 , the Company had
paid $5.2 billion and issued 213.9 million shares valued at $9.5 billion for shares of Jarden common stock tendered in the Jarden Acquisition. With respect to the 10.6 million shares of Jarden
common stock held by dissenting shareholders exercising their dissenters’ appraisal rights, the Company accrued the estimated value of the merger consideration payable to such shareholders
of $626.5 million , and such amount is included in other noncurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2016 . In addition, on April 15, 2016, the Company paid
$4.1 billion to settle certain of Jarden’s outstanding debt obligations, which included accrued interest and change-in-control premiums.

The Company’s allocation of the total purchase price for the Jarden Acquisition to assets acquired and liabilities assumed is preliminary as the Company continues to finalize the valuation of
property,  plant  and equipment  and  identifiable  intangible  assets  (and  the  related  deferred  income tax  liabilities)  and the  allocation  of  goodwill  to  its  operating  segments.  The  table  below
represents  a  preliminary  allocation  of  the  total  purchase  price  to  the  identifiable  tangible  and  intangible  assets  acquired  and  liabilities  assumed  in  the  Jarden  Acquisition  based  on  their
estimated fair values on the date of acquisition ( in millions ):

Accounts receivable  $ 1,369.5
Inventories  2,488.7
Other current assets  187.8
Property, plant and equipment  1,046.5
Goodwill  8,213.1
Identifiable intangible assets  13,494.4
Other assets  160.2

Total assets  $ 26,960.2
   
Accounts payable  $ 675.4
Other current liabilities  818.8
Debt assumed, at fair value  1,198.7
Deferred income tax liabilities  4,966.2
Other noncurrent liabilities  588.9

Total liabilities  $ 8,248.0
Noncontrolling interests  28.9
   

Total merger consideration, net of cash acquired  $ 18,683.3

   
Debt repayments, net of cash acquired  $ 3,388.9
Cash paid for the acquisition of Jarden common stock  5,187.6

Total cash paid, net of cash acquired  8,576.5
Accrual for merger consideration  626.5
Fair value of 213.9 million shares of Company common stock issued  9,480.3

Total merger consideration, net of cash acquired  $ 18,683.3

The goodwill associated with the Jarden Acquisition is primarily related to synergies expected to arise after the acquisition.

The Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 includes $7.3 billion of net sales and $508.5 million of operating income related to Jarden.

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the combined results of operations of Newell Rubbermaid and Jarden for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 as if
the Jarden Acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2015. The unaudited pro forma financial information is not intended to represent or be indicative of the Company’s consolidated results of
operations that would have been reported had the Jarden Acquisition been completed as of January 1, 2015 and should not be taken as indicative of the Company’s future consolidated results
of operations. The Company expects to incur restructuring and other integration costs that are not included in the pro forma results of operations presented below. Pro forma adjustments are
tax-effected at the Company’s estimated statutory tax rates.
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  December 31,

(in millions, except per share data)  2016  2015

Net sales  $ 15,657.6  $ 14,519.6
Net income (loss)  748.0  (254.9)
Earnings (loss) per share:     

Basic  $ 1.55  $ (0.53)
Diluted  1.54  (0.53)

The unaudited pro forma financial information for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 include $200.8 million and $181.0 million , respectively, for the amortization of acquired
intangibles from the Jarden Acquisition based on the preliminary purchase price allocation. The unaudited pro forma financial information for the year ended December 31, 2015 also includes
$898.1 million of non-recurring charges related to the Jarden Acquisition, which are comprised of charges for the elimination of the fair market value adjustment for manufacturer’s profit in
inventory and other acquisition-related costs.

Elmer’s

During October 2015, the Company acquired Elmer’s Products, Inc. (“Elmer’s”) for a purchase price of $571.4 million , which is net of $16.8 million of cash acquired. Elmer’s, whose brands
include Elmer’s ® , Krazy Glue ® (a trademark of Toagosei Co. Ltd., used with permission) and X-Acto ® , is a provider of activity-based adhesive and cutting products that inspire creativity
in the classroom, at home, in the office, in the workshop and at the craft table. Elmer’s is reported as part of the Company’s Writing segment. The Company’s 2015 consolidated statement of
operations includes approximately $36.3 million of net sales related to Elmer’s. Pro forma results of operations of the Company would not be materially different as a result of the Elmer’s
acquisition and therefore are not presented.

Ignite

On September  4,  2014,  the  Company acquired  100% of  Ignite  Holdings,  LLC (“Ignite”)  for $313.1 million .  A portion of  the  purchase  price  was used to  repay Ignite’s  outstanding debt
obligations at closing. Ignite is a designer and marketer of durable beverage containers sold under the Contigo ® and Avex ® brands.

bubba

On October 22, 2014, the Company acquired 100% of the assets of bubba brands, inc. (“bubba”) for $82.4 million . bubba is a designer and marketer of durable beverage containers in North
America. The bubba acquisition expands the presence and distribution of the Company’s Home Solutions segment in the on-the-go thermal and hydration beverageware market.

Baby Jogger

On December 15, 2014, the Company acquired 100% of Baby Jogger Holdings, Inc. (“Baby Jogger”), a designer and marketer of premium infant and juvenile products focused on activity
strollers and related accessories. Baby Jogger is headquartered in the U.S. and markets and sells its products in North America, Europe and Asia. The Company acquired Baby Jogger for net
cash consideration of $210.1 million , a portion of which was used to repay Baby Jogger’s outstanding debt obligations at closing.

Other Items

The  goodwill  associated  with  the  acquisitions  is  primarily  attributable  to  synergies  expected  to  arise  after  the  acquisitions.  At  December  31, 2016 ,  approximately $495.0  million of the
goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

FOOTNOTE 3

Divestitures and Planned Divestitures

Based on the Company’s strategy to allocate resources to its businesses relative to their growth potential and those with the greater right to win in the marketplace, the Company determined
that certain businesses as described below did not align with the Company’s long-term growth plans, which led to the decisions to divest or cease operations of these businesses.

Discontinued Operations

During  2014,  the  Company’s  Endicia and  Culinary  electrics  and  retail  businesses  were  classified  as  discontinued  operations  based  on  the  Company’s  commitment  in  2014  to  sell  the
businesses.  The Endicia business was included in the Writing segment,  and the Culinary businesses were included in the Home Solutions segment.  The Endicia business provides on-line
postage solutions. The
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Culinary electrics business sells kitchen electrics and accessories to retailers, and the retail business sells cookware products and accessories through outlet stores. During 2015, the Company
sold Endicia for net proceeds of $208.7 million ,  subject  to  customary working capital  adjustments,  resulting  in  a  pretax gain  of $154.2 million .  The proceeds are net  of $5.2 million of
transaction expenses and $5.6 million of cash included in the assets sold. The $60.1 million of Endicia assets sold (which includes the Endicia cash sold) included $50.0 million of goodwill.
During 2015, the Company ceased operations in its Culinary electrics and retail businesses.

The following table provides a summary of amounts included in discontinued operations, which primarily relate to the Endicia and Culinary electrics and retail businesses ( in millions ):

 2016  2015  2014

Net sales $ —  $ 56.5  $ 83.4

Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes $ (1.9)  $ (7.7)  $ 2.2
Income tax expense (benefit) (0.6)  (2.8)  0.8
Income (loss) from discontinued operations (1.3)  (4.9)  1.4
Net gain from sale of discontinued operations, net of tax (1)  0.6  95.6  3.4

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax $ (0.7)  $ 90.7  $ 4.8

(1) 2015 includes pretax gains of $154.2 million (related tax expense of $58.6 million ) relating to the sale of the Endicia business. 2014 includes pretax gains of $2.2 million (related tax benefit of $1.2 million ) relating to the
recognition of $4.8 million of previously deferred gains on the sale of the international Hardware businesses, offset by $2.6 million of impairments relating to the Culinary businesses.

Divestitures

On June 30, 2016, the Company sold its Décor business, including Levolor ® and Kirsch ® window coverings and drapery hardware, for consideration, net of fees, of $223.5 million . The net
assets of the Décor business were $63.3 million , including $19.2 million of goodwill, resulting in a pretax gain of $160.2 million , which is included in other (income) expense, net, for the
year ended December 31, 2016 . The Décor business was included in the Company’s consolidated results from continuing operations, including net sales of $141.4 million , until it was sold in
June 2016.

During 2015, the Company divested its Rubbermaid medical cart business, which focuses on optimizing nurse work flow and medical records processing in hospitals and was included in the
Commercial Products segment. The Company sold substantially all of the assets of the Rubbermaid medical cart business in August 2015. The consideration exchanged was not material. The
Rubbermaid medical cart business was included in the consolidated results from continuing operations (in the Commercial Products segment), including net sales of $26.5 million in 2015,
until it was sold in August 2015. The Rubbermaid medical cart business generated 0.4% and 1.2% of the Company’s consolidated net sales for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 ,
respectively.

Held for Sale

During 2016, the Company committed to plans to divest several businesses and brands to strengthen the portfolio to better align with the long-term growth plan. The affected businesses and
brands, which will all be reported in future periods continuing operations, are as follows: the Tools business, including the Irwin ® , Lenox ® , and hilmor TM brands in the Tools segment; the
Winter Sports business, including the Völkl ® and K2 ® brands and the Zoot ® and Squadra ® brands in the Outdoor Solutions segment; the heaters, fans, and humidifiers business with related
brands in the Consumer Solutions segment; the Rubbermaid ® consumer storage totes business in the Home Solutions segment; the Lehigh business, primarily ropes, cordage and chains under
the Lehigh ® brand and the firebuilding business, primarily under the Pine Mountain ® brand, in the Branded Consumables segment; and the stroller business under the Teutonia ® brand in the
Baby and Parenting segment.

During October 2016, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the Tools business for an estimated price of $1.95 billion , subject to working capital adjustments. The transaction is
expected to close in early 2017, subject to certain customary conditions, including regulatory approvals, and the Company anticipates this will result in a pretax gain of approximately $0.9
billion . The Tools business generated 5.5% , 12.9% and 14.4% of the Company’s consolidated net sales for the years ended December 31, 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
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The following table presents information related to the major classes of assets and liabilities that were classified as assets and liabilities held for sale in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015
Accounts receivable, net $ 164.4  $ —
Inventories, net 311.6  35.3
Prepaid expenses and other 24.3  2.0
Property, plant and equipment, net 224.9  18.2
Goodwill 762.5  19.2
Other intangible assets, net 244.5  23.7
Other assets 13.5  —
   Total Assets $ 1,745.7  $ 98.4

    

 Accounts payable $ 88.2  $ 34.8
 Accrued compensation 35.3  —
 Other accrued liabilities 81.6  8.5
 Short-term debt and current portion long-term debt 4.3  —
 Other noncurrent liabilities 131.1  —
   Total Liabilities $ 340.5  $ 43.3

FOOTNOTE 4

Stockholders’ Equity

In October 2013, the Company entered into agreements with Goldman, Sachs & Co. (“Goldman Sachs”) to effect an accelerated stock buyback (the “ASB Agreement”) of the Company’s
common stock. Under the ASB Agreement, the Company paid Goldman Sachs an initial purchase price of $350.0 million , and Goldman Sachs delivered to the Company 9.4 million shares
of the Company’s common stock based on an initial per share amount of $29.69 , representing a substantial majority of the shares expected to be delivered under the ASB Agreement. The
number  of  shares  that  the  Company  ultimately  purchased  under  the  ASB  Agreement  was  determined  based  on  the  average  of  the  daily  volume-weighted  average  share  prices  of  the
Company’s common stock over the course of a calculation period, less a discount, and was subject to certain adjustments under the ASB Agreement. Upon settlement following the end of
the calculation period in March 2014, Goldman Sachs delivered 2.0 million additional shares to the Company so that the aggregate value of the shares initially delivered plus such additional
shares, based on the final price, was $350.0 million . Such shares were immediately retired.

In August 2011, the Company announced a $300.0 million three -year share repurchase program (the “SRP”). Under the SRP, the Company may repurchase its own shares of common stock
through a combination of 10b5-1 automatic trading plans, discretionary market purchases or in privately negotiated transactions. The SRP was originally authorized for a period of three years
ending in August 2014. In 2014, the SRP was expanded and extended such that the Company may repurchase over $750.0 million of additional shares from February 2014 through the end of
2017 , and the $42.9 million availability remaining at December 31, 2013 under the initial $300.0 million authorization was canceled. During 2016 , the Company did not repurchase any
shares pursuant to the SRP. From the commencement of the SRP in August 2011 through December 31, 2016 , the Company has repurchased and retired a total of 28.9 million shares at an
aggregate cost of $800.7 million , and the Company has $255.9 million of authorized repurchases remaining under the SRP as of December 31, 2016 . The repurchase of additional shares
will depend upon many factors, including the Company’s financial condition, liquidity and legal requirements.
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The following tables display the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss ) (“AOCI”) as of and for the years ended December 31, 2016 , 2015 and 2014 ( in millions ):

 

    Foreign Currency
    Translation

    Loss, net of tax (1)  

Unrecognized
Pension & Postretirement

Costs, net of tax  
Derivative Hedging

(Loss) Income, net of tax  
Accumulated Other    
Comprehensive Loss    

Balance at December 31, 2013 $ (161.5)  $ (483.3)  $ (0.4)  $ (645.2)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications (126.3)  (84.1)  9.5  (200.9)
Amounts reclassified to earnings —  55.7  (4.0)  51.7

Net current period other comprehensive (loss) income (126.3)  (28.4)  5.5  (149.2)
Balance at December 31, 2014 (287.8)  (511.7)  5.1  (794.4)

Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications (153.3)  42.1  5.3  (105.9)
Amounts reclassified to earnings 29.4  47.3  (10.2)  66.5

Net current period other comprehensive (loss) income (123.9)  89.4  (4.9)  (39.4)
Balance at December 31, 2015 (411.7)  (422.3)  0.2  (833.8)

Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications (198.0)  10.0  (48.0)  (236.0)
Amounts reclassified to earnings 1.8  12.3  10.9  25.0

Net current period other comprehensive (loss) income (196.2)  22.3  (37.1)  (211.0)
Balance at December 31, 2016 $ (607.9)  $ (400.0)  $ (36.9)  $ (1,044.8)

(1) Includes foreign exchange (losses) gains of $(23.3) million , $(22.9) million and $(29.6) million during 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively, associated with intercompany loans designated as long-term.

For 2016 , 2015 and 2014 reclassifications from AOCI to the results of operations for the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans were a pre-tax expense of $16.5 million , $74.1
million and $86.4 million , respectively, and primarily represent the amortization of net actuarial losses and plan settlements (see Footnote 13). These costs are recorded in selling, general and
administrative expenses and cost of sales. For 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , reclassifications from AOCI to the results of operations for the Company’s derivative financial instruments for effective
cash flow hedges were pre-tax (loss) income of $(12.0) million , $14.3 million and $5.5 million , respectively (see Footnote 11). For 2015 , $39.7 million pre-tax foreign currency translation
charge was reclassified from AOCI to the results of operations related to the Venezuela deconsolidation.

The income tax (provision) benefit allocated to the components of OCI are as follows (in millions):

   2016  2015  2014

Foreign currency translation adjustments   $ —  $ (10.3)  $ —
Unrecognized pension and postretirement costs   (19.6)  (41.1)  6.0
Derivative hedging (loss) gain   20.7  (0.6)  (3.9)

Income tax (provision) benefit related to OCI   $ 1.1  $ (52.0)  $ 2.1

FOOTNOTE 5

Restructuring Costs

Restructuring  provisions  were  determined  based  on  estimates  prepared  at  the  time  the  restructuring  actions  were  approved  by  management  and  are  periodically  updated  for  changes.
Restructuring amounts also include amounts recognized as incurred.

Project Renewal

In  April  2015,  the  Company  committed  to  a  further  expansion  of  Project  Renewal  (the  “April  2015  Expansion”).  Project  Renewal  was  initially  launched  in  October  2011  to  reduce  the
complexity of the organization and increase investment in growth platforms within the business. Under Project Renewal, the Company is simplifying and aligning its businesses around two
key activities - Brand & Category Development and Market Execution & Delivery. Pursuant to the program, the Company eliminated its operating groups and consolidated 13 global business
units into three operating groups that manage five operating segments. Pursuant to an expansion of Project Renewal in October 2014, the Company is: (i) further streamlining its supply chain
function, including reducing overhead and realigning the supply chain management structure; (ii) investing in value analysis and value engineering efforts to reduce product and packaging
costs;  (iii)  reducing  operational  and  manufacturing  complexity  in  its  Writing  segment;  and  (iv)  further  streamlining  its  distribution  and  transportation  functions.   Under  the  April  2015
Expansion, the Company plans
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to implement additional activities designed to further streamline business partnering functions (e.g.,  Finance/IT, Legal and Human Resources),  optimize global selling and trade marketing
functions and rationalize the Company’s real estate portfolio.

In connection with the April 2015 Expansion, the Company expects to incur approximately $150.0 million of additional  costs,  including cash costs of approximately $135.0 million . The
additional costs include pretax restructuring charges in the range of approximately $125.0 million to $135.0 million , a majority of which are expected to be facility exit costs and employee-
related cash costs, including severance, retirement and other termination benefits, including costs associated with relocating the Company’s Atlanta business hub within Atlanta, Georgia.

Cumulative  costs  of  the  expanded Project  Renewal  are  expected  to  be approximately $690.0 million to $725.0 million pretax,  with  cash costs  of  approximately $645.0 million to $675.0
million .  Approximately 60% to 70% of  the  total  costs  are  expected  to  be  restructuring  costs,  a  majority  of  which  are  expected  to  be  employee-related  cash  costs,  including  severance,
retirement and other termination benefits and costs. Project Renewal is expected to be complete by the end of 2017, and as a result, cash payments and savings will be realized in 2018 and
later years.

The following table depicts the restructuring charges, net of adjustments, incurred in connection with Project Renewal for the years ended December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015  2014  

Since Inception
Through December 31,

2016
Facility and other exit costs, including impairments $ 2.6  $ 6.7  $ 7.5  $ 30.0
Employee severance, termination benefits and relocation costs (9.1)  52.4  25.2  209.4
Exited contractual commitments and other 16.4  14.9  21.1  80.3

 $ 9.9  $ 74.0  $ 53.8  $ 319.7

The following tables depict the activity in accrued restructuring reserves for Project Renewal for 2016 and 2015 ( in millions ):

 December 31, 2015      December 31, 2016
 Balance  Provision  Costs Incurred   Balance

Facility and other exit costs, including impairments $ —  $ 2.6  $ (2.6)  $ —
Employee severance, termination benefits and relocation costs 49.3  (9.1)  (24.4)  15.8
Exited contractual commitments and other 17.3  16.4  (16.3)  17.4

 $ 66.6  $ 9.9  $ (43.3)  $ 33.2

 December 31, 2014      December 31, 2015
 Balance  Provision  Costs Incurred   Balance

Facility and other exit costs, including impairments $ —  $ 6.7  $ (6.7)  $ —
Employee severance, termination benefits and relocation costs 22.8  52.4  (25.9)  49.3
Exited contractual commitments and other 17.5  14.9  (15.1)  17.3

 $ 40.3  $ 74.0  $ (47.7)  $ 66.6

The following tables depict the activity in accrued restructuring reserves for Project Renewal for 2016 and 2015 aggregated by reportable business segment (in millions) :

 December 31, 2015      December 31, 2016

Segment Balance  Provision  Costs Incurred  Balance

Writing $ 14.0  $ 0.7  $ (3.3)  $ 11.4
Home Solutions 5.1  (2.0)  (2.6)  0.5
Tools 4.3  0.5  (3.2)  1.6
Commercial Products 3.8  —  (2.1)  1.7
Baby & Parenting —  3.2  (2.8)  0.4
Corporate 39.4  7.5  (29.3)  17.6

 $ 66.6  $ 9.9  $ (43.3)  $ 33.2
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 December 31, 2014      December 31, 2015

Segment Balance  Provision  Costs Incurred  Balance

Writing $ 9.7  $ 9.3  $ (5.0)  $ 14.0
Home Solutions 1.0  5.5  (1.4)  5.1
Tools 0.5  2.9  0.9  4.3
Commercial Products 5.1  2.2  (3.5)  3.8
Baby & Parenting 2.2  0.7  (2.9)  —
Corporate 21.8  53.4  (35.8)  39.4

 $ 40.3  $ 74.0  $ (47.7)  $ 66.6

Other Restructuring

In  addition  to  Project  Renewal,  the  Company  has  incurred  restructuring  costs  primarily  relating  to  the  Jarden  Acquisition  and  the  Elmer's  acquisition.  The  following  table  depicts  the
restructuring charges, net of adjustments, incurred outside of Project Renewal for the year ended December 31, (in millions):

 2016
Facility and other exit costs, including impairments $ 5.7
Employee severance, termination benefits and relocation costs 56.2
Exited contractual commitments and other 3.1

 $ 65.0

The following table depicts the activity in other accrued restructuring reserves for 2016 ( in millions ):

 December 31, 2015      December 31, 2016
 Balance  Provision  Costs Incurred   Balance

Facility and other exit costs, including impairments $ —  $ 5.7  $ (5.7)  $ —
Employee severance, termination benefits and relocation costs 0.8  56.2  (18.8)  38.2
Exited contractual commitments and other —  3.1  (2.6)  0.5

 $ 0.8  $ 65.0  $ (27.1)  $ 38.7

Total Restructuring Costs

The table below shows restructuring costs recognized in continuing operations for all restructuring activities for the years indicated, aggregated by reportable business segment ( in millions ):

Segment 2016  2015  2014

Writing $ 9.9  $ 9.3  $ 9.8
Home Solutions (1) (1.9)  5.8  1.6
Tools 0.6  2.9  4.5
Commercial Products 3.0  2.2  3.2
Baby & Parenting (1) 3.2  3.6  2.1
Branded Consumables 10.5  —  —
Consumer Solutions 11.6  —  —
Outdoor Solutions 10.8  —  —
Process Solutions 0.1  —  —
Corporate 27.1  53.4  31.6

 $ 74.9  $ 77.2  $ 52.8

(1) Includes $0.3 million of restructuring costs in the Home Solutions segment associated with the integration of Ignite and bubba for 2015 and $2.9 million of restructuring costs for 2015 in the Baby & Parenting segment
associated with the integration of Baby Jogger.

Cash paid for all restructuring activities included in operating activities was $59.9 million , $51.5 million and $71.8 million for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
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FOOTNOTE 6

Inventories, Net

The components of net inventories were as follows as of December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015
Materials and supplies $ 350.7  $ 117.3
Work-in-process 236.1  108.0
Finished products 1,529.2  496.5

 $ 2,116.0  $ 721.8

Inventory costs include direct materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead, or when finished goods are sourced, the cost is the amount paid to the third party. Approximately 17.5% and
51.3% of gross inventory costs at December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively, were determined by the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method; for the balance, cost was determined using the first-
in,  first-out  (“FIFO”)  method.  As  of  December  31, 2016 and 2015 ,  LIFO  reserves  were $16.6  million and $23.6  million ,  respectively.  The  pretax  income  from  continuing  operations
recognized by the Company related to the liquidation of LIFO-based inventories in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 was $2.9 million , $1.5 million and $7.2 million , respectively.

FOOTNOTE 7

Property, Plant & Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment, net, consisted of the following as of December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015

Land $ 108.4  $ 20.2
Buildings and improvements 653.0  350.8
Machinery and equipment 2,454.6  1,743.7

 3,216.0  2,114.7
Accumulated depreciation (1,672.6)  (1,515.5)

 
$ 1,543.4  $ 599.2

Depreciation expense for continuing operations was $214.1 million , $93.0 million and $93.2 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

FOOTNOTE 8

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

A summary of changes in the Company’s goodwill by reportable business segment is as follows for 2016 and 2015 ( in millions ):

Segment

December 31,
2015

Balance Acquisitions (1) Other Adjustments (2) Foreign Currency

December 31,
2016

Balance

Writing $ 1,359.0 $ 502.9 $ — $ (14.7) $ 1,847.2
Home Solutions 361.1 578.4 — — 939.5
Tools 474.4 249.6 (713.6) (5.3) 5.1
Commercial Products 387.3 239.3 — (0.9) 625.7
Baby & Parenting 209.4 375.5 — 0.4 585.3
Branded Consumables — 3,180.1 (12.5) (50.0) 3,117.6
Consumer Solutions — 938.6 (28.5) (5.3) 904.8
Outdoor Solutions — 1,810.7 (7.9) (5.6) 1,797.2
Process Solutions — 396.5 — — 396.5

 
$ 2,791.2 $ 8,271.6 $ (762.5) $ (81.4) $ 10,218.9
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Segment

December 31,
2014

Balance Acquisitions (3) Other Adjustments (4) Foreign Currency

December 31,
2015

Balance

Writing $ 1,090.9 $ 373.5 $ (50.0) $ (55.4) $ 1,359.0
Home Solutions 379.3 1.0 (19.2) — 361.1
Tools 478.6 — — (4.2) 474.4
Commercial Products 387.5 — — (0.2) 387.3
Baby & Parenting 209.7 — — (0.3) 209.4

 
$ 2,546.0 $ 374.5 $ (69.2) $ (60.1) $ 2,791.2

(1) Amounts primarily represent the preliminary estimate of goodwill attributable to the Jarden Acquisition and the preliminary allocation of goodwill to the Company’s segments.
(2) Includes amounts reclassified to assets held for sale.
(3) On October 22, 2015, the Company acquired Elmer’s Products Inc. for $571.4 million , of which $373.5 million was preliminarily allocated to goodwill.
(4) During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company sold Endicia,  including $50.0 million of goodwill.  Endicia was included in the Company’s Writing segment.  The Company also reclassified $19.2 million of

Décor goodwill to assets held for sale.

Cumulative impairment charges relating to goodwill were $1,642.4 million as of December 31, 2016 .

The table below summarizes  the balance of other intangible  assets,  net  and the Company’s amortization periods using the straight-line  method and attribution method for  other intangible
assets, including capitalized software consisted of the following as of December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015   

 Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Amortization Net Book Value  Gross Carrying Amount Accumulated Amortization Net Book Value  Amortization Periods
(in years)

Trade names — indefinite life $ 9,935.1 $ — $ 9,935.1  $ 653.4 $ — $ 653.4  N/A
Trade names — other 286.3 (34.2) 252.1  46.0 (30.0) 16.0  3–30 years
Capitalized software 482.0 (252.9) 229.1  465.6 (252.7) 212.9  3–12 years
Patents and intellectual property 227.9 (105.0) 122.9  142.8 (89.9) 52.9  3–14 years
Customer relationships & distributor channels 3,761.7 (204.0) 3,557.7  231.9 (104.5) 127.4  3–30 years
Other 25.9 (11.0) 14.9  4.2 (3.1) 1.1  3–5 years

 
$ 14,718.9 $ (607.1) $ 14,111.8  $ 1,543.9 $ (480.2) $ 1,063.7   

Amortization expense for intangible assets for continuing operations was $223.1 million , $76.5 million and $60.6 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2016 , the aggregate estimated intangible amortization amounts for the succeeding five years are as follows ( in millions ):

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

$316.8 $311.5 $288.2 $237.7 $210.3

Actual amortization expense to be reported in future periods could differ materially from these estimates as a result of finalizing the purchase price allocation of the Jarden Acquisition, future
acquisitions, changes in useful lives and other relevant factors.
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FOOTNOTE 9

Other Accrued Liabilities

Other accrued liabilities included the following as of December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015
Customer accruals $ 432.4  $ 314.8
Accruals for manufacturing, marketing and freight expenses 89.3  73.0
Accrued self-insurance liabilities, contingencies and warranty 370.3  86.2
Accrued income taxes 64.9  67.4
Accrued interest expense 108.5  18.1
Other 399.5  169.4
Other accrued liabilities $ 1,464.9  $ 728.9

Customer  accruals  are  promotional  allowances  and  rebates,  including  cooperative  advertising,  given  to  customers  in  exchange  for  their  selling  efforts  and  volume  purchased  as  well  as
allowances for returns. Payments for annual rebates and other customer programs are generally made in the first quarter of the year. Self-insurance liabilities relate to casualty liabilities such
as  workers’  compensation,  general  and  product  liability  and  auto  liability  and  are  estimated  based  upon historical  loss  experience  combined  with  actuarial  evaluation  methods,  review of
significant individual files and the application of risk transfer programs.

FOOTNOTE 10

Debt

The following is a summary of outstanding debt as of December 31, (in millions) :

 2016  2015

2.05% senior notes due 2017 $ 349.4  $ 348.7
6.25% senior notes due 2018 249.8  249.7
2.15% senior notes due 2018 298.9  298.3
2.60% senior notes due 2019 995.0  —
2.875% senior notes due 2019 347.9  347.2
4.70% senior notes due 2020 380.0  379.7
3.15% senior notes due 2021 991.7  —
3.75% senior notes due 2021 326.9  —
4.00% senior notes due 2022 248.5  248.2
3.85% senior notes due 2023 1,737.0  —
5.00% senior notes due 2023 314.1  —
4.00% senior notes due 2024 495.2  494.6
3.90% senior notes due 2025 296.8  296.4
4.20% senior notes due 2026 1,981.0  —
6.11% senior notes due 2028 1.5  1.5
5.375% senior notes due 2036 494.7  —
5.50% senior notes due 2046 1,725.7  —
Hedge accounting impact of interest rate swaps (5.9)  (3.1)
Gain on settled interest rate swap 7.2  12.9
Term loan 399.5  —
Commercial paper —  —
Receivables facilities 187.4  350.0
Other debt 70.5  33.8

Total debt 11,892.8  3,057.9
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt (601.9)  (388.8)

Long-term debt $ 11,290.9  $ 2,669.1
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In March 2016, the Company completed the offering and sale of $8.0 billion principal amount of unsecured senior notes, consisting of $1.0 billion of aggregate principal amount of 2.60%
notes due March 2019 (the “2019 Notes”), $1.0 billion of aggregate principal amount of 3.15% notes due April 2021 (the “2021 Notes”), $1.75 billion of aggregate principal amount of 3.85%
notes due April 2023 (the “2023 Notes”), $2.0 billion of aggregate  principal  amount of 4.20% notes due April 2026 (the “2026 Notes”), $500.0 million of  aggregate  principal  amount  of
5.375% notes due April 2036 (the “2036 Notes”) and $1.75 billion of aggregate principal amount of 5.50% notes due April 2046 (the “2046 Notes” and, together with the 2019 Notes, the
2021 Notes, the 2023 Notes, the 2026 Notes and the 2036 Notes, the “Notes”). The aggregate net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes were $7.9 billion , which were used to pay the cash
portion of the merger consideration in the Jarden Acquisition and to repay a significant portion of Jarden’s outstanding debt at closing. The Notes are senior obligations of the Company and
rank equally with all of its other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness from time to time outstanding. At the Company’s option, all or any portion of the 2019 Notes may be redeemed at
any time, all or any portion of the 2021 Notes may be redeemed at any time prior to March 1, 2021 (the date that is one month prior to the maturity date), all or any portion of the 2023 Notes
may be redeemed at any time prior to February 1, 2023 (the date that is two months prior to the maturity date), all or any portion of the 2026 Notes may be redeemed at any time prior to
January 1, 2026 (the date that is three months prior to the maturity date), all or any portion of the 2036 Notes may be redeemed at any time prior to October 1, 2035 (the date that is six months
prior to the maturity date), and all or any portion of the 2046 Notes may be redeemed at any time prior to October 1, 2045 (the date that is six months prior to the maturity date) (each such
date the applicable “par call date”). The redemption price for the Notes is equal to the greater of (1) 100% of the principal amount of the Notes being redeemed on the redemption date or (2)
the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the Notes being redeemed (in the case of the 2026 Notes, assuming that the 2026 Notes matured
on the par call date) (not including any portion of any payments of interest accrued to the redemption date), discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day
year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the treasury rate, plus an applicable premium; plus in each case, accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes being redeemed to the redemption date.
If the 2021 Notes are redeemed on or after a date that is one month prior to the maturity date of the 2021 Notes, the 2023 Notes are redeemed on or after a date that is two months prior to the
maturity date of the 2023 Notes, the 2026 Notes are redeemed on or after a date that is three months prior to the maturity date of the 2026 Notes, or the 2036 Notes or the 2046 Notes are
redeemed on or after a date that is six months prior to the maturity date of such notes, then the redemption price of such notes will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes so
redeemed plus accrued interest to such redemption date. The interest rate payable on each series of Notes will be subject to adjustment if either of two credit rating agencies downgrade (or
subsequently upgrade) its rating assigned to the Notes, but in no event shall the interest rate payable on each series of Notes be less than the stated interest rate or more than 200 basis points
greater than the stated interest rate on each series of Notes as a result of such credit rating agencies downgrades or upgrades.

In October 2015, the Company completed the offering and sale of $600.0 million of unsecured senior notes, consisting of $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.15% notes due 2018
(the “2018 Notes”) and $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.90% notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes” and, together with the 2018 Notes, the “Senior Notes”). The aggregate net
proceeds  from  the  issuance  of  the  Senior  Notes  were $594.6  million ,  which  were  used  for  the  acquisition  of  Elmer’s  and  for  general  corporate  purposes.  The  Senior  Notes  are  senior
obligations of the Company and rank equally with all of its other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness from time to time outstanding. The 2018 Notes and 2025 are redeemable at a
price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the aggregate principal amount redeemed or (ii) the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments, plus in each case, accrued and
unpaid interest. If the 2024 Notes are redeemed within three months of the scheduled maturity date, they may be redeemed at a price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount being
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

In November 2014, the Company completed the offering and sale of $850.0 million of unsecured senior notes, consisting of $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 2.875% notes due
2019 (the “2.875% 2019 Notes”) and $500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.00% notes due 2024 (the “2024 Notes”). The aggregate net proceeds from the issuance of the 2019 Notes
and 2024 Notes were $841.8 million ,  which were used,  in part,  to  redeem an aggregate  principal  amount  of $439.4 million of then existing long-term debt,  reduce borrowings under the
Company’s commercial paper program and receivables facility and finance acquisitions. The purchase of the long-term debt resulted in an aggregate loss on extinguishment of debt of $33.2
million . The 2019 Notes and 2024 are redeemable at a price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the aggregate principal amount redeemed or (ii) the sum of the present values of the remaining
scheduled payments,  plus  in  each case,  accrued and unpaid interest.  If  the 2019 Notes  and 2024 Notes  are  redeemed within one month and three  months,  respectively,  of  their  scheduled
maturity date, they may be redeemed at a price equal to 100% of the aggregate principal amount being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

In December  2014,  the Company exercised the early  redemption provisions of  the $250.0 million of outstanding 2.00% notes due 2015 (“2015 Notes”)  and repaid  and retired  the $250.0
million outstanding principal amount of the 2015 Notes. At settlement, the Company paid $251.9 million , which included a $1.9 million premium payable pursuant to the terms of the 2015
Notes. The Company recognized a loss of $2.3 million on extinguishment of the 2015 Notes, which included the premium paid and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.
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In December 2014, the Company also exercised the early redemption provisions of the 10.60% 2019 Notes and repaid and retired the remaining $20.7 million outstanding principal amount of
the 10.60% 2019 Notes. At settlement, the Company made a cash payment of $28.1 million , which included a $7.4 million premium payable pursuant to the terms of the 10.60% 2019 Notes.
The Company recognized a loss of $7.7 million on extinguishment of the 10.60% 2019 Notes, which included the premium paid and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

In December 2014, the Company completed a tender offer for the $550.0 million principal amount outstanding 4.70% notes due 2020 (“2020 Notes”) and purchased $168.7 million principal
amount  of  the $550.0  million outstanding  2020  Notes.  Pursuant  to  the  terms  of  the  tender  offer,  the  Company  made  a  cash  payment  of $184.7  million ,  which  included  a $16.0 million
premium payable pursuant to the terms of the tender offer. The Company recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $23.2 million in connection with the tender offer for the 2020 Notes,
which included the premium paid, the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs, transaction expenses and the settlement of interest rate swaps designated as fair value hedges of $154.0
million of the $168.7 million 2020 Notes tendered and repaid.

Receivables-Related Borrowings

In October 2016, the Company entered into a new $950.0 million receivables purchase agreement (the “Securitization Facility”) that matures in October 2019 and bears interest at a margin
over  a  variable  interest  rate.  The  Securitization  facility  replaced  the  Company’s  existing  Receivable  Facility  and  Jarden  Securitization  Facility.  Under  the  Securitization  Facility,  on  an
ongoing basis  certain  operating  subsidiaries  will  sell  their  receivables  to  a  special  purpose  entity  Jarden Receivables,  LLC (“Jarden Receivables”),  which is  a  wholly-owned consolidated
indirect subsidiary of the Company. Jarden Receivables funds these purchases with borrowings under a loan agreement, which are secured by the accounts receivable. There is no recourse to
the Company for the unpaid portion of any loans under this loan agreement. At December 31, 2016 , the borrowing rate margin and the unused line fee on the securitization were 0.80% and
0.40% per annum, respectively.

Revolving Credit Facility and Commercial Paper

The Company maintain a $1.25 billion revolving credit facility that matures in January 2022 (the “Facility”). Under the Facility, the Company may borrow funds on a variety of interest rate
terms. The Facility also provides for the issuance of up to $100.0 million of letters of credit, so long as there is a sufficient amount available for borrowing under the Facility. There was no
commercial paper outstanding at the end of 2016 .

Jarden Bridge Credit Facility

On  December  13,  2015,  the  Company  entered  into  a  commitment  letter  with  Goldman  Sachs  &  Co.  to  provide  financing  for  the  Jarden  transaction,  consisting  of  a $10.5  billion senior
unsecured bridge facility (the “Jarden Bridge Facility”). The availability under the Jarden Bridge Facility was subject to reduction in equivalent amounts upon the completion of any issuance
of debt securities by the Company and upon other specified events. Due to the Company entering into the Term Loan Credit Agreement described below, completing the issuance of the Notes
in March 2016 and other considerations, the Jarden Bridge Facility was terminated.

Term Loan Credit Agreement

On January 26, 2016, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Term Loan Credit Agreement”) for a $1.5 billion senior unsecured term loan facility with a syndicate of banks. In
April 2016, the Company borrowed $1.5 billion pursuant to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, and the borrowings were used to pay a portion of the cash portion of the merger consideration in
connection  with  the  Jarden  Acquisition.  The  Term  Loan  Credit  Agreement  provides  for  a  maturity  date  of  three  years  from  the  closing  date  of  the  Jarden  Acquisition  and  requires  the
Company to repay 5% of the initial borrowings by each of April 2017 and April 2018 , 45% of the borrowings by October 2018 and the remaining 45% of the borrowings by April 2019 . At
the Company’s election, borrowings under the Term Loan Credit Agreement bear interest either at (i) the eurodollar rate plus an applicable margin, or (ii) the base rate plus an applicable
margin. During the year ended December 31, 2016 , the Company repaid $1.1 billion of the borrowings outstanding under the Term Loan Credit Agreement. The interest rate on the Term
Loan Credit Agreement was approximately at 2.31% at December 31, 2016 .

For the year ended December 31,  2016,  the Company recorded $47.6 million of charges associated with the loss on extinguishment  of debt terminating its  Jarden Bridge Facility and the
repayment of Term Loans.

Notes Exchange

In March 2016, the Company commenced exchange offers (the “Exchange Offers”) pursuant to which the Company offered to issue new senior notes (the “Newell Notes”) in exchange for
€300.0 million aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 issued by Jarden and of the $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
5.00%
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senior notes due November 2023 issued by Jarden (collectively, the “Existing Jarden Notes”) and concurrently solicited consents (the “Consent Solicitations”) from the eligible holders of the
Existing Jarden Notes to amend the related indentures. The Exchange Offers and Consent Solicitations expired and were settled in April 2016. The aggregate principal amount of each series
of Newell Notes issued in the Exchange Offers totaled €271.9 million of 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 (the “Euro Notes”) and $295.1 million 5.00% senior notes due November 2023
(“the “USD Notes”). The Newell Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank equally in right of payment with all of its other existing or future senior unsecured debt, and
are structurally subordinated to the secured and unsecured debt of the Company’s subsidiaries, including any debt of Jarden that remains outstanding.

The Exchange Offers were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and as a result, the Newell Notes may not be offered or sold in the U.S. absent
registration or an applicable exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state laws. In connection with the completion
of  the  Exchange  Offers,  the  Company entered  into  a  registration  rights  agreement  pursuant  to  which  the  Company agreed  to  use  its  commercially  reasonable  efforts  to  file  a  registration
statement before January 2017 relating to an offer to exchange the Newell Notes for registered notes of the Company having substantially the same terms as the Newell Notes. The Company
completed  the  required  registered  exchange  offer  on  October  26,  2016  and  exchanged 95.61% of  the  Euro  Notes  and 100% of  the  USD Notes  for  registered  notes,  in  each  case,  having
substantially identical terms.

Following the consummation of the Exchange Offers, Jarden had outstanding approximately (i) €28.1 million in aggregate principal amount of its 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 (the
“Jarden Euro Notes”) and (ii) $4.9 million in aggregate principal amount of its 5.00% senior notes due November 2023 (the “Jarden USD Notes” and, together with the Jarden Euro Notes, the
“Remaining  Existing  Jarden  Notes”).  In  April  2016,  Jarden  entered  into  supplemental  indentures  related  to  the  Remaining  Existing  Jarden  Notes  that  eliminated  substantially  all  of  the
restrictive covenants, eliminated the cross-default under Jarden’s indebtedness as an event of default, released the guarantees of any guarantors on the Remaining Existing Jarden Notes and
evidenced the assumption of the obligations of the Remaining Existing Jarden Notes by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Remaining Existing Jarden Notes are the senior
unsecured obligations of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

Net Investment Hedge

The Company has designated approximately €300.0 million principal balance of the 3.75% senior notes due October 2021 as a net investment hedge of the foreign currency exposure of its net
investment  (the  “Hedging  Instrument”)  in  certain  Euro-functional  currency  subsidiaries  with  Euro-denominated  net  assets.  Foreign  currency  gains  and  losses  on  the  Hedging  Instrument,
which was a $28.0 million gain during the year  ended December  31, 2016 ,  are  recorded as  an adjustment  to AOCI.  See Footnote 11 for  disclosures  regarding the Company’s  derivative
financial instruments.

Future Debt Maturities

The Company’s debt maturities for the five years following December 31, 2016 and thereafter are as follows (in millions) :

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter Total

$599.0 $558.8 $1,750.0 $381.3 $1,312.4 $7,353.8 $11,955.3

FOOTNOTE 11

Derivatives

From time to time, the Company enters into derivative transactions to hedge its exposures to interest rate, foreign currency rate and commodity price fluctuations. The Company does not enter
into derivative transactions for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Contracts

The Company manages its  fixed and floating rate  debt mix using interest  rate  swaps.  The Company may use fixed and floating rate swaps to alter  its  exposure to the impact  of changing
interest rates on its consolidated results of operations and future cash outflows for interest. Floating rate swaps would be used, depending on market conditions, to convert the fixed rates of
long-term debt  into  short-term variable  rates.  Fixed  rate  swaps  would  be  used  to  reduce  the  Company’s  risk  of  the  possibility  of  increased  interest  costs.  Interest  rate  swap  contracts  are
therefore used by the Company to separate interest rate risk management from the debt funding decision. The cash paid and received from the settlement of interest rate swaps is included in
interest expense.
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Fair Value Hedges

At December 31, 2016 , the Company had $596.0 million notional amount of interest rate swaps that exchange a fixed rate of interest for variable rate (LIBOR) of interest plus a weighted
average spread.  These floating rate  swaps are  designated as fair  value hedges against $346.0 million of  principal  on the 4.7% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2020 and $250.0 million of
principal on the 4.0% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2024 for the remaining life of these notes. The effective portion of the fair value gains or losses on these swaps is offset by fair value
adjustments in the underlying debt.

Cross-Currency Contracts

The Company uses cross-currency swaps to hedge foreign currency risk on certain intercompany financing arrangements with foreign subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2016 , the notional
value of outstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps was $173.7 million . The cross-currency interest rate swaps are intended to eliminate uncertainty in cash flows in U.S. Dollars and
British Pounds in connection with the intercompany financing arrangements.  The effective portions of the changes in fair  values of these cross-currency interest  rate swap agreements are
reported in AOCI and an amount is reclassified out of AOCI into other (income) expense, net,  in the same period that the carrying value of the underlying foreign currency intercompany
financing arrangements are remeasured.

Foreign Currency Contracts

The Company uses forward foreign currency contracts to mitigate the foreign currency exchange rate exposure on the cash flows related to forecasted inventory purchases and sales and have
maturity dates through December 2017. The derivatives used to hedge these forecasted transactions that meet the criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as cash flow hedges. The
effective portion of the gains or losses on these derivatives is deferred as a component of AOCI and is recognized in earnings at the same time that the hedged item affects earnings and is
included  in  the  same  caption  in  the  statements  of  operations  as  the  underlying  hedged  item.  At  December  31, 2016 ,  the  Company  had  approximately $419.0  million notional amount
outstanding of forward foreign currency contracts that are designated as cash flow hedges of forecasted inventory purchases and sales.

The Company also uses foreign currency contracts, primarily forward foreign currency contracts, to mitigate the foreign currency exposure of certain other foreign currency transactions. At
December 31, 2016 , the Company had approximately $1.4 billion notional amount outstanding of these foreign currency contracts that are not designated as effective hedges for accounting
purposes and have maturity dates through January 2017. Fair market value gains or losses are included in the results of operations and are classified in other (income) expense, net.

Commodity Contracts

The Company enters  into  commodity-based  derivatives  in  order  to  mitigate  the  risk  associated  with  the  impact  changes  in  prices  of  commodities  could have on the  cost  of  certain  of  the
Company’s  raw  materials.  These  commodity-based  derivatives  provide  the  Company  with  cost  certainty,  and  in  certain  instances,  allow  the  Company  to  benefit  should  the  cost  of  the
commodity fall below certain dollar thresholds. At December 31, 2016 , the Company had approximately $0.7 million notional amount outstanding of commodity-based derivatives that are
not  designated  as  effective  hedges  for  accounting  purposes  and  have  maturity  dates  through  December  2017.  Fair  market  value  gains  or  losses  associated  with  commodity  derivative
instruments are included in the results of operations and are classified in cost of products sold.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding derivative instruments and their effects on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 ( in millions ):

    Assets    Liabilities
Derivatives designated as hedging

instruments:  Balance Sheet Location  2016  2015  Balance Sheet Location  2016  2015

Interest rate swaps  Other assets  $ —  $ 2.2  Other noncurrent liabilities  $ 5.9  $ 5.3
Forward-starting interest rate
swaps  

Prepaid expenses and other
 

—
 

0.1
 Other accrued liabilities  

—
 

3.2

Cross-currency interest rate
swaps  

Other assets
 

0.7
 

0.6
 Other noncurrent liabilities  

16.3
 

3.3

Foreign exchange contracts on
forecasted transactions  

Prepaid expenses and other
and Other assets  

14.2
 

6.6
 

Other accrued liabilities
 

3.4
 

0.1

Foreign exchange contracts on
intercompany borrowings  

Prepaid expenses and other
 

—
 

—
 

Other accrued liabilities
 

—
 

1.6

Subtotal    14.9  9.5    25.6  13.5
Derivatives not designated as

effective hedges:             
Foreign exchange contracts  Prepaid expenses and other  18.2  —  Other accrued liabilities  10.9  —
Commodity contracts  Prepaid expenses and other  0.2  —  Other accrued liabilities  0.3  —
Subtotal    18.4  —    11.2  —

Total    $ 33.3  $ 9.5    $ 36.8  $ 13.5

The  Company  recognized  income  of $25.6  million in  other  (income)  expense,  net,  during  the  year  ended  December  31, 2016 ,  related  to  derivatives  that  are  not  designated  as  hedging
instruments. The amounts of gains (losses) from changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments was not material for the year ended December 31, 2015 .

The Company is not a party to any derivatives that require collateral to be posted prior to settlement.

Cash Flow Hedges

The pretax effects of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations and AOCI for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 were as follows ( in
millions ):

Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships  
Location of gain (loss)
recognized in income

 Amount of gain (loss) reclassified from AOCI into income

 2016  2015  2014

Foreign exchange contracts on forecasted transactions

 

Cost of products sold,
intercompany sales,
third party sales  $ 7.4  $ 16.2  $ 5.9

Foreign exchange contracts on intercompany borrowings  Other expense, net  —  (0.1)  0.3
Forward-starting interest rate swaps  Interest expense, net  (6.2)  (0.8)  (0.7)
Cross-currency interest rate swaps on intercompany
borrowings  Other expense, net  (13.2)  (1.0)  —

    $ (12.0)  $ 14.3  $ 5.5
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Derivatives in cash flow hedging relationships

 Amount of gain (loss) recognized in AOCI

 2016  2015  2014

Foreign exchange contracts on forecasted transactions  $ 31.2  $ 15.5  $ 11.6
Foreign exchange contracts on intercompany borrowings  0.1  0.3  3.3
Forward-starting interest rate swaps  (88.1)  (3.1)  —
Cross-currency interest rate swaps on intercompany borrowings  (13.0)  (2.7)  —

  $ (69.8)  $ 10.0  $ 14.9

During December 2015, the Company entered into forward-starting interest rate swaps for an aggregate $1.0 billion notional amount for the anticipated issuance of notes to finance the Jarden
transaction  (the  “2015  Swaps”).  During  January  2016,  the  Company  entered  into  additional  forward-starting  interest  rate  swaps  for  an  aggregate $1.3  billion notional  amount  (the  “2016
Swaps,” and together with the 2015 Swaps, the “Swaps”). The total notional amount of the Swaps relating to the anticipated debt issuances for the Jarden Acquisition was $2.3 billion . In
March 2016, the Company completed the offering and sale of the Notes (see Footnote 10 for additional information) and settled the Swaps. The net pretax loss and net amount paid upon
settlement of the Swaps was $91.2 million , which was recorded in AOCI and is being amortized to interest expense over the terms of the Notes the Swaps were designated to hedge.

The ineffectiveness related to cash flow hedges during 2016 , 2015 and 2014 was not material .  The Company estimates that during the next 12 months it  will  reclassify income of $20.4
million included in the pretax amount recorded in AOCI as of December 31, 2016 into earnings.

FOOTNOTE 12

Commitments

The Company leases manufacturing, warehouse and other facilities; real estate; and transportation, data processing and other equipment under leases that expire at various dates through the
year 2025. Rent expense, which is recognized on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term, for continuing operations, was $216.2 million , $105.1 million and $106.1 million in 2016
, 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

Future minimum rental payments for operating leases with initial or remaining terms in excess of one year are as follows as of December 31, 2016 ( in millions ):

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter Total

$219.1 $189.4 $150.8 $113.8 $91.4 $260.8 $1,025.3

FOOTNOTE 13

Employee Benefit and Retirement Plans

The Company and its subsidiaries have noncontributory pension, profit sharing and contributory 401(k) plans covering substantially all of their international and domestic employees. Plan
benefits are generally based on years of service and/or compensation. The Company’s funding policy is to contribute not less than the minimum amounts required by the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or foreign statutes to ensure that plan assets will be adequate to provide retirement benefits.

The Company expects to recognize $17.0 million of costs in 2017 associated with amortizing net actuarial losses and prior service credits. Substantially all of the unrecognized pension and
postretirement costs included in AOCI (see Footnote 4) are due to unrecognized actuarial losses.

Effective  December  31,  2015,  the  Company  changed  the  method  used  to  estimate  the  service  and  interest  components  of  net  periodic  benefit  cost  for  its  defined  benefit  pension  and
postretirement plans. The new estimation approach discounts the individual expected cash flows underlying the service cost and interest cost using the applicable spot rates derived from the
yield  curve  used  to  discount  the  cash  flows  used  to  measure  the  benefit  obligations.   Historically,  the  estimated  service  and  interest  cost  components  utilized  a  single  weighted-average
discount rate derived from the yield curve used to measure the benefit obligations at the beginning of the period.

The  Company  elected  this  change  to  provide  a  more  precise  measurement  of  service  and  interest  costs  by  improving  the  correlation  between  projected  benefit  cash  flows  and  the
corresponding  spot  yield  curve  rates.   The  change  was  accounted  for  as  a  change  in  accounting  estimate  that  is  inseparable  from  a  change  in  accounting  principle  and  accordingly  was
accounted for prospectively. 
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The Company’s tax-qualified defined benefit pension plan is frozen for the entire U.S. workforce, and the Company has replaced the defined benefit pension plan with an additional defined
contribution benefit  arrangement,  which benefit  vests  after  three years  of  employment.  The Company recorded $17.4 million , $16.5 million and $15.8 million in expense for  the defined
contribution benefit arrangement for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 ,  respectively.  The liability associated with the defined contribution benefit  arrangement as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 is
$17.6 million and $16.7 million , respectively, and is included in other accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In September 2015 and September 2014,  the Company commenced offers  to approximately 3,300 and 5,700 former employees,  respectively,  who have deferred vested benefits  under the
Company’s tax-qualified U.S. pension plan. These former employees had the opportunity to make a one-time election to receive a lump-sum distribution of the present value of their benefits
by the end of the year of the offer. Cash payments of $70.6 million and $98.6 million were made from the pension plan assets in December 2015 and December 2014, respectively, to those
electing the lump-sum distribution.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the Company maintained various nonqualified deferred compensation plans with varying terms. The total liability associated with these plans was $41.7
million and $44.2  million as  of  December  31, 2016 and 2015 ,  respectively.  These  liabilities  are  included  in  other  accrued  liabilities  and  other  noncurrent  liabilities  in  the  Consolidated
Balance Sheets. The Company maintains assets to offset the impact of the market gains and losses associated with the deferred compensation liabilities, and the values of these assets were
$57.1 million and $55.3 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. These assets are included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The  Company  has  a  Supplemental  Executive  Retirement  Plan  (“SERP”),  which  is  a  nonqualified  defined  benefit  and  defined  contribution  plan  pursuant  to  which  the  Company  will  pay
supplemental benefits to certain key employees upon retirement based upon the employees’ years of service and compensation. The SERP is primarily funded through a trust agreement with a
trustee that owns life insurance policies on both active and former key employees with aggregate net death benefits of $289.7 million . At December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the life insurance
contracts  were  accounted  for  using  the  investment  method  and  had  a  cash  surrender  value  of $116.0  million and $108.4  million ,  respectively,  and  are  included  in  other  assets  in  the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. All premiums paid and proceeds received associated with the life insurance policies are included in accrued liabilities and other in the Consolidated Statements
of Cash Flows. The projected benefit obligation was $122.5 million and $119.5 million at December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. The SERP liabilities are included in the pension table
below; however, the value of the Company’s investments in the life insurance contracts, cash and mutual funds are excluded from the table, as they do not qualify as plan assets.

The Company’s matching contributions to the contributory 401(k) plan were $25.5 million , $14.0 million and $13.6 million for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The  following  provides  a  reconciliation  of  benefit  obligations,  plan  assets  and  funded  status  of  the  Company’s  noncontributory  defined  benefit  pension  plans,  including  the  SERP,  as  of
December 31, ( dollars in millions ):

 U.S.  International        

 2016  2015  2016  2015
Change in benefit obligation:        

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 937.7  $ 1,060.7  $ 613.6  $ 671.7
Service cost 2.7  3.2  6.6  5.8
Interest cost 45.1  41.3  17.5  19.6
Actuarial (gain) loss (16.3)  (91.9)  104.2  (51.8)
Currency translation —  —  (107.9)  (34.7)
Benefits paid (98.2)  (140.4)  (25.3)  (28.7)
Acquisitions 721.2  64.8  64.8  11.2
Curtailments, settlements and other —  —  (26.1)  20.5

Benefit obligation at end of year (1)  $ 1,592.2  $ 937.7  $ 647.4  $ 613.6
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Change in plan assets:        

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 722.9  $ 752.0  $ 560.3  $ 584.4
Actual return on plan assets 70.7  (14.0)  112.4  (7.0)
Contributions 12.0  83.1  16.4  14.5
Currency translation —  —  (105.9)  (26.9)
Benefits paid (98.2)  (140.4)  (25.3)  (28.7)
Acquisitions 523.2  42.2  34.0  15.0
Settlements and other —  —  (26.6)  9.0

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 1,230.6  $ 722.9  $ 565.3  $ 560.3

Funded status at end of year $ (361.6)  $ (214.8)  $ (82.1)  $ (53.3)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:        

Prepaid benefit cost, included in other assets $ —  $ —  $ 48.7  $ 35.9
Accrued current benefit cost, included in other accrued liabilities (12.5)  (9.6)  (4.4)  (3.3)
Accrued noncurrent benefit cost, included in other noncurrent liabilities (349.1)  (205.2)  (126.4)  (85.9)

Total $ (361.6)  $ (214.8)  $ (82.1)  $ (53.3)

 U.S.  International        

 2016  2015  2016  2015

Assumptions:        
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation:        
Discount rate 3.98%  4.23%  2.35%  3.37%
Long-term rate of compensation increase 2.50%  2.50%  3.53%  3.58%

        

Accumulated benefit obligation (1) $ 1,592.2  $ 937.7  $ 635.1  $ 604.6

Summary of under-funded or non-funded pension benefit plans with projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets at December 31, (in millions):

 Pension Benefits

 2016  2015

Projected benefit obligation $ 1,941.9  $ 1,253.7
Fair value of plan assets 1,449.5  948.4

Summary of pension plans with accumulated obligations in excess of plan assets at December 31, (in millions):

 Pension Benefits

 2016  2015

Accumulated benefit obligation $ 1,933.2  $ 1,249.9
Fair value of plan assets 1,449.5  948.4

Net pension cost includes the following components for the years ended December 31, ( dollars in millions ):

 U.S.  International

 2016  2015  2014  2016  2015  2014

Service cost $ 2.7  $ 3.2  $ 4.1  $ 6.6  $ 5.8  $ 5.9
Interest cost 45.1  41.3  45.1  17.5  19.6  25.3
Expected return on plan assets (69.1)  (58.0)  (57.5)  (20.8)  (22.1)  (26.6)
Amortization of:            

Prior service (credit) cost (0.1)  (0.1)  —  0.5  —  (0.1)
Actuarial loss 21.8  26.2  24.2  2.2  3.4  3.2

Curtailment, settlement and termination benefit costs —  52.1  65.4  2.9  0.4  (0.1)

Net pension cost $ 0.4  $ 64.7  $ 81.3  $ 8.9  $ 7.1  $ 7.6
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 U.S.  International        

Assumptions: 2016  2015  2014  2016  2015  2014
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:            

Effective discount rate for benefit obligations 4.06%  4.00%  4.50%  3.29%  3.03%  4.21%
Effective rate for interest on benefit obligations 3.21%  4.00%  4.50%  2.92%  3.03%  4.21%
Effective rate for service cost 4.16%  4.00%  4.50%  3.39%  3.03%  4.21%
Effective rate for interest on service cost 3.67%  4.00%  4.50%  3.35%  3.03%  4.21%
Long-term rate of return on plan assets 6.34%  7.25%  7.25%  3.93%  3.86%  5.01%
Long-term rate of compensation increase 2.50%  2.50%  2.50%  3.51%  3.60%  4.21%

The Company made a voluntary cash contribution of $70.0 million to its U.S. defined benefit plan in January 2015. The Company expects to make cash contributions of approximately $12.5
million and $14.1 million to its domestic and international defined benefit plans, respectively, in 2017.

Plan Assets

The Company employs a total return investment approach for its pension plans whereby a mix of equities and fixed income investments are used to maximize the long-term return of pension
plan assets.  The intent of this strategy is to minimize plan expenses by outperforming plan liabilities  over the long run. Risk tolerance is established through careful consideration of plan
liabilities, plan funded status, and the Company’s financial condition. The domestic investment portfolios contain a diversified blend of equity and fixed-income investments. The domestic
equity  investments  are  diversified  across  geography  and  market  capitalization  through  investments  in  U.S.  large-capitalization  stocks,  U.S.  small-capitalization  stocks  and  international
securities. The domestic fixed income investments are primarily comprised of investment-grade and high-yield securities through investments in corporate and government bonds, government
agencies  and asset-backed  securities.  The Level  1  investments  are  primarily  based upon quoted market  prices.  The domestic  Level  3  investments  are  primarily  comprised  of  hedge funds
whose assets are primarily valued based upon the net asset value (“NAV’) per share and insurance contracts valued at contract value. The investments excluded from the fair value hierarchy
are NAV-based hedge fund investments that generally have a redemption frequency of 90 days or less, with various redemption notice periods that are generally less than a month. The notice
periods for  certain investments  may vary based on the size of  the redemption.  The international  Level  2 investments  are primarily  comprised of insurance contracts  whose fair  values are
estimated based on the future cash flows to be received under the contracts discounted to the present using a discount rate that approximates the discount rate used to measure the associated
pension  plan  liabilities.  The  international  Level  3  investments  are  primarily  comprised  of  insurance  contracts  valued  at  contract  value.  Investment  risk  is  measured  and  monitored  on  an
ongoing basis through annual liability measurements, periodic asset/liability studies and quarterly investment portfolio reviews.

The expected long-term rate of return for plan assets is based upon many factors, including expected asset allocations, historical asset returns, current and expected future market conditions,
risk and active management premiums. The expected long-term rate of return is adjusted when there are fundamental changes in expected returns on the Company’s defined benefit pension
plan’s investments. The target asset allocations for the Company’s domestic pension plans may vary by plan, based in part due to plan demographics, funded status and liability duration. In
general,  the  Company’s  target  asset  allocations  are  as  follows:  equities  approximately 25% to 40% ;  bonds  approximately 20% to 40% ;  and  cash,  alternative  investments  and  other,
approximately 25% to 45% . Actual asset allocations may vary from the targeted allocations for various reasons, including market conditions and the timing of transactions. The Company
maintains numerous international defined benefit pension plans. The asset allocations for the international investment may vary by plan and jurisdiction and are primarily based upon the plan
structure and plan participant profile.
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The composition of domestic pension plan assets at December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

  Plan Assets - Domestic Plans
  December 31, 2016

  Fair Value Measurements  NAV-Based   
Asset Category   Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Subtotal  Assets  Total

Equity securities and funds:            
Domestic  $ 149.8  $ —  $ —  $ 149.8  $ 120.6  $ 270.4
International  80.4  —  —  80.4  101.2  181.6
Fixed income securities and funds   372.7  —  —  372.7  211.0  583.7
Alternative investments  23.5  —  61.4  84.9  81.2  166.1
Cash and other   12.5  15.2  1.1  28.8  —  28.8

Total   $ 638.9  $ 15.2  $ 62.5  $ 716.6  $ 514.0  $ 1,230.6

             

  December 31, 2015

  Fair Value Measurements  NAV-Based   
Asset Category   Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Subtotal  Assets  Total

Equity securities and funds:            
Domestic  $ 25.8  $ —  $ —  $ 25.8  $ 129.1  $ 154.9
International  20.3  —  —  20.3  85.7  106.0
Fixed income securities and funds   307.7  19.7  —  327.4  82.1  409.5
Alternative investments  —  —  26.3  26.3  —  26.3
Cash and other   2.6  23.6  —  26.2  —  26.2

Total   $ 356.4  $ 43.3  $ 26.3  $ 426.0  $ 296.9  $ 722.9

The composition of international pension plan assets at December 31, 2016 and 2015 is as follows:

  Plan Assets - International Plans
  December 31, 2016

  Fair Value Measurements  NAV-Based   
Asset Category   Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Subtotal  Assets  Total

Equity securities and funds   $ 26.2  $ —  $ —  $ 26.2  $ 44.8  $ 71.0
Fixed income securities and funds   164.0  —  5.3  169.3  46.3  215.6
Cash and other   4.7  217.8  13.5  236.0  42.7  278.7

Total   $ 194.9  $ 217.8  $ 18.8  $ 431.5  $ 133.8  $ 565.3

             

  December 31, 2015

  Fair Value Measurements  NAV-Based   
Asset Category   Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Subtotal  Assets  Total

Equity securities and funds   $ 70.0  $ —  $ —  $ 70.0  $ 34.4  $ 104.4
Fixed income securities and funds   —  96.2  —  96.2  81.5  177.7
Cash and other   3.5  207.4  0.6  211.5  66.7  278.2

Total   $ 73.5  $ 303.6  $ 0.6  $ 377.7  $ 182.6  $ 560.3
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A reconciliation of the change in the fair value measurement of the defined benefit plans’ consolidated assets using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for 2016 and 2015 is as follows (
in millions ):

 Total

Fair value as of December 31, 2014 $ 68.3
Realized gains 5.2
Unrealized (losses) gains (4.9)
Purchases, sales, settlements, and other, net (41.7)
Fair value as of December 31, 2015 $ 26.9
Acquisitions 73.6
Realized gains 2.2
Unrealized losses (0.6)
Purchases, sales, settlements and other, net (20.8)

Fair value as of December 31, 2016 $ 81.3

Postretirement Benefit Plans

Several of the Company’s subsidiaries currently provide retiree health care and life insurance benefits for certain employee groups.

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations and funded status of the Company’s postretirement benefit plans as of December 31, ( dollars in millions ):

 2016  2015
Change in benefit obligation:    

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 67.9  $ 88.1
Service cost 0.1  0.3
Interest cost 2.2  3.4
Actuarial loss (gain) 3.0  (18.3)
Benefits paid, net (6.1)  (5.6)
Acquisitions 7.2  —
Changes in plan benefits 0.3  —

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 74.6  $ 67.9

Funded status and net liability recognized at end of year $ (74.6)  $ (67.9)

    

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets:    

Accrued current benefit cost, included in other accrued liabilities $ (6.4)  $ (5.8)
Accrued noncurrent benefit cost, included in other noncurrent liabilities (68.2)  (62.1)

Total $ (74.6)  $ (67.9)

 2016  2015

Assumptions:    
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation:    
Discount rate 3.75%  4.00%
Current health care cost trend rate 8.67%  8.70%
Ultimate health care cost trend rate 4.50%  4.50%

There are no plan assets associated with the Company’s postretirement benefit plans.

91



Table of Contents

Postretirement benefit costs include the following components for the years ended December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015  2014

Service cost $ 0.1  $ 0.3  $ 1.0
Interest cost 2.2  3.4  4.8
Amortization of:      

Prior service benefit (5.2)  (6.6)  (6.4)
Actuarial (gain) loss (5.2)  (1.2)  —

Net postretirement benefit (income) expense $ (8.1)  $ (4.1)  $ (0.6)

 2016  2015  2014

Assumptions:      
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost:      
Effective discount rate for benefits obligations 3.97%  4.00%  4.50%
Effective rate for interest on benefit obligations 3.10%  4.00%  4.50%
Effective rate for service cost 3.46%  4.00%  4.50%
Effective rate for interest on service cost 3.19%  4.00%  4.50%

The current healthcare cost trend rate gradually declines through 2037 to the ultimate trend rate and remains level thereafter. A one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend
rate would not have a material effect on the postretirement benefit obligation or the service and interest cost components of postretirement benefit costs.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

Estimated future benefit payments under the Company’s defined benefit pension plans and postretirement benefit plans are as follows as of December 31, 2016 ( in millions ):

 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Thereafter

Pension benefits $ 126.8 $ 126.4 $ 127.3 $ 130.3 $ 130.1 $ 647.4
Postretirement benefits $ 6.5 $ 6.4 $ 6.3 $ 6.1 $ 5.9 $ 27.0

FOOTNOTE 14

Earnings Per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is shown below for the years ended December 31, ( in millions, except per share data ):

 2016  2015  2014
Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:      

Income from continuing operations $ 528.5  $ 259.3  $ 373.0
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (0.7)  90.7  4.8

Net income $ 527.8  $ 350.0  $ 377.8
Dividends and equivalents for share-based awards expected to be forfeited —  0.1  0.1

Net income for basic and diluted earnings per share $ 527.8  $ 350.1  $ 377.9
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:      

Weighted-average shares outstanding 418.3  267.9  274.2
Share-based payment awards classified as participating securities 1.5  1.4  1.9

Dilutive effect from Jarden Acquisition 1.5  —  —
Denominator for basic earnings per share 421.3  269.3  276.1

Dilutive securities (1) 1.8  2.2  2.8
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 423.1  271.5  278.9

92



Table of Contents

(1) Dilutive  securities  include  “in  the  money”  options,  non-participating  restricted  stock  units  and  performance  stock  units.  The  weighted-average  shares  outstanding  for 2016 , 2015 and 2014 exclude  the  effect  of
approximately 0.1 million , 0.2 million and 0.2 million common stock equivalents, respectively, because such securities were anti-dilutive.

As of December 31, 2016 , there were 9.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock that had not been issued to the former holders of 10.6 million of Jarden shares who are exercising
their right to judicial appraisal under Delaware law. Absent consent by the Company, these dissenting shareholders are no longer entitled to the merger consideration, but are instead entitled
only to the judicially determined fair value of their shares, plus interest accruing from the date of the Jarden Acquisition, payable in cash. However, it is possible that the Company could issue
a  consent  to  or  reach  agreement  with  one  or  more  of  these  shareholders  resulting  in  the  issuance  of  Company  shares  (in  lieu  of  or  along  with  the  payment  of  cash)  in  settlement  of  the
dissenters’ claims.

FOOTNOTE 15

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company offers stock-based compensation to its employees that includes stock options and time-based and performance-based restricted stock units, as follows:

Stock Options

The Company has issued both nonqualified and incentive stock options at exercise prices equal to the Company’s common stock price on the date of grant with contractual terms of ten years.
Stock options issued by the Company generally vest and are expensed ratably over three years. For options granted prior to 2008, options become fully vested and are exercisable for one year
following termination due to death, disability or retirement at age 65 or older.  For options granted since the beginning of 2008, options fully vest and are exercisable for a period of time
depending on the employee’s age and years of service in the case of retirement (as defined in the stock option agreement). Stock option grants are generally subject to forfeiture if employment
terminates prior to vesting, except upon retirement, in which case the options may remain outstanding and exercisable for the remaining contractual term of the option. The Company has not
granted stock options since 2011.

Time-Based Restricted Stock Units

Awards of time-based restricted stock units are independent of stock option grants and are generally subject to forfeiture if employment terminates prior to vesting. The awards generally cliff-
vest in one to three years or vest ratably over three years from the date of grant. In the case of retirement (as defined in the award agreement), awards vest depending on the employee’s age
and years of service. The time-based restricted stock units have rights to dividend equivalents payable in cash. The Company expenses the cost of restricted stock units ratably over the vesting
period, net of estimated forfeitures.

Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units

Performance-based  restricted  stock unit  awards  represent  the  right  to  receive  unrestricted  shares  of  stock based on the  achievement  of  Company performance  objectives  and/or  individual
performance goals  established by the Organizational  Development  & Compensation Committee and the Board of  Directors.  The performance-based restricted stock units  generally  entitle
recipients  to  shares  of  common  stock  equal  to 0% up  to 200% of  the  number  of  units  granted  at  the  vesting  date,  depending  on  the  level  of  achievement  of  the  specified  market  and
performance conditions (“Performance-Based RSUs”). With respect to Performance-Based RSUs granted in all years other than 2015, the number of shares in which the participant vests is
based on the Company’s total shareholder return relative to its peer group over a three-year period (“Relative TSR Metric”). For Performance-Based RSUs granted in 2015, the number of
shares in which the participant will vest is based on three criteria, including the Relative TSR Metric, a sales growth metric and an earnings growth metric.

Other performance-based restricted stock units entitle the recipient to shares of common stock if specified market and performance conditions are achieved and vest no earlier than one year
from the date of grant and no later than seven years from the date of grant (“Stock-Price Based RSUs”).

The grant date fair value of the Performance-Based RSUs subject to the Relative TSR Metric and certain Stock-Price Based RSUs is estimated using Monte Carlo simulation, with the primary
input into such valuation being the expected future volatility of the Company’s common stock, and if applicable, the volatilities of the common stocks of the companies in the Company’s peer
group, upon which the relative total shareholder return performance is measured. The fair values of these awards generally approximate the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the
date of grant. For Performance-Based RSUs and Stock-Price Based RSUs whose vesting is dependent on a sales growth, earnings growth or other performance metric, the Company assesses
the probability of achievement of such metrics each period and records expense for the awards based on the probable achievement of such metrics.
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Performance-based restricted stock units are not subject to the payment of dividend equivalents in the same manner as time-based restricted stock units. Rather, with respect to performance-
based restricted stock units, dividend equivalents are credited to the recipient and are paid only to the extent the applicable performance criteria are met and the performance-based restricted
stock units vest and the related stock is issued. In the case of retirement (as defined in the award agreement), awards vest depending on the employee’s age and years of service, subject to the
satisfaction of the applicable performance criteria.

Stock Plans

The Company’s stock plans include plans adopted in 2003, 2010 and 2013. In 2013, a plan was approved by the Company’s stockholders (the “2013 Plan”). Upon approval of the 2013 Plan,
shares available for issuance of new awards under all plans other than the 2013 Plan were canceled, and all future grants are required to be made from the 2013 Plan. In addition, awards under
the 2010 plan granted and forfeited after December 31, 2012 have the effect of decreasing and increasing, respectively, the availability under the 2013 Plan as if the 2013 Plan were in effect
as of January 1, 2013. The total number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued under the 2013 Plan may not exceed 62.5 million ; however, stock awards and stock
units for one share reduce availability under the 2013 Plan by 3.5 shares. The 2013 Plan generally provides for awards to vest over a minimum three -year period, except for performance-
based grants, which may vest over a minimum of one year, and executive new hire grants, which have no required minimum vesting period.

The following table depicts the number of shares authorized for issuance and available under the 2013 Plan ( shares in millions ):

 2013 Plan

Authorized for issuance 62.5
Effects of:  

Restricted stock units and Stock-Price Based RSUs (3½ times the number of awards) 5.0
Performance-Based RSUs (7 times the number of awards) 14.4

Shares available for issuance 43.1

As of December 31, 2016 , the Company had 0.3 million and 0.4 million options outstanding under the 2010 and 2003 plans, respectively.

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation pursuant to relevant authoritative guidance, which requires measurement of compensation cost for all stock awards at fair value on the
date of grant and recognition of compensation, net of estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period for awards expected to vest.

The table below summarizes the expense related to share-based payments for the years ended December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015  2014

Stock options $ —  $ —  $ 0.7
Restricted stock units 63.9  29.2  29.2

Stock-based compensation $ 63.9  $ 29.2  $ 29.9
Stock-based compensation, net of income tax benefit of $30.4 million, $12.9 million and $11.5 million in 2016, 2015 and
2014, respectively $ 33.5  $ 16.3  $ 18.4

The following table summarizes the changes in the number of shares of common stock under option for 2016 ( shares and aggregate intrinsic value in millions ):

 Shares  

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Per

Share  

Aggregate    
Intrinsic    

Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 1.2  $ 20  
Exercised (0.5)  $ 21  

Outstanding at December 31, 2016 0.7  $ 20  $ 17.5

Exercisable at December 31, 2016 0.7  $ 20  $ 17.5

The total intrinsic value of options exercised was $11.3 million in 2016 . The weighted-average remaining contractual life for options outstanding and options exercisable was two years as of
December 31, 2016 .
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The following table summarizes the changes in the number of outstanding restricted stock units for 2016 ( shares in millions ):

 Restricted Stock Units  
Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value Per Share

Outstanding at December 31, 2015 2.9  $ 34
Granted 2.7  $ 54
Vested (1.0)  $ 26
Forfeited (0.3)  $ 45
Outstanding at December 31, 2016 4.3  $ 48
Expected to vest at December 31, 2016 4.0  $ 48

The weighted-average grant-date fair values of awards granted were $41 and $33 per share in 2015 and 2014 , respectively. The fair values of awards that vested were $54.1 million , $74.2
million and $41.0 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively. In 2017, the Company expects to repurchase 0.4 million shares to satisfy employee tax withholding obligations in connection
with the vesting of restricted stock units and Performance-Based RSUs.

During 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , the Company awarded 1.1 million , 0.7 million and 0.7 million Performance-Based RSUs, respectively, which entitle recipients to shares of the Company’s
stock at the end of a three -year vesting period if specified performance or market conditions are achieved.  The Performance-Based RSUs entitle recipients to shares of common stock equal
to 0% up to 200% of the number of units granted at the vesting date, depending on the level of achievement of the specified performance, market and service conditions. As of December 31,
2016 , 2.1  million Performance-Based  RSUs  were  outstanding,  and  based  on  performance  through  December  31, 2016 ,  recipients  of  Performance-Based  RSUs  would  be  entitled  to 3.0
million shares at the vesting date. The Performance-Based RSUs are included in the preceding table as if the participants earn shares equal to 100% of the units granted.

The following table summarizes the Company’s total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock-based compensation as of December 31, 2016 ( in millions ):

 

Unrecognized
    Compensation Cost  

Weighted-Average Period    
of Expense Recognition    

(in years)

Restricted stock units $ 119.1  2

FOOTNOTE 16

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015  2014

Current:      

Federal $ 126.6  $ 103.0  $ 24.5
State 39.0  18.8  5.9
Foreign 86.8  19.4  19.2
Total current 252.4  141.2  49.6
Deferred 33.4  (7.2)  39.3

Total provision $ 285.8  $ 134.0  $ 88.9

Total provision (benefit) — discontinued operations $ (0.2)  $ 55.8  $ (0.2)

Total provision — continuing operations $ 286.0  $ 78.2  $ 89.1

The non-U.S. component of income before income taxes was $480.4 million , $186.2 million and $163.3 million in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively.
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A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory rate to the effective income tax rate on a continuing basis is as follows for the years ended December 31,:

 2016  2015  2014

Statutory rate 35.0 %  35.0 %  35.0 %
Add (deduct) effect of:      

State income taxes, net of federal income tax effect 4.2  3.0  2.1
Foreign tax credit 1.3  (17.5)  (5.5)
Foreign rate differential (9.8)  (10.5)  (7.0)
Resolution of tax contingencies, net of increases (2.1)  1.2  (0.6)
Valuation allowance reserve (decrease) increase (3.3)  0.2  (2.7)
Manufacturing deduction (2.2)  (2.0)  (1.5)
Statutory tax rate change (4.9)  —  —
Tools outside basis difference 20.2  —  —
Venezuela deconsolidation —  15.7  —
Other (3.3)  (1.9)  (0.5)

Effective rate 35.1 %  23.2 %  19.3 %

The components of net deferred tax assets are as follows as of December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015

Deferred tax assets:    

Accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes $ 285.8  $ 166.9
Inventory 83.9  4.8
Postretirement liabilities 44.0  28.6
Pension liabilities 149.8  113.5
Net operating losses 361.3  248.3
Foreign tax credits 34.0  —
Other 193.0  78.8

Total gross deferred tax assets 1,151.8  640.9
Less valuation allowance (325.3)  (291.0)

Net deferred tax assets after valuation allowance $ 826.5  $ 349.9
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Accelerated depreciation $ (159.5)  $ (69.7)
Amortizable intangibles (5,300.5)  (463.6)
Outside basis differences (319.0)  —
Other (35.0)  (4.7)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities $ (5,814.0)  $ (538.0)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (4,987.5)  $ (188.1)

    

Noncurrent deferred income tax assets $ 95.3  $ 38.5
Noncurrent deferred income tax liabilities (5,082.8)  (226.6)

 
$ (4,987.5)  $ (188.1)

The Company has $1,511.3 million of U.S., State, and foreign net operating losses, of which $811.3 million do not expire and $700.0 million expire between 2017 and 2036 . $442.2 million
are U.S. federal  net  operating losses which are subject to varying limitations on their  use under Section 382 of the Internal  Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Of these U.S. federal  net
operating  losses, $406.0  million are  not  reflected  in  the  consolidated  financial  statements  and  approximately $31.0  million were  utilized  in  the  current  year.  The  foreign  tax  credit
carryforwards begin to expire in 2020 .

The Company routinely reviews valuation allowances recorded against deferred tax assets on a more likely than not basis as to whether the Company has the ability to realize the deferred tax
assets. In making such a determination, the Company takes into consideration all available and appropriate positive and negative evidence, including projected future taxable income, future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, the ability to carryback net operating losses, and available tax planning
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strategies. Although realization is not assured, based on this existing evidence, the Company believes it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefit of existing deferred
tax assets, net of the valuation allowances.

As of December 31, 2016 , the Company has a valuation allowance recorded against foreign net operating losses and other deferred tax assets the Company believes are not more likely than
not to be realized due to the uncertainty resulting from a lack of previous taxable income within the applicable tax jurisdictions. A valuation allowance of $325.3 million and $291.0 million
was recorded against certain deferred tax asset balances as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2016 , the Company recorded a net valuation
allowance increase of $34.3 million which comprised of acquired valuation allowance from Jarden, a valuation allowance decrease of $17.9 million related to the Company’s UK operations
for which the Company concluded the deferred tax assets  were realizable;  currency translation in foreign jurisdictions due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar  against  the Euro,  British
Pound, and other currencies; and the increase in valuation allowance in the current year in certain jurisdictions that the Company previously determined were not more likely than not to be
realized. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , the Company recorded a net valuation allowance decrease of  $54.3 million  which is comprised of a valuation allowance reduction of  $12.8
million  for which the Company concluded the deferred tax assets were realizable; currency translation in foreign jurisdictions due to the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Euro and
other currencies; and, the utilization of prior year net operating losses in the current year in certain jurisdictions that the Company previously determined were not more likely than not to be
realized.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a net valuation allowance decrease of  $30.2 million  which comprised a valuation allowance reduction of  $18.4
million  related to various foreign jurisdictions in which the Company concluded the deferred tax assets were realizable; currency translation in foreign jurisdictions due to the strengthening
of the U.S. dollar against the Euro, Yen, and other currencies;  and the utilization of prior year net operating losses in the current year in certain jurisdictions that the Company previously
determined were not more likely than not to be realized.

As of  the acquisition  date  April  15,  2016,  the Company analyzed the  unremitted  historical  earnings  of  Jarden’s  non-U.S.  subsidiaries  and recorded a  deferred tax liability  on the opening
balance sheet of $120 million related to most of Jarden’s historical unremitted earnings. As of December 31, 2016 , this deferred tax liability decreased to $79.9 million due to distributions
and currency fluctuations. The remaining, unremitted non-U.S. subsidiary earnings of the Company at December 31, 2016 are $1,236.1 million . These earnings and profits are considered to
be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no U.S. federal or state deferred income taxes have been provided on this amount or any additional excess of the amount for financial reporting
over the tax basis of investments in foreign subsidiaries.  Earnings and profits is the most significant component of the basis difference which is indefinitely reinvested.  Upon distribution of
those  earnings  in  the  form of  dividends  or  otherwise,  the  Company  would  be  subject  to  U.S.  income  taxes  and  withholding  taxes  payable  in  various  non-U.S.  jurisdictions,  which  could
potentially be offset by foreign tax credits. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability is not practicable because of the complexities associated with its
hypothetical calculation.

As of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $367.9 million and $162.9 million , respectively. The Company recorded unrecognized tax benefit as a
result of acquisitions of $216.4 million in 2016 . If recognized, $359.9 million and $155.4 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively, would affect the effective tax rate. The
Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had recorded
accrued interest and penalties related to the unrecognized tax benefits of $21.2 million and $6.3 million , respectively. During 2016 , the Company recognized income tax expense on interest
and penalties of $3.4 million due to the accrual of current year interest on existing positions offset by the resolution of certain tax contingencies offset. In 2015 , the Company recognized an
income tax benefit on interest and penalties of $0.1 million due to the resolution of certain tax contingencies offset by an accrual of current year interest on existing positions.

The following table summarizes the changes in gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January 1, $ 162.9  $ 101.4
Acquisition related 216.4  —
Increases in tax positions for prior years 4.8  63.1
Decreases in tax positions for prior years (4.4)  (19.4)
Increases in tax positions for current year 30.0  21.5
Settlements with taxing authorities (0.1)  (2.6)
Lapse of statute of limitations (41.7)  (1.1)

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31, $ 367.9  $ 162.9

The Company anticipates approximately $39.6 million of unrecognized tax benefits will reverse within the next 12 months. It is reasonably possible due to activities of various worldwide
taxing authorities, including proposed assessments of additional tax and possible settlement of audit issues that additional changes to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits could occur. In
the
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normal course of business, the Company is subject to audits by worldwide taxing authorities regarding various tax liabilities. The Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns for 2011, 2012,
and 2013 as well as certain state and non-US income tax returns for various years, are under routine examination.

The  Company  files  numerous  consolidated  and  separate  income  tax  returns  in  the  U.S.  federal  jurisdiction  and  various  state  and  foreign  jurisdictions.  The  statute  of  limitations  for  the
Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns has expired for years prior to 2011.The Company’s Canadian tax returns are subject to examination for years after 2010. With few exceptions, the
Company is no longer subject to other income tax examinations for years before 2012.

FOOTNOTE 17

Fair Value

Accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  U.S.  define  fair  value  as  the  price  that  would  be  received  to  sell  an  asset  or  transfer  a  liability  in  an  orderly  transaction  between  market
participants.  As  such,  fair  value  is  a  market-based  measurement  that  should  be  determined  based  on  assumptions  that  market  participants  would  use  in  pricing  an  asset  or  liability.  The
authoritative guidance discusses valuation techniques, such as the market approach (comparable market prices), the income approach (present value of future income or cash flow), and the
cost approach (cost to replace the service capacity of an asset or replacement cost). These valuation techniques are based upon observable and unobservable inputs. Observable inputs reflect
market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect  the Company’s market assumptions. As the basis for evaluating such inputs,  a three-tier value hierarchy
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability, including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets; quoted prices for similar or identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations whose inputs are observable or whose significant value
drivers are observable.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s financial assets and liabilities adjusted to fair value at least annually are its money market fund investments included in cash and cash equivalents, its mutual fund investments
included in other assets, and its derivative instruments, which are primarily included in prepaid expenses and other, other assets, other accrued liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities.

The Company determines the fair value of its mutual fund investments based on quoted market prices (Level 1).

Level 2 fair value determinations are derived from directly or indirectly observable (market-based) information. Such inputs are the basis for the fair values of the Company’s money market
fund investments and derivative instruments. The money market fund investments held by the Company and included in cash and cash equivalents are not publicly traded, but the fair value is
determined  based  on  the  values  of  the  underlying  investments  in  the  money  market  fund  (Level  2).  The  Company  generally  uses  derivatives  for  hedging  purposes,  and  the  Company’s
derivatives are primarily foreign currency forward contracts and interest rate swaps. The Company determines the fair value of its derivative instruments using standard pricing models and
market-based assumptions for all significant inputs, such as yield curves and quoted spot and forward exchange rates. Accordingly, the Company’s derivative instruments are classified as
Level 2.
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The following tables present the Company’s non-pension financial assets and liabilities, which are measured at fair value on a recurring basis ( in millions ):

Fair value as of December 31, 2016 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

Assets        
Investment securities, including mutual funds (1) $ 14.7  $ 4.8  $ 9.9  $ —
Derivatives 33.3  —  33.3  —

Total $ 48.0  $ 4.8  $ 43.2  $ —
Liabilities        

Derivatives $ 36.8  —  36.8  —
Total $ 36.8  $ —  $ 36.8  $ —

Fair value as of December 31, 2015        
Assets        

Investment securities, including mutual funds (1) $ 6.9  $ 4.5  $ 2.4  $ —
Derivatives 9.5  —  9.5  —

Total $ 16.4  $ 4.5  $ 11.9  $ —
Liabilities        

Derivatives $ 13.5  —  13.5  —
Total $ 13.5  $ —  $ 13.5  $ —

(1) The values of investment securities, including mutual funds, are classified as cash and cash equivalents ( $7.9 million and $2.0 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively) and other assets ( $6.8 million and
$4.9 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 ,  respectively).  For mutual  funds that  are publicly traded, fair  value is  determined on the basis of quoted market prices and, accordingly,  these investments have been
classified as Level 1. Other investment securities are valued at the net asset value per share or unit multiplied by the number of shares or units held as of the measurement date and have been classified as Level 2.

The Company adjusts its pension asset values to fair value on an annual basis. See Footnote 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the fair values of
the Company’s pension assets.

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s nonfinancial assets which are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis include property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible assets and certain other assets.

The Company’s annual and interim impairment tests of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets did not result in the Company recording any material impairment charges during 2016 ,
2015 and 2014 . In making the assessment of goodwill impairment, management relies on a number of factors including operating results, business plans, economic projections, anticipated
future cash flows, transactions and marketplace data. Accordingly, these fair value measurements fall in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The factors used by management in the impairment
analysis are inherently subject to uncertainty. While the Company believes it has made reasonable estimates and assumptions to determine the fair value of its reporting units, if actual results
are not consistent with management’s estimates and assumptions, goodwill and other intangible assets may be overstated and could potentially trigger additional impairment charges.

During 2016 , 2015 and 2014 impairments associated with plans to dispose of certain property, plant and equipment were not material. The impairments were estimated based on the proceeds
expected  to  be  realized  upon  disposition  of  the  assets.  In  the  absence  of  a  definitive  sales  price  for  these  and  similar  types  of  assets,  the  Company  generally  uses  projected  cash  flows,
discounted as necessary, or market multiples to estimate the fair values of the impaired assets. Key inputs into the projected cash flows include management’s projections of cash flows on a
held-and-used basis (if applicable), management’s projections of cash flows upon disposition and discount rates. Key inputs into the market multiple approach include identifying companies
comparable to the Company’s business and estimated control premiums. Accordingly, these fair value measurements fall in the Level 3 category of the fair value hierarchy. These assets and
certain liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis as part of the Company’s impairment assessments and as circumstances require.

The Company completed the acquisitions of Jarden during 2016, Elmer’s during 2015 and Ignite and Baby Jogger during 2014. The Company also acquired the assets of bubba during 2014.
The Company allocates  purchase consideration to the tangible assets  acquired,  liabilities  assumed and intangible assets  acquired based on their  estimated fair  values.  Determining the fair
values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, particularly acquired intangible assets, requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions, including estimates regarding the future
expected cash flows from customer relationships, trade names and trademarks and acquired patents and developed technology; royalty rates; the period of time the Company expects to use the
acquired intangible
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asset; and discount rates. In marking these estimates, the Company considers demand, competition and other economic factors. The Company allocated $13.5 billion and $249.0 million of
value  to  intangible  assets  acquired  in 2016 and 2015 ,  respectively.   The  Company’s  estimates  and  projections  are  inherently  uncertain,  and  the  estimated  values  of  assets  acquired  and
liabilities assumed are dependent on such estimates.  Accordingly, these fair value measurements fall in the Level 3 category of the fair value hierarchy.  Acquired assets and liabilities are
measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis, generally in connection with acquisitions and as circumstances require for impairment testing.

The carrying value and estimated fair value measurement of assets held for sale are classified as Level 3, as the fair values utilize significant unobservable inputs.  As discussed in Footnote 3,
as of December 31, 2015 , the net assets held for sale represented the Décor business, which was sold on June 30, 2016 without further adjustment to their carrying values.  Also as discussed
in Footnote 3, as of December 31, 2016 , there were several businesses and brands that the Company announced it would divest and relating to which their assets and liabilities were classified
as assets and liabilities held for sale as of December 31, 2016 .

Financial Instruments

The  Company’s  financial  instruments  include  cash  and  cash  equivalents,  accounts  receivable,  accounts  payable,  derivative  instruments,  notes  payable  and  short-  and  long-term debt.  The
carrying values for current financial assets and liabilities, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable, approximate fair value due to the short maturity of
such instruments. The fair values of the Company’s derivative instruments are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are disclosed in Footnote 11. The fair values of the Company’s
senior notes (see Footnote 11) are based on quoted market prices and are as follows as of December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015

 Fair Value  Book Value  Fair Value  Book Value    
Senior notes $ 11,979.2  $ 11,234.1  $ 2,660.7  $ 2,692.6

The carrying amounts of all other significant debt approximates fair value.

FOOTNOTE 18

Industry Segment Information

On April 15, 2016, Jarden became a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Newell Brands Inc. Jarden is a global consumer products company with brands such as Yankee Candle ® , Crock-Pot ®
, FoodSaver ® , Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Coleman ® , First Alert ® , Rawlings ® , Jostens ® , K2 ® , Marker ® , Marmot ® , Völkl ® and many others. The segment information includes results of
operations of Jarden since the acquisition date in the following Jarden segments: Branded Consumables, Consumer Solutions, Outdoor Solutions and Process Solutions.

On October 22, 2015, the Company acquired Elmer’s, whose brands include Elmer’s ® , Krazy Glue ® (a trademark of Toagosei Co. Ltd. used with permission) and X-Acto ® . Elmer’s is a
provider of activity-based adhesive and cutting products and is included in the Writing segment. The segment information includes the results of operations of Elmer’s since the acquisition
date. Refer to Footnote 2 for additional information about the acquisition.

On September 4, 2014, the Company acquired 100% of Ignite. Ignite is a designer and marketer of durable beverage containers sold under the Contigo ® and Avex ® brands and is included in
the  Home  Solutions  segment.  On  October  22,  2014,  the  Company  acquired  the  assets  of  bubba,  a  designer  and  marketer  of  durable  beverage  containers,  which  is  included  in  the  Home
Solutions segment. On December 15, 2014, the Company acquired Baby Jogger, a designer and marketer of premium infant and juvenile products focused on activity strollers and related
accessories, which is included in the Baby & Parenting segment. The segment information includes the results of operations of all three acquired companies since the acquisition date. Refer to
Footnote 2 for additional information about the acquisitions.
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The Company’s reportable segments are as follows:

Segment   Key Brands   Description of Primary Products

Writing

 

Sharpie ® , Paper Mate ® , Expo ® ,
Prismacolor ® , Mr. Sketch ® , Elmer's
® , X-Acto ® , Parker ® , Waterman ® ,
Dymo ®  Office  

Writing instruments, including markers and highlighters, pens and pencils; art products; activity-based adhesive
and cutting products; fine writing instruments; labeling solutions

Home Solutions
 

Rubbermaid ® , Contigo ® , bubba ® ,
Calphalon ® , Goody ®  

Indoor/outdoor  organization,  food  storage  and  home  storage  products;  durable  beverage  containers;  gourmet
cookware, bakeware and cutlery; hair care accessories

Tools
 

Irwin ® , Lenox ® , hilmor™, Dymo ®
 Industrial  

Hand  tools  and  power  tool  accessories;  industrial  bandsaw blades;  tools  for  HVAC systems;  label  makers  and
printers for industrial use

Commercial Products   Rubbermaid Commercial Products ®   Cleaning and refuse products; hygiene systems; material handling solutions
Baby & Parenting   Graco ® , Baby Jogger ® , Aprica ® ,

Teutonia ®
  Infant and juvenile products such as car seats, strollers, highchairs and playards

Branded Consumables

 

Yankee Candle ® , Waddington, Ball ®
, Diamond ® , First Alert ® , NUK ® ,
Quickie ® , Pine Mountain ®  

Branded consumer products; consumable and fundamental household staples

Consumer Solutions

 

Crock-Pot ® , FoodSaver ® , Holmes ® ,
Mr. Coffee ® , Oster ® , Rainbow ® ,
Sunbeam ®  

Household products, including kitchen appliances and home environment products

Outdoor Solutions

 

Coleman ® , Jostens ® , Berkley ® ,
Shakespeare ® , Rawlings ® , Völkl ® ,
K2 ® , Marmot ®  

Products for outdoor and outdoor-related activities

Process Solutions

 

Jarden Plastic Solutions, Jarden
Applied Materials, Jarden Zinc
Products  

Plastic  products,  including  closures,  contact  lens  packaging,  medical  disposables,  plastic  cutlery  and  rigid
packaging

101



Table of Contents

The Company’s segment and geographic results are as follows as of and for the years ended December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015  2014
Net Sales (1)      
Writing $ 1,941.9  $ 1,763.5  $ 1,708.9
Home Solutions 1,568.4  1,704.2  1,575.4
Tools 760.7  790.0  852.2
Commercial Products 776.6  809.7  837.1
Baby & Parenting 919.5  848.3  753.4
Branded Consumables 2,839.2  —  —
Consumer Solutions 1,766.3  —  —
Outdoor Solutions 2,415.9  —  —
Process Solutions 275.5  —  —

 $ 13,264.0  $ 5,915.7  $ 5,727.0
Operating Income (2)      
Writing $ 462.7  $ 430.8  $ 416.6
Home Solutions 179.2  238.4  196.0
Tools 85.4  85.1  94.6
Commercial Products 113.1  100.8  101.3
Baby & Parenting 114.4  55.2  40.6
Branded Consumables 330.5  —  —
Consumer Solutions 147.1  —  —
Outdoor Solutions 90.1  —  —
Process Solutions 14.8  —  —
Restructuring costs (74.9)  (77.2)  (52.8)
Corporate (362.3)  (231.7)  (191.6)

 $ 1,100.1  $ 601.4  $ 604.7

 2016  2015  2014
Depreciation & Amortization (2)      
Writing $ 33.9  $ 23.9  $ 25.9
Home Solutions 49.1  45.4  29.7
Tools 16.7  16.6  15.3
Commercial Products 17.5  16.9  21.4
Baby & Parenting 16.2  15.0  11.1
Branded Consumables 118.4  —  —
Consumer Solutions 30.6  —  —
Outdoor Solutions 86.7  —  —
Process Solutions 24.5  —  —
Corporate (2) 43.6  52.3  50.4

 $ 437.2  $ 170.1  $ 153.8
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 2016  2015  2014
Capital Expenditures (3)      
Writing $ 61.8  $ 39.5  $ 34.3
Home Solutions 59.8  47.6  31.1
Tools 19.1  19.2  18.4
Commercial Products 22.9  31.1  27.6
Baby & Parenting 12.5  14.1  8.7
Branded Consumables 106.7  —  —
Consumer Solutions 13.8  —  —
Outdoor Solutions 56.3  —  —
Process Solutions 15.9  —  —
Corporate (3) 72.6  58.7  40.1

 $ 441.4  $ 210.2  $ 160.2

 2016  2015
Identifiable Assets    
Writing $ 3,152.0  $ 1,286.5
Home Solutions 1,757.8  776.7
Tools 1,756.7  578.8
Commercial Products 989.2  351.7
Baby & Parenting 1,048.0  485.1
Branded Consumables 11,103.1  —
Consumer Solutions 5,298.8  —
Outdoor Solutions 6,975.3  —
Process Solutions 1,020.6  —
Corporate (4) 736.0  3,780.7

 $ 33,837.5  $ 7,259.5

Geographic Area Information      
(in millions) 2016  2015  2014
Net Sales (1) (5)      
United States $ 9,518.4  $ 4,291.8  $ 3,945.1
Canada 720.1  249.8  284.3

Total North America 10,238.5  4,541.6  4,229.4
Europe, Middle East and Africa 1,659.0  591.1  683.5
Latin America 643.6  408.5  409.9
Asia Pacific 722.9  374.5  404.2

Total International 3,025.5  1,374.1  1,497.6

 $ 13,264.0  $ 5,915.7  $ 5,727.0
Operating Income (Loss) (2)      
United States $ 746.3  $ 440.1  $ 405.2
Canada 111.1  53.4  62.7

Total North America 857.4  493.5  467.9
Europe, Middle East and Africa 188.9  57.1  82.0
Latin America 6.3  43.4  39.1
Asia Pacific 47.5  7.4  15.7

Total International 242.7  107.9  136.8

 $ 1,100.1  $ 601.4  $ 604.7
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(1) All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Sales to Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and subsidiaries amounted to approximately 13.5% , 10.9% and 10.6% of consolidated net sales in 2016 , 2015 and 2014 , respectively,
substantially across all segments.

(2) Operating income (loss) by segment is net sales less cost of products sold and selling, general & administrative (“SG&A”) expenses. Operating income by geographic area is net sales less cost of products sold, SG&A
expenses,  impairment  charges and restructuring costs.  Certain  headquarters  expenses  of  an operational  nature  are  allocated to  business  segments  and geographic  areas primarily  on a  net  sales  basis.  Depreciation and
amortization is allocated to the segments on a percentage of sales basis, and the allocated depreciation and amortization is included in segment operating income. Depreciation and amortization excludes $1.5 million and
$2.3 million included in discontinued operations for 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

(3) Corporate capital expenditures includes capital expenditures related to the SAP and other software implementations and corporate property, plant and equipment. Capital expenditures exclude $1.2 million and $1.7 million
associated with discontinued operations in 2015 and 2014 , respectively.

(4) Corporate assets primarily include goodwill (in 2015), capitalized software, cash, deferred tax assets and assets held for sale.
(5) Geographic sales information is based on the region from which the products are shipped and invoiced. Long-lived assets by geography are not presented because it is impracticable to do so.

The following table summarizes the net sales by product grouping for the years ended December 31, ( in millions ):

 2016  2015  2014

Writing:      
Writing instruments $ 1,469.8  $ 1,501.3  $ 1,451.3
Adhesive and cutting products 243.5  36.3  —
Technology solutions 228.6  225.9  257.6

 1,941.9  1,763.5  1,708.9
Home Solutions:      

Home and food storage products 1,058.7  1,033.0  867.5
Décor 141.8  300.8  315.3
Other 367.9  370.4  392.6

 1,568.4  1,704.2  1,575.4
Tools 760.7  790.0  852.2
Commercial Products 776.6  809.7  837.1
Baby & Parenting 919.5  848.3  753.4
Branded Consumables 2,839.2  —  —
Consumer Solutions 1,766.3  —  —
Outdoor Solutions 2,415.9  —  —
Process Solutions 275.5  —  —

 $ 13,264.0  $ 5,915.7  $ 5,727.0

FOOTNOTE 19

Litigation and Contingencies

The Company is involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. These proceedings include claims for damages arising out of use of the Company’s products, allegations
of infringement of intellectual property, commercial disputes and employment matters, as well as environmental matters. Some of the legal proceedings include claims for punitive as well as
compensatory damages, and certain proceedings may purport to be class actions.

The Company, using current product sales data and historical trends, actuarially calculates the estimate of its exposure for product liability. The Company had product liability reserves of
$81.7 million and $41.2 million as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 , respectively. The Company is insured for product liability claims for amounts in excess of established deductibles and
accrues for the estimated liability as described up to the limits of the deductibles. All other claims and lawsuits are handled on a case-by-case basis.

The Company recognizes warranty costs based on an estimate of amounts required to meet future warranty obligations arising as part of the sale of its products. The Company accrues an
estimated liability at the time of a product sale based on historical claim rates applied to current period sales, as well as any information applicable to current product sales that may indicate a
deviation from such historical claim rate trends.

Recall of Harness Buckles on Select Car Seats

In February 2014, Graco, a subsidiary of the Company, announced a voluntary recall in the U.S. of harness buckles used on approximately 4 million toddler car seats manufactured between
2006 and 2013. In July 2014, Graco announced that it had agreed
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to expand the recall to include certain infant car seats manufactured between July 2010 and May 2013. There have been no reported injuries associated with the recalled harness buckles used
on these toddler or infant car seats. In December 2014, the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (the “NHTSA”) announced an investigation into the timeliness of the recall, and in
March 2015, the investigation concluded with Graco entering into a consent order with NHTSA pursuant to which Graco committed to spend $7.0 million in total over a five-year period to
enhance child passenger safety and make a $3.0 million payment to NHTSA, which was paid in the year ended December 31, 2015 . With respect to the $7.0 million required to be spent over
five years, the Company has spent approximately $2.1 million to date. The Company recorded the $10.0 million of costs associated with the consent order in the first quarter of 2015.

Legal Matters

A class action lawsuit, Hirsch v. Lillie, et al. , was filed on February 24, 2016 on behalf of Jarden shareholders in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, alleging
violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act in respect of the Registration/Proxy Statement on Form S-4 relating to the Jarden Acquisition.  The suit named each of the Jarden directors as
defendants, as well as the Company.  No individual directors or officers of the Company were named as defendants.  The parties entered into a settlement term sheet, pursuant to which the
Company added certain disclosures to the Form S-4.  Counsel for the shareholders filed in July 2016, but then withdrew in August 2016, a motion to approve the settlement.  In October 2016,
the  Company and its  relevant  subsidiaries  were  voluntarily  dismissed  from the  case.   In  December  2016,  the  parties  (including  the  Company)  entered  into  a  new settlement  whereby  the
lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed.

A second class action lawsuit, Paree v. Franklin, et al. , was filed in the State Circuit Court in Palm Beach County, Florida on March 10, 2016, purportedly on behalf of Jarden stockholders,
against the directors of Jarden.  The Company was also named as a defendant. Plaintiff alleged that defendants breached their fiduciary duties to Jarden stockholders in connection with the
Jarden  Acquisition  by,  among  other  things,  failing  to  take  reasonable  steps  to  obtain  and/or  ensure  that  Jarden  stockholders  receive  fair  and  adequate  value  for  their  shares,  and  that  the
Company aided and abetted such breaches.  Plaintiff further alleged that defendants provided materially false and misleading disclosures and omitted necessary information in their joint proxy
statement/prospectus  concerning  the  sales  process  of  Jarden.   The  complaint  sought  rescission  or  rescissory  damages  with  respect  to  the  merger  transactions,  an  award  of  attorneys’  and
experts’ fees and costs, and a direction from the court that Jarden’s individual board members account for all damages suffered as a result of their alleged wrongdoing. On March 28, 2016, the
parties filed an Agreed Joint Motion to Stay Proceedings, seeking a stay of the litigation, pending the outcome of the Hirsch v. Lillie action.  In December 2016, the parties (including the
Company) entered into a settlement whereby the lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed.

Jarden Acquisition

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”), any Jarden stockholder who did not vote in favor of adoption of the Merger Agreement, and otherwise complies with the provisions
of Section 262 of the DGCL, is entitled to seek an appraisal of its shares of Jarden common stock by the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as provided under Section 262 of the
DGCL. As of December 31, 2016 ,  dissenting stockholders collectively holding approximately 10.6 million shares of Jarden common stock have delivered (and not withdrawn) to Jarden
written demands for appraisal. Two separate appraisal petitions, styled Dunham Monthly Distribution Fund v. Jarden Corporation , Case No. 12454-VCS (Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware) and Merion Capital LP v. Jarden Corporation ,  Case No. 12456-VCS (Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware), respectively, were filed on June 14, 2016 by a total of ten
purported Jarden stockholders seeking an appraisal of the fair value of their shares of Jarden common stock pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL.  A third appraisal petition ( Fir Tree Value
Master Fund, LP v. Jarden Corporation ,  Case No. 12546-VCS (Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware)) was filed on July 8, 2016 by two purported Jarden stockholders seeking an
appraisal  of  the  fair  value  of  their  shares  of  Jarden  common  stock  pursuant  to  Section  262  of  the  DGCL.  A  fourth  appraisal  petition  ( Veritian  Partners  Master  Fund  LTP  v.  Jarden
Corporation , Case No. 12650-VCS (Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware)) was filed on August 12, 2016 by two purported Jarden stockholders seeking an appraisal of the fair value of
their shares of Jarden common stock pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL. These cases remain pending, and litigation is ongoing.  The fair value of the 10.6 million Jarden common shares
held by these dissenting stockholders, as determined by the court, would be payable in cash and could be lower or higher than the merger consideration and/or may include a greater amount of
cash than the merger consideration to which such Jarden stockholders would have been entitled under the Merger Agreement.

Environmental Matters

The  Company  is  involved  in  various  matters  concerning  federal  and  state  environmental  laws  and  regulations,  including  matters  in  which  the  Company  has  been  identified  by  the  U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (“U.S. EPA”) and certain state environmental agencies as a potentially responsible party (“PRP”) at contaminated sites under the Federal Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (the “CERCLA”) and equivalent state laws.
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In assessing its environmental response costs, the Company has considered several factors, including the extent of the Company’s volumetric contribution at each site relative to that of other
PRPs; the kind of waste; the terms of existing cost sharing and other applicable agreements; the financial ability of other PRPs to share in the payment of requisite costs; the Company’s prior
experience with similar sites; environmental studies and cost estimates available to the Company; the effects of inflation on cost estimates; and the extent to which the Company’s, and other
parties’, status as PRPs is disputed.

The Company’s estimate of environmental remediation costs associated with these matters as of December 31, 2016 was $41.9 million , which is included in other accrued liabilities and other
noncurrent liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. No insurance recovery was taken into account in determining the Company’s cost estimates or reserves, nor do the Company’s cost
estimates or reserves reflect any discounting for present value purposes, except with respect to certain long-term operations and maintenance CERCLA matters.

Lower Passaic River Matter

U.S. EPA has issued General Notice Letters (“GNLs”) to over 100 entities, including the Company and Berol Corporation, a subsidiary of the Company (“Berol”), alleging that they are PRPs
at the Diamond Alkali Superfund Site, which includes a 17-mile stretch of the Lower Passaic River and its tributaries. Seventy-two of the GNL recipients, including the Company on behalf of
itself and its subsidiaries, Goody Products, Inc. and Berol (the “Company Parties”), have taken over the performance of the remedial investigation (“RI”) and feasibility study (“FS”) for the
Lower Passaic River. On April 11, 2014, while work on the RI/FS remained underway, U.S. EPA issued a Source Control Early Action Focused Feasibility Study (“FFS”), which proposed
four alternatives for remediation of the lower 8.3 miles of the Lower Passaic River. U.S. EPA’s cost estimates for its cleanup alternatives ranged from $315.0 million to approximately $3.2
billion in capital costs plus from $0.5 million to $1.8 million in annual maintenance costs for 30 years, with its preferred alternative carrying an estimated cost of approximately $1.7 billion
plus an additional $1.6 million in annual maintenance costs for 30 years. In February 2015, the participating parties submitted to the U.S. EPA a draft RI, followed by submission of a draft FS
in April 2015. The draft FS sets forth various alternatives for remediating the lower 17 miles of the Passaic River, ranging from a “no action” alternative, to targeted remediation of locations
along the entire lower 17 mile stretch of the river, to remedial actions consistent with U.S. EPA’s preferred alternative as set forth in the FFS for the lower 8.3 miles coupled with monitored
natural recovery and targeted remediation in the upper 9 miles. The estimated cost estimates for these alternatives range from approximately $28.0 million to $2.7 billion , including related
operation maintenance and monitoring costs. The draft RI/FS remains under review by U.S. EPA.

U.S. EPA issued its  final  Record of Decision for the lower 8.3 miles of the Lower Passaic (the “ROD”) in March 2016, which,  in the language of the document,  finalizes  as the selected
remedy the preferred alternative set forth in the FFS, which U.S. EPA estimates will cost $1.4 billion . Subsequent to the release of the ROD in March 2016, U.S. EPA issued GNLs for the
lower 8.3 miles of the Passaic River (the “2016 GNL”) to numerous entities, apparently including all previous recipients of the initial GNL as well as several additional entities. As with the
initial  GNL, the Company and Berol  were among the recipients  of  the 2016 GNL. The 2016 GNL states that  U.S. EPA would like to determine whether one entity,  Occidental  Chemical
Corporation (“OCC”), will voluntarily perform the remedial design for the selected remedy for the lower 8.3 miles, and that following execution of an agreement for the remedial design, U.S.
EPA plans to begin negotiation of a remedial action consent decree “under which OCC and the other major PRPs will implement and/or pay for U.S. EPA’s selected remedy for the lower 8.3
miles of the Lower Passaic River and reimburse U.S. EPA’s costs incurred for the Lower Passaic River.”  The letter “encourage[s] the major PRPs to meet and discuss a workable approach to
sharing responsibility for implementation and funding of the remedy" without indicating who may be the “major PRPs.” Finally, U.S. EPA states that it “believes that some of the parties that
have been identified as PRPs under CERCLA, and some parties not yet named as PRPs, may be eligible for a cash out settlement with U.S. EPA for the lower 8.3 miles of the Lower Passaic
River.  U.S. EPA intends to provide separate notice of the opportunity to discuss a cash out settlement at a later date.” In September 2016, OCC and EPA entered into an Administrative Order
on Consent for performance of the remedial design. At this time, it is unclear how the cost of any cleanup would be allocated among any of the parties, including the Company Parties or any
other entities. The site is also subject to a Natural Resource Damage Assessment.

OCC has asserted that it is entitled to indemnification by Maxus Energy Corporation (“Maxus”) for its liability in connection with the Diamond Alkali Superfund Site.  OCC has also asserted
that Maxus’s parent company, YPF, S.A., and certain other affiliates (the “YPF Entities”) similarly must indemnify OCC, including on an “alter ego” theory.  On June 17, 2016, Maxus and
certain  of  its  affiliates  commenced  a  chapter  11  bankruptcy  case  in  the  U.S.  Bankruptcy  Court  for  the  District  of  Delaware.   In  connection  with  that  proceeding,  the  YPF  Entities  are
attempting to resolve any liability they may have to Maxus and the other Maxus entities undergoing the chapter 11 bankruptcy.

Given the uncertainties pertaining to this matter, including that U.S. EPA is still reviewing the draft RI and FS, that no framework for or agreement on allocation for the investigation and
ultimate remediation has been developed, and that there exists the potential for further litigation regarding costs and cost sharing, the extent to which the Company Parties may be held liable
or responsible is not yet known. Accordingly, it is not possible at this time for the Company to estimate its ultimate liability related to this matter.
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Based on currently  known facts  and circumstances,  the  Company does  not  believe  that  this  matter  is  reasonably  likely  to  have a  material  impact  on the  Company’s  results  of  operations,
including, among other factors, because the Company Parties’ facilities are not even alleged to have discharged the contaminants which are of the greatest concern in the river sediments, and
because there are numerous other parties who will likely share in any costs of remediation and/or damages. However, in the event of one or more adverse determinations related to this matter,
it is possible that the ultimate liability resulting from this matter and the impact on the Company’s results of operations could be material.

Because of the uncertainties associated with environmental investigations and response activities, the possibility that the Company could be identified as a PRP at sites identified in the future
that  require  the  incurrence  of  environmental  response  costs  and  the  possibility  that  sites  acquired  in  business  combinations  may  require  environmental  response  costs,  actual  costs  to  be
incurred by the Company may vary from the Company’s estimates.

Clean Air Act Labeling Matter

In April 2015, the Company became aware that two beverage container products, one product of its recently acquired bubba brands business and one product of its recently acquired Ignite
business, contained closed cell rigid polyurethane foam insulation that was blown with HCFC-141b, which is listed as a Class II ozone-depleting substance under the Montreal Protocol on
Substances that  Deplete the Ozone Layer.   Under the Clean Air Act and U.S. EPA’s regulations promulgated thereunder,  as of January 1,  2015, certain products made with or containing
ozone depleting substances, including HCFC-141b, must bear a specific warning label.  The Company discovered that the affected products imported in early 2015 did not display the required
label.   While the affected product lines were not compliant with applicable environmental regulations regarding ozone depleting substances, use of the products is safe and poses no risk to
consumers.   Upon discovery,  the  Company  self-reported  the  violations  to  the  U.S.  EPA and  replaced  the  blowing  agent  in  the  products.  The  Company  is  in  the  process  of  negotiating  a
settlement  with  U.S.  EPA  which  would  include  payment  of  a  penalty;  although  settlement  negotiations  are  at  an  early  stage,  the  Company  does  not  expect  that  the  penalty  will  exceed
$110,000 .

Other Matters

Although  management  of  the  Company  cannot  predict  the  ultimate  outcome  of  these  proceedings  with  certainty,  it  believes  that  the  ultimate  resolution  of  the  Company’s  proceedings,
including any amounts it  may be required to pay in excess of amounts reserved,  will  not have a material  effect  on the Company’s Consolidated Financial  Statements,  except as otherwise
described above.

In the normal course of business and as part of its acquisition and divestiture strategy, the Company may provide certain representations and indemnifications related to legal, environmental,
product liability, tax or other types of issues. Based on the nature of these representations and indemnifications, it is not possible to predict the maximum potential payments under all of these
agreements  due to the conditional  nature of  the Company’s obligations and the unique facts  and circumstances involved in each particular  agreement.  Historically,  payments made by the
Company under these agreements did not have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

As of December 31, 2016 , the Company had $80.0 million in standby letters of credit primarily related to the Company’s self-insurance programs, including workers’ compensation, product
liability and medical.

ITEM  9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

(a) Evaluation  of  Disclosure  Controls  and  Procedures:  as  of December  31,  2016 ,  an  evaluation  was  performed  by  the  Company’s  management,  under  the  supervision  and  with  the
participation of the Company’s chief executive officer and chief financial officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the
chief executive officer and the chief financial officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2016 .

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: the Company’s management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting is set forth under Item 8 of
this annual report.

The report  of  PricewaterhouseCoopers  LLP,  the  Company’s  independent  registered  public  accounting firm,  which addresses  the  effectiveness  of  the  Company’s  internal  control  over
financial reporting is set forth under Item 8 of this annual report.
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(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting: there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December
31, 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required under this Item with respect to Directors will be contained in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) under the
captions “Election of Directors” and “Information Regarding Board of Directors and Committees and Corporate Governance,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

Information required under this Item with respect to Executive Officers of the Company is included as a supplemental item at the end of Part I of this report.

Information required under this Item with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act will be included in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial
Ownership Compliance Reporting,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

Information  required  under  this  Item  with  respect  to  the  audit  committee  and  audit  committee  financial  experts  will  be  included  in  the  Proxy  Statement  under  the  caption  “Information
Regarding Board of Directors and Committees and Corporate Governance — Committees — Audit Committee,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

Information  required  under  this  Item  with  respect  to  communications  between  security  holders  and  Directors  will  be  included  in  the  Proxy  Statement  under  the  caption  “Information
Regarding Board of Directors and Committees and Corporate Governance — Director Nomination Process,” and “Information Regarding Board of Directors and Committees and Corporate
Governance — Communications with the Board of Directors,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

The  Board  of  Directors  has  adopted  a  “Code  of  Ethics  for  Senior  Financial  Officers,”  which  is  applicable  to  the  Company’s  senior  financial  officers,  including  the  Company’s  principal
executive officer,  principal  financial  officer,  principal  accounting officer  and controller.  The Company also has a separate “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” that  is  applicable to all
Company  employees,  including  each  of  the  Company’s  directors  and  officers.  Both  the  Code  of  Ethics  for  Senior  Financial  Officers  and  the  Code  of  Business  Conduct  and  Ethics  are
available under the “Corporate Governance” link on the Company’s website at www.newellbrands.com. The Company posts any amendments to or waivers of its Code of Ethics for Senior
Financial Officers or to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (to the extent applicable to the Company’s directors or executive officers) at the same location on the Company’s website. In
addition, copies of the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers and of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics may be obtained in print without charge upon written request by any
stockholder to the office of the Corporate Secretary of the Company at 221 River Street, Hoboken, New Jersey 07030.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information  required  under  this  Item  will  be  included  in  the  Proxy  Statement  under  the  captions  “Organizational  Development  &  Compensation  Committee  Report,”  “Executive
Compensation,” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information  required  under  this  Item  will  be  included  in  the  Proxy  Statement  under  the  captions  “Certain  Beneficial  Owners”  and  “Equity  Compensation  Plan  Information,”  which
information is incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required under this Item with respect to certain relationships and related transactions will be included in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

Information  required  under  this  Item  with  respect  to  director  independence  will  be  included  in  the  Proxy  Statement  under  the  caption  “Information  Regarding  Board  of  Directors  and
Committees and Corporate Governance — Director Independence,” which information is incorporated by reference herein.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information  required  under  this  Item will  be  included in  the  Proxy Statement  under  the  caption  “Ratification  of  Appointment  of  Independent  Registered  Public  Accounting  Firm,”  which
information is incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) The following is a list of the financial statements of Newell Brands Inc. included in this report on Form 10-K, which are filed herewith pursuant to Item 8:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms

Consolidated Statements of Operations — Years Ended December 31, 2016 , 2015 and 2014

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income — Years Ended December 31, 2016 , 2015 and 2014

Consolidated Balance Sheets — December 31, 2016 and 2015

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years Ended December 31, 2016 , 2015 and 2014

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity — Years Ended December 31, 2016 , 2015 and 2014

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements — December 31, 2016 , 2015 and 2014

(2) The following consolidated financial statement schedule of the Company included in this report on Form 10-K is filed herewith pursuant to Item 15(c) and appears immediately following
the Exhibit Index:

SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

All other financial schedules are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.

(3) The exhibits filed herewith are listed on the Exhibit Index filed as part of this report on Form 10-K. Each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement of the Company listed
on the Exhibit Index is separately identified by an asterisk.

(b) EXHIBIT INDEX
 
ITEM 2 – PLAN OF ACQUISITION, REORGANIZATION, ARRANGEMENT, LIQUIDATION OR SUCCESSION

Exhibit    Description of Exhibit
Number
 
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of December 13, 2015, by and among Newell Rubbermaid Inc., Jarden Corporation, NCPF Acquisition Corp. I and NCPF Acquisition Corp.

II (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 13, 2015, File No. 001-09608).

2.2 Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 12, 2016, by and between Newell Brands Inc. and Stanley Black & Decker, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 12, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

ITEM 3 - ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BY-LAWS
 
Exhibit    Description of Exhibit
Number

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Newell Brands Inc., as amended as of April 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
dated April 15, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

3.2 By-Laws of Newell Brands Inc., as amended April 15, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated April 15, 2016, File No.
001-09608).
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ITEM 4 - INSTRUMENTS DEFINING THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS, INCLUDING INDENTURES

Exhibit    Description of Exhibit
Number

4.1 Indenture  dated as  of  November  1,  1995,  between Newell  Rubbermaid Inc.  and The Bank of  New York Trust  Company,  N.A.  (as  successor  to  JPMorgan Chase Bank,  formerly
known as The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association)), as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 3, 1996,
File No. 001-09608).

4.2 Indenture, dated as of June 14, 2012, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. , as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 11, 2012, File No. 001-09608).

4.3 Indenture,  dated  as  of  November  19,  2014,  between  Newell  Rubbermaid  Inc.  and  U.S.  Bank  National  Association,  as  trustee  (incorporated  by  reference  to  Exhibit  4.1  to  the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 14, 2014).

4.4 Specimen Stock Certificate for Newell Brands Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March
31, 2016).

4.5 Form of 6.25% Notes due 2018 issued pursuant to an Indenture dated as of November 1, 1995, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and The Bank of New York Trust Company, N.A.
(as  successor  to  JPMorgan  Chase  Bank,  formerly  known  as  The  Chase  Manhattan  Bank  (National  Association)),  as  trustee  (incorporated  by  reference  to  Exhibit  4.2  to  the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 25, 2008, File No. 001-09608).

4.6 Form of 4.70% Notes due 2020 issued pursuant to an Indenture dated as of November 1, 1995, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A.  (as  successor  to  JPMorgan Chase  Bank,  formerly  known as  The Chase  Manhattan  Bank (National  Association)),  as  trustee  (incorporated  by reference  to  Exhibit  4.1  to  the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 2, 2010, File No. 001-09608).

4.7 Form of 4.000% Note due 2022 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of June 14, 2012, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A., as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 11, 2012, File No. 001-09608).

4.8 Form of 2.050% Note due 2017 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of June 14, 2012, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A. , as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 29, 2012, File No. 001-09608).

4.9 Form of 2.875% Note due 2019 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 14, 2014, File No. 001-09608).

4.10 Form of 4.000% Note due 2024 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 14, 2014, File No. 001-09608).

4.11 Form of 2.150% Note due 2018 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 14, 2015, File No. 001-09608).

4.12 Form of 3.900% Note due 2025 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 14, 2015, File No. 001-09608).

4.13 Form of 2.600% note due 2019 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 18, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

111



Table of Contents

4.14 Form of 3.150% note due 2021 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 18, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

4.15 Form of 3.850% note due 2023 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 18, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

4.16 Form of 4.200% note due 2026 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 18, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

4.17 Form of 5.375% note due 2036 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 18, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

4.18 Form of 5.500% note due 2046 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 18, 2016, File No. 001-09608).

4.19 Form of 3 3/4% note due 2021 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.

4.20 Form of 5% note due 2023 issued pursuant to the Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2014, between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee.

Pursuant to item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K, the Company is not filing certain documents. The Company agrees to furnish a copy of each such document upon the request of the
Commission.

ITEM 10 - MATERIAL CONTRACTS
      
10.1* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan as amended and restated August 5, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013).

10.2* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2002 Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated as of January 1, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2004, File No. 001-09608).

10.3* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. Deferred Compensation Plans Trust Agreement, effective as of June 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013, File No. 001-09068).

10.4* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, effective January 1, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2007, File No. 001-09068).

10.5* First Amendment to the Newell Rubbermaid Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated August 5, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013, File No. 001-09068).

10.6* Newell  Rubbermaid Severance Plan --  Summary Plan Description for Executives in Bands 10 and above, effective July 1,  2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2014).

10.7* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2003 Stock Plan, as amended and restated effective February 8, 2006, and as amended effective August 9, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to
the Company’s Proxy Statement, dated April 3, 2006, and Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2006, File
No. 001-09068).
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10.8* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2010 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 11, 2010, File No. 001-09068).

10.9* First Amendment to the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2010 Stock Plan dated July 1, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarterly period ended June 30, 2011, File No. 001-09068).

10.10* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2013 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the Company’s Proxy Statement dated March 28, 2013, File No. 001-09068).

10.11* Forms of Stock Option Agreement under the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2003 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2008, File No. 001-09068).

10.12* Form of Michael B. Polk Stock Option Agreement for July 18, 2011 Award (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 18,
2011, File No. 001-09068).

10.13* Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement of Mark Tarchetti dated May 10, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.14* Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement of Ralph Nicoletti dated June 8, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.15* Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement of Fiona Laird, dated May 31, 2016.

10.16* Form of Agreement for Restricted Stock Unit Award Granted to Paula S. Larson on December 16, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, File No. 001-09068).

10.17* 2014 Restricted  Stock Unit  Equivalent  Award Agreement  dated  as  of  December  28,  2015 between Newell  Rubbermaid  Inc.  and Mark S.  Tarchetti  (incorporated  by reference  to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22, 2015, File No. 001-09068).

10.18* 2015 Restricted  Stock Unit  Equivalent  Award Agreement  dated  as  of  December  28,  2015 between Newell  Rubbermaid  Inc.  and Mark S.  Tarchetti  (incorporated  by reference  to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 22, 2015, File No. 001-09068).

10.19* Long-Term Incentive  Performance  Pay Terms and Conditions  under  the  Newell  Rubbermaid Inc.  2013 Incentive  Plan for  2014 (incorporated  by reference  to  Exhibit  10.1 to  the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2014, File No. 001-09068).

10.20* Long-Term Incentive Performance Pay Terms and Conditions under the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2013 Incentive Plan, as updated February 10, 2015 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 10, 2015, File No. 001-09068).

10.21* Long-Term  Incentive  Performance  Pay  Terms  and  Conditions  under  the  Newell  Rubbermaid  Inc.  2013  Incentive  Plan,  as  amended  May  10,  2016  (incorporated  by  reference  to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 10, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.22* Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2010 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2010, File No. 001-09068, File No. 001-09068).

10.23* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2010 Stock Plan for 2013Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2013, File No. 001-09068).

113



Table of Contents

10.24* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2013 Incentive Plan for Awards to Employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013, File No. 001-09068).

10.25* Form of Restricted Stock Unit  Agreement under the Newell  Rubbermaid Inc.  2013 Incentive Plan for 2014 Awards (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2014, File No. 001-09068).

10.26* Form of  Restricted  Stock  Unit  Agreement  under  the  Newell  Rubbermaid  Inc.  2013  Incentive  Plan  for  Employees  as  Amended  February  10,  2015  (incorporated  by  reference  to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K dated February 10, 2015, File No. 001-09068).

10.27* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2013 Incentive Plan for Employees, as Amended May 10, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 13, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.28* Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2013 Incentive Plan for Awards Beginning May 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2014, File No. 001-09068).

10.29* Employment Security Agreement with Michael B. Polk dated July 18, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2011, File No. 001-09068).

10.30* Form of Employment Security Agreement between the Company and the named executive officers of the Company other than the Chief Executive Officer (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014, File No. 001-09068).

10.31* Newell Rubbermaid Inc. Employment Security Agreements Trust Agreement,  effective as of June 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013).

10.32* Written Compensation Arrangement with Michael B. Polk, dated June 23, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June
23, 2011, File No. 001-09068).

10.33* Amendment to Written Compensation Arrangement with Michael B. Polk, dated October 1, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, File No. 001-09068).

10.34* Amendment  to Written Compensation Arrangement  with Michael  B.  Polk dated May 11,  2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.3 to the Company’s  Quarterly  Report  on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.35* Compensation Arrangement with Mark Tarchetti dated May 12, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.36* Compensation Arrangement with William A. Burke III, dated May 12, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.37* Compensation Arrangement with Ralph Nicoletti dated May 12, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.38* Compensation Arrangement with Fiona Laird dated May 25, 2016.

10.39* Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of March 10, 2016, by and between Newell Rubbermaid Inc. and Paula Larson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 10, 2016, File No. 001-09068).
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10.40* Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of May 12, 2016, by and between Newell Brands Inc. and John K. Stipancich (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.41* Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of July 28, 2016, by and between Newell Brands Inc. and Joseph A. Arcuri (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated July 28, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.42 Advisory Services Agreement,  dated as of December 13, 2015, by and among Newell  Rubbermaid Inc.  and Mariposa Capital,  LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.2 of
Amendment No. 1 to Newell’s Registration Statement on Form S-4/A filed on February 17, 2016, File No. 333-208989).

10.43 Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated as of April 25, 2016 by and between Mariposa Capital, LLC and Mariposa Associates, LLC whereby Mariposa Capital, LLC assigns
its  rights,  duties and obligations under the Advisory Services Agreement,  dated as of December 13,  2015, by and among Newell  Rubbermaid Inc.  and Mariposa Capital,  LLC to
Mariposa Associates, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016, File No. 001-
09068).

10.44* Separation Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2015, by and between Jarden Corporation and Martin E. Franklin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Jarden Corporation’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 17, 2015, File No. 001-13665).

10.45* Separation Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2015, by and between Jarden Corporation and Ian G.H. Ashken (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Jarden Corporation’s
Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 17, 2015, File No. 001-13665).

10.46 Amended and Restated  Credit  Agreement  dated  as  of  January  26,  2016 among Newell  Rubbermaid Inc.,  the  subsidiary  borrowers  party  thereto,  the  guarantors  party  thereto,  the
lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit  10.1 to the Company’s Current  Report  on Form 8-K dated
January 26, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.47 Term Loan Credit Agreement dated as of January 26, 2016 among Newell Rubbermaid Inc., the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 26, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.48 Loan and Servicing Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2016, among Jarden Receivables, LLC, as Borrower, Newell Brands Inc., as Servicer, the Conduit Lenders, the Committed
Lenders and the Managing Agents named therein, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Issuing Lender, PNC Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, and PNC
Capital Markets LLC, as Structuring Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated October 3, 2016, File No. 001-09068).

10.49 Omnibus Amendment, dated as of December 16, 2016 among Jarden Receivables, LLC, Originator parties thereto, Newell Brands Inc., as Servicer, PNC Bank, National Association,
as Administrative Agent and as a Managing Agent, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Issuing Lender and each Managing Agent party thereto.

ITEM 12 — STATEMENT RE COMPUTATION OF RATIOS

12 Statement of Computation of Earnings to Fixed Charges.

ITEM 21 — SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

21.1 Significant Subsidiaries of the Company.

ITEM 23 — CONSENT OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL

23.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
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ITEM 31 — RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATIONS

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 12a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

ITEM 32 — SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

ITEM 101 — INTERACTIVE DATA FILE

101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

NEWELL BRANDS INC.
Registrant
  
By  /s/ Ralph J. Nicoletti
  Ralph J. Nicoletti
Title  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Date  March 1, 2017
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below on March 1, 2017 , by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in
the capacities indicated.

Signature   Title

/s/ Michael B. Polk   President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Michael B. Polk    
  
/s/ Ralph J. Nicoletti   Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Ralph J. Nicoletti    
  
/s/ James L. Cunningham, III   Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer
James L. Cunningham, III    
  
/s/ Michael T. Cowhig   Chairman of the Board and Director
Michael T. Cowhig    
  
/s/ Ian G. H. Ashken   Director
Ian G. H. Ashken    
  
/s/ Thomas E. Clarke   Director
Thomas E. Clarke    
   
/s/ Kevin C. Conroy  Director
Kevin C. Conroy   
  
/s/ Scott S. Cowen   Director
Scott S. Cowen    
  
/s/ Domenico De Sole   Director
Domenico De Sole    
   
/s/ Martin E. Franklin  Director
Martin E. Franklin   
   
/s/ Ros L'Esperance  Director
Ros L'Esperance   
   
/s/ Steven J. Strobel   Director
Steven J. Strobel    
  
/s/ Michael A. Todman   Director
Michael A. Todman    
  
/s/ Raymond G. Viault   Director
Raymond G. Viault    
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Schedule II

Newell Brands Inc. and subsidiaries
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
 

(in millions)
Balance at Beginning of

Period Provision (1)
Charges to Other

Accounts Write-offs (2) Balance at End of Period

Reserve for Doubtful Accounts and Cash Discounts:      

Year Ended December 31, 2016 $ 22.0 $ 125.9 $ (1.7) $ (107.7) $ 38.5
Year Ended December 31, 2015 25.3 41.4 0.2 (44.9) 22.0
Year Ended December 31, 2014 38.0 49.2 (1.6) (60.3) 25.3

(1) The provision amounts include accounts receivable reserve charges included in discontinued operations of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.
(2) Represents accounts written off during the year and cash discounts taken by customers.
 

(in millions)
Balance at Beginning of

Period Net Provision(1) Other Write-offs/ Dispositions Balance at End of Period

Inventory Reserves (including excess, obsolescence and shrink reserves):      

Year Ended December 31, 2016 $ 32.9 $ 33.0 $ (0.2) $ (19.8) $ 45.9
Year Ended December 31, 2015 32.6 23.3 0.5 (23.5) 32.9
Year Ended December 31, 2014 37.8 24.1 (1.6) (27.7) 32.6

(1) The net provision amounts include inventory reserve (benefits) charges included in discontinued operations of $(0.1) million and for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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EXHIBIT 4.19

BY ITS ACQUISITION OF THIS SECURITY THE HOLDER AND ANY SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREE HEREOF WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE
REPRESENTED  AND  WARRANTED  THAT  EITHER  (I)  THE  PURCHASER  IS  NOT  ACQUIRING  OR  HOLDING  SUCH  SECURITY  OR  AN
INTEREST  THEREIN  WITH  THE  ASSETS  OF  (A)  AN  “EMPLOYEE  BENEFIT  PLAN”  (AS  DEFINED  IN  SECTION  3(3)  OF  THE  UNITED
STATES EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974,  AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME,  AND THE REGULATIONS
PROMULGATED OR ISSUED THEREUNDER (“ERISA”)) THAT IS SUBJECT TO ERISA, (B) A “PLAN” DESCRIBED IN SECTION 4975 OF THE
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE “CODE”),  (C) ANY ENTITY DEEMED TO HOLD “PLAN ASSETS” OF ANY OF
THE

FOREGOING BY REASON OF AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN’S OR PLAN’S INVESTMENT IN SUCH ENTITY OR (D) A GOVERNMENTAL
PLAN  OR  CHURCH  PLAN  SUBJECT  TO  SUCH  PROVISIONS  THAT  ARE  SIMILAR  TO  SUCH  PROVISIONS  OF  ERISA  OR  THE  CODE
(COLLECTIVELY,  “SIMILAR  LAWS”)  OR  (II)  THE  ACQUISITION  AND  HOLDING  OF  SUCH  SECURITY  BY  THE  PURCHASER,
THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD THAT IT HOLDS SUCH SECURITY AND THE DISPOSITION OF SUCH SECURITY OR AN INTEREST THEREIN
WILL  NOT  CONSTITUTE  OR  RESULT  IN  A  NON  EXEMPT  PROHIBITED  TRANSACTION  UNDER  SECTION  406  OF  ERISA  OR  SECTION
4975  OF THE CODE,  A BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY UNDER ERISA OR A VIOLATION OF ANY PROVISIONS OF ANY APPLICABLE
SIMILAR LAW

UNLESS  THIS  GLOBAL  SECURITY  IS  PRESENTED  BY  AN  AUTHORIZED  REPRESENTATIVE  OF  EUROCLEAR  BANK,  S.A./N.V.,  AS
OPERATOR  OF  THE  EUROCLEAR  SYSTEM  (“EUROCLEAR”)  AND  CLEARSTREAM  BANKING, SOCIÉTÉ  ANONYME ,  LUXEMBOURG
(“CLEARSTREAM, LUXEMBOURG” AND, TOGETHER WITH EUROCLEAR, “EUROCLEAR/CLEARSTREAM”), TO THE COMPANY OR ITS
AGENT  FOR  REGISTRATION  OF  TRANSFER,  EXCHANGE  OR  PAYMENT,  AND  ANY  SECURITY  ISSUED  UPON  REGISTRATION  OF
TRANSFER  OF,  OR  IN  EXCHANGE  FOR,  OR  IN  LIEU  OF,  THIS  SECURITY  IS  REGISTERED  IN  THE  NAME  OF  USB  NOMINEES  (UK)
LIMITED  OR  IN  SUCH  OTHER  NAME  AS  IS  REQUESTED  BY  AN  AUTHORIZED  REPRESENTATIVE  OF  EUROCLEAR/CLEARSTREAM
(AND  ANY  PAYMENT  IS  MADE  TO  USB  NOMINEES  (UK)  LIMITED  OR  TO  SUCH  OTHER  ENTITY  AS  IS  REQUESTED  BY  AN
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF  EUROCLEAR/CLEARSTREAM),  ANY TRANSFER,  PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE
OR  OTHERWISE  BY  OR  TO  ANY  PERSON  IS  WRONGFUL  INASMUCH  AS  THE  REGISTERED  OWNER  HEREOF,  USB  NOMINEES  (UK)
LIMITED, HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

UNLESS  AND  UNTIL  THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  EXCHANGED  IN  WHOLE  OR  IN  PART  FOR  CERTIFICATES  IN  DEFINITIVE  REGISTERED
FORM, THIS CERTIFICATE MAY NOT BE

1



TRANSFERRED EXCEPT AS A WHOLE (A) BY EUROCLEAR/CLEARSTREAM TO A NOMINEE THEREOF OR (B) BY A NOMINEE THEREOF
TO EUROCLEAR/CLEARSTREAM OR ANOTHER NOMINEE OF EUROCLEAR/ CLEARSTREAM OR (C) BY EUROCLEAR/CLEARSTREAM
OR ANY SUCH NOMINEE TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY OR NOMINEE OF SUCH SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY.

SEE REVERSE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

NUMBER 1 €259,921,000
  

REGISTERED ISIN XS1389996882

NEWELL BRANDS INC. 
3¾% Senior Notes due October 1, 2021

Newell  Brands Inc.,  a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (formerly known as Newell  Rubbermaid
Inc., the “Company”), for value received, hereby promises to pay to USB Nominees (UK) Limited, as nominee of a common depositary for Euroclear Bank
S.A./N.V. and Clearstream Banking or registered assigns, the principal sum of TWO HUNDRED FIFTY-NINE MILLION NINE HUNDRED TWENTY-
ONE THOUSAND EUROS (€259,921,000) on October 1, 2021 and to pay interest, semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year (each,
an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing April 1, 2017 on said principal sum at the rate of 3¾% per annum, from the most recent Interest Payment Date
to  which  interest  has  been  paid  or  duly  provided  for  or,  if  no  interest  has  been  paid  or  duly  provided  for,  from  April  20,  2016,  until  payment  of  said
principal sum has been made or duly made available for payment. The interest so payable on any Interest Payment Date will, subject to certain exceptions
provided in the Indenture referred to on the reverse hereof, be paid to the Person in whose name this Security is registered at the close of business on the
March 15 or September 15, as the case may be (whether or not a Business Day) (each, a “Record Date”), next preceding such Interest Payment Date. The
amount of interest  payable will  be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months.  The principal  of and interest  on this Security are
payable in such coin or currency of the European Monetary Union as at the time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts at the
office  of  Elavon  Financial  Services  DAC,  UK Branch  (f/k/a  Elavon  Financial  Services  Limited,  UK Branch),  the  London  paying  agent  (the  “Place  of
Payment”), and at such other locations as the Company may from time to time designate, or as provided for in said Indenture. Any interest not punctually
paid or duly provided for shall be payable as provided in said Indenture.



Reference is made to the further provisions of this Security set forth on the reverse hereof. Such further provisions shall for all purposes have the
same effect as though fully set forth at this place.

Unless the certificate of authentication hereon has been executed by the Trustee by the manual signature of one of its authorized signatories, this
Security shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture, or be valid or obligatory for any purpose.

[THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE COMPANY HAS CAUSED THIS INSTRUMENT TO BE DULY EXECUTED.

Dated: October 26, 2016

NEWELL BRANDS INC.

By: ___________________________ f

Name: Amitabh Singh

Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer

 

TRUSTEE’S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION
 

U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee,
certifies that this is one of the Securities of the series designated
therein referred to in the within-mentioned Indenture.
 

 

By:   _______________________
Authorized Signatory
 

Dated: October 26, 2016

    

[Signature Page to Global Note – 3¾%]





NEWELL BRANDS INC. 
3¾% Senior Notes due October 1, 2021

This Security is one of a duly authorized issue of Securities of the Company designated as its 3¾% Senior Notes due October 1, 2021 (Securities of
such series being hereinafter called the “Securities”), limited in initial aggregate principal amount to €271,851,000, issued under the indenture dated as of
November 19, 2014 (hereinafter called the “Indenture”), between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”, which term
includes any successor trustee under the Indenture with respect to the Securities of this series), to which Indenture reference is hereby made for a statement
of the respective rights thereunder of the Company, the Trustee and any Holder of the Securities, and the terms upon which the Securities are, and are to
be, authenticated and delivered.

Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, this Security will be issued in global form only, registered in the name of USB Nominees (UK)
Limited or its nominee. This Security will not be issued in definitive form, except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, and ownership of this Security
shall be maintained in book-entry form by USB Nominees (UK) Limited for the accounts of participating organizations of USB Nominees (UK) Limited.

No reference herein to the Indenture and no provision of this Security or of the Indenture shall alter or impair the obligation of the Company, which
is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on this Security at the times, place and rate, and in the coin and
currency, herein prescribed.

Payment of Additional Amounts

All payments of principal and interest on the Securities by the Company will be made free and clear of and without withholding or deduction for or
on account of any present or future tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed by the United States (or any political subdivision or taxing
authority thereof or therein having power to tax) (a “Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction”), unless the withholding of such taxes, assessments or other
governmental charge is required by law or the official interpretation or administration thereof. We will, subject to the exceptions and limitations set forth
below, pay as additional interest on the Securities such additional amounts (the “additional amounts”) as are necessary in order that the net payment by us
of the principal of and interest on such Securities to a Holder who is not a United States person (as defined below), after withholding or deduction for any
present or future tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed by any Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction, will not be less than the amount provided in
such Securities to be then due and payable; provided, however, that the foregoing obligation to pay additional amounts shall not apply:
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1. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge that is imposed by reason of the Holder (or the beneficial owner for whose benefit such
Holder holds such note), or a fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary, member or shareholder of the Holder if the Holder is an estate, trust, partnership
or corporation, or a person holding a power over ,an estate or trust administered by a fiduciary holder, being considered as:

a. being or having been engaged in a trade or business in the United States or having had a permanent establishment in the United
States;

b. having a current or former connection with the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction (other than a connection arising solely as a result of the
ownership of such Securities, the receipt of any payment or the enforcement of any rights hereunder), including being or having been
a citizen or resident of the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction;

c. being or having been a foreign or domestic personal holding company, a passive foreign investment company or a controlled foreign
corporation for United States income tax purposes or a corporation that has accumulated earnings to avoid United States federal
income tax;

d. being or having been a “10-percent shareholder” of the Company as defined in section 871(h)(3) of the United States Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or any successor provision; or

e. being or having been a bank receiving payments on an extension of credit made pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the
ordinary course of its trade or business, as described in section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code or any successor provisions;

2. to any Holder that is not the sole beneficial owner of such Securities, or a portion of such Securities, or that is a fiduciary, partnership or
limited liability company, but only to the extent that a beneficial owner with respect to the Holder, a beneficiary or settlor with respect to the
fiduciary, or a beneficial owner or member of the partnership or limited liability company would not have been entitled to the payment of an
additional amount had the beneficiary, settlor, beneficial owner or member received directly its beneficial or distributive share of the
payment;

3. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge that would not have been imposed but for the failure of the Holder, or beneficial owner
or any other person
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to (a) submit an applicable IRS Form W-8 (with any required attachments) to establish the status as a non- United States person as required
for purposes of the portfolio interest exemption or IRS Form W-9 to establish the status as a United States person, or comply with other
certification, identification or information reporting requirements concerning the nationality, residence, identity or connection with a
Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction of the Holder or beneficial owner of such Securities, if compliance is required by statute, by regulation of the
Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction or by an applicable income tax treaty to which the Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction is a party as a precondition to
exemption from such tax, assessment or other governmental charge or (b) comply with any informational gathering and reporting
requirements or take any similar actions (including entering into any agreement with the IRS), in each case, that are required to obtain the
maximum available exemption from withholding by a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction that is available to payments received by or on behalf of
the Holder;

4. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge that is imposed otherwise than by withholding by us or a paying agent from the
payment;

5. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge that would not have been imposed or withheld but for a change in law, regulation, or
administrative or judicial interpretation that becomes effective more than 15 days after the payment becomes due or is duly provided for,
whichever occurs later;

6. to any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, excise, transfer, wealth, capital gains or personal property tax or similar tax, assessment or other
governmental charge;

7. to any withholding or deduction that is imposed on a payment and that is required to be made pursuant to any European Union Directive on
the taxation of savings, including the European Council Directive 2003/4S/EC or any other Directive amending, supplementing or replacing
such Directive, or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive or Directives;

8. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge required to be withheld by any paying agent from any payment of principal of or
interest on any note, if such payment can be made without such withholding by at least one other paying agent;

9. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge that would not have been imposed or levied but for the presentation by the Holder of
any note, where
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presentation is required, for payment on a date more than 30 days after the date on which payment became due and payable or the date on
which payment thereof is duly provided for, whichever occurs later;

10. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge that is imposed or withheld solely by reason of the beneficial owner being a bank (i)
purchasing such Securities in the ordinary course of its lending business or (ii) that is neither (A) buying such Securities for investment
purposes only nor (B) buying such Securities for resale to a third-party that either is not a bank or holding such Securities for investment
purposes only;

11. to any tax, assessment or other governmental charge imposed under sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code as of the issue date (or any
amended or successor provisions), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any agreement entered into pursuant
to section 1471 (b) of the Code, any intergovernmental agreement, or any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant
to any intergovernmental agreement entered into in connection with the implementation of such sections of the Code; or

12. in the case of any combination of items (1) through (11) above.

The Securities are subject in all cases to any tax, fiscal or other law or regulation or administrative or judicial interpretation applicable to the
Securities. Except as specifically provided hereunder, we will not be required to make any payment for any tax, assessment or other governmental charge
imposed by any government or a political subdivision or taxing authority of or in any government or political subdivision.

“United States” means the United States of America, the states of the United States, and the District of Columbia, and the term “United States
person” means any individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States for U.S. federal income tax purposes, a corporation, partnership or other
entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state of the United States or the District of Columbia, or any estate or trust the
income of which is subject to United States federal income taxation regardless of its source.

Optional Redemption

The Securities will be redeemable in whole or in part, at the option of the Company at any time and from time to time prior to maturity (any such
date of redemption, the “Redemption Date”), on not less than 30 or more than 60 days’ notice mailed to Holders of the Securities being redeemed, at a
redemption price (the “Redemption Price”) equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the principal amount of the Securities being redeemed on the Redemption
Date and (b) the sum of
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the present values of the remaining unscheduled payments of principal and interest on the Securities being redeemed on the Redemption Date, computed
using a discount rate equal to the Bund Rate as of such Redemption Date, plus 50 basis points, plus in each case, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the
Redemption Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, installments of interest on Securities that are due and payable on Interest Payment Dates falling on or
prior to a Redemption Date will be payable on the Interest Payment Date to the Holders as of the close of business on the relevant Record Date. Once
notice of redemption is mailed, the Securities called for redemption will become due and payable on the Redemption Date and at the Redemption Price,
plus accrued and unpaid interest to the Redemption Date. The Securities will be redeemed in increments of €1,000. No Securities having principal of less
than the Minimum Denomination shall be redeemed in part.

“Bund Rate” means, with respect to any redemption date for the Securities, the mid-market yield, under the heading which represents the average
for the immediately prior week, appearing on Reuters page AABBUND01, or its successor, for the maturity corresponding to October 1, 2021 (if no
maturity date is within three months before or after October 1, 2021, yields for the two published maturities most closely corresponding to October 1, 2021
shall be determined and the Bund yield shall be interpolated or extrapolated from such yields on a straight line basis, rounding to the nearest month). The
Bund Rate shall be calculated by the Company on the third business day preceding such redemption date.

Redemption for Tax Reasons

If, (a) as a result of any change in, or amendment to the laws (or any regulations or rulings promulgated under the laws) of any Relevant Taxing
Jurisdiction, or any change in, or amendment to, an official position regarding the application or interpretation of such laws, regulations or rulings
(including by virtue of a holding, judgment or order by a court of competent jurisdiction or a change in published administrative practice), which change or
amendment is announced or becomes effective on or after the date hereof, we become or, based on a written independent opinion of counsel selected by the
Company, are likely to become obligated to pay additional amounts as described under “Payment of Additional Amounts” with respect to the Securities, or
(b) any act is taken by a Relevant Taxing Jurisdiction on or after April 20, 2016 whether or not such act is taken with respect to us or any affiliate, that
results in us being required or, based upon a written opinion of independent counsel selected by the Company, being likely to be required to pay such
additional amounts, then we may at any time at our option redeem, in whole, but not in part, the Securities on not less than 15 nor more than 60 days prior
notice, at a redemption price equal to 100% of their principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest on the Securities being redeemed to, but
excluding, the Redemption Date.
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On and after the Redemption Date, interest will cease to accrue on the Securities, or any portion of the Securities, called for redemption (unless the
Company defaults in the payment of the Redemption Price and accrued interest). On or before the Redemption Date, the Company will deposit with
Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch (f/k/a Elavon Financial Services Limited, UK Branch) money sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of and
accrued interest on the Securities to be redeemed on such date. If less than all the Securities are to be redeemed, the Securities to be redeemed shall be
selected by lot by Euroclean/Clearstreem or, if the Securities are not represented by a global security, by such method as the Trustee shall deem fair and
appropriate.

Notice of redemption will be mailed to Holders of Securities to be redeemed by first-class mail (or otherwise transmitted in accordance with the
applicable procedures of Euroclear/Clearstream) at least 30 and not more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption. Unless the Company defaults
in payment of the redemption price, on and after the Redemption Date, interest will cease to accrue on the Securities or portions thereof called for
redemption. On or before the Redemption Date, the Company will deposit with the paying agent or set aside, segregate and hold in trust (if the Company is
acting as paying agent), funds sufficient to pay the redemption price of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, the Securities to be redeemed on that
Redemption Date. If fewer than all of the Securities are to be redeemed, the Trustee will select, not more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date, the
particular Securities or portions thereof for redemption from the outstanding Securities not previously called by such method as the Trustee deems fair and
appropriate and in accordance with the applicable procedures of the common depositary; provided, however, that no Securities of a principal amount of
€100,000 or less shall be redeemed in part.

Change of Control

If a Change of Control Triggering Event occurs with respect to the Securities, unless the Company has exercised its option to redeem the Securities
through an optional redemption or redeem the Securities as described above by mailing notice of such redemption to the Holders of the Securities being
redeemed, the Company will be required to make an offer (a “Change of Control Offer”) to each Holder of Securities to repurchase all of that Holder’s
Securities or any part of that Holder’s Securities such that the principal amount that remains Outstanding of any Security not repurchased in full equals
€100,000 or an integral multiple of €1,000 in excess thereof. In a Change of Control Offer, the Company will be required to offer payment in cash equal to
101% of the aggregate principal amount of Securities repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the Securities repurchased to the date of
repurchase (a “Change of Control Payment”).

    

11



Within 30 days following any Change of Control Triggering Event or, at the Company’s option, prior to any Change of Control, but after public
announcement of the transaction that constitutes or may constitute the Change of Control, a notice will be mailed to Holders of the Securities describing
the transaction that constitutes or may constitute the Change of Control Triggering Event and offering to repurchase such Securities on the date specified in
the notice, which date will be no earlier than 30 days and no later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed (a “Change of Control Payment Date”).
The notice will, if mailed prior to the date of consummation of the Change of Control, state that the Change of Control Offer is conditioned on the Change
of Control Triggering Event occurring on or prior to the Change of Control Payment Date.

In order to accept the Change of Control Offer, the Holder must deliver to the Paying Agent, at least three Business Days prior to the Change of
Control Payment Date, this Security together with the form entitled “Election Form” (which form is annexed hereto) duly completed, or a telegram, telex,
facsimile transmission or a letter from a member of a national securities exchange, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or a commercial bank or
trust company in the United States setting forth:

(i) the name of the Holder of this Security;

(ii) the principal amount of this Security;

(iii) the principal amount of this Security to be repurchased;

(iv) the certificate number or a description of the tenor and terms of this Security;

(v) a statement that the Holder is accepting the Change of Control Offer; and

(vi) a guarantee that this Security, together with the form entitled “Election Form” duly completed, will be received by the Paying Agent
at least three Business Days prior to the Change of Control Payment Date.

Any exercise by a Holder of its election to accept the Change of Control Offer shall be irrevocable. The Change of Control Offer may be accepted for less
than the entire principal amount of this Security, but in that event the principal amount of this Security remaining outstanding after repurchase must be
equal to €100,000 or an integral multiple of €1,000 in excess thereof.

Upon the Change of Control Payment Date, the Company will, to the extent lawful: (a) accept for payment all Securities or portions of Securities
properly tendered and not withdrawn
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pursuant to the Change of Control Offer; (b) deposit with the Paying Agent an amount equal to the Change of Control Payment in respect of all Securities
or portions of the Securities properly tendered; and (c) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee the Securities properly accepted together with an
Officers’ Certificate stating the aggregate principal amount of Securities or portions of Securities being repurchased.

The Company will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Triggering Event if a third party
makes such an offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements for an offer made by the Company and the third party
repurchases all Securities properly tendered and not withdrawn under its offer. In addition, the Company will not repurchase any Securities if there has
occurred and is continuing on the Change of Control Payment Date an Event of Default under the Indenture, other than a Default in the payment of the
Change of Control Payment upon a Change of Control Triggering Event.

The Company will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-l under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and
any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of the
Securities as a result of a Change of Control Triggering Event. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the
Change of Control Offer provisions contained herein, the Company will comply with those securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have
breached its obligations under the Change of Control Offer provisions contained herein by virtue of any such conflict.

For purposes of the Change of Control Offer provisions, the following terms will be applicable:

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following: (1) the direct or indirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition
(other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or more series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets and the
assets of its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, to any person, other than the Company or one of its subsidiaries; (2) the consummation of any transaction
(including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation) the result of which is that any person becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3
and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the Company’s outstanding Voting Stock or other Voting Stock into which
the Company’s Voting Stock is reclassified, consolidated, exchanged or changed measured by voting power rather than number of shares; (3) the Company
consolidates with, or merges with or into, any person, or any person consolidates with, or merges with or into, the Company, in any such event pursuant to
a transaction in which any of the Company’s outstanding Voting Stock or the Voting Stock of such other person is converted into or exchanged
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for cash, securities or other property, other than any such transaction where the shares of the Company’s Voting Stock outstanding immediately prior to
such transaction constitute, or are converted into or exchanged for, a majority of the Voting Stock of the surviving person or any direct or indirect parent
company of the surviving person, immediately after giving effect to such transaction; (4) the first day on which a majority of the members of the
Company’s Board of Directors are not Continuing Directors; or (5) the adoption of a plan relating to the Company’s liquidation or dissolution.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed to involve a Change of Control under clause (2) above if (i) the Company becomes
a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of a holding company and (ii)(A) the direct or indirect holders of the Voting Stock of such holding company
immediately following that transaction are substantially the same as the holders of the Company’s Voting Stock immediately prior to that transaction or (B)
immediately following that transaction no person (other than a holding company satisfying the requirements of this sentence) is the beneficial owner,
directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the Voting Stock of such holding company. The term “person,” as used in this definition, has the meaning given
thereto in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.

“Change of Control Triggering Event” means the occurrence of both a Change of Control and a Rating Event.

“Continuing Directors” means, as of any date of determination, any member of the Company’s Board of Directors who (1) was a member of such
Board of Directors on the date the Securities were issued or (2) was nominated for election, elected or appointed to such Board of Directors with the
approval of a majority of the Continuing Directors who were members of such Board of Directors at the time of such nomination, election or appointment
(either by a specific vote or by approval of the Company’s proxy statement in which such member was named as a nominee for election as a director,
without objection to such nomination).

“Fitch” means Fitch Inc., and its successors.

“Investment Grade Rating” means a rating equal to or higher than BBB- (or the equivalent) by Fitch, a rating equal to or higher than Baa3 (or the
equivalent) by Moody’s and a rating equal to or higher than BBB- (or the equivalent) by S&P, and a rating equal to or higher than the equivalent
investment grade credit rating from any replacement Rating Agency or Rating Agencies selected by the Company.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., and its successors.

“Rating Agencies” means (1) each of Fitch, Moody’s and S&P and (2) if any of Fitch, Moody’s or S&P ceases to rate the Securities or fails to make
a rating of the Securities publicly
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available for reasons outside of the Company’s control, a “nationally recognized statistical rating organization” within the meaning of Rule 15c3-l(c)(2)(vi)
(F) under the Exchange Act selected by the Company (as certified by a resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors) as a replacement agency for Fitch,
Moody’s or S&P, or all of them, as the case may be.

“Rating Event” means, that on any day during the period (the “Trigger Period”) commencing 60 days prior to the first public announcement by the
Company of any Change of Control (or pending Change of Control) and ending 60 days following consummation of such Change of Control (which
Trigger Period will be extended following consummation of a Change of Control for so long as any of the Rating Agencies has publicly announced that it
is considering a possible ratings change), the Securities cease to have an Investment Grade Rating from at least two of the three Rating Agencies. Unless at
least two of the three Rating Agencies are providing a rating for the Securities at the commencement of any Trigger Period, the Securities will be deemed
to have ceased to have an Investment Grade Rating from at least two of the three Rating Agencies during that Trigger Period.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and its successors.

“Voting Stock” means, with respect to any specified “person” (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) as of any date, the
capital stock of such person that is at the time entitled to vote generally in the election of the board of directors of such person.

Transfer, Denominations, Exchange

As provided in the Indenture and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, this Security may be registered for transfer on the Security Register
of the Company, upon surrender of this Security for registration of transfer at the office or agency of the Company in the Place of Payment, and at such
other locations as the Company may from time to time designate, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory
to the Company and the Security Registrar duly executed by, the Holder hereof or the Holder’s attorney duly authorized in writing, and thereupon one or
more new Securities, of authorized denominations and for the same aggregate principal amount, will be issued to the designated transferee or transferees.

The Securities are issuable only as Registered Securities without coupons in the minimum denominations of €100,000 and any integral multiple of
€1,000 in excess thereof (the “Minimum Denomination”). As provided in the Indenture, and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, Securities are
exchangeable for a like aggregate principal amount of Securities of different authorized denominations, as requested by the Holder surrendering the same.
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No service charge will be made for any such registration of transfer or exchange, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient to
cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection therewith.

Persons Deemed Owners

Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, prior to due presentment for registration of transfer of this Security, the Company, the Trustee, the
Security Registrar, the Paying Agent and any agent of any one thereof may treat the Person in whose name this Security is registered as the owner hereof
for all purposes, whether or not this Security be overdue, and neither the Company, the Trustee, the Security Registrar, the Paying Agent nor any such
agent shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

Additional Securities

The Company may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of the registered Holders of the Securities, create and issue further Securities
ranking equally and ratably with the Securities in all respects (or in all respects except for the payment of interest accruing prior to the issue date of such
further Securities or except for the first payment of interest following the issue date of such further Securities), so that such further Securities shall be
consolidated and form a single series with the Securities and shall have the same terms as to status, redemption or otherwise as the Securities.

Defaults and Remedies

If an Event of Default, as defined in the Indenture, with respect to the Securities shall occur, the principal of all the Securities may be declared due
and payable in the manner and with the effect provided in the Indenture.

The Indenture permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the amendment thereof and the modification of the rights and obligations of the
Company with respect to the Securities and the rights of the Holders of the Securities under the Indenture at any time by the Company with the consent of
the Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Securities at the time Outstanding. The Indenture also contains provisions
permitting the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Securities at the time Outstanding, on behalf of the Holders of all the
Securities, to waive compliance by the Company with certain provisions of the Indenture and certain past defaults under the Indenture and their
consequences. Any such consent or waiver by the Holder of this Security shall be conclusive and binding upon such Holder and upon all future Holders of
this Security and of any Security issued upon the registration of transfer hereof or in exchange herefor or in lieu hereof whether or not a notation of such
consent or waiver is made upon this Security.
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No recourse shall be had for the payment of the principal of or premium, if any, or the interest on this Security, or for any claim based hereon, or
otherwise in respect hereof, or based on or in respect of the Indenture or any indenture supplemental thereto, against any incorporator, stockholder, officer
or director, as such, past, present or future, of the Company or any successor corporation, whether by virtue of any constitution, statute or rule of law, or by
the enforcement of any assessment or penalty or otherwise, all such liability being, by the acceptance hereof and as part of the consideration for the issue
hereof, expressly waived and released.

Discharge

The Company at its option, subject to the terms and conditions contained in the Indenture, (a) will be discharged from any and all obligations in
respect of the Securities (except for certain obligations to register the transfer and exchange of such Securities, to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost or
stolen Securities, to compensate, reimburse and indemnify the Trustee, to maintain an office or agency with respect to the Securities and to hold moneys
for payment in trust) or (b) may omit to comply with certain restrictive covenants contained in the Indenture, in each case upon irrevocable deposit with the
Trustee in trust of money or U.S. government securities (as described in the Indenture) or a combination thereof, which through the payment of interest and
principal in respect thereof in accordance with their terms will provide money in an amount sufficient to discharge the principal of and premium, if any,
and interest on such Securities due on or prior to the Stated Maturity or Redemption Date of such principal and premium, if any, or interest.

Governing Law

This Security shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York, without regard to its conflicts of law principles.

Defined Terms, Abbreviations

Except as otherwise defined herein, all terms used in this Security which are defined in the Indenture shall have the meanings assigned to them in
the Indenture.

Customary abbreviations may be used in the name of a Holder of Securities or an assignee, such as TEN COM (=tenants in common), TEN ENT (
tenants by the entireties), JT TEN (=joint tenants with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common), CUST (=custodian), and U/G/M/A (=Uniform
Gift to Minors Act). Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.
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ASSIGNMENT FORM

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) unto

    

    

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY 
OR OTHER IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE

     
    

(Please print or typewrite name and address 
including postal zip code of assignee)

the within Security and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints

    

Attorney to transfer said Security on the books of the Company, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:     

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the
within instrument in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.

        



________________________________

ELECTION FORM

TO BE COMPLETED ONLY IF THE HOLDER 
ELECTS TO ACCEPT THE CHANGE OF CONTROL OFFER

________________________________

The undersigned hereby irrevocably requests and instructs the Company to repurchase the within Security (or the portion thereof specified below),
pursuant to its terms, on the Change of Control Payment Date specified in the Change of Control Offer, for the Change of Control Payment specified in the
within  Security,  to  the  undersigned,  _______________________,  at  _______________________  (please  print  or  typewrite  name  and  address  of  the
undersigned).

For  this  election to  accept  the Change of  Control  Offer  to  be effective,  the Company must  receive,  at  the address  of  the Paying Agent  set  forth
below or at such other place or places of which the Company shall from time to time notify the Holder of the within Security, either (i) the within Security
with this “Election Form” form duly completed, or (ii) a telegram, telex, facsimile transmission or a letter from a member of a national securities exchange
or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or a commercial bank or a trust company in the United States setting forth (a) the name of the Holder of the
Security, (b) the principal amount of the Security, (c) the principal amount of the Security to be repurchased, (d) the certificate number or description of the
tenor and terms of the Security,  (e)  a statement  that  the option to elect  repurchase is  being exercised,  and (f)  a guarantee stating that  the Security to be
repurchased, together with this “Election Form” duly completed will be received by the Paying Agent three Business Days prior to the Change of Control
Payment Date. The address of the Paying Agent is Elavon Financial Services DAC, UK Branch (f/k/a Elavon Financial Services Limited, UK Branch), 125
Old Broad Street, London, EC2N 1AR.

If less than the entire principal amount of the within Security is to be repurchased, specify the portion thereof (which principal amount must be an
integral multiple of €1,000 and such that the principal amount not being repurchased is €100,000 or an integral multiple of €1,000 in excess thereof) which
the Holder elects to have repurchased: €_________________.

Dated:                 

    

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the
within instrument in every

        



particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.

NAI-1502142521v4         



EXHIBIT 4.20

BY ITS ACQUISITION OF THIS SECURITY THE HOLDER AND ANY SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREE HEREOF WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE
REPRESENTED  AND  WARRANTED  THAT  EITHER  (I)  THE  PURCHASER  IS  NOT  ACQUIRING  OR  HOLDING  SUCH  SECURITY  OR  AN
INTEREST  THEREIN  WITH  THE  ASSETS  OF  (A)  AN  “EMPLOYEE  BENEFIT  PLAN”  (AS  DEFINED  IN  SECTION  3(3)  OF  THE  UNITED
STATES EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974,  AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME,  AND THE REGULATIONS
PROMULGATED OR ISSUED THEREUNDER (“ERISA”)) THAT IS SUBJECT TO ERISA, (B) A “PLAN” DESCRIBED IN SECTION 4975 OF THE
INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE “CODE”),  (C) ANY ENTITY DEEMED TO HOLD “PLAN ASSETS” OF ANY OF
THE

FOREGOING BY REASON OF AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN’S OR PLAN’S INVESTMENT IN SUCH ENTITY OR (D) A GOVERNMENTAL
PLAN  OR  CHURCH  PLAN  SUBJECT  TO  SUCH  PROVISIONS  THAT  ARE  SIMILAR  TO  SUCH  PROVISIONS  OF  ERISA  OR  THE  CODE
(COLLECTIVELY,  “SIMILAR  LAWS”)  OR  (II)  THE  ACQUISITION  AND  HOLDING  OF  SUCH  SECURITY  BY  THE  PURCHASER,
THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD THAT IT HOLDS SUCH SECURITY AND THE DISPOSITION OF SUCH SECURITY OR AN INTEREST THEREIN
WILL  NOT  CONSTITUTE  OR  RESULT  IN  A  NON  EXEMPT  PROHIBITED  TRANSACTION  UNDER  SECTION  406  OF  ERISA  OR  SECTION
4975  OF THE CODE,  A BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY UNDER ERISA OR A VIOLATION OF ANY PROVISIONS OF ANY APPLICABLE
SIMILAR LAW

UNLESS THIS CERTIFICATE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW
YORK CORPORATION (THE “DEPOSITARY”)  (55  WATER STREET,  NEW YORK,  NEW YORK),  TO THE COMPANY OR ITS AGENT FOR
REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND ANY CERTIFICATE ISSUED IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE &
CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITARY, AND ANY PAYMENT
HEREON IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE
DEPOSITARY, ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL
SINCE THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

UNLESS  AND  UNTIL  THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  EXCHANGED  IN  WHOLE  OR  IN  PART  FOR  CERTIFICATES  IN  DEFINITIVE  REGISTERED
FORM, THIS CERTIFICATE MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT AS A WHOLE (A) BY THE DEPOSITARY TO A NOMINEE THEREOF OR
(B) BY A NOMINEE THEREOF TO THE DEPOSITARY OR ANOTHER NOMINEE OF THE DEPOSITARY OR (C) BY THE DEPOSITARY OR
ANY SUCH NOMINEE TO A SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY OR NOMINEE OF SUCH SUCCESSOR DEPOSITARY.

SEE REVERSE FOR CERTAIN DEFINITIONS



NUMBER 1    $295,122,000

REGISTERED    CUSIP 651229BA3

    ISIN US651229BA36

NEWELL BRANDS INC. 
5% Senior Notes due November 15, 2023

Newell Brands Inc., a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (formerly known as Newell
Rubbermaid Inc., the “Company”), for value received, hereby promises to pay to Cede & Co. or registered assigns, the principal sum of TWO HUNDRED
NINETY-FIVE MILLION ONE HUNDRED TWENTY-TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS ($295,122,000) on November 15, 2023 and to pay interest, semi-
annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year (each, an “Interest Payment Date”), commencing November 15, 2016 on said principal sum
at the rate of 5% per annum, from the most recent Interest Payment Date to which interest has been paid or duly provided for or, if no interest has been paid
or duly provided for, from May 15, 2016, until payment of said principal sum has been made or duly made available for payment. The interest so payable
on any Interest Payment Date will, subject to certain exceptions provided in the Indenture referred to on the reverse hereof, be paid to the Person in whose
name this Security is registered at the close of business on the May 1 or November 1, as the case may be (whether or not a Business Day) (each, a “Record
Date”), next preceding such Interest Payment Date. The amount of interest payable will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months. The principal of and interest on this Security are payable in such coin or currency of the United States of America as at the time of payment is
legal tender for payment of public and private debts at the office or agency of the Company in The City of New York, New York (the “Place of Payment”),
and at such other locations as the Company may from time to time designate, or as provided for in said Indenture. Any interest not punctually paid or duly
provided for shall be payable as provided in said Indenture.

Reference is made to the further  provisions of this Security set  forth on the reverse hereof.  Such further provisions shall  for all  purposes
have the same effect as though fully set forth at this place.

Unless the certificate of authentication hereon has been executed by the Trustee by the manual signature of one of its authorized signatories,
this Security shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Indenture, or be valid or obligatory for any purpose.

[THIS SPACE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, THE COMPANY HAS CAUSED THIS INSTRUMENT TO BE DULY EXECUTED.

Dated: October 26, 2016

NEWELL BRANDS INC.

By: f

Name: Amitabh Singh

Title: Senior Vice President, Treasurer

TRUSTEE’S CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION

U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee, 
certifies that this is one of the Securities of the series designated 
therein referred to in the within-mentioned Indenture.

By: ____________________ 
Authorized Signatory

Dated: October 26, 2016

[Signature Page to Global Note - 5%]



[Signature Page to 5% Global Note — 144A]
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NEWELL BRANDS INC. 
5% Senior Notes due November 15, 2023

This Security is one of a duly authorized issue of Securities of the Company designated as its 5% Senior Notes due 2023 (Securities of such
series  being  hereinafter  called  the  “Securities”),  limited  in  initial  aggregate  principal  amount  to  $295,122,000,  issued  under  the  indenture  dated  as  of
November 19, 2014 (hereinafter called the “Indenture”), between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Trustee”, which term
includes any successor trustee under the Indenture with respect to the Securities of this series), to which Indenture reference is hereby made for a statement
of the respective rights thereunder of the Company, the Trustee and any Holder of the Securities, and the terms upon which the Securities are, and are to
be, authenticated and delivered.

Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, this Security will be issued in global form only, registered in the name of the Depositary or
its  nominee.  This  Security  will  not  be  issued in  definitive  form,  except  as  otherwise  provided  in  the  Indenture,  and ownership  of  this  Security  shall  be
maintained in book-entry form by the Depositary for the accounts of participating organizations of the Depositary.

No  reference  herein  to  the  Indenture  and  no  provision  of  this  Security  or  of  the  Indenture  shall  alter  or  impair  the  obligation  of  the
Company, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on this Security at the times, place and rate, and in
the coin and currency, herein prescribed.

Optional Redemption

At any time prior to November 15, 2018, the Company may on any one or more occasions redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal
amount of the Securities (which includes additional Securities, if any) issued under the Indenture (any such date of redemption, the “Redemption Date”)
upon not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice,  at a redemption price equal to 105.000% of the principal  amount of the Securities redeemed, plus
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the Redemption Date (subject to the rights of Holders of Securities on the relevant record date to receive interest on
the relevant Interest Payment Date), in an amount not to exceed the net proceeds from an Equity Offering (as defined below) by the Company; provided
that:

(1)    at least 60% of the aggregate principal amount of Securities (which includes additional Securities, if any) issued under the Indenture
remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence of such redemption; and

(2)    each such redemption occurs within 90 days after the date of closing of the related Equity Offering.

At any time prior to November 15, 2018, the Company may on any one or more occasions redeem all or a part of the Securities, upon not
less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Securities redeemed, plus the Applicable
Premium (as defined below) as of and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the applicable

5



date of redemption, subject to the rights of Holders on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant Interest Payment Date.

On or after November 15, 2018, the Company may on any one or more occasions redeem all or a part of the Securities, upon not less than
30 nor more than 60 days’ notice, at the redemption prices (expressed as percentages of principal amount) set forth below, plus accrued and unpaid interest,
if any, on the Securities redeemed, to the applicable date of redemption, if redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on November 15 of the
years indicated below, subject to the rights of Holders on the relevant record date to receive interest on the relevant Interest Payment Date:

Year Percentage

2018 103.750%
2019 102.500%
2020 101.250%
2021 and thereafter 100.000%

On and after  the Redemption Date,  interest  will  cease to accrue on the Securities,  or  any portion of  the Securities,  called for  redemption
(unless the Company defaults in the payment of the Redemption Price and accrued interest). On or before the Redemption Date, the Company will deposit
with a Paying Agent (or the Trustee) money sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of and accrued interest on the Securities to be redeemed on such date. If
less  than  all  the  Securities  are  to  be  redeemed,  the  Securities  to  be  redeemed  shall  be  selected  by  lot  by  the  Depositary  or,  if  the  Securities  are  not
represented by a global security, by such method as the Trustee shall deem fair and appropriate.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, installments of interest on Securities that are due and payable on Interest Payment Dates falling on or prior
to a Redemption Date will be payable on the Interest Payment Date to the Holders as of the close of business on the relevant Record Date. Once notice of
redemption is mailed, the Securities called for redemption will become due and payable on the Redemption Date and at the Redemption Price, plus accrued
and  unpaid  interest  to  the  Redemption  Date.  The  Securities  will  be  redeemed  in  increments  of  $1,000.  No  Securities  having  principal  of  less  than  the
Minimum Denomination shall be redeemed in part.

“Applicable Premium” means with respect to any Securities on any Redemption Date, the greater of (1) 1.0% of the principal amount of the
Securities or (2), the excess, if any, of (a) the present value at such Redemption Date of (i) the redemption price of the Securities on November 15, 2018,
plus (ii) all required interest payments due on such Securities through November 15, 2018 (excluding accrued and unpaid interest to the Redemption Date),
computed
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using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate at such Redemption Date, plus 50 basis points, over (b) the principal amount of such Securities.

“Equity Offering” means any offering of shares, interests, participation or other equivalents (however designated and whether or not voting)
of  corporate  stock,  including  each  class  of  common  stock  and  preferred  stock  (collectively,  “Capital  Stock”),  of  the  Company  that  is  not  Disqualified
Capital Stock.

“Disqualified Capital Stock” means, with respect to any Person, any Capital Stock which by its terms (or by the terms of any security into
which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable at the option of the holder) or upon the happening of any event:

(1) matures or is mandatorily redeemable (other than redeemable only for Capital  Stock of such Person which is not itself  Disqualified
Stock) pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise;

(2) is convertible or exchangeable at the option of the holder for indebtedness or Disqualified Capital Stock; or

(3) is mandatorily redeemable or must be purchased upon the occurrence of certain events or otherwise, in whole or in part;

in  each  case,  on  or  prior  to  the  final  maturity  date  of  the  Securities;  provided,  however,  that  any  Capital  Stock  that  would  not  constitute  Disqualified
Capital  Stock  but  for  provisions  thereof  giving  holders  thereof  the  right  to  require  such  Person  to  purchase  or  redeem  such  Capital  Stock  upon  the
occurrence  of  an “asset  sale”  or  “change of  control”  occurring  prior  to  the final  maturity  date  of  the  Securities  shall  not  constitute  Disqualified  Capital
Stock if: (1) the “asset sale” or “change of control” provisions applicable to such Capital Stock are not more favorable to the holders of such Capital Stock
than the terms applicable to the Securities and described under “Change of Control” and (2) any such requirement only becomes operative after compliance
with such terms applicable to the Securities, including the purchase of any Securities tendered pursuant thereto.

The amount of any Disqualified Capital Stock that does not have a fixed redemption, repayment or repurchase price will be calculated in
accordance with the terms of such Disqualified Capital Stock as if such Disqualified Capital Stock were redeemed, repaid or repurchased on any date on
which the  amount  of  such Disqualified  Stock  is  to  be  determined  pursuant  to  the  Indenture;  provided,  however,  that  if  such Disqualified  Capital  Stock
could not be required to be redeemed, repaid or repurchased at the time of such determination, the redemption, repayment or repurchase price will be the
book value of such Disqualified Capital Stock as reflected in the most recent internal financial statements of such Person.

“Treasury Rate” means, at the time of computation, the yield to maturity of United States Treasury Securities with a constant maturity (as
compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) which has become publicly available at least two business days
prior to the Redemption Date or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data) most nearly equal
to the period from the
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Redemption  Date  to  November  15,  2018;  provided,  however,  that  if  the  period  from  the  Redemption  Date  to  November  15,  2018  is  not  equal  to  the
constant  maturity  of  a  United  States  Treasury  Security  for  which  a  weekly  average  yield  is  given,  the  Treasury  Rate  shall  be  obtained  by  linear
interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the weekly average yields of United States Treasury Securities for which such yields are
given, except that if the period from the Redemption Date to November 15, 2018 is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United
States Treasury Securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year shall be used.

Change of Control

If a Change of Control Triggering Event occurs with respect to the Securities, unless the Company has exercised its option to redeem the
Securities  through  an  optional  redemption  or  redeem  the  Securities  as  described  above  by  mailing  notice  of  such  redemption  to  the  Holders  of  the
Securities being redeemed, the Company will be required to make an offer (a “Change of Control Offer”) to each Holder of Securities to repurchase all of
that Holder’s Securities or any part of that Holder’s Securities such that the principal amount that remains Outstanding of any Security not repurchased in
full equals $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof. In a Change of Control Offer, the Company will be required to offer payment in cash
equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount of Securities repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the Securities repurchased to the
date of repurchase (a “Change of Control Payment”).

Within 30 days following any Change of Control Triggering Event or, at the Company’s option, prior to any Change of Control, but after
public  announcement  of  the  transaction  that  constitutes  or  may  constitute  the  Change  of  Control,  a  notice  will  be  mailed  to  Holders  of  the  Securities
describing the transaction that constitutes or may constitute the Change of Control Triggering Event and offering to repurchase such Securities on the date
specified in the notice,  which date will  be no earlier  than 30 days and no later  than 60 days from the date such notice is  mailed (a “Change of Control
Payment  Date”).  The  notice  will,  if  mailed  prior  to  the  date  of  consummation  of  the  Change  of  Control,  state  that  the  Change  of  Control  Offer  is
conditioned on the Change of Control Triggering Event occurring on or prior to the Change of Control Payment Date.

In  order  to  accept  the  Change  of  Control  Offer,  the  Holder  must  deliver  to  the  Paying  Agent,  at  least  three  Business  Days  prior  to  the
Change  of  Control  Payment  Date,  this  Security  together  with  the  form  entitled  “Election  Form”  (which  form  is  annexed  hereto)  duly  completed,  or  a
telegram,  telex,  facsimile  transmission  or  a  letter  from  a  member  of  a  national  securities  exchange,  the  Financial  Industry  Regulatory  Authority  or  a
commercial bank or trust company in the United States setting forth:

(i) the name of the Holder of this Security;

(ii) the principal amount of this Security;

(iii) the principal amount of this Security to be repurchased;

(iv) the certificate number or a description of the tenor and terms of this Security;
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(v) a statement that the Holder is accepting the Change of Control Offer; and

(vi) a guarantee that this Security, together with the form entitled “Election Form” duly completed, will be received by the Paying Agent at
least three Business Days prior to the Change of Control Payment Date.

Any exercise by a Holder of its election to accept the Change of Control Offer shall be irrevocable. The Change of Control Offer may be accepted for less
than the entire principal  amount of this  Security,  but  in that  event  the principal  amount of this Security remaining outstanding after  repurchase must be
equal to $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof.

Upon  the  Change  of  Control  Payment  Date,  the  Company  will,  to  the  extent  lawful:  (a)  accept  for  payment  all  Securities  or  portions  of
Securities properly tendered and not withdrawn pursuant to the Change of Control Offer; (b) deposit with the Paying Agent an amount equal to the Change
of Control Payment in respect of all Securities or portions of the Securities properly tendered; and (c) deliver or cause to be delivered to the Trustee the
Securities  properly  accepted  together  with  an  Officers’  Certificate  stating  the  aggregate  principal  amount  of  Securities  or  portions  of  Securities  being
repurchased.

The Company will not be required to make a Change of Control Offer upon the occurrence of a Change of Control Triggering Event if a
third party makes such an offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in compliance with the requirements for an offer made by the Company and the
third party repurchases all Securities properly tendered and not withdrawn under its offer. In addition, the Company will not repurchase any Securities if
there has occurred and is continuing on the Change of Control Payment Date an Event of Default under the Indenture, other than a Default in the payment
of the Change of Control Payment upon a Change of Control Triggering Event.

The Company will  comply with the requirements  of Rule 14e-1 under the Securities  Exchange Act of 1934,  as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent those laws and regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of
the Securities as a result of a Change of Control Triggering Event. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the
Change of Control Offer provisions contained herein, the Company will comply with those securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed to have
breached its obligations under the Change of Control Offer provisions contained herein by virtue of any such conflict.

For purposes of the Change of Control Offer provisions, the following terms will be applicable:

“Change  of  Control”  means  the  occurrence  of  any  of  the  following:  (1)  the  direct  or  indirect  sale,  lease,  transfer,  conveyance  or  other
disposition (other than by way of merger or consolidation), in one or more series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets
and  the  assets  of  its  subsidiaries,  taken  as  a  whole,  to  any  person,  other  than  the  Company  or  one  of  its  subsidiaries;  (2)  the  consummation  of  any
transaction (including, without limitation, any merger or consolidation) the result of which is that any person becomes the beneficial
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owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the Company’s outstanding Voting Stock
or other Voting Stock into which the Company’s Voting Stock is reclassified, consolidated, exchanged or changed measured by voting power rather than
number  of  shares;  (3)  the Company consolidates  with,  or  merges with or  into,  any person,  or  any person consolidates  with,  or  merges with or  into,  the
Company, in any such event pursuant to a transaction in which any of the Company’s outstanding Voting Stock or the Voting Stock of such other person is
converted  into  or  exchanged  for  cash,  securities  or  other  property,  other  than  any  such  transaction  where  the  shares  of  the  Company’s  Voting  Stock
outstanding immediately prior to such transaction constitute, or are converted into or exchanged for, a majority of the Voting Stock of the surviving person
or any direct or indirect parent company of the surviving person, immediately after giving effect to such transaction; (4) the first day on which a majority
of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors are not Continuing Directors; or (5) the adoption of a plan relating to the Company’s liquidation or
dissolution.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed to involve a Change of Control under clause (2) above if (i) the Company
becomes a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of a holding company and (ii)(A) the direct or indirect holders of the Voting Stock of such holding
company  immediately  following  that  transaction  are  substantially  the  same  as  the  holders  of  the  Company’s  Voting  Stock  immediately  prior  to  that
transaction  or  (B)  immediately  following  that  transaction  no  person  (other  than  a  holding  company  satisfying  the  requirements  of  this  sentence)  is  the
beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% of the Voting Stock of such holding company. The term “person,” as used in this definition, has
the meaning given thereto in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act.

“Change of Control Triggering Event” means the occurrence of both a Change of Control and a Rating Event.

“Continuing Directors” means, as of any date of determination, any member of the Company’s Board of Directors who (1) was a member of
such Board of Directors on the date the Securities were issued or (2) was nominated for election, elected or appointed to such Board of Directors with the
approval of a majority of the Continuing Directors who were members of such Board of Directors at the time of such nomination, election or appointment
(either  by a  specific  vote  or  by approval  of  the Company’s  proxy statement  in which such member  was named as  a  nominee for  election as a  director,
without objection to such nomination).

“Fitch” means Fitch Inc., and its successors.

“Investment Grade Rating” means a rating equal to or higher than BBB- (or the equivalent) by Fitch, a rating equal to or higher than Baa3
(or the equivalent) by Moody’s and a rating equal to or higher than BBB- (or the equivalent) by S&P, and a rating equal to or higher than the equivalent
investment grade credit rating from any replacement Rating Agency or Rating Agencies selected by the Company.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., and its successors.
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“Rating Agencies” means (1) each of Fitch, Moody’s and S&P and (2) if any of Fitch, Moody’s or S&P ceases to rate the Securities or fails
to make a rating of the Securities publicly available for reasons outside of the Company’s control, a “nationally recognized statistical rating organization”
within the meaning of Rule 15c3-l(c)(2)(vi)(F) under the Exchange Act selected by the Company (as certified by a resolution of the Company’s Board of
Directors) as a replacement agency for Fitch, Moody’s or S&P, or all of them, as the case may be.

“Rating Event” means, that on any day during the period (the “Trigger Period”) commencing 60 days prior to the first public announcement
by the Company of any Change of Control (or pending Change of Control) and ending 60 days following consummation of such Change of Control (which
Trigger Period will be extended following consummation of a Change of Control for so long as any of the Rating Agencies has publicly announced that it
is considering a possible ratings change), the Securities cease to have an Investment Grade Rating from at least two of the three Rating Agencies. Unless at
least two of the three Rating Agencies are providing a rating for the Securities at the commencement of any Trigger Period, the Securities will be deemed
to have ceased to have an Investment Grade Rating from at least two of the three Rating Agencies during that Trigger Period.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and its successors.

“Voting Stock” means, with respect to any specified “person” (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) as of any date,
the capital stock of such person that is at the time entitled to vote generally in the election of the board of directors of such person.

Transfer, Denominations, Exchange

As provided in the Indenture and subject to certain limitations therein set forth, this Security may be registered for transfer on the Security
Register of the Company, upon surrender of this Security for registration of transfer at the office or agency of the Company in the Place of Payment, and at
such  other  locations  as  the  Company  may  from  time  to  time  designate,  duly  endorsed  by,  or  accompanied  by  a  written  instrument  of  transfer  in  form
satisfactory  to  the  Company  and  the  Security  Registrar  duly  executed  by,  the  Holder  hereof  or  the  Holder’s  attorney  duly  authorized  in  writing,  and
thereupon  one  or  more  new  Securities,  of  authorized  denominations  and  for  the  same  aggregate  principal  amount,  will  be  issued  to  the  designated
transferee or transferees.

The  Securities  are  issuable  only  as  Registered  Securities  without  coupons  in  the  minimum  denominations  of  $2,000  and  any  integral
multiple  of  $1,000 in  excess  thereof  (the  “Minimum Denomination”).  As  provided  in  the  Indenture,  and  subject  to  certain  limitations  therein  set  forth,
Securities  are  exchangeable  for  a  like  aggregate  principal  amount  of  Securities  of  different  authorized  denominations,  as  requested  by  the  Holder
surrendering the same.

No service charge will be made for any such registration of transfer or exchange, but the Company may require payment of a sum sufficient
to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection therewith.
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Persons Deemed Owners

Except  as  otherwise  provided  in  the  Indenture,  prior  to  due  presentment  for  registration  of  transfer  of  this  Security,  the  Company,  the
Trustee, the Security Registrar, the Paying Agent and any agent of any one thereof may treat the Person in whose name this Security is registered as the
owner hereof for all purposes, whether or not this Security be overdue, and neither the Company, the Trustee, the Security Registrar, the Paying Agent nor
any such agent shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

Additional Securities

The Company may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of the registered Holders of the Securities, create and issue further
Securities ranking equally and ratably with the Securities in all respects (or in all respects except for the payment of interest accruing prior to the issue date
of such further Securities or except for the first payment of interest following the issue date of such further Securities), so that such further Securities shall
be consolidated and form a single series with the Securities and shall have the same terms as to status, redemption or otherwise as the Securities.

Defaults and Remedies

If  an  Event  of  Default,  as  defined  in  the  Indenture,  with  respect  to  the  Securities  shall  occur,  the  principal  of  all  the  Securities  may  be
declared due and payable in the manner and with the effect provided in the Indenture.

The Indenture permits, with certain exceptions as therein provided, the amendment thereof and the modification of the rights and obligations
of the Company with respect  to the Securities  and the rights  of  the Holders  of the Securities  under the Indenture  at  any time by the Company with the
consent  of  the  Holders  of  not  less  than a  majority  in  aggregate  principal  amount  of  the  Securities  at  the  time Outstanding.  The Indenture  also  contains
provisions permitting the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Securities at the time Outstanding, on behalf of the Holders of all
the  Securities,  to  waive  compliance  by  the  Company  with  certain  provisions  of  the  Indenture  and  certain  past  defaults  under  the  Indenture  and  their
consequences. Any such consent or waiver by the Holder of this Security shall be conclusive and binding upon such Holder and upon all future Holders of
this Security and of any Security issued upon the registration of transfer hereof or in exchange herefor or in lieu hereof whether or not a notation of such
consent or waiver is made upon this Security.

No recourse  shall  be  had for  the  payment  of  the  principal  of  or  premium,  if  any,  or  the  interest  on this  Security,  or  for  any claim based
hereon,  or  otherwise  in  respect  hereof,  or  based  on  or  in  respect  of  the  Indenture  or  any  indenture  supplemental  thereto,  against  any  incorporator,
stockholder, officer or director, as such, past, present or future, of the Company or any successor corporation, whether by virtue of any constitution, statute
or  rule  of  law,  or  by  the  enforcement  of  any  assessment  or  penalty  or  otherwise,  all  such  liability  being,  by  the  acceptance  hereof  and  as  part  of  the
consideration for the issue hereof, expressly waived and released.
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Discharge

The  Company  at  its  option,  subject  to  the  terms  and  conditions  contained  in  the  Indenture,  (a)  will  be  discharged  from  any  and  all
obligations  in  respect  of  the  Securities  (except  for  certain  obligations  to  register  the  transfer  and  exchange  of  such  Securities,  to  replace  mutilated,
destroyed, lost or stolen Securities, to compensate, reimburse and indemnify the Trustee, to maintain an office or agency with respect to the Securities and
to hold moneys for payment in trust) or (b) may omit to comply with certain restrictive covenants contained in the Indenture, in each case upon irrevocable
deposit  with  the  Trustee  in  trust  of  money  or  U.S.  government  securities  (as  described  in  the  Indenture)  or  a  combination  thereof,  which  through  the
payment of interest and principal in respect thereof in accordance with their terms will provide money in an amount sufficient to discharge the principal of
and premium, if any, and interest on such Securities due on or prior to the Stated Maturity or Redemption Date of such principal and premium, if any, or
interest.

Governing Law

This Security shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York, without regard to its conflicts of law
principles.

Defined Terms, Abbreviations

Except as otherwise defined herein, all terms used in this Security which are defined in the Indenture shall have the meanings assigned to
them in the Indenture.

Customary abbreviations may be used in the name of a Holder of Securities or an assignee, such as TEN COM (=tenants in common), TEN
ENT (=tenants  by the entireties),  JT TEN (=joint  tenants  with right  of  survivorship and not  as  tenants  in  common),  CUST (=custodian),  and U/G/M/A
(=Uniform Gift to Minors Act). Additional abbreviations may also be used though not in the above list.
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ASSIGNMENT FORM

FOR VALUE RECEIVED the undersigned hereby sell(s), assign(s) and transfer(s) unto

    

    

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY

OR OTHER IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE

    

    

    

(Please print or typewrite name and address 
including postal zip code of assignee)

the within Security and all rights thereunder, and hereby irrevocably constitutes and appoints

    

Attorney to transfer said Security on the books of the Company, with full power of substitution in the premises.

Dated:     

    

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the
within instrument in every particular,



without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.

NAI-1502142738v4



______________________

ELECTION FORM

TO BE COMPLETED ONLY IF THE HOLDER 
ELECTS TO ACCEPT THE CHANGE OF CONTROL OFFER

______________________

The undersigned hereby irrevocably requests and instructs the Company to repurchase the within Security (or the portion thereof specified below),
pursuant to its terms, on the Change of Control Payment Date specified in the Change of Control Offer, for the Change of Control Payment specified in the
within Security, to the undersigned,                  , at                                  (please print or typewrite name and address of the undersigned).

For  this  election to  accept  the Change of  Control  Offer  to  be effective,  the Company must  receive,  at  the address  of  the Paying Agent  set  forth
below or at such other place or places of which the Company shall from time to time notify the Holder of the within Security, either (i) the within Security
with this “Election Form” form duly completed, or (ii) a telegram, telex, facsimile transmission or a letter from a member of a national securities exchange
or the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or a commercial bank or a trust company in the United States setting forth (a) the name of the Holder of the
Security, (b) the principal amount of the Security, (c) the principal amount of the Security to be repurchased, (d) the certificate number or description of the
tenor and terms of the Security,  (e)  a statement  that  the option to elect  repurchase is  being exercised,  and (f)  a guarantee stating that  the Security to be
repurchased, together with this “Election Form” duly completed will be received by the Paying Agent three Business Days prior to the Change of Control
Payment  Date.  The  address  of  the  Paying  Agent  is  U.S.  Bank  National  Association,  as  Trustee,  1349  West  Peachtree  Street  NW,  Suite  1050,  Atlanta,
Georgia 30309, Attention: Global Corporate Trust Services.

If less than the entire principal amount of the within Security is to be repurchased, specify the portion thereof (which principal amount must be an
integral multiple of $1,000 and such that the principal amount not being repurchased is $2,000 or an integral multiple of $1,000 in excess thereof) which
the Holder elects to have repurchased: $             .

Dated:                 

    

NOTICE: The signature to this assignment must correspond with the name as written upon the face of the
within instrument in every particular, without alteration or enlargement or any change whatever.



EXHIBIT 10.15

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. 2013 INCENTIVE PLAN 
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

CHRO Onboarding Grant Agreement

A Restricted Stock Unit (“RSU”) Award (the “Award”) granted by Newell Brands Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), to the employee named in
the attached Award letter (the “Grantee”) relating to the common stock, par value $1.00 per share (the “Common Stock”), of the Company, shall be subject to the
following terms and conditions and the provisions of the Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2013 Incentive Plan, a copy of which is attached hereto and the terms of which are
hereby incorporated by reference.

1. Acceptance by Grantee . The receipt of the Award is conditioned upon its acceptance by the Grantee in the space provided therefor at the end of
the attached Award letter and the return of an executed copy of such Award letter to the Secretary of the Company no later than 60 days after the Award Date set
forth therein or, if later, 30 days after the Grantee receives this agreement (the “Agreement”).

2.      Grant of RSUs .  The Company hereby grants  to the Grantee the Award of  RSUs,  as  set  forth in the Award letter.  This  Award is  comprised of  the
number of “Performance-Based RSUs” set forth in the Award letter. An “RSU” is a restricted stock unit representing the right, subject to the terms and conditions of
the Plan and this Agreement, to receive a distribution of a share of Common Stock for each RSU as described in Section 6 of this Agreement.

3.      RSU Account . The Company shall maintain an account (“RSU Account”) on its books in the name of the Grantee which shall reflect the number of
RSUs awarded to the Grantee.

4.      Dividend Equivalents .

Upon the payment of any dividend on Common Stock occurring during the period preceding the earlier of the date of settlement of the Grantee’s Award as
described in Section 6 or the date the Grantee’s Award is forfeited as described in Section 5, the Company shall credit the Grantee’s RSU Account with an amount
equal in value to the dividends that the Grantee would have received had the Grantee been the actual owner of the number of shares of Common Stock represented by
the Performance-Based RSUs in the Grantee’s RSU Account on that date. Such amounts shall be paid to the Grantee in cash at the time and to the extent the related
Performance-Based RSUs vest and are settled. Any such dividend equivalents credited to the Grantee’s RSU Account, relating to Performance-Based RSUs that are
forfeited, shall also be forfeited.

5.      Vesting .

(a)      Except  as  described  in  Sections  5(b),  the  Grantee  shall  become  vested  in  her  Award  of  Performance-Based  RSUs  ratably  in  one-third
increments  on  the  first,  second  and  third  anniversaries  of  the  Award  Date  if  she  remains  in  continuous  employment  with  the  Company  or  an  affiliate,  and  the
following Performance Goal is satisfied:

• Company’s achievement of at least $100 million of aggregate cost/expense reductions resulting from Project Renewal and the integration of Jarden
Corporation operations and personnel into the Company during the period commencing April 15, 2016 and concluding April 30, 2017.

For avoidance of doubt, any portion of the Award for which the Performance Goal is not met shall be forfeited to the Company.
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(b)      If the Grantee’s employment with the Company and all affiliates terminates prior to the applicable vesting date due to death or disability, the
unvested portion of the Awards shall become vested on such date. For this purpose “disability” means (as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion) the
inability of the Grantee to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which is expected to
result in death or disability or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months.

(c)      If the Grantee’s employment with the Company and all affiliates terminates prior to satisfying the applicable vesting conditions set forth in the
applicable table in Section 5(a) above for any reason other than death or disability, the unvested portion of each Award shall be forfeited to the Company.

(d)      The provisions of Section 12.1(b) of the Plan shall apply to the Grantee’s Award of Performance-Based RSUs in the event of a Change in
Control, and Plan Section 12.1(a) shall be inapplicable to such Award of Performance-Based RSUs. For the avoidance of doubt, Performance-Based RSUs following
a Change in Control shall be treated in the same manner as Time-Based RSUs following a Change in Control (e.g., the value of an unvested Performance-Based RSU
shall equal the value of an unvested Time-Based RSU, and any unvested Performance-Based RSU shall either be replaced by a time-based equity award or become
immediately vested).

The foregoing provisions of this Section 5 shall be subject to the provisions of any written employment security agreement or severance agreement that has
been or may be executed by the Grantee and the Company, and the provisions in such employment security agreement or severance agreement concerning vesting of
an Award shall supersede any inconsistent or contrary provision of this Section 5.

6.      Settlement of Award .  Except as otherwise provided in Section 12 hereof,  if  the Grantee becomes vested in her Awards,  or  any portion thereof,  in
accordance with Section 5, the Company shall distribute to her, or her personal representative, beneficiary or estate, as applicable, a number of shares of Common
Stock equal to the number of RSUs subject to the Award then becoming vested. Such shares shall be delivered within 30 days following the date of vesting.

7.      Withholding Taxes .  The  Company shall  withhold  from any  distribution  made  to  the  Grantee  in  cash  an  amount  sufficient  to  satisfy  all  minimum
Federal, state and local withholding tax requirements. In the case of a distribution made in shares of Common Stock, the Grantee shall pay to the Company an amount
sufficient to satisfy all minimum Federal, state and local withholding tax requirements prior to the delivery of any shares. Payment of such taxes may be made at the
Grantee’s election by one or more of the following methods: (i) in cash, (ii) in cash received from a broker-dealer to whom the Grantee has submitted irrevocable
instructions to deliver the amount of withholding tax to the Company from the proceeds of the sale of shares subject to the Award, (iii) by directing the Company to
withhold a  number of  shares  otherwise issuable  pursuant  to  the Award with a  Fair  Market  Value equal  to  the tax required to  be withheld,  (iv)  by delivery to  the
Company  of  other  Common  Stock  owned  by  the  Grantee  that  is  acceptable  to  the  Company,  valued  at  its  Fair  Market  Value  on  the  date  of  payment,  or  (v)  by
certifying to ownership by attestation of such previously owned Common Stock.

8.      Rights as Stockholder . The Grantee shall not be entitled to any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to the Award, including the
right to vote and to receive dividends and other distributions, until and to the extent the Award is settled in shares of Common Stock.

9.      Share Delivery . Delivery of any shares in connection with settlement of the Award will be by book-entry credit to an account in the Grantee’s name
established by the Company with the Company’s
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transfer agent, or upon written request from the Grantee (or her personal representative, beneficiary or estate, as the case may be), in certificates in the name of the
Grantee (or her personal representative, beneficiary or estate).

10.      Award Not Transferable .  The Award may not  be transferred other  than by will  or  the applicable  laws of  descent  or  distribution or  pursuant  to  a
qualified domestic relations order. The Award shall not otherwise be assigned, transferred, or pledged for any purpose whatsoever and is not subject, in whole or in
part, to attachment, execution or levy of any kind. Any attempted assignment, transfer, pledge, or encumbrance of the Award, other than in accordance with its terms,
shall be void and of no effect.

11.      Administration .  The  Award  shall  be  administered  in  accordance  with  such  regulations  as  the  Organizational  Development  and  Compensation
Committee  of  the  Board  of  Directors  of  the  Company  (the  “Committee”)  shall  from  time  to  time  adopt.  In  the  event  of  any  conflict  between  the  terms  of  such
regulations and this Award Agreement, the terms of this Award Agreement shall control.

12.      Section 409A Compliance . To the extent that the Grantee's right to receive payment of the RSUs and dividend equivalents constitutes a "deferral of
compensation" within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, then notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan to the contrary, the timing of payment (but not
the vesting and nonforfeitability) of shares of Common Stock and cash otherwise deliverable hereunder shall be subject to the following rules:

(a)      The shares of Common Stock underlying the vested Performance-Based RSUs and the related dividend equivalents shall be delivered to the
Grantee,  or  her  personal  representative,  beneficiary  or  estate,  as  applicable,  within  30  days  following  the  earlier  of  (i)  the  Grantee’s  death;  (ii)  the  Grantee’s
disability (as defined under Section 409A of the Code); (iii) the Grantee’s "separation from service" within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, subject to
Section 12(b); or (iv) the occurrence of a Change in Control that also constitutes a “change in the ownership,” a “change in the effective control” or a “change in
the ownership of a substantial portion of the assets” of the Company with the meaning of Section 409A of the Code; or (iv) the third anniversary of the Award
Date.

(b)      Notwithstanding Section 12(a), if any RSUs and related dividend equivalents become payable as a result of the Grantee's termination of
employment  (other  than  as  a  result  of  death)  which  constitutes  a  separation  from service  and  the  Grantee  is  a  "specified  employee,"  as  determined  under  the
Company's policy for determining specified employees on the date of such separation from service, then the shares of Common Stock underlying the vested RSUs
and related dividends shall be delivered to the Grantee, or her personal representative, beneficiary or estate, as applicable, within 30 days after the first business
day that is more than six months after the date of his or her separation from service (or, if the Grantee dies during such six-month period, within 30 days after the
Grantee's death).

(c)      In the event that any taxes described in Section 7 of this Agreement are due prior to the distribution of shares of Common Stock underlying
the RSUs, then the Grantee shall be required to satisfy the tax obligation by using any method set forth in Section 7.

13.      Data Privacy Consent . The Grantee hereby consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of the Grantee’s personal data as
described in this document by the Company and its subsidiaries for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing Grantee’s participation in
the Plan. The Grantee understands that the Company and its subsidiaries hold certain personal information about the Grantee, including, but not limited to, name,
home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number, salary, nationality, job title, any shares
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of stock or directorships held in the Company, details of all options or any other entitlement to shares of stock or stock units awarded, canceled, purchased, exercised,
vested, unvested or outstanding in the Grantee’s favor for the purpose of implementing, managing and administering the Plan (“Data”). The Grantee understands that
the Data may be transferred to any third parties assisting in the implementation, administration and management of the Plan, that these recipients may be located in
the  Grantee’s  country  or  elsewhere  and  that  the  recipient  country  may  have  different  data  privacy  laws  and  protections  than  the  Grantee’s  country.  The  Grantee
understands that he may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting the local human resources representative.
The  Grantee  authorizes  the  recipients  to  receive,  possess,  use,  retain  and  transfer  the  Data,  in  electronic  or  other  form,  for  the  purposes  of  implementing,
administering and managing the Grantee’s participation in the Plan, including any requisite transfer of such Data, as may be required to a broker or other third party
with whom the Grantee may elect to deposit any shares or other award acquired under the Plan. The Grantee understands that Data will be held only as long as is
necessary  to  implement,  administer  and  manage  participation  in  the  Plan.  The  Grantee  understands  that  he  may,  at  any  time,  view  Data,  request  additional
information  about  the  storage  and  processing  of  the  Data,  require  any  necessary  amendments  to  the  Data  or  refuse  or  withdraw the  consents  herein,  in  any  case
without  cost,  by  contacting  the  local  human  resources  representative  in  writing.  The  Grantee  understands  that  refusing  or  withdrawing  consent  may  affect  the
Grantee’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of refusing to consent or withdrawing consent, the Grantee understands that he
may contact his or her local human resources representative.

14.      Electronic  Delivery .  The  Grantee  hereby  consents  and  agrees  to  electronic  delivery  of  any  documents  that  the  Company  may  elect  to  deliver
(including, but not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award notifications and agreements, account statements, annual and quarterly reports,
and all  other forms of communications) in connection with this and any other award made or offered under the Plan. The Grantee understands that,  unless earlier
revoked by the Grantee by giving written notice to the Secretary of the Company, this consent shall be effective for the duration of the Agreement. The Grantee also
understands that she shall have the right at any time to request that the Company deliver written copies of any and all materials referred to above at no charge. The
Grantee hereby consents to any and all procedures the Company has established or may establish for an electronic signature system for delivery and acceptance of
any such documents that the Company may elect to deliver, and agrees that his or her electronic signature is the same as, and shall have the same force and effect as,
his or her manual signature. The Grantee consents and agrees that any such procedures and delivery may be effected by a third party engaged by the Company to
provide administrative services related to the Plan.

15.      Governing Law . This Agreement, and the Award, shall be construed, administered and governed in all respects under and by the laws of the State of
Delaware.

NEWELL BRANDS INC.

Bradford R. Turner
Chief Legal Counsel and Corporate Secretary
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May 25, 2016

Fiona Laird
Via email

Dear Fiona,
 
I am very pleased to offer you the position of Chief Human Resources Officer for Newell Brands Inc. (“Newell” or the “Company”). Your employment
will commence May 31, 2016 (the “Employment Commencement Date”). Your starting salary will be $29,167 per pay period (paid semi-monthly), or
$700,000, if annualized. This position will be located in our corporate headquarters in Hoboken, New Jersey, and will report to the Chief Executive Officer
of Newell Brands. We believe you will thrive in the Newell Brands culture, and we can help you achieve your professional goals

Upon hiring, you will be eligible to participate in the benefits program as outlined below. This outline of compensation and benefits is based upon the
existing plans and programs of Newell and its subsidiaries, which will continue to exist for some time as we execute the Newell and Jarden integration
plans. When our compensation and benefit plans are integrated under Newell Brands, you will be subject to the terms of those plans, although your targets
will be substantially the same.

• Leadership Equity Award Program (LEAP):   Subject to the approval of the Organizational Development and Compensation Committee of the
Company's Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”), you will be eligible to participate in the Newell Leadership Equity Award
Program (LEAP), subject to its terms, with a target award of 250% of your base annual salary. Actual grants may range between 0-200% of target
based on Company and individual performance. Long-term incentive awards at your level are expected to be 100% performance-based restricted
stock units. Your LEAP award will be approved at the May 10, 2016 Committee meeting, and will be issued effective as of your ECD.

• Employment Security Agreement (ESA): You will be entitled to an employment security agreement which provides certain benefits and
protections upon a Change in Control of the Company (as defined by the terms of the agreement).

• Management Bonus Plan: You will be eligible to participate in our Management Bonus Plan. Your target bonus is 100% of earned base pay. Your
bonus payout opportunity ranges from 0-200% of your targeted payout amount. Payout targets and bonus criteria are reviewed each year and may
change from time to time.

• Flexible Perquisites Program:   The Flexible Perquisites Program provides you with an annual cash allowance that may be used for such items as
car, insurance, automobile maintenance, income tax preparation services, estate planning services, financial planning services, etc. This annual cash
allowance will be commensurate with that of similarly situated employees at the Company, and is currently $21,638 USD per year. Additionally,
you are eligible for an annual comprehensive executive physical through one of the Company’s preferred U.S. regional medical facilities.

• Vacation:   You are eligible to accrue 2.08 days per month (equal to five weeks per year) of paid vacation. During your first year of employment,
vacation time is pro-rated based on the quarter of hire, and administered pursuant to the Company’s Vacation Policy.

• Holidays:   The Company provides 11 paid U.S. holidays per year – one of which is a floating holiday to be used at the discretion of the employee
each year, including the year of hire. Once employment begins, you are eligible to receive all future holidays as scheduled by the Company,
pursuant to the Holiday Policy.



• 401(k) Plan:   You are eligible to participate in the Newell Rubbermaid 401(k) Savings and Retirement Plan (the “401(k) Plan”) and may
contribute up to 50% of your eligible salary on a pre-tax basis, to the maximum allowed by federal law. The Company matches 100% of the first
3% plus 50% of the next 2% of your contributions, to a total of 4% company match contributions. All employees are immediately eligible to
participate and automatically vested in company contributions made to the plan.

• Retirement Savings Plan:   Newell also makes an annual contribution to your account under the 401(k) Plan. This contribution is based on an
annual 1,000 hour service requirement and ranges from 2% to 5% of eligible earnings, depending on age and service as defined in the plan. You
become fully vested in RSP contributions after you complete three years of service.

• Supplemental Executive Restoration Plan (SERP):   Newell may make annual credits to a SERP account on your behalf. Company credits, if
made, range from 6% to 9% of eligible earnings, depending on age and service as defined by the plan. You are automatically vested in Company
credits made to the SERP, subject to the terms thereof.

• Deferred Compensation Plan (DCP):   You may, subject to the terms of the DCP, elect to defer up to a maximum of 50% of your annual base
salary and up to 100% of your Management Cash Bonus Plan.

• Medical Coverage:   The Newell medical plan offers employees a choice of two Consumer-Driven Health Plans (CDHP) administered by Anthem
Blue Cross Blue Shield: the Health Savings Account (HSA) Independence option and the Health Savings Account (HSA) Freedom Plus option. In
each option, comprehensive medical and pharmacy coverage are integrated into a single plan. Employee premiums from each pay period are
required and are made on a pre-tax basis. Except during open enrollment, you may not make changes to your medical coverage once your elections
are made (within 30 days of being hired) unless you experience a qualified life event.

• Dental Coverage:   You may choose to enroll in the Newell dental plan administered by Delta Dental. This program provides benefits for dental
procedures including routine cleaning, basic services, major services and orthodontia for children. Employee premiums from each pay period are
required and are made on a pre-tax basis. Except during open enrollment, you may not make changes to your dental coverage once your elections
are made (within 30 days of being hired) unless you experience a qualified life event.

• Voluntary Vision Program:   Newell offers a voluntary vision program that provides discounted coverage for glasses, contacts and exams through
the VSP network of doctors. Employees pay the full cost of this group voluntary benefit program, with premiums from each pay period required
and made on a pre-tax basis. Except during open enrollment, you may not make changes to your vision coverage once your elections are made
(within 30 days of being hired) unless you experience a qualified life event.

• Life Insurance and Accidental Death & Dismemberment (AD&D):   Newell provides all employees basic life and AD&D coverage, through
MetLife, at no cost beginning on your first day of employment. The basic group life benefit is equal to two times your base annual salary, as
defined by the plan. You also have the opportunity to purchase additional life insurance for yourself and/or your dependents at group rates. If you
elect additional coverage, you must actively enroll with MetLife within 60 days of employment.

• Other Benefits:   Newell also offers a comprehensive suite of other benefits to employees upon employment. These benefits include but are not
limited to: wellness and disease management programs, Work-Life Support Program, dependent day care flexible spending, short- and long-term
disability, critical illness, legal support program, adoption assistance, tuition assistance, NewellFlex, emergency evacuation and medical assistance
while traveling abroad for business, long-term care insurance, employee discount programs, commuter transit flexible spending, identity theft
protection, and more. 

In light of the value and expertise you bring to this role, we have also agreed the following:



Onboarding Bonus. You will receive a one-time lump sum start bonus of $750,000, less applicable and necessary taxes and deductions, payable
within thirty days of the Employment Commencement Date. By accepting this offer you are also acknowledging that should you voluntarily
terminate your employment with Newell within one year (12 months) of your ECD, you will pay back 100 percent of this start bonus and, where
permitted by applicable law, by your signature below, you authorize us to withhold this money from your final paycheck or any other amounts due
to you if necessary.

Integration Equity Grant. On the ECD, you will be provided with an award of Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) valued at $3,750,000 (the
“Integration Grant”) based on the Company’s stock price immediately prior to the date of approval by the Committee. One-third of these RSUs will
vest on each year anniversary of the grant date, subject to the Company’s achievement of at least $100 million of total cost and expense reductions
resulting from Project Renewal and from the integration of Jarden Corporation (“Jarden”) operations and personnel during the performance period
beginning April 15, 2016 and ending April 30, 2017. Following the ECD, you will receive notification from Fidelity to accept your grant on their
website. The RSU Award Agreement you accept on the Fidelity website thereafter governs the terms of this Integration Grant.

Termination Without Cause. If your employment is terminated by the Company for any reason other than Good Cause (defined below), you shall
be entitled to the following compensation and benefits:
• Severance pay in a total amount calculated pursuant the US Newell Severance Plan, in effect on the date of your termination, that applies to

executives at your level (“Severance Plan”), presently providing 52 weeks of weekly base compensation thereunder, subject to applicable
limitation as to amount under the Severance Plan, which severance will be payable in a lump sum no later than 60 days after your termination
date (provided that if such 60-day period begins in one calendar year and ends in a second calendar year, such payment shall be made in the
second calendar year). This severance offer also includes any other benefits in the Severance Plan that run concurrently with severance pay
under the Severance Plan, which may include a COBRA subsidy and outplacement services.

• Your Management Bonus prorated by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the fiscal year in which your date of
termination occurs through your date of termination and the denominator of which is three hundred sixty-five (365). This partial bonus payment
will not be subject to any individual performance modifier, but will be paid out on the basis of actual corporate performance levels; provided
that the Committee may exercise negative discretion to reduce the amount payable to a target payout level where the payout based upon
achievement of actual performance levels exceeds the target payout. This partial bonus will be paid at the same time as Management Bonuses
are paid to active Company employees, no later than March 15th of the following year.

• All unvested stock options and LEAP awards shall forfeit except for a pro rata portion of those LEAP awards and stock options which would
have otherwise vested during the 3-year period after your termination date. The portion of your unvested LEAP and option awards which shall
be permitted to vest as if you remained employed during that 3-year period shall be calculated on a pro rata basis for each individual award to
reflect the number of days between the grant date and your termination date relative to the total number of days constituting the vesting period
of such award.

• Any unvested portion of the Integration Grant which would have otherwise vested during the 3-year period after your termination date shall
thereafter vest and become payable at such time, if any, as



any performance goals applicable to the Integration Grant have been satisfied (without regard to any time-based vesting requirements, which
requirements will cease to apply).

• “Good Cause” is defined as failure or refusal to follow a lawful order of the Board of Directors, Newell’s senior management or your direct
supervisor; misconduct; and/or violating Newell policy or its Code of Conduct & Ethics.

• You will be required to sign a reasonable separation agreement (including confidentiality, non-solicitation and non-competition obligations) and
release of claims provided to you by Newell in order for you to receive the foregoing severance items.

• These severance provisions are in lieu of any payments or benefits under any US or other severance pay plan, statute or regulation.
• Notwithstanding anything else set forth herein to the contrary, in the event you are actually entitled to receive benefits following a termination

of your employment under your Employment Security Agreement as a result of the occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined therein) prior
to your termination, you will not be entitled to receive severance benefits pursuant to this offer letter, and your severance benefits will be
governed exclusively by the terms of your Employment Security Agreement, unless you elect to receive severance benefits under the terms of
this letter and waive any benefits to which you are entitled under the Employment Security Agreement.

Termination Due to Death or Disability. In addition, should your employment terminate as a result of your death or Disability prior to the vesting
of your Integration Grant, any portion of the Integration Grant which would have otherwise vested during the 3-year period after your termination
date shall become vested on such date. “Disability” means (as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion) the inability of the Grantee to
engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which is expected to result in
death or disability or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months.



Please note:

You will be solely responsible for any associated tax filings and payment of taxes associated with your employment, without any gross-up or
additional compensation from the Company, provided that the Company will withhold taxes at what it determines to be appropriate rates and in
what it determines to be appropriate jurisdictions based on the information available to the Company.

This offer of employment is also contingent upon successful completion of a background check and drug screening prior to employment and upon
you executing various Company documents, including a confidentiality and non-solicitation agreement and agreeing to abide by the Company's
Code of Conduct and Ethics. You will receive a testing kit from Omega Labs with instructions on how to complete your pre-employment drug
screening. It is important that you schedule and complete your screening promptly so that your start date will not be impacted.
Payments and benefits provided under this letter are intended to be exempt from, or comply with, Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code,
which is the law that regulates severance pay. This offer letter shall be construed, administered, and governed in a manner that affects such intent,
and Newell shall not take any action that would be inconsistent with such intent. Without limiting the foregoing, the payments and benefits
provided under this letter may not be deferred, accelerated, extended, paid out or modified in a manner that would result in a the imposition of
additional tax under Code Section 409A. Although Newell shall use its best efforts to avoid the imposition of taxation, interest and penalties under
Code Section 409A, the tax treatment of the benefits provided under this letter is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company nor its
affiliates nor its or their directors, officers, employees or advisers shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties or other monetary amounts
owed by you or any other taxpayer as a result of this letter.



Fiona, we are confident your skills and experience will be a tremendous benefit to Newell Brands. We are very excited about the potential to have your
experience in the organization and sincerely hope you decide to join our team. This is a significant career opportunity, and we are certain you can and will
make a difference.
 
Sincerely,
 
/s/ Michael B. Polk
Michael B. Polk
Chief Executive Officer
 



To indicate your acceptance of this offer, please sign in the space provided below and return it to me no later than May 31, 2016.

This offer is intended to lay out all elements of your compensation. Compensation offers outside this letter, or a previous offer letter, are not binding and
will not be honored, so you should make sure you are clear on all parts of your offer and future expectations before signing this letter. Benefits programs,
however, may change from year to year, so your benefits such as medical, dental, vision, retirement, and time off will be governed by the benefit plans in
place at any given time.
 
At the same time this offer is merely a summary of the terms of the Company's offer to you and does not constitute or imply a contract of employment and
that the Company may modify or terminate any of its benefit or compensation programs from time to time. Your signature indicates acknowledgement that
if employed, your employment is to be "at will" which means that either the Company or you may terminate your employment at any time, with or without
notice.
 
By signing this letter, you represent and warrant that you are not a party to any agreement that would limit your ability to work for Newell Brands Inc. You
further represent and warrant that your employment with Newell Brands Inc. will not require you to disclose or use any confidential, proprietary or trade
secret information belonging to your prior employers. You additionally understand and acknowledge that Newell Brands Inc. does not require nor want
you to disclose any such confidential, proprietary or trade secret information.
 
By signing this letter, you acknowledge that your signature serves as written authorization for Newell Brands Inc. to deduct any relocation reimbursement
sums due to it from any amounts that it may owe to you, including without limitation salary, wages, commissions, bonuses, vacation pay, or incentive pay,
provided that such deduction is permissible under controlling law.
 
/s/Fiona Liard
Signature
 
Fiona Laird 
Printed Name
 
June 1, 2016 
Date



EXHIBIT 10.49

EXECUTION VERSION

OMNIBUS AMENDMENT

THIS OMNIBUS AMENDMENT, dated as of December 16, 2016 (the “ Amendment ”) is entered into among Jarden Receivables, LLC (“ Jarden
Receivables ”),  the  Originators  party  hereto  (the  “ Originators ”),  NEWELL BRANDS INC.,  as  Servicer  (the  “ Servicer ”),  PNC BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION (“ PNC ”), as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the “ Administrative Agent ”) and as a Managing Agent, WELLS FARGO BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as Issuing Lender (the “ Issuing Lender ”) and each Managing Agent party hereto. Capitalized terms used herein shall have
the meanings specified in the Agreement.

W I T N E S S E T H :

WHEREAS, Jarden Receivables, as Borrower, the Servicer, the commercial paper conduits from time to time party thereto, the financial institutions
from time to time party thereto as Committed Lenders, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto as Managing Agents, the Issuing Lender,
the  Administrative  Agent,  and  PNC  Capital  Markets,  as  Structuring  Agent,  have  entered  into  that  certain  Loan  and  Servicing  Agreement,  dated  as  of
October 3, 2016 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “ Loan Agreement ”);

WHEREAS,  Jarden  Receivables,  as  Buyer,  and  the  Originators  from  time  to  time  party  thereto  have  entered  into  that  certain  Receivables
Contribution and Sale Agreement, dated as of October 3, 2016 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “ Sale
Agreement ”);

WHEREAS, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the parties hereto have agreed to amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement
and the Sale Agreement as described below; and

NOW,  THEREFORE,  for  good  and  valuable  consideration,  the  receipt  and  sufficiency  of  which  are  hereby  acknowledged,  the  parties  hereto,
intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

Section 1.    Defined Terms. Unless otherwise amended by the terms of this Amendment, terms used in this Amendment shall have the
meanings assigned in the Loan Agreement, and if not defined therein, in the Sale Agreement.

Section 2.    Amendments to the Loan Agreement. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4 below, the
Loan Agreement shall be and hereby is amended as follows:
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(a)    Section 1.01 of the Loan Agreement is amended to insert the following new definitions in appropriate alphabetical order:

“ Business Sellers ” means Newell and certain other Subsidiaries of Newell, as the context may require.

“ Lehigh Business ” means the design, manufacturing, marketing and/or sale by the Business Sellers of ropes, cordage, chain and garage
organization products under the Lehigh®, Secureline®, Wellington® and Crawford® brands and private label arrangements.

“ Lehigh Business Sale ” means the sale by the Business Sellers to unrelated third parties of the Lehigh Business
through the sale, assignment, transfer and delivery (a) by the Business Sellers of all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Lehigh
Consumer Products LLC (“ Lehigh ”) or all or substantially all of the assets of Lehigh and (b) by the Business Sellers of their respective
rights,  titles  and  interests  in  and  to  the  assets,  properties,  rights,  contracts  and  claims  that  relate  to,  are  used  by  or  are  held  for  use  in
connection with, the Lehigh Business, but excluding Receivables originated by Newell or Lehigh in connection with the Lehigh Business
which exist as of the date of the Lehigh Business Sale, and all Collections and Related Security with respect thereto.

“ Tool Business ” means the design, manufacturing, marketing and/or sale by the Business Sellers of hand tools and power tool accessories,
industrial bandsaw blades and tools for HVAC systems under the Irwin®, Lenox®, hilmor™ brands and/or private label arrangements.

“ Tool  Business  Sale ”  means  the  sale  by  the  Business  Sellers  to  unrelated  third  parties  of  the  Tool  Business
through the sale, assignment, transfer and delivery (a) by the Business Sellers of all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of Irwin
Industrial Tool Company (“ Irwin ”) or all or substantially all of the assets of Irwin and (b) by the Business Sellers of their respective rights,
titles and interests in and to the assets, properties,  rights, contracts and claims that relate to, are used by or are held for use in connection
with, the Tool Business, but excluding Receivables originated by Newell or Irwin in connection with the Tool Business which exist as of the
date of the Tool Business Sale, and all Collections and Related Security with respect thereto.
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“ Winter Sports Business ” means the design, manufacturing, marketing and/or sale by the Business Sellers of skis, snowboards, bindings,
boots and other winter sports equipment and apparel under the Völkl®, Marker®, Dalbello® and K2® brands.

“ Winter Sports Business Sale ” means the sale by the Business Sellers to unrelated third parties of the Winter Sports Business through the
sale, assignment, transfer and delivery (a) by the Business Sellers of all of the issued and outstanding equity interests of K-2 Corporation (“
K-2 Corporation ”) or all or substantially all of the assets of K-2 Corporation and (b) by the Business Sellers of their respective rights, titles
and interests in and to the assets, properties, rights, contracts and claims that relate to, are used by or are held for use in connection with, the
Winter Sports Business, but excluding Receivables originated by Newell or K-2 Corporation in connection with the Winter Sports Business
which exist as of the date of the Winter Sports Business Sale, and all Collections and Related Security with respect thereto.

(b)    The last sentence of Section 4.01(l) of the Loan Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

Except for (i) amounts owing to Newell Puerto Rico, Ltd. (which shall be electronically swept or otherwise transferred out of such Deposit
Account  within one (1) Business Day of being identified as such in accordance with Section 5.01(j) ),  (ii)  for a period not to exceed the
earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the Lehigh Business by
which  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Lehigh  Business  shall  no  longer  be  deposited  therein  and  (y)  twenty-five  (25)
months after the consummation of the Lehigh Business Sale, collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business (which shall
be  electronically  swept  or  otherwise  transferred out  of  such Deposit  Account  no later  than the  earliest  of  (x)  the  related number  of  days
agreed  to  by  the  applicable  Business  Sellers  and  the  final  purchaser  of  the  Lehigh  Business  by  which  Newell  is  required  to  transfer
collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Lehigh  Business  out  of  such  Deposit  Account  and  (y)  ten  (10)  Business  Days  of  being
deposited therein), (iii) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of the Decor Business Sale, collections of
accounts receivable relating to the Decor Business (which shall be electronically swept or otherwise transferred out of such Deposit Account
within ten (10) Business Days of being deposited therein), (iv) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of
the Tool Business Sale, collections of accounts receivable relating to the Tool Business (which shall be electronically swept or otherwise
transferred out of such Deposit Account within five (5) Business Days of
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being deposited therein), (v) for a period not to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business
Sellers  and  the  final  purchaser  of  the  Winter  Sports  Business  by  which  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Winter  Sports
Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y) twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of the Winter Sports Business Sale,
collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business (which shall be electronically swept or otherwise transferred out of
such Deposit Account no later than the earliest of (x) the related number of days agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final
purchaser of the Winter Sports Business by which Newell  is required to transfer collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter
Sports Business out of such Deposit Account and (y) ten (10) Business Days of being deposited therein) and (vi) amounts deposited in the
Collection  Account  in  error,  so  long  as  the  Servicer  withdraws  such  amounts  as  contemplated  in Section 6.06 ,  no  funds  other  than  the
proceeds of Receivables are deposited to any Deposit Account.

(c)    Clause (2) of the second sentence of Section 5.01(j) of the Loan Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

(2) all amounts deposited into any Deposit Account to be identified as either Collections or non‑Collections and all non‑Collections, if any,
to be identified (i) in the case of amounts owing to Newell Puerto Rico, Ltd., within four (4) days of being deposited therein, (ii) for a period
not to exceed the earliest  of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable  Business Sellers and the final  purchaser  of the
Lehigh Business by which collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y)
twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of the Lehigh Business Sale, in the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the
Lehigh  Business,  no  later  than  the  earliest  of  (x)  the  related  number  of  days  agreed  to  by  the  applicable  Business  Sellers  and  the  final
purchaser of the Lehigh Business by which Newell is required to transfer collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business
out  of  such Deposit  Account  and (y)  ten  (10)  Business  Days of  being deposited  therein,  (iii)  for  a  period not  to  exceed twenty-five  (25)
months after the consummation of the Decor Business Sale, in the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the Decor Business,
within ten (10) Business Days of being deposited therein, (iv) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of
the  Tool  Business  Sale,  in  the  case  of  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Tool  Business,  within  five  (5)  Business  Days  of
being deposited therein, (v) for a period not to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business
Sellers and the final purchaser of the Winter Sports Business by which collections
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of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y) twenty-five (25) months after the
consummation of the Winter Sports Business Sale, in the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business,
no later than the earliest of (x) the related number of days agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the Winter
Sports Business by which Newell is required to transfer collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business out of such
Deposit  Account  and  (y)  ten  (10)  Business  Days  of  being  deposited  therein,  and  (vi)  in  the  case  of  all  other  amounts,  within  one  (1)
Business Day of being deposited therein.

(d)    Section 5.01 of the Loan Agreement is amended to insert the following new subsection (o) in appropriate alphabetical order:

(o) Promptly after becoming available, the Servicer shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the final version of any “transfer and servicing
agreement” relating to the Lehigh Business Sale, the Tool Business Sale and the Winter Sports Business Sale.

(e)    Clause (ii) of the first sentence of Section 5.02(h) of the Loan Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

(ii)  in  each  case,  for  a  period  not  to  exceed  twenty-five  (25)  months  (or,  in  the  case  of  the  Lehigh  Business  Sale  and  the  Winter  Sports
Business Sale, for a period not to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and
the  final  purchaser  of  such  business  by  which  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  such  business  shall  no  longer  be  deposited
therein and (y) twenty-five (25) months) after consummation of the Lehigh Business Sale, the Decor Business Sale, the Tool Business Sale
or the Winter Sports Business Sale, as applicable, collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business, the Decor Business, the
Tool Business and the Winter Sports Business, respectively.

(f)    The first sentence of Section 6.06 of the Loan Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

In  the  case  of  any  remittances  received  in  any  Lock‑Box  or  Deposit  Account  that  shall  have  been  identified  to  the  satisfaction  of,  or
determined by, the Servicer, to not constitute Collections or other proceeds of the Receivables or the Related Security, the Servicer shall, as
applicable, remit such items to the Person identified to, or determined by, it as being the owner of such remittances (i) for a period not
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to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the Lehigh
Business by which collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y) twenty-
five (25) months after the consummation of the Lehigh Business Sale, in the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh
Business, no later than the earliest of (x) the related number of days agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of
the Lehigh Business by which Newell is required to transfer collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business out of such
Lock-Box or Deposit Account and (y) ten (10) Business Days of being deposited therein, (iii) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25)
months after the consummation of the Decor Business Sale, in the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the Decor Business,
within ten (10) Business Days of being deposited therein, (iv) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of
the  Tool  Business  Sale,  in  the  case  of  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Tool  Business,  within  five  (5)  Business  Days  of
being deposited therein, (v) for a period not to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business
Sellers  and  the  final  purchaser  of  the  Winter  Sports  Business  by  which  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Winter  Sports
Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y) twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of the Winter Sports Business Sale, in
the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business, no later than the earliest of (x) the related number of
days  agreed  to  by  the  applicable  Business  Sellers  and  the  final  purchaser  of  the  Winter  Sports  Business  by  which  Newell  is  required  to
transfer collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business out of such Lock-Box or Deposit Account and (y) ten (10)
Business Days of being deposited therein, and (vi) in the case of all other amounts, within one (1) Business Day after such identification or
determination.

Section 3.    Amendments to the Sale Agreement. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4 below, the
Sale Agreement shall be and hereby is amended as follows:

(a)    The last sentence of Section 2.1(l) of the Sale Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

Except for (i) amounts owing to Newell Puerto Rico, Ltd. (which shall be electronically swept or otherwise transferred out of such Deposit
Account within four (4) Business Days of being identified as such in accordance with Section 4.1(i) ),  (ii)  for a period not to exceed the
earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the Lehigh
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Business by which collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y) twenty-
five (25)  months after  the consummation of  the Lehigh Business  Sale,  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating to the Lehigh Business
(which shall be electronically swept or otherwise transferred out of such Deposit Account no later than the earliest of (x) the related number
of days agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the Lehigh Business by which Newell is required to transfer
collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Lehigh  Business  out  of  such  Deposit  Account  and  (y)  ten  (10)  Business  Days  of  being
deposited therein), (iii) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of the Decor Business Sale, collections of
accounts receivable relating to the Decor Business (which shall be electronically swept or otherwise transferred out of such Deposit Account
within ten (10) Business Days of being deposited therein), (iv) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of
the Tool Business Sale, collections of accounts receivable relating to the Tool Business (which shall be electronically swept or otherwise
transferred out of such Deposit  Account within five (5) Business Days of being deposited therein),  (v) for a period not to exceed (x) the
earliest of the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the Winter Sports Business
by which collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y) twenty-five
(25)  months  after  the  consummation  of  the  Winter  Sports  Business  Sale,  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Winter  Sports
Business  (which  shall  be  electronically  swept  or  otherwise  transferred  out  of  such  Deposit  Account  no  later  than  the  earliest  of  (x)  the
related number of days agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the Winter Sports Business by which Newell
is required to transfer collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business out of such Deposit Account and (y) ten (10)
Business Days of being deposited therein) and (vi) amounts deposited in any Deposit Account in error, no funds other than the proceeds of
Receivables of such Originator are deposited to any Deposit Account of such Originator.

(b)    Clause (2) of the second sentence of Section 4.1(i) of the Sale Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

(2) all amounts deposited into any Deposit Account to be identified as either Collections or non‑Collections and all non‑Collections, if any,
to be identified (i) in the case of amounts owing to Newell Puerto Rico, Ltd., within four (4) days of receipt or deposit, (ii) for a period not
to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and the final purchaser of the
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Lehigh Business by which collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y)
twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of the Lehigh Business Sale, in the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the
Lehigh  Business,  no  later  than  the  earliest  of  (x)  the  related  number  of  days  agreed  to  by  the  applicable  Business  Sellers  and  the  final
purchaser of the Lehigh Business by which Newell is required to transfer collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business
out  of  such Deposit  Account  and (y)  ten  (10)  Business  Days of  being deposited  therein,  (iii)  for  a  period not  to  exceed twenty-five  (25)
months after the consummation of the Decor Business Sale, in the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the Decor Business,
within ten (10) Business Days of being deposited therein, (iv) for a period not to exceed twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of
the  Tool  Business  Sale,  in  the  case  of  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Tool  Business,  within  five  (5)  Business  Days  of
being deposited therein, (v) for a period not to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business
Sellers  and  the  final  purchaser  of  the  Winter  Sports  Business  by  which  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Winter  Sports
Business shall no longer be deposited therein and (y) twenty-five (25) months after the consummation of the Winter Sports Business Sale, in
the case of collections of accounts receivable relating to the Winter Sports Business, no later than the earliest of (x) the related number of
days  agreed  to  by  the  applicable  Business  Sellers  and  the  final  purchaser  of  the  Winter  Sports  Business  by  which  Newell  is  required  to
transfer  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  the  Winter  Sports  Business  out  of  such Deposit  Account  and (y)  ten  (10)  Business
Days of being deposited therein, and (vi) in the case of all other amounts, within one (1) Business Day of being deposited therein.

(c)    Clause (ii) of the first sentence of Section 4.2(f) of the Sale Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

(ii)  in  each  case,  for  a  period  not  to  exceed  twenty-five  (25)  months  (or,  in  the  case  of  the  Lehigh  Business  Sale  and  the  Winter  Sports
Business Sale, for a period not to exceed the earliest of (x) the related number of months agreed to by the applicable Business Sellers and
the  final  purchaser  of  such  business  by  which  collections  of  accounts  receivable  relating  to  such  business  shall  no  longer  be  deposited
therein and (y) twenty-five (25) months) after consummation of the Lehigh Business Sale, the Decor Business Sale, the Tool Business Sale
or the Winter Sports Business Sale, as applicable, collections of accounts receivable relating to the Lehigh Business, the Decor Business, the
Tool Business and the Winter Sports Business, respectively.
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Section 4.    Conditions to Amendment. This Amendment shall become effective and be deemed effective as of the date first written above
(the “ Amendment Effective Date ”) upon the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:

(a)    Jarden Receivables, each Originator, the Servicer, the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Lender and the Managing Agents party hereto
shall have executed and delivered this Amendment.

(b)     The  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  received  a  duly  executed  Reaffirmation,  Consent  and  Acknowledgment  of  the  Performance
Undertaking in the form attached hereto.

(c)     The  Administrative  Agent  shall  have  received  such  other  agreements,  instruments,  documents,  certificates,  and  opinions  as  the
Administrative Agent may reasonably request.

Section  5.     Agreement  in  Full  Force  and  Effect/Effectiveness  of  Amendment. Except  as  expressly  set  forth  herein,  all  terms  and
conditions of the Loan Agreement and the Sale Agreement, as amended, shall remain in full force and effect. Upon the effectiveness of this Amendment,
(i) Jarden Receivables and the Servicer each hereby reaffirms all covenants, representations and warranties made by it in the Loan Agreement and the Sale
Agreement,  as  applicable,  to  the  extent  the  same  are  not  amended  hereby  and  agrees  that  all  such  covenants,  representations  and  warranties  shall  be
deemed to have been remade as of the Amendment Effective Date (except for those representations and warranties that are expressly made only as of a
different  date,  which  representations  and  warranties  shall  be  correct  as  of  the  date  made)  and  (ii)  each  reference  in  the  Loan  Agreement  or  the  Sale
Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein” or words of like import shall mean and be, and any references to such agreement in any
other document, instrument or agreement executed and/or delivered in connection therewith shall mean and be, a reference to such agreement as amended
hereby.

Section 6.    Execution in Counterparts, Effectiveness. This Amendment may be executed by the parties hereto in several counterparts,
each of which shall be executed by the parties hereto and be deemed an original and all of which shall constitute together but one and the same agreement.
Delivery  of  an  executed  counterpart  of  a  signature  page  of  this  Amendment  by  telecopy  or  other  electronic  means  shall  be  effective  as  delivery  of  a
manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.

Section  7.     Governing  Law. This  Amendment  shall  be  construed  in  accordance  with  the  laws  of  the  State  of  New  York,  without
reference to conflict of law principles, and the obligations,
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rights and remedies of the parties hereunder shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

[SIGNATURE PAGES TO FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed and delivered by their duly authorized officers as of the
date hereof.

JARDEN RECEIVABLES, LLC

By: SUNBEAM PRODUCTS, INC. 
Its: manager and sole member

By:     /s/ Michael R. Peterson    
Name:

Michael R. Peterson    
Title:

Secretary    

NEWELL BRANDS INC., 
as Servicer

By:     /s/ Michael R. Peterson    
Name:

Michael R. Peterson    
Title:

Assistant Secretary    



THE ORIGINATORS:

BRK BRANDS, INC.
CALPHALON CORPORATION
THE COLEMAN COMPANY, INC.
ELMER’S PRODUCTS, INC.
GOODY PRODUCTS, INC.
GRACO CHILDREN’S PRODUCTS INC.
HEARTHMARK, LLC
IGNITE USA, LLC
IRWIN INDUSTRIAL TOOL COMPANY
K-2 CORPORATION
K-2 INTERNATIONAL, INC.
LEHIGH CONSUMER PRODUCTS LLC
LIFOAM INDUSTRIES, LLC
LOEW-CORNELL, LLC
MARMOT MOUNTAIN, LLC
MIKEN SPORTS, LLC
NEWELL BRANDS INC.
NUK USA LLC
PURE FISHING, INC.
QUICKIE MANUFACTURING CORPORATION
RAWLINGS SPORTING GOODS COMPANY, INC.
RUBBERMAID COMMERCIAL PRODUCTS LLC
RUBBERMAID INCORPORATED
SANFORD, L.P.
SEA STRIKER, LLC
SHAKESPEARE ALL STAR ACQUISITION LLC
SHAKESPEARE COMPANY, LLC
SHAKESPEARE CONDUCTIVE FIBERS, LLC
SUNBEAM PRODUCTS, INC.
THE YANKEE CANDLE COMPANY, INC.

By:     /s/ Michael R. Peterson    
Name:

Michael R. Peterson    
Title:

Assistant Secretary    



THE UNITED STATES PLAYING CARD COMPANY, as an Originator

By:/s/ Ian G.H. Ashken    
Name:

Ian G.H. Ashken    
Title:

Secretary and Treasurer    



PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Administrative Agent and as a Managing Agent

By:     /s/ Eric Bruno    
Name:

Eric Bruno    
Title:

Senior Vice President    



WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
as Issuing Lender and as a Managing Agent

By:     /s/Isaac Washington    
Name:

Isaac Washington    
Title:

Vice President    



ROYAL BANK OF CANADA, 
as a Managing Agent

By:     /s/ Veronica L. Gallagher    
Name:

Veronica L. Gallagher    
Title:

Authorized Signatory    



THE BANK OF TOKYO-MITSUBISHI UFJ, LTD., NEW YORK BRANCH, 
as a Managing Agent

By:/s/ Richard Gregory Hurst    
Name:

Richard Gregory Hurst    
Title:

Managing Director    



SUNTRUST BANK, 
as a Managing Agent

By:     /s/ David Hufnagel    
Name:

David Hugnagel    
Title:

Vice President    



EXHIBIT 12

NEWELL RUBBERMAID INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

 

 Years Ended December 31,

(dollars in millions) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Earnings Available for Fixed Charges:      
  Income before income taxes $ 814.5 $ 337.5 $ 462.1 $ 536.3 $ 552.0
  Equity in earnings of affiliates (0.2) (0.6) — 0.2 (0.6)
  Total earnings 814.3 336.9 462.1 536.5 551.4
  Fixed charges:      
     Interest expense  (1) 407.7 88.1 64.3 62.3 80.4
     Portion of rent determined to be interest (2) 72.1 34.7 35.0 37.7 41.2

 $ 1,294.1 $ 459.7 $ 561.4 $ 636.5 $ 673.0

Fixed Charges:      
  Interest expensed and capitalized $ 408.2 $ 89.3 $ 64.4 $ 62.4 $ 81.3
  Portion of rent determined to be interest  (2) 72.1 34.7 35.0 37.7 41.2

 $ 480.3 $ 124.0 $ 99.4 $ 100.1 $ 122.5

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 2.69 3.71 5.65 6.36 5.49

(1) Excludes interest capitalized during the year.

(2) A standard ratio of 33% was applied to gross rent expense to approximate the interest portion of short-term and long-term leases.



  EXHIBIT 21.1
   

NEWELL BRANDS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES   
SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES   
December 31, 2016   
   

NAME  
STATE OR JURISDICTION

OF ORGANIZATION
Allegheny International Exercise Co.  Delaware
Alltrista Plastics LLC (1)  Indiana
American Household, Inc.  Delaware
Australian Coleman, Inc.  Kansas
Backcountry Access, Inc.  Colorado
Berol Corporation  Delaware
Better Heads, L.L.C.  Texas
Bicycle Holding, Inc.  Delaware
BOC Plastics, Inc.  North Carolina
Bridge-Gate Alliance Group, Inc.  California
Bridge-Gate Holdings, LLC  Delaware
BRK Brands, Inc.  Delaware
Calphalon Corporation  Ohio
CC Outlet, Inc. (2)  Delaware
Chartreuse et Mont Blanc LLC  Delaware
Chemetron Corporation  Delaware
Chemetron Investments, Inc.  Delaware
Coleman International Holdings, LLC  Delaware
Coleman Latin America, LLC  Delaware
Coleman Venture Capital, Inc.  Kansas
Coleman Worldwide Corporation  Delaware
Covermate Products, Inc.  California
Creative Fragrance Concepts, LLC  Delaware
DALBELLO SPORTS L.L.C.  New Hampshire
Eco-Products, Inc.  Colorado
Eliskim, Inc.  Delaware
Elmer’s Investments LLC  Delaware
Envirocooler, LLC  Delaware
EXPO Inc.  Delaware
First Alert, Inc.  Delaware
General Distribution Import Company, LLC  Maryland
Goody Products, Inc.  Delaware
Graco Children’s Products, Inc.  Delaware
Hearthmark, LLC (3)  Delaware
Holmes Motor Corporation  Delaware



Hydrosurge Equipment Company, LLC  Delaware
Ignite USA, LLC  Illinois
Infoswitch, Inc.  Delaware
Integrated Specialties, Inc.  California
Irwin Industrial Tool Company  Delaware
Jarden Acquisition I, LLC  Delaware
Jarden Consumer Solutions Community Fund, Inc.  Florida
Jarden Corporation  Delaware
Jarden Friends & Family, LLC  Delaware
Jarden Receivables, LLC  Delaware
Jarden Zinc Products, LLC  Indiana
JBC Direct, LLC  Delaware
Jostens, Inc.  Minnesota
JT Sports LLC  Delaware
K-2 Corporation (4)  Indiana
K-2 International, Inc.  Indiana
Kansas Acquisition Corp.  Delaware
L.A. Services, Inc.  Delaware
Laser Acquisition Corp.  Delaware
Lehigh Consumer Products LLC (5)  Delaware
Lifoam Holdings, LLC  Delaware
Lifoam Industries, LLC  Delaware
Lifoam Packaging Solutions, LLC  Delaware
Loew-Cornell, LLC  Delaware
Magnetics and Electronics, Inc.  Delaware
MAPA USA LLC  Delaware
Marker Volkl USA, Inc. (6)  New Hampshire
Marmot Mountain, LLC (7)  Delaware
Memory Book Acquisition LLC  Delaware
Miken Sports, LLC  Delaware
Montey Corporation  Delaware
Montey Credit Corporation  Pennsylvania
Neff Holding Company  Delaware
Neff Motivation, Inc.  Ohio
New Bra-Con Industries, Inc.  Delaware
Newell Brands Inc.  Delaware
Newell Finance Company  Delaware
Newell Investments Inc.  Delaware
Newell Luxembourg Finance L.L.C.  Illinois
Newell Operating Company  Delaware
Newell Rubbermaid Development LLC  Delaware
Newell Rubbermaid Distribution LLC  Delaware



Newell Rubbermaid Europe LLC  Delaware
Newell Rubbermaid US Finance Co.  Delaware
Newell Sales & Marketing Group, Inc.  Delaware
Nippon Coleman, Inc.  Kansas
NRI Insurance Company  Vermont
NUK USA LLC  Delaware
Onethousand West, Inc.  Florida
Outdoor Sports Gear. Inc.  Delaware
Outdoor Technologies Corporation  Iowa
Package Enhancing Technologies, LLC  New York
Packs & Travel Corporation  Delaware
Parpak, Inc.  Texas
Penn Fishing Tackle Mfg. Co.  Pennsylvania
Precision Packaging Products, Inc.  New York
Pure Fishing, Inc. (8)  Iowa
QMC Buyer Corp.  Delaware
Quickie Holdings, Inc.  Delaware
Quickie Manufacturing Corporation  New Jersey
Quoin, LLC  Delaware
Rawlings Sporting Goods Company, Inc. (9)  Delaware
Rexair Holdings, Inc.  Delaware
Rexair LLC  Delaware
Ride Manufacturing, Inc.  California
Rock Creek Athletics, Inc.  Iowa
Rubbermaid Commercial Products LLC  Delaware
Rubbermaid Europe Holding Inc.  Delaware
Rubbermaid Incorporated  Ohio
Rubbermaid Services Corp.  Delaware
Rubfinco Inc.  Delaware
Sanford, L.P.  Illinois
Sea Striker, LLC  Delaware
Sevca, LLC  Delaware
Shakespeare All Star Acquisition LLC  Delaware
Shakespeare Company, LLC (10)  Delaware
Shakespeare Conductive Fibers, LLC  Delaware
SI II, Inc.  Florida
Sitca Corporation  Washington
Stuhlbarg International Sales Company, Inc.  California
Sunbeam Americas Holdings, LLC  Delaware
Sunbeam Latin America, LLC  Delaware
Sunbeam Products, Inc. (11)  Delaware
Temrac Company, Inc.  New Jersey



The Coleman Company, Inc. (12)  Delaware
The Jarden Foundation, Inc.  Florida
The Lehigh Press LLC  Delaware
The United States Playing Card Company  Delaware
The Yankee Candle Company, Inc.  Massachusetts
THL-FA IP Corp.  Delaware
Tri-E Corporation  Indiana
USPC Holding, Inc.  Delaware
Visant Corporation  Delaware
Visant Holding Corp.  Delaware
Visant Secondary Holdings Corp.  Delaware
Waddington Group, Inc.  Delaware
Waddington North America, Inc. (13)  Massachusetts
WNA American Plastic Industries, Inc. (14)  Delaware
WNA Comet West, Inc. (15)  California
WNA Cups Illustrated, Inc. (16)  Texas
WNA Holdings, Inc.  Delaware
WNA Hopple Plastics, Inc.  Delaware
WNA, Inc.  Delaware
Woodshaft, Inc.  Ohio
X Properties, LLC  Delaware
Yankee Candle Admin, LLC  Virginia
Yankee Candle Brand Management, Inc.  Delaware
Yankee Candle Investments LLC  Delaware
Yankee Candle Restaurant Corp.  Delaware
YCC Development Company LLC  Delaware
YCCD Management, LLC  Delaware
9248-1993 Quebec, Inc.  Canada
A&J Plastics Limited  United Kingdom
Abu AB  Sweden
Abu Garcia AB  Sweden
Abu Garcia Pty. Ltd.  Australia
Allegre Puériculture S.A.S.  France
Alltrista Limited  Canada
American Tool Companies Holding B.V.  Netherlands
Aparatos Electronicos de Saltillo, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Appliance and Homewares International Pty Ltd  Australia
Application des Gaz S.A.S.  France
Aprica Children’s Products G.K.  Japan
Bafiges S.A.S.  France
Bernardin Ltd. (3)  Canada
Bionaire International B.V.  Netherlands



BRK Brands Europe Limited  United Kingdom
BRKFA Management Limited  Canada
Calzaturificio Dal Bello S.r.l.  Italy
Camping Gaz (Deutschland) GmbH  Germany
Camping Gaz (Suisse) SA  Switzerland
Camping Gaz CS S.R.O.  Czech Republic
Camping Gaz Italia S.r.l.  Italy
Canadian Playing Card Company, Limited  Canada
Cavoma LP  Cayman Island
Cavoma Ltd.  Cayman Island
Chiltern Thermoforming Limited  United Kingdom
Coleman (Deutschland) GmbH  Germany
Coleman Benelux B.V.  Netherlands
Coleman Brands Pty Limited  Australia
Coleman EMEA GmbH  Germany
Coleman Hong Kong Limited  Hong Kong
Coleman Japan Co., Ltd.  Japan
Coleman Korea Co., Ltd.  Korea
Coleman UK Limited  United Kingdom
Deltaform Limited  United Kingdom
Desarrollo Industrial Fitec, S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico
Detector Technology Limited  Hong Kong
Dongguan HuiXun Electrical Products Co., Ltd.  China
Dongguan Raider Motor Co., Ltd.  China
DYMO Holdings BVBA  Belgium
El Rayo de Sol de Chihuahua, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
El Sol Partes, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Electrónica BRK de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Emozione S.p.A.  Italy
Esteem Industries Limited  Hong Kong
Eureka CaterWare B.V.  Netherlands
Facel SAS  France
First Alert (Canada) Inc.  Canada
Gemsbloom Limited  Hong Kong
Grifone EOOD  Bulgaria
Guangzhou Jarden Technical Center  China
Hardy & Greys Limited  United Kingdom
Hardy Advanced Composites Limited  United Kingdom
Holfeld Plastics Company  Ireland
Holmes Products (Europe) Limited  United Kingdom
International Playing Card Company Limited  Canada
Irwin Industrial Tool Ferramentas do Brasil Ltda.  Brazil



Jarden Acquisition ETVE, S.L.  Spain
Jarden Consumer Solutions (Asia) Limited  Hong Kong
Jarden Consumer Solutions (Europe) Limited  United Kingdom
Jarden Consumer Solutions Japan LLC  Japan
Jarden Consumer Solutions of India Private Limited  India
Jarden Consumer Solutions Trading (Shanghai) Ltd.  China
Jarden del Peru, S.A.C.  Peru
Jarden Lux Finco S.à r.l.  Luxembourg
Jarden Lux Holdings S.à r.l.  Luxembourg
Jarden Lux II S.à r.l.  Luxembourg
Jarden Plastic Solutions Limited  United Kingdom
Jarden Rus LLC  Russia
Jarden South Africa Proprietary Limited  South Africa
Jarden Switzerland GmbH  Switzerland
JCS Brasil Eletrodomésticos S.A.  Brazil
Jia Dun Sports Equipment Co., Ltd.  China
Jostens Canada Ltd.  Canada
K2 (Hong Kong), Limited  Hong Kong
K2 (Switzerland) GmbH  Switzerland
K2 Corporation of Canada (17)  Canada
K2 Deutschland Holding GmbH  Germany
K2 Japan Corporation  Japan
K2 Sports Europe GmbH  Germany
K2 Worldwide Company  Cayman Islands
Kai Tai Sports Products Manufacturing (Wei Hai) Co., Ltd.  China
Kompetenzzentrum Sport, Gesundheit und Technologie GmbH  Germany
La Sapienza EOOD  Bulgaria
Les Industries Touch Inc.  Canada
Les Placements Touche, Inc.  Canada
Lillo do Brasil Indústria e Comércio de Produtos Infantis Ltda.  Brazil
Madshus A.S.  Norway
Mao Ming Passion Sports Company Limited  China
Mapa Babycare (Taiwan) Company Limited  Taiwan
Mapa Babycare Company Limited  Hong Kong
Mapa Gloves SDN BHD  Malaysia
Mapa GmbH  Germany
Mapa S.A.S.  France
Mapa Spontex CE s.r.o.  Czech Republic
Mapa Spontex Iberica SAU  Spain
Mapa Spontex Italia S.p.A.  Italy
Mapa Spontex Polska sp. z o.o.  Poland
Mapa Spontex Trading (Shanghai) Company Limited  China



Mapa Spontex Trading SDN BHD  Malaysia
Mapa Spontex UK Limited  United Kingdom
Mapa Spontex, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Mapa Virulana S.A.I.C.  Argentina
Marker CZ s.r.o.  Czech Republic
Marker Dalbello Völkl Austria GmbH  Austria
Marker Dalbello Völklski Sports GmbH  Germany
MARKER Deutschland GmbH  Germany
Marker Völkl (International) GmbH  Switzerland
Marker Völkl (International) Sales GmbH  Germany
Marker Volkl France S.A.S.  France
Marker Volkl Japan Co. Ltd.  Japan
Marker Volkl S.r.l.  Italy
Marmot Mountain Canada Ltd.  Canada
Marmot Mountain Europe GmbH  Germany
Marmot Mountain UK Limited  United Kingdom
Millefiori S.r.l.  Italy
Mucambo SA  Brazil
Naipes Heraclio Fournier, S.A.  Spain
Newell (Cayman) Ltd.  Cayman Islands
Newell Australia Pty Limited  Australia
Newell Brands APAC Treasury Limited  Hong Kong
Newell Brands Lux Holdings S. a.r.l.  Luxembourg
Newell Europe Sàrl  Switzerland
Newell Holdings Limited  United Kingdom
Newell Industries Canada Inc.  Canada
Newell International Finance Co Limited Partnership  Scotland
Newell Investments France SAS  France
Newell Luxembourg Finance S.à r.l.  Luxembourg
Newell Rubbermaid (M) Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia
Newell Rubbermaid (Thailand) Co., Ltd.  Thailand
Newell Rubbermaid Argentina S.A.  Argentina
Newell Rubbermaid Asia Pacific Limited  Hong Kong
Newell Rubbermaid Asia Services  China
Newell Rubbermaid Brasil Ferramentas e Equipamentos Ltda.  Brazil
Newell Rubbermaid Caymans Holding Co.  Cayman Islands
Newell Rubbermaid de Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico
Newell Rubbermaid German Holding GmbH  Germany
Newell Rubbermaid Japan Ltd.  Japan
Newell Rubbermaid Products (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.  China
Newell Rubbermaid UK Holdings Limited  United Kingdom
Newell Rubbermaid UK Limited  United Kingdom



Newell Rubbermaid UK Services Limited  United Kingdom
Nimex Saltillo S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
NR Capital Co.  Canada
NR Finance Co.  Canada
NWL Cayman Finance Co.  Cayman Islands
NWL Denmark Services Aps  Denmark
NWL European Finance S.à r.l.  Luxembourg
NWL France SAS  France
NWL France Services SAS  France
NWL Luxembourg Holding S.à r.l.  Luxembourg
NWL Netherlands B.V.  Netherlands
NWL Valence Services SAS  France
Oster de Argentina S.A.  Argentina
Oster de Chile Comercializadora Limitada  Chile
Oster de Colombia Ltda.  Colombia
Oster de Venezuela, S.A.  Venezuela
Oster del Peru S.A.C.  Peru
Oster Electrodomesticos Iberica, S.L.  Spain
Oster GmbH  Germany
Oster of Canada ULC  Canada
OTG-Cani Denmark A/S  Denmark
Outdoor Technologies (Canada) Inc. (18)  Canada
Outdoor Technologies Group Sweden AB  Sweden
Par-Pak Europe Limited  United Kingdom
Polar Plastic Ltd.  Canada
Polarpak Inc.  Canada
Polyhedron Holdings Limited  United Kingdom
Prodox, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Pulse Home Products (Holdings) Limited  United Kingdom
Pulse Home Products (Hong Kong) Limited  Hong Kong
Pure Fishing (Guangzhou) Trading Co., Ltd.  China
Pure Fishing (Hong Kong) Co. Limited  Hong Kong
Pure Fishing (NZ) Limited  New Zealand
Pure Fishing (Thailand) Co., Ltd.  Thailand
Pure Fishing (UK) Ltd.  United Kingdom
Pure Fishing Asia Co., Ltd.  Taiwan
Pure Fishing Deutschland GmbH  Germany
Pure Fishing Europe S.A.S.  France
Pure Fishing Finland Oy  Finland
Pure Fishing Japan Co., Ltd.  Japan
Pure Fishing Korea Co., Ltd.  Korea
Pure Fishing Malaysia Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia



Pure Fishing Netherlands B.V.  Netherlands
Pure Fishing Norway A/S  Norway
Quickie De Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.  Mexico
Raider Motor Corporation  Bahamas
Rawlings de Costa Rica, S.A.  Costa Rica
Rawlings Japan LLC  Japan
Rawlings Sporting Goods Canada Inc.  Canada
Repuestos Electronicos, S.A.  Mexico
Rexair Bulgaria EOOD  Bulgaria
Rival de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Sanford Brands Venezuela, L.L.C.  Venezuela
Sanford Colombia S.A.  Colombia
Sanford Rotring (GB) Limited  United Kingdom
Servicios Sunbeam-Coleman de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Shakespeare (Australia) Pty. Ltd.  Australia
Shakespeare (Hong Kong) Limited  Hong Kong
Shakespeare Europe B.V.  Netherlands
Shakespeare International Limited  United Kingdom
Shakespeare Monofilament UK Limited  United Kingdom
Shanghai Spontex Trading Company Limited  China
Shenzhen CICAM Manufacturing Co. Limited  China
Sobral Invicta da Amazônia Indústria de Plásticos Ltda.  Brazil
Sobral Invicta S.A.  Brazil
Söke Handels GmbH  Austria
Söke Hungaria Kft  Hungary
Spontex S.A.S.  France
Sunbeam AG  Switzerland
Sunbeam ANZ Holdings Pty Ltd  Australia
Sunbeam Corporation (Canada) Limited (19)  Canada
Sunbeam Corporation Pty Ltd  Australia
Sunbeam del Peru, S.A.  Peru
Sunbeam Holdings, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Sunbeam International (Asia) Limited  Hong Kong
Sunbeam Mexicana, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Sunbeam NZ Corporation Limited  New Zealand
Sunbeam Uruguay S.A.  Uruguay
Sunbeam-Oster de Acuña, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Sunbeam-Oster de Matamoros, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
SunCan Holding Corp.  Canada
Swift Pack B.V.  Netherlands
The United States Playing Card (Macau) Company Limited  Macau
The Wallingford Insurance Company Limited  Bermuda



Touch Tics (Tianjin) Ltd.  China
True Temper Venezuela, S.A.  Venezuela
Tube Turns de España, S.A.  Spain
USPC Mexico, S.A. de C.V.  Mexico
Vine Mill Limited  United Kingdom
Virumetal SA  Uruguay
viskovita GmbH  Germany
Viva (Consumer Products) Limited  United Kingdom
Völkl GmbH  Germany
Völkl Sports GmbH & Co. KG  Germany
Waddington Europe Limited  United Kingdom
Waverly Products Company Limited  Jamaica
Yankee Candle Canada Inc.  Canada
Yankee Candle Company (Europe) Limited  United Kingdom
Yankee Candle Deutschland GmbH  Germany
Yankee Candle Italy S.R.L.  Italy
Yankee Candle s.r.o.  Czech Republic
Yore Limited  United Kingdom

(1) (DBA) Jarden Plastic Solutions

(2) (Assumed Name) Coleman Factory Outlet

(3) (DBA/Business Name) Jarden Home Brands

(4) (Assumed  Names)  5150,  Adio  Footwear,  Atlas  Snow-Shoe  Company,  Line  Traveling  Circus,  K2  Sports,  Morrow,  Planet  Earth  Clothing,  Ride  Snowboard  Company,  Tubbs  Snowshoes  and  Zoot
Sports

(5) (DBAs) Leslie-Locke and The Lehigh Group

(6) (DBA) Volkl Snowboards and Marker Dalbello Volkl

(7) (DBAs) ExOfficio, Ex Officio, Marker and Marker Ltd.

(8) (Assumed Names) Fenwick Golf, Fisherman’s Factory Outlet and Outdoor Technologies Group

(9) (DBAs) The Licensed Products Company, Jarden Sports Licensing, Jarden Team Sports, J. deBeer & Son and Uniform Select

(10) (Assumed Name) Jarden Applied Materials

(11) (DBA) Jarden Consumer Solutions, Beehive Products

(12) (DBA) AeroBed Products

(13) (DBA) WNA Chelmsford

(14) (DBA) WNA Chattanooga

(15) (DBA) WNA City of Industry

(16) (DBA) WNA Lancaster and Waddington North America

(17) (Business Names) Atlas Snowshoes, K2-Skates, K2-Ski, K2-Snowboards, Ride Snowboards and Tubbs Snowshoes

(18) (Business Name) Pure Fishing Canada

(19) (Business Names) Canadian Coleman, Canadian Coleman Company, Coleman, Jarden Consumer Solutions, Rival, Rival of Canada, Sevylor, Sevylor Canada, Stearns, Stearns Canada, Sunbeam,
Sunbeam Canada, The Holmes Group



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-194324), Form S-4 (Nos. 333-208989 and 333-213675) and Form
S‑8  (Nos.  33-62047,  333-38621,  333-105113,  333-105177,  333-105178,  333-125144,  333-135153,  333-149133,  333-166946,  333-188411  and  333-210762)  of  Newell
Brands,  Inc.  of  our  report  dated  March  1,  2017  relating  to  the  financial  statements,  financial  statement  schedule  and  the  effectiveness  of  internal  control  over  financial
reporting, which appears in this Form 10‑K.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
March 1, 2017



Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We  consent  to  the  incorporation  by  reference  in  the  Registration  Statements  listed  below  of  Newell  Brands  Inc.  (formerly  Newell  Rubbermaid  Inc.)  of  our  report  dated
February 29, 2016, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Newell Brands Inc.as of December 31, 2015 and for the years ended December 31,
2015 and 2014 included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2016.

   
Form Number
 

Registration Description
 

S-8 33-62047 Newell Long-Term Savings and Investment Plan
S-8 333-38621 Newell Long-Term Savings and Investment Plan
S-8 333-105113 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2003 Stock Plan
S-8 333-105177 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2002 Deferred Compensation Plan
S-8 333-105178 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan
S-8 333-125144 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan
S-8 333-135153 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2003 Stock Plan (as amended and restated effective February 8, 2006)
S-8 333-149133 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2008 Deferred Compensation Plan
S-8 333-166946 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2010 Stock Plan
S-8 333-188411 Newell Rubbermaid Inc. 2013 Incentive Plan

S-3 333-194324 Debt securities, preferred stock, common stock, warrants, stock purchase contracts and stock purchase units and in the
related Prospectus

S-4 333-208989 Common stock issued for business combination and in the related Prospectus
S-8 333-210762 Jarden Corporation 2013 Stock Incentive Plan
S-4 333-213675 Debt securities exchange and in the related Prospectus
   

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 1, 2017



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael B. Polk, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 of Newell Brands Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge,  this  report  does not  contain any untrue statement  of  a  material  fact  or  omit  to  state  a  material  fact  necessary to make the statements  made,  in  light  of  the

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based  on  my  knowledge,  the  financial  statements,  and  other  financial  information  included  in  this  report,  fairly  present  in  all  material  respects  the  financial  condition,  results  of

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and

15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information

relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

(b) Designed  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  or  caused  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  to  be  designed  under  our  supervision,  to  provide  reasonable
assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial  statements  for  external  purposes  in  accordance  with  generally  accepted  accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All  significant  deficiencies  and  material  weaknesses  in  the  design  or  operation  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  which  are  reasonably  likely  to  adversely  affect  the

registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2017
 

 

/s/ Michael B. Polk
Michael B. Polk
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Ralph J. Nicoletti, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 of Newell Brands Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge,  this  report  does not  contain any untrue statement  of  a  material  fact  or  omit  to  state  a  material  fact  necessary to make the statements  made,  in  light  of  the

circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based  on  my  knowledge,  the  financial  statements,  and  other  financial  information  included  in  this  report,  fairly  present  in  all  material  respects  the  financial  condition,  results  of

operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and

15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information

relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

(b) Designed  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting,  or  caused  such  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  to  be  designed  under  our  supervision,  to  provide  reasonable
assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial  statements  for  external  purposes  in  accordance  with  generally  accepted  accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All  significant  deficiencies  and  material  weaknesses  in  the  design  or  operation  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  which  are  reasonably  likely  to  adversely  affect  the

registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2017
 

 

/s/ Ralph J. Nicoletti
Ralph J. Nicoletti
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Newell Brands Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2016 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael B. Polk, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

 

/s/ Michael B. Polk
Michael B. Polk
Chief Executive Officer
March 1, 2017



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Newell Brands Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2016 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Ralph J. Nicoletti, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

 

/s/ Ralph J. Nicoletti
Ralph J. Nicoletti
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
March 1, 2017


